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Core Value  As a Core Value, Teamwork defines an open  

culture in which employees share ideas, information and 

resources to serve our customers, solve problems and achieve 

common performance objectives. 

Enterprise Teamwork  Fostered by cross-divisional manage-

ment councils and shared support services, enterprise-wide 

teamwork enables Baker Hughes and its seven divisions to 

leverage the capabilities of the entire company.

Division Teamwork  At each Baker Hughes division, success 

depends on Teamwork between technology, administrative and 

global operations groups. Our strong divisional brand cultures 

encourage loyalty and cooperation within each business unit.

Regional Teamwork  Through Teamwork, experts from our 

seven divisions collaborate in the world’s major oilfield regions 

to operate more efficiently, deliver customer solutions, and 

identify new business opportunities for Baker Hughes.

Teamwork with Customers  Teamwork enables us to deliver 

unsurpassed value to our clients. Baker Hughes employees 

work closely with customers to provide technology solutions 

that cut costs, reduce risk, and increase productivity.
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Latin America

In Brazil, Baker Atlas 

introduced the MREXSM logging 

service and enhancements to 

its RCISM sampling service, and 

Hughes Christensen designed 

Genesis® XT bits specifically 

for the Albacore Leste field. In 

Venezuela, Centrilift provided 

abrasion-resistant ESP systems 

to increase production from 

deep, hot wells. 

Gulf of Mexico

Baker Hughes Drilling Fluids 

launched PERFORMAX™  

water-based mud and new 

GEO-TEQ™ synthetic fluids. 

Baker Oil Tools provided 

completion systems on 

several important deep-

water projects. And Hughes 

Christensen accumulated 

one million feet of hole with 

its Ream-While-Drilling™ tools.

 

Africa
Hughes Christensen applied 
HedgeHog™ bit technology to 
improve drilling performance 
in Algeria. In Angola, Baker 
Petrolite established a chemical 
lab and mixing plant as part 
of a new venture, and INTEQ 
ran its first commercial “Penta-
Combo” LWD string as part of 
an AutoTrak® G3 assembly. 

Asia Pacific
On Australia’s Northwest Shelf, 
Baker Petrolite provided chemi-
cal programs for two major 
projects, and Centrilift installed 
dual ESP systems for two sub-
sea fields. In China’s Bohai Bay, 
Baker Hughes bits, drilling and 
evaluation systems, perforating 
services, completions, and  
ESP systems contributed to  
successful projects.

North Sea
INTEQ drilled Best-in-Class 

horizontal wells using AutoTrak® 
X-treme® systems and the 
TesTrak™ formation tester. 

Baker Atlas utilized high-end 
wireline services and WellLink™ 

data communications. Baker 
Oil Tools installed Intelligent 

Well Systems™ in Norway and 
Denmark. Centrilift ESP systems 
marked 10 years of continuous 

operation in a UK field.

Russia/CIS
In Western Siberia, Centrilift 
established an ESP repair 
center. INTEQ and Baker Oil 
Tools continued re-entry  
sidetrack services in Siberia  
and also provided drilling, 
evaluation, liner hanger  
and fishing services on  
projects at Sakhalin Isand  
and in the Caspian Sea. Middle East

Baker Oil Tools completed  
the world’s deepest  
multilateral gas well  
in Saudi Arabia, and  
the world’s first under- 
balanced coiled tubing  
casing exit in Sharjah.  
Centrilift established an  
ESP repair center in Dubai  
and expanded its PCP  
business in Oman. 

Best In ClassBaker Hughes

Baker Atlas 

Baker Atlas provides wireline-conveyed 

well logging, data analysis and perforat-

ing services for formation evaluation, 

production and reservoir management. 

Recent technology innovations include 

the Magnetic Resonance ExplorerSM  

service for acquiring quality nuclear  

magnetic resonance data in less time 

than earlier systems; the Earth ImagerSM 

service for acquiring borehole images in 

oil-based drilling fluids; and the Predator 

XPSM perforating system to maximize 

connectivity with the reservoir.

Baker Hughes Incorporated

Baker Hughes Incorporated serves the 

worldwide oil and gas industry through 

seven Best-in-Class divisions. At the 

enterprise level, Baker Hughes provides 

strategic direction, maintains capital 

discipline, and sponsors long-term 

R&D, while directing shared, back-

office services for administrative, IT, 

Legal, Compliance, HS&E, and Human 

Resources activities. Baker Hughes enter-

prise groups also direct the global sales 

effort, manage integrated projects and 

facilitate strategic entry into new geo-

graphic markets.

 

Baker Oil Tools 

Baker Oil Tools provides completion, 

workover and fishing technology to 

assure safe and efficient hydrocarbon 

production. Packers, screens and gravel 

packing systems enable selective, sand-

free production from oil and natural gas 

zones. Flow control equipment – includ-

ing Intelligent Well Systems® – and safety 

valves enable efficient flow while mini-

mizing risk. Workover and fishing ser-

vices provide cost-effective solutions for 

well remediation and re-entry sidetracks. 

Baker Hughes Drilling Fluids 

Baker Hughes Drilling Fluids provides  

fluids systems and services that help  

optimize the drilling and completion  

processes to maximize hydrocarbon  

production, even in demanding  

deep-water, high temperature and  

hostile environments. The division  

helps clients comply with environ- 

mental regulations with products  

like the SYN-TEQ® CF synthetic  

emulsion system and PERFORMAXTM  

high performance water-based system, 

and with services that efficiently  

handle and dispose of drilling waste.  

INTEQ 

INTEQ provides directional drilling, 

measurement-while-drilling (MWD), 

logging-while drilling (LWD) and well-

site information services. Its leading 

AutoTrak® G3 rotary steerable system 

integrates with advanced LWD systems 

to drill efficiently, obtain formation  

measurements, and guide the well  

within the reservoir. Recent innovations 

include the Acoustic Properties eXplorerSM 

system, the Testrak™ formation pres-

sure tester, and the AutoTrak® X-treme® 

rotary steerable system that is powered 

by a downhole motor.

Centrilift 

Centrilift provides electric submersible 

pump (ESP) and progressing cavity  

pump systems, applications engineering, 

project management and well monitor-

ing services. Centrilift recently introduced 

the GCS Electrospeed® II variable speed 

control system and new MVP™ pump 

systems for wells with high gas content. 

Centrilift’s highly reliable ESP systems also 

can enhance production in subsea appli-

cations and replace gas lift completions  

in deepwater wells.

Baker Petrolite 

Baker Petrolite provides chemical tech-

nology solutions for hydrocarbon pro-

duction, transportation and processing. 

During oil and natural gas production, 

the division delivers laboratory services 

and chemicals to control corrosion 

and deposition and to treat produced 

water. Flow enhancers increase pipeline 

throughput, and inspection services 

help assure pipeline system integrity. 

Engineered chemical programs also 

create value for refineries by improving 

productivity, treating water, and resolv-

ing environmental issues. 

Hughes Christensen 

Hughes Christensen provides Tricone® 

and PDC drill bits, ream-while-drilling 

tools and drilling optimization services. 

Its comprehensive Tricone bit line 

includes UltraMax® metal-sealed bearing 

bits, Mini-MX™ bits for slimhole wells, 

and HydraBoss® bits for efficient drilling 

through shale. Genesis® XT PDC drill  

bits, with advanced cutter and bit  

stability technology, are specifi-

cally designed for each application. 

HedgeHog™ impregnated diamond 

bits increase penetration rates through 

harder formations.
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Exchange, Inc.
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Investor Relations Office
Gary R. Flaharty
Director, Investor Relations
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Additional copies of the
company’s Annual Report to
the Securities and Exchange
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Annual Meeting
The company’s Annual
Meeting of Stockholders will
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Time on April 28, 2005 at 
the offices of the company:
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Houston, Texas.

Corporate Office Location
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Houston, Texas 77027-5177
Telephone: (713) 439-8600
P.O. Box 4740
Houston, Texas 77210-4740
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www.bakerhughes.com
Baker Hughes
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(888) 408-4244

As a Baker Hughes stockholder, you are invited to take advantage of our convenient stockholder services or request more  
information about Baker Hughes. 

Mellon Investor Services, our transfer agent, maintains the records for our registered stockholders and can help you with  
a variety of stockholder related services at no charge including:

 • Change of name or address • Additional administrative services • Dividend reinvestment enrollment 
 • Duplicate mailings • Consolidation of accounts • Transfer of stock to another person 
 • Lost stock certificates 

Access your investor statements online 24 hours a day, 7 days a week with MLinkSM. For more information, go to  
www.melloninvestor.com/ISD.

Our Core Values

Integrity – We believe integrity is the foundation of our individual and corporate actions. We are accountable for 
our actions, successes and failures. 

Teamwork – We believe teamwork leverages our individual strengths. We willingly share our resources as we work 
toward common goals.

Performance – We believe performance excellence will differentiate us from our competitors. We work hard,  
celebrate our successes and learn from our failures.

Learning – We believe a learning environment is the way to achieve the full potential of each individual and  
the company.

Keys to Success

• People contributing to their  
full potential.

• Delivering unmatched value to 
our customers.

• Being cost-efficient in everything 
we do.

• Employing our resources  
effectively.
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Selected Financial Highlights

 Year Ended December 31,

(In millions, except per share amounts) 2004(1) 2003(1) 2002(1) 2001(1) 2000(1)

Revenues $ 6,103.8 $ 5,252.4 $ 4,860.2 $ 5,000.1 $ 4,791.1 
Operating income  821.0  560.3  562.4  723.0  334.8 
Income from continuing operations  528.2  177.9  227.8  431.3  69.6 
Income before extraordinary loss and  
 cumulative effect of accounting change  528.6  134.5  211.4  438.7  102.3 
Net income  528.6  128.9  168.9  438.0  102.3 
Per share of common stock: 
 Income from continuing operations 
  Basic  1.58  0.53  0.67  1.29  0.21 
  Diluted  1.57  0.53  0.67  1.28  0.21 
 Net income 
  Basic  1.58  0.38  0.50  1.31  0.31 
  Diluted  1.58  0.38  0.50  1.30  0.31

Number of shares:           
 Outstanding at year end  336.6  332.0  335.8  336.0  333.7 
 Average during year  333.8  334.9  336.8  335.6  330.9

Income from continuing operations $ 528.2 $ 177.9 $ 227.8 $ 431.3 $ 69.6 
Non-operational items, net of tax (2)  –  150.1  86.8  4.8  101.4

Operating profit after tax(3) $ 528.2 $ 328.0 $ 314.6 $ 436.1 $ 171.0

Per share of common stock:           
 Operating profit after tax           
  Basic $ 1.58 $ 0.98 $ 0.93 $ 1.30 $ 0.52 
  Diluted  1.57  0.98  0.93  1.29  0.51

Working capital $ 1,731.1 $ 1,208.6 $ 1,496.9 $ 1,659.8 $ 1,704.5 
Total assets  6,821.3  6,416.5  6,499.7  6,676.2  6,489.1 
Total debt  1,162.3  1,484.4  1,547.8  1,694.6  2,062.9 
Stockholders’ equity  3,895.4  3,350.4  3,397.2  3,327.8  3,046.7 
Total debt/equity ratio  30%  44%  46%  51%  68%

Number of employees (thousands)  26.9  26.5  25.7  25.2  24.3

(1) Excludes the results of our oil producing operations in West Africa, EIMCO Process Equipment, BIRD Machine and Baker Hughes Mining Tools, all discontinued 
 businesses.
(2) Includes restructuring charges and reversals, impairment of investment in affiliate, and gain (loss) on disposal of assets. Additional information for each item can be
 found on our website at www.bakerhughes.com/investor.
(3) Operating profit after tax is a non-GAAP measure comprised of income from continuing operations excluding the impact of certain non-operational items. We believe
 that operating profit after tax is useful to investors because it is a consistent measure of the underlying results of our business. Furthermore, management uses 
 operating profit internally as a measure of the performance of the company’s operations.
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Chad C. Deaton joined Baker Hughes  

as chairman of the board and chief execu-

tive officer on October 25, 2004. As the 

new chairman, Mr. Deaton recently shared 

these insights about the company, its peo-

ple and its strategic direction.

People are our greatest strength. For 

25 years I had known Baker Hughes as a 

respected competitor. Still, when I came 

aboard, I was particularly impressed by the 

quality of the people at BHI and their high 

level of professionalism. It is no coinci-

dence that the company is number one or 

number two in nearly every product line. 

That differentiation is due to the strength 

of its people. 

Baker Hughes believes in its Core 

Values. I also am impressed at how Baker 

Hughes adheres to its Core Values. At 

Baker Hughes, the Core Values are not just 

words on the wall. Clearly, the values have 

been stressed and communicated. A world-

wide employee survey showed that people 

throughout the company know and under-

stand them. The first Core Value, Integrity, 

has always been the core of my business 

philosophy, and it is something our 

employees take seriously. 

This company has positioned itself 

to move forward. The Strategic Frame-

work is a solid game plan that sets the 

right course for Baker Hughes. Its objec-

tives and key initiatives have been commu-

nicated throughout the organization, and 

the divisions have aligned to support its 

goals. Seeing this, I don’t want to lose 

momentum. In fact, I’d like to accelerate 

some areas of the Framework.

Our greatest opportunity is expan-

sion in geographic markets where we 

are under-represented. The areas with 

the most potential are Russia, the Middle 

East and West Africa. We believe that  

Russia could become the world’s largest 

oilfield service market, so we intend to  

be patient and steady in Russia through  

its inevitable ups and downs. 

We also must develop our relation-

ships with the National Oil Companies 

(NOCs). The NOCs control about two-

thirds of the world’s undeveloped oil 

reserves, and they are increasingly taking 

direct control over their E&P operations.  

Each NOC has its own culture and  

First Impressions 
From Our CEO
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priorities. This means that we have to  

be flexible enough to develop a specific 

strategy to meet the needs of each of 

these customers.

Our traditional markets continue to 

be very important. We will continue to 

provide high quality products and services 

to our major and independent customers. 

North America and the North Sea also 

present significant ongoing opportunities 

for Baker Hughes. Growing demand for 

natural gas is expected to drive strong drill-

ing activity in North America. And in 

maturing North Sea fields, our customers 

will need more of our technology to main-

tain production. 

We need a diverse workforce. We 

operate in over 90 countries, and a grow-

ing majority of our revenue comes from 

outside the U.S. We need to understand, 

respect and operate in many different cul-

tures. So we are enhancing our efforts to 

recruit, train and develop people from 

those cultures. 

There is no better training ground 

than Baker Hughes. We have seven dif-

ferent divisions operating around the 

world. This is a great place for young engi-

neers and other professionals to learn a  

full range of technologies from industry 

experts, and to live and work in a variety 

of cultures. 

Technology innovation is another 

critical success factor for Baker Hughes. 

In 2004, Baker Hughes invested over  

$270 million in research and engineering, 

primarily to support existing businesses.  

In my view, we also need a longer-term 

approach to technology development. To 

this end, we are building on a small group 

of experts at the corporate level to develop 

broader, multi-division solutions to major 

problems that our customers face – like 

production optimization, deepwater devel-

opment, and high pressure/high tempera-

ture wells. 

Strong product line divisions give 

Baker Hughes a competitive advan-

tage. Baker Hughes will continue to differ-

entiate itself with strong divisions, highly 

focused on their product lines. With a 

strong focus, we can maintain high levels 

of quality without blurring the responsibil-

ity for excellence in technology and service.

We will maintain our capital  

discipline. The company has worked hard 

to develop capital discipline, by reducing 

debt and carefully evaluating investments. 

We use a company metric called Baker 

Value Added (BVA) that measures our 

operating profit after tax less the cost of 

capital employed. The BVA concept has 

given our managers a performance yard-

stick that has helped them improve 

returns. We will maintain capital discipline 

while pursuing opportunities for growth.

Baker Hughes is a service company. 

We should remind ourselves every day that 

our goal is to provide quality services to 

our customers, reducing non-productive 

time and improving production. These are 

the results that all of our customers under-

stand and value.
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To Our Stockholders

2004 was a strong year in which Baker 

Hughes delivered record revenues and 

operating profits. We continued to provide 

Best-in-Class products and services in a 

growing oilfield market, and we introduced 

new technologies that helped customers 

improve their exploration and production 

programs. At the same time, we main-

tained capital discipline and our emphasis 

on achieving returns that exceed our cost 

of capital. Building for the future, we 

increased our focus on oilfield services, 

advanced our high performance culture, 

and began implementing our long-term 

Strategic Framework.

During the year, the worldwide rig 

count rose to its highest level since 1986, 

as prices for oil and natural gas reached 

historic highs. In 2004, Baker Hughes’  

business grew faster than drilling activity. 

Revenues of $6.1 billion were up 16.2% 

from the prior year, while the worldwide 

rotary rig count rose 10.1%. Operating 

profit after tax was $528.2 million in 2004, 

up 61.0% from $328.0 million (excluding 

non-operational charges) in 2003. (See 

the “Selected Financial Highlights” for  

reconciliation of operating profit after tax 

to income from continuing operations.) 

Our oilfield operating margins, excluding 

WesternGeco, were 16.9% in 2004, up 

from 14.4% in the prior year, reflecting 

higher demand and stronger pricing.

Despite strong commodity prices in 

2004, several factors restrained upstream 

activity. These included a disciplined capital 

approach by large integrated customers, 

strikes in Norway, strikes and political dis-

ruption in Nigeria, and hurricanes in the 

Gulf of Mexico. Activity fell in the North 

Sea and did not increase significantly in  

the Gulf of Mexico. Both are important 

markets for Baker Hughes.

Oilfield Focus

During the year, we completed the 

divestiture of our remaining non-oilfield 

operations. In January 2004, we closed on 

the sale of BIRD Machine to Group Andritz 

of Austria. In March, we sold our remain-

ing interest in Petreco International to  

Cooper Cameron Corporation. And in  

September, we sold Baker Hughes Mining 

Tools to Atlas Copco North America, Inc.

Operations Highlights

During 2004, all seven Baker Hughes 

product line divisions increased revenues, 

margins and operating profits, and  

This Annual Report to Stockholders, including the letter to stockholders from Chairman Chad C. Deaton, contains forward-looking state-

ments within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 

1934, as amended. The words “will,” “expect,” “should,” “scheduled,” “plan,” “aim,” “ensure,” “believe,” “promise,” “anticipate,” “could” 

and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Baker Hughes’ expectations regarding these matters are only 

its forecasts. These forecasts may be substantially different from actual results, which are affected by many factors, including those listed 

in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” contained in Item 7 of the Annual Report on 

Form 10-K of Baker Hughes Incorporated for its year ended December 31, 2004. The use of “Baker Hughes,” “our,” “we” and similar terms 

are not intended to describe or imply particular corporate organizations or relationships.
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New Baker Hughes technologies improved  
drilling performance in 2004. Here, at Hughes 
Christensen, technicians prepare the drilling  
simulator to test a new Genesis® XT PDC drill  
bit under downhole conditions. 
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In 2004, Baker Hughes deployed several innovative 
technologies for formation evaluation. Here, tech-
nicians assemble an INTEQ Acoustic Properties 
eXplorer SM logging-while-drilling system, developed 
using Baker Atlas wireline technology.
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improved their return on capital compared 

to 2003.

In 2004, Centrilift again delivered a 

record year for revenues and profitability. 

Strong oil and gas prices drove worldwide 

demand for electric submersible pumps 

(ESPs), while growth in the Eastern Hemi-

sphere made the largest contribution. To 

support the growing business in Russia and 

the Middle East, Centrilift commissioned 

new ESP service centers in Western Siberia 

and Dubai. The division also established 

North American manufacturing capabilities 

for its growing LifteqTM progressing cavity 

pump line.

Baker Petrolite’s revenues increased 

14.7%, with growth in all product lines. 

The oilfield chemical business grew world-

wide as customers strived to optimize 

mature field production. Baker Petrolite 

established a venture with Sonangol, the 

National Oil Company in Angola. The divi-

sion’s pipeline management group had 

strong demand for its FLO® drag reducing 

agents and enhanced its pipeline integrity 

business, adding new technology to the 

CPIGTM in-line inspection offering. Baker 

Petrolite’s EXCALIBURTM metals removal 

technology enabled refining customers to 

process low-grade “opportunity” crudes, 

and its TOLADTM Silver Shield fuel additive 

helped gasoline marketers reduce sulfur in 

fuel and avoid damage to vehicles. 

Throughout the year, the division was able 

to offset rising material costs through 

improved manufacturing efficiency and 

price increases.

INTEQ delivered solid performance 

in 2004 with record revenues and a 

strong improvement in profitability. 

With industry-leading experience, the 

AutoTrak® rotary steerable system has now 

drilled more than 10 million feet. INTEQ 

expanded its AutoTrak fleet with the first 

commercial applications of its 4-3/4” and 

3-1/8” rotary closed loop systems. INTEQ 

also deployed new formation evaluation 

technology, including its Acoustic Proper-

ties eXplorerSM system and TesTrakSM forma-

tion pressure tester. These new Logging 

While Drilling (LWD) systems were run in 

conjunction with the AutoTrak system in 

high-profile wells in the North Sea and 

West Africa, and were recognized with 

Spotlight on New Technology Awards at 

the 2004 Offshore Technology Conference.

During 2004, the drilling fluids product 

line was separated from INTEQ to form a 

stand-alone division, Baker Hughes Drilling 

Fluids. The new division is focused on  

providing drilling and completions fluids 

and services, as well as drilling fluids  

environmental services. During the year, 

the division successfully launched its  

PERFORMAXTM water-based drilling fluid, 

which is designed to enhance drilling  

performance while meeting strict environ-

mental requirements. The division also 

demonstrated its leadership in deepwater 

operations by providing SYN-TEQ® CF syn-

thetic emulsion fluids, fluids engineering 

software, and dynamic kill drilling services.

Hughes Christensen had a record year 

in revenues and profits. In 2004, the divi-

sion set a goal of drilling “further, faster” 

than competitors with each of its bits. The 

company maintained its position as the 

leader in PDC and Tricone® drill bits with 

the introduction of new technology. New 

Genesis® XT PDC bits, with enhanced cut-

ters and other design improvements, set 

records for penetration rates and bit life 

during the year. Hughes Christensen’s new 

Mini-MXTM bits extended the performance 
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advantages of metal-sealed bearings to 

slim-hole wells. The unique HedgeHogTM 

impregnated diamond bit line continued to 

improve drilling performance in Algeria and 

other areas with hard and abrasive rock. 

The division also had its initial successful 

runs with the EZ-CaseTM bit for drilling  

well liners into place in problem forma-

tions. Hughes Christensen’s performance 

was strong in all geographic areas, with 

exceptional growth in the Middle East.

Baker Oil Tools’ revenues increased 

16.4% in 2004. During the year, the divi-

sion successfully installed the first inte-

grated multilateral, intelligent well and 

sand control completion system in Norway, 

and it set horizontal gravel pack records  

in a deepwater well in the U.K. In Egypt, 

Baker Oil Tools provided high pressure/high 

temperature completion systems in a deep-

water field, and ran its first expandable 

liner extension to isolate a gas zone. The 

division also introduced new techniques to 

sidetrack wells to renew their productivity. 

These innovations included through-tubing 

casing exit systems for exotic alloys and 

underbalanced operations, and the Path-

MakerTM mill to drill through casing and 

into the formation, which Baker Oil Tools 

co-developed with Hughes Christensen.

Baker Altas had an exceptional year in 

2004, building upon prior success by intro-

ducing new technologies and expanding 

into new markets. The new Magnetic  

Resonance ExplorerSM service uses next-

generation NMR technology to evaluate 

rock formations and the fluids they con-

tain. The EARTH ImagerSM service acquires 

high resolution borehole images in oil-

based mud to help clients understand the 

stratigraphic layers along the well. The new 

Predator XPSM perforating system improves 

productivity by penetrating deeply into the 

formation. And the new WellLinkSM 

Livewire service uses the Internet to deliver 

wellbore data to clients so they can make 

better decisions, faster. Baker Atlas also 

began new service operations in Equatorial 

Guinea, India, Kazakhstan and Russia dur-

ing the year.

Corporate Culture 

I have been impressed with the  

company’s commitment to building a 

High Performance Culture, particularly its 

dedication to integrity and compliance. 

Baker Hughes remains committed to the 

highest ethical standards in all that we do, 

and we will continue to abide by applica-

ble laws and regulations in all jurisdictions 

in which we do business.

Over the past year, we have devoted 

significant resources to review our business 

practices and procedures as part of our 

certification under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 

of 2002. We believe that transparency is 

an essential element in any successful cor-

porate governance program, and we have 

made it integral to ours.

Financial Flexibility

During the year, Baker Hughes contin-

ued to strengthen its balance sheet. We 

retired $350 million in debt that matured 

in the second quarter. As a result, the com-

pany has reduced debt by over $1.7 billion 

from peak levels in 2000. Our total debt-

to-capitalization ratio now stands at 23%, 

providing the company significant financial 

flexibility to pursue its strategic initiatives  

and to leverage opportunities that may  

arise in our industry.

We continue to exercise discipline in the 

evaluation of our capital projects. Significant  
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Baker Hughes completion systems were installed 
on major deepwater projects in 2004. Here, Baker 
Oil Tools field service representatives prepare a 
large-diameter service packer to be run in a deep-
water well.
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opportunities across the enterprise  

compete for funding and are ranked on 

the basis of risk-adjusted return. Through 

our Product Development Management 

process, we evaluate all potential new 

products both for their technical merit  

and for their ability to generate ade- 

quate returns.

Because the oilfield service business is 

cyclical, it is prone to periods of overcapac-

ity, making it difficult to obtain fair pricing 

in relation to the value we create for our 

clients. We will continue to exercise cau-

tion in adding capacity, and will do so  

only when needed to meet long-term  

market demand.

Outlook

Although we see oil prices moderat- 

ing from the high levels seen in 2004, we 

expect worldwide oil demand to continue 

to increase 2-3% this year. In addition,  

 

 

 

we expect our clients to increase their 

upstream spending programs by 9 -12%  

in 2005.

Demand for natural gas will continue to 

support relatively high levels of land-based 

drilling in North America. We also expect 

higher levels of activity in the Gulf of  

Mexico as deepwater development pro-

ceeds and in the North Sea where inde-

pendents are ramping up operations. We 

expect total international activity to be up 

9 -11% in 2005.

Overall, we are optimistic about 2005. 

Baker Hughes is well-positioned to capital-

ize on opportunities wherever they arise.

Mike Wiley Retires

Michael E. Wiley retired from his  

position as Chairman and CEO of Baker 

Hughes on October 25, 2004. Mike came 

to Baker Hughes with a unique vision, and 

under his direction the company adopted 

our Core Values and developed the long-

term strategies that set the course for the 

company. We thank Mike for his wise 

counsel, his dedication and his strong  

leadership. We wish him the best in his 

future endeavors.

In closing, I would like to thank our  

customers and our employees for making 

2004 a year of record success for Baker 

Hughes. This organization is a strong tech-

nology leader, whose success is driven by 

professionals who are dedicated to our 

customers. I am proud to be part of Baker 

Hughes, and I look forward to the chal-

lenges and opportunities that lie ahead.

Chad C. Deaton

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Seated: (l-r) Chad C. Deaton, Chairman and CEO; Alan R. Crain, Jr., V.P. and General Counsel. Standing: 

(l-r) Greg Nakanishi, V.P. Human Resources; James R. Clark, President and COO; G. Stephen Finley, Sr. V.P. 

Finance and Administration and CFO. 
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Baker Hughes Incorporated 
Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders

April 28, 2005

TO THE STOCKHOLDERS OF BAKER HUGHES INCORPORATED:

The Annual Meeting of the Stockholders of Baker Hughes Incorporated (“Company” or “Baker Hughes”) will be held at the 
offices of the Company, 3900 Essex Lane, Suite 210, Houston, Texas on Thursday, April 28, 2005, at 9:00 a.m., Central Daylight 
Time, for the purpose of considering and voting on:

1. Election of four directors to serve for three-year terms; 

2. Ratification of Deloitte & Touche LLP as the Company’s Independent Auditor for Fiscal Year 2005;

3. Proposal to amend the Company’s Restated Certificate of Incorporation to declassify the Board of Directors and provide for 
the annual election of all directors;

4. Stockholder Proposal No. 1 regarding majority votes protocol; and
  
5. Such other business as may properly come before the meeting and any reconvened meeting after an adjournment thereof.

The Board of Directors has fixed February 25, 2005 as the record date for determining the stockholders of the Company entitled 
to notice of, and to vote at, the meeting and any reconvened meeting after an adjournment thereof, and only holders of Common 
Stock of the Company of record at the close of business on that date will be entitled to notice of, and to vote at, that meeting or a 
reconvened meeting after an adjournment.

You are invited to attend the meeting in person. Whether or not you plan to attend the meeting personally, please complete, 
sign and date the enclosed proxy, and return it as soon as possible in the enclosed postage prepaid envelope. You may revoke your 
proxy any time prior to its exercise, and you may attend the meeting and vote in person, even if you have previously returned your 
proxy. In some cases, you may be able to exercise your proxy by telephone or by the Internet. Please refer to the Proxy Statement for 
further information on telephone and Internet voting. 

 By order of the Board of Directors,

 Sandra E. Alford
 Corporate Secretary

Houston, Texas
March 14, 2005

TO ASSURE YOUR REPRESENTATION AT THE MEETING, PLEASE SIGN, DATE AND RETURN YOUR PROXY AS 
PROMPTLY AS POSSIBLE. AN ENVELOPE, WHICH REQUIRES NO POSTAGE IF MAILED IN THE UNITED STATES, 
IS ENCLOSED FOR THIS PURPOSE.
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PROXY STATEMENT
This Proxy Statement is furnished in connection with 

the solicitation of proxies by the Board of Directors of Baker 
Hughes Incorporated, a Delaware corporation (“Company,” 
“Baker Hughes,” “we,” “us” and “our”), to be voted at 
the Annual Meeting of Stockholders scheduled to be held 
on Thursday, April 28, 2005 and at any and all reconvened  
meetings after adjournments thereof.

Solicitation of proxies by mail is expected to commence 
on or about March 14, 2005 (the approximate date this Proxy 
Statement and accompanying proxy were first sent to security 
holders). The Company will bear the cost of the solicitation. In 
addition to solicitation by mail, certain of the directors, officers 
and regular employees of the Company may, without extra 
compensation, solicit proxies by telephone, facsimile and per-
sonal interview. The Company will make arrangements with 
brokerage houses, custodians, nominees and other fiduciaries 
to send proxy material to their principals, and the Company 
will reimburse them for postage and clerical expenses. The 
Company has retained Mellon Investor Services LLC, Baker 
Hughes’ transfer agent and registrar, to assist in the solicita-
tion of proxies from stockholders of the Company for an antic-
ipated fee of $9,500, plus out-of-pocket expenses.

Stockholders with shares registered in their names with 
Mellon Investor Services LLC may authorize a proxy by the 
Internet at the following Internet address: http://www.eproxy.
com/bhi, or telephonically by calling Mellon Investor Services 
LLC at 1-800-435-6710. Proxies submitted through Mellon 
Investor Services LLC by the Internet or telephone must be 
received by 11:59 p.m. Eastern time (10:59 p.m. Central time) 
on April 27, 2005. The giving of a proxy will not affect your 
right to vote in person if you decide to attend the meeting.

A number of banks and brokerage firms participate in a 
program that also permits stockholders to direct their vote 
by the Internet or telephone. This option is separate from 
that offered by Mellon Investor Services LLC and will be 
reflected on the voting form from a bank or brokerage firm 
that accompanies this Proxy Statement. If your shares are held 
in an account at a bank or brokerage firm that participates in 
such a program, you may direct the vote of these shares by 
the Internet or telephone by following the instructions on 

the voting form enclosed with the proxy from the bank or  
brokerage firm. Votes directed by the Internet or telephone 
through such a program must be received by Mellon Investor 
Services LLC by 11:59 p.m. Eastern time (10:59 p.m. Central 
time) on April 27, 2005. Directing the voting of your shares 
will not affect your right to vote in person if you decide to 
attend the meeting; however, you must first request a proxy 
either on the Internet or the voting form that accompanies 
this Proxy Statement. Requesting a proxy prior to the deadlines 
described above will automatically cancel any voting directions 
you have previously given by the Internet or by telephone with 
respect to your shares.

The Internet and telephone proxy procedures are designed 
to authenticate stockholders’ identities, to allow stockholders 
to give their proxy instructions and to confirm that those 
instructions have been properly recorded. Stockholders autho-
rizing proxies or directing the voting of shares by the Internet 
should understand that there may be costs associated with 
electronic access, such as usage charges from access providers 
and telephone companies, and those costs must be borne by 
the stockholder.

Shares for which proxies have been executed will 
be voted as specified in the proxies. If no specification 
is made, the shares will be voted FOR the election of 
nominees listed herein as directors, FOR ratification of 
Deloitte & Touche LLP as the Company’s Independent 
Auditor for fiscal year 2005, FOR amendment to the 
Company’s Restated Certificate of Incorporation to 
declassify the Board of Directors and provide for the 
annual election of all directors and AGAINST Stockholder 
Proposal No. 1.

Proxies may be revoked at any time prior to the exercise 
thereof by filing with the Corporate Secretary, at the Compa-
ny’s executive offices, a written revocation or a duly executed 
proxy bearing a later date. The executive offices of the Com-
pany are located at 3900 Essex Lane, Houston, Texas 77027-
5177. For a period of at least ten days prior to the Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders, a complete list of stockholders enti-
tled to vote at the Annual Meeting will be available for inspec-
tion during ordinary business hours at the Company’s executive 
offices by stockholders of record for proper purposes.
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VOTING SECURITIES
The securities of the Company entitled to be voted 

at the Annual Meeting consist of shares of its Common 
Stock, par value $1 per share (“Common Stock”), of which 
338,185,465 shares were issued and outstanding at the close 
of business on February 25, 2005. Only stockholders of record 
at the close of business on that date will be entitled to vote 
at the meeting. Each share of Common Stock entitles the 
holder thereof to one vote on each matter to be considered 
at the meeting.

Assuming a quorum is present at the Annual Meeting, 
either in person or represented by proxy, with respect to the 
election of directors, the four nominees receiving the greatest 
number of votes cast by the holders of the Common Stock 
entitled to vote on the matter will be elected as directors, the 
affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of 
Common Stock present in person or represented by proxy at 
the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote on the matter is 
required for the approval of the ratification of Deloitte &  
Touche LLP as the Company’s Independent Auditor for fiscal 
year 2005 and Stockholder Proposal No. 1. The affirmative vote 
of the holders of 75% of the total voting power of all shares of 
Common Stock entitled to vote on the matter is required for 
the approval of the Amendment of the Company’s Restated 
Certificate of Incorporation to declassify the Board of Directors 
and provide for the annual election of all directors. There will 
be no cumulative voting in the election of directors. Under  
Delaware law, abstentions are treated as present and entitled 
to vote and thus, will be counted in determining whether a 
quorum is present and will have the effect of a vote against 
a matter, except for the election of directors in which case an 
abstention will have no effect. Shares held by brokers or nomi-
nees for which instructions have not been received from the 
beneficial owners or persons entitled to vote and for which 
the broker or nominee does not have discretionary power to 
vote on a particular matter (called “broker non-votes”), will be 
considered present for quorum purposes but not considered 
entitled to vote on that matter. Accordingly, broker non-votes 
will not have any impact on the vote on a matter, except the 
proposed Amendment of the Company’s Restated Certificate 
of Incorporation, for which a broker non-vote will count as a 
vote against the proposed Amendment.

Under the rules of the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) 
in effect at the time this Proxy Statement was printed, if you 
hold your shares through a broker, your broker is permitted 
to vote your shares on “routine” matters, which includes the 
election of directors and the ratification of the Independent 
Auditor, even if the broker does not receive instructions from 
you. Your shares will only be voted with respect to the 
Amendment to the Restated Certificate of Incorporation to 
declassify the Board of Directors and provide for the annual 
election of all directors and Stockholder Proposal No. 1 if you 
have provided specific voting instructions to your broker.

The following table sets forth information about the  
holders of the Common Stock known to the Company on  
February 25, 2005 to own beneficially 5% or more of the 
Common Stock, based on filings by the holders with the Secu-
rities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). For the purposes 
of this Proxy Statement, beneficial ownership of securities is 
defined in accordance with the rules of the SEC to mean gen-
erally the power to vote or dispose of securities regardless of 
any economic interest therein.

Name and Address Shares Percent

1. FMR Corp. 32,441,688 9.7% 
 82 Devonshire Street 
 Boston, Massachusetts 02109

2. Barclays Global Investors, NA  30,302,372  9.0% 
 Walker House, Mary Street  
 P. O. Box 908 GT 
 George Town, Grand Cayman,  
  Cayman Islands

3. Capital Research and  
 Management Company  26,570,500  7.9% 
 333 South Hope Street 
 Los Angeles, California 90071

4. Dodge & Cox  19,710,975  5.9% 
 555 California Street, 40th Floor 
 San Francisco, California 94104
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PROPOSAL NO. 1 
ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Four Class II directors will be elected at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to serve for three-year terms expiring at the Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders expected to be held in April 2008. However, if Proposal No. 3 to declassify the Company’s Board of Direc-
tors is adopted, all directors have agreed to stand for re-election at the Company’s 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

The following table sets forth each nominee director’s name, all positions with the Company held by the nominee, the nominee’s 
principal occupation, age, year in which the nominee first became a director of the Company and class. Each nominee director has 
agreed to serve if elected.

   Director 
Nominees Principal Occupation Age Since Class

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of UNOVA Inc. (industrial 
technologies). Mr. Brady has served as Chairman of UNOVA since 2001 and 
as Chief Executive Officer since 2000. He served as President from 1999 to 
2001 and as Chief Operating Officer from 1999 to 2000. Mr. Brady served as 
President of FMC Corporation from 1993 to 1999. He served as a Vice Presi-
dent of FMC from 1984 to 1989, as Executive Vice President from 1989 to 
1999 and was a director from 1989 to 1999. Mr. Brady is a director of Pactiv 
Corporation, a member of the Advisory Board of Northwestern University’s  
Kellogg School of Management and the Executive Committee of the National 
Association of Manufacturers.
    
President and Chief Executive Officer and Director since 2002 of Marathon Oil 
Corporation, formerly known as USX Corporation (diversified petroleum), and 
he is also a member of the Board of Managers of Marathon Ashland Petroleum 
LLC. He served as Vice Chairman of USX Corporation and President of Mara-
thon Oil Company from 2000 to 2001. Mr. Cazalot was with Texaco Inc. from 
1972 to 2000, and while at Texaco served in the following executive positions: 
President of Worldwide Production Operations of Texaco Inc. from 1999 to 
2000; President of International Production and Chairman of London-based 
Texaco Ltd. from 1998 to 1999; President of International Marketing and Man-
ufacturing from 1997 to 1998; President of Texaco Exploration and Production 
Inc. from 1994 to 1996; and President of Texaco’s Latin America/West Africa 
Division from 1992 to 1994. In 1992, he was named Vice President, Texaco Inc. 
He is a director and Executive Committee member of both the U.S. Saudi Ara-
bian Business Council and the American Petroleum Institute. 
 
Former Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of Phillip Services Cor-
poration (diversified industrial services provider) from August 1999 to April 
2002. He was Executive Vice President of ARCO (Atlantic Richfield Company) 
from 1994 to 1999, President of ARCO Coal, a subsidiary of ARCO from 1990 
to 1994 and Corporate Controller of ARCO from 1987 to 1990. Mr. Fernandes 
is a member of the Claremont McKenna College Board of Trustees and also 
serves on the Board of Black & Veatch, Cytec Industries and Tower Automotive.

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Devon Energy Corpora-
tion (independent energy company). Mr. Nichols has served as Chairman of 
Devon Energy Corporation since 2000, as Chief Executive Officer since 1980 
and was President from 1976 until May 2003. Mr. Nichols is also a director of 
Smedvig asa, (independent energy company). He also serves as a director of the 
Oklahoma City Branch of the Federal Reserve Bank of Kansas City. Mr. Nichols 
serves as a director of several trade associations relevant to the oil and gas 
exploration and production business.

Larry D. Brady

Clarence P. Cazalot, Jr.

Anthony G. Fernandes

J. Larry Nichols

62 2004 II

54 2002 II

59 2001 II

62 2001 II
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INFORMATION CONCERNING DIRECTORS NOT STANDING FOR ELECTION
The following table sets forth certain information for those directors whose present terms will continue after the Annual Meeting 

of Stockholders. The term of each Class I and Class III director expires at the 2007 and 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, respec-
tively. If Proposal No. 3 to declassify the Company’s Board of Directors is adopted, all directors have agreed to stand for re-election 
at the 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Pursuant to the Company’s Bylaws, in case of a vacancy on the Board of Directors, a majority of the remaining directors will 
appoint a successor, and the director so elected will hold office for the remainder of the full term of the director whose death, 
retirement, resignation, disqualification or other cause created the vacancy, and thereafter until the election of a successor director.

   Director 
Directors Principal Occupation Age Since Class

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Baker Hughes since Octo-
ber 2004. Mr. Deaton was President and Chief Executive Officer of Hanover 
Compressor Company (compression services) from 2002 through October 2004. 
He was a Senior Advisor to Schlumberger Oilfield Services (oilfield services) from 
1999 to September 2001 and was an Executive Vice President from 1998 to 
1999. Mr. Deaton is a director of CARBO Ceramics, Inc. He is also a director of 
Junior Achievement of Southeast Texas and of Houston Achievement Place.

Director of the James A. Baker III Institute for Public Policy at Rice University 
since 1994. Ambassador Djerejian served as U.S. Ambassador to Israel from 
1993 to 1994. He served as Assistant Secretary of State for Near Eastern Affairs 
from 1991 to 1993. Ambassador Djerejian also served as U.S. Ambassador to 
the Syrian Arab Republic from 1988 to 1991, as Deputy Assistant Secretary of 
Near Eastern and South Asian Affairs from 1986 to 1988 and as Special Assis-
tant to the President and Deputy Press Secretary for Foreign Affairs from 1985 
to 1986. He is a director of Global Industries, Ltd. and Occidental Petroleum.

Former Vice Chairman, Diversified Search and Diversified Health Search Compa-
nies (executive search consultants) from 1990 to 1998. Ms. Gargalli served as 
President and Chief Operating Officer of Equimark from 1984 to 1990. During 
that period, she also served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Equi-
mark’s two principal subsidiaries, Equibank and Liberty Bank. Ms. Gargalli is a 
director of Praxair, Inc. and UNOVA Inc. She is also a trustee emeritus of Carnegie 
Mellon University and Middlebury College.

Chad C. Deaton

Edward P. Djerejian

Claire W. Gargalli

52 2004 III

65 2001 I

62 1998 III
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   Director 
Directors (cont’d.) Principal Occupation Age Since Class

First Selectman, Greenwich, Connecticut (city government) since 2003 and 
Chairman of Manchester Principal LLC and its predecessor company (high  
technology venture capital firm) since 1982. Mr. Lash also served as Chairman 
and Chief Executive Officer of Reading Tube Corporation from 1982 to 1996. 
Mr. Lash is a director of Ivy Animal Health, Inc., Vesper Corporation and 
Webridge, Inc. Mr. Lash is a director of City Center 55th Street Foundation, Inc. 
and East West Institute and a Member of the Corporation of Massachusetts 
Institute of Technology.
    
Executive Director of the American Society of Military Comptrollers since 1991. 
He was Lieutenant General and Comptroller of the U.S. Army from 1988 until 
1991, when he retired. General McCall was commissioned as 2nd Lieutenant 
of Infantry in 1958 and was selected into the Army’s Comptroller/ Financial 
Management career field in 1970. General McCall is Chairman of the Board 
of Enterprise Bancorp Inc. and former Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors 
of the American Refugee Committee.
    
Chairman of the Board of Cooper Industries, Ltd. (diversified manufacturer) 
since 1996 and Chief Executive Officer since 1995. He was Executive Vice Presi-
dent, Operations of Cooper Industries, Inc. from 1982 to 1992, Chief Operating 
Officer from 1992 to 1995 and President from 1992 to 2004. Mr. Riley is a 
director of The Allstate Corporation. Mr. Riley also serves as a director of the 
Greater Houston Partnership, the Manufacturers Alliance, Inc., Junior Achieve-
ment of Southeast Texas, Central Houston, Inc. and the National Association of 
Manufacturers and as a trustee of the Museum of Fine Arts, Houston. Mr. Riley 
also serves as a Trustee of Syracuse University.
    
Chairman of Eagle Energy Partners (energy marketing), Chairman of Wincrest 
Ventures, L.P. (private investments) since January 1998 and Founding Partner 
of Caldwell Watson Real Estate Group, Inc. since 1994. Former Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer of Dynegy Inc. (diversified energy) from 1989 to 2002. 
Mr. Watson was elected Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of NGC Corpo-
ration, the predecessor of Dynegy, in 1989. Mr. Watson serves on the National 
Petroleum Council and the Governor’s Business Council. He is a founding mem-
ber of the Natural Gas Council. Mr. Watson is also a board member of Theatre 
Under the Stars, Hobby Center for the Performing Arts, Central Houston, Inc., 
Baylor College of Medicine and Angeleno Investors, L.P.

James A. Lash

James F. McCall

H. John Riley, Jr.

Charles L. Watson

60 2002 III
  

70 1996 III
  

64 1997 I
  

55 1998 I
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company’s Board of Directors believes that the pur-

pose of corporate governance is to maximize stockholder value 
in a manner consistent with legal requirements and the high-
est standards of integrity. The Board has adopted and adheres 
to corporate governance practices, which practices the Board 
and management believe promote this purpose, are sound 
and represent best practices. The Board continually reviews 
these governance practices, Delaware law (the state in which 
the Company is incorporated), the rules and listings standards 
of the NYSE and SEC regulations, as well as best practices sug-
gested by recognized governance authorities. The Board has 
established the Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines 
(“Governance Guidelines”) as the principles of conduct of the 
Company’s business affairs to benefit its stockholders, which 
guidelines conform to the NYSE corporate governance listing 
standards and the rules promulgated by the SEC. The Gover-
nance Guidelines are posted under the “About Baker Hughes” 
section of the Company’s website at www.bakerhughes.com 
and are also available upon request to the Company’s Corpo-
rate Secretary.

Board of Directors
During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004, the 

Board of Directors held nine meetings and each director 
attended at least 75% of the total number of meetings of the 
Company’s Board of Directors and respective Committees on 
which he or she served, except for Messrs. Clarence P. Cazalot, 
Jr., and J. Larry Nichols, each of whom attended at least 70% 
of the total number of meetings of the Company’s Board of 
Directors and respective Committees on which they served. In 
fiscal year 2004, each non-employee director was paid an 
annual retainer of $60,000, with each Committee Chairman 
receiving an additional annual fee of $10,000. Each member 
of the Audit/Ethics Committee, including the Chairman, 
received an additional annual retainer fee of $5,000.  
Mr. Anthony G. Fernandes, received a one-time special payment 
of $10,000 for his services as Chairman of the Special Commit-
tee of the Board of Directors, which was formed in connection 
with the succession of Mr. Michael E. Wiley. Each non-employee 
director received annual non-retainer equity in a total amount of 
$50,000, with $30,000 issued in the form of restricted shares of 
the Company’s Common Stock and $20,000 issued in the form 
of stock options in the Company’s Common Stock. Restricted 
stock grants in the amount of $15,000 and stock option grants 
in the amount of $10,000 were made in January and July of 
2004. The restricted stock will vest upon retirement from the 
Company’s Board of Directors, and the stock options vest one-
year from the date of grant. The Company previously provided 
benefits under a Directors Retirement Plan, which plan remains 
in effect until all benefits accrued thereunder are paid in accor-
dance with the current terms and conditions of that Plan. No 
additional benefits have been accrued under the Plan since 
December 31, 2001.

Effective as of January 1, 2005, each non-employee direc-
tor is paid an annual retainer of $60,000. The Audit/Ethics 
Committee Chairman receives an additional annual retainer 
of $20,000. Each of the other non-employee Committee 
Chairmen receives an additional annual retainer of $15,000. 
Each of the members of the Audit/Ethics Committee, exclud-
ing the Chairman, receives an additional annual retainer of 
$10,000. Each of the members, excluding the Chairmen, of 
the Compensation, Finance and Governance Committees 
receives an additional annual retainer of $5,000. Each non-
employee director also receives annual non-retainer equity in 
a total amount of $70,000, in the form of restricted shares of 
the Company’s Common Stock with $35,000 issued in January 
and July of each year starting in January 2005. 

Director Independence
All members of the Board of Directors, other than the 

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Deaton, satisfy 
the independence requirements of the NYSE. In addition, the 
Board has adopted a “Policy for Director Independence, Audit/
Ethics Committee Members and Audit Committee Financial 
Expert” included as Exhibit C to the Governance Guidelines 
and attached as Annex A to this Proxy Statement. Such Policy 
supplements the independence requirements promulgated by 
the NYSE. Directors who meet these standards are considered 
to be “independent.” The Board has determined that the 
nominees for election at this Annual Meeting, Messrs. Brady, 
Cazalot, Fernandes and Nichols, as well as all other directors, 
Ms. Gargalli and Messrs. Djerejian, Lash, McCall, Riley and 
Watson, other than Mr. Deaton, meet these standards.

Regularly Scheduled Executive 
Sessions of Non-Management Directors

The Governance Guidelines provide for executive sessions 
of independent non-management directors to be held at every 
regularly scheduled meeting of the Board of Directors. The 
Governance Committee reviews and recommends to the Board 
a director to serve as Lead Director during executive sessions. 
Currently, Mr. Riley serves as Lead Director during executive 
sessions of independent non-management directors. 

Stockholders wishing to communicate directly with any 
director, including the Lead Director or non-management 
directors as a group, may do so as prescribed in the “Stock-
holder Communications with the Board of Directors” proce-
dures included as Exhibit E to the Governance Guidelines, 
which are posted under the “About Baker Hughes” section of 
the Company’s website at www.bakerhughes.com and are also 
available upon request to the Company’s Corporate Secretary.
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Committees of the Board
The Board of Directors has, in addition to other commit-

tees, an Audit/Ethics Committee, a Compensation Committee 
and a Governance Committee. The Audit/Ethics Committee, 
Compensation Committee and Governance Committees are 
comprised solely of independent directors in accordance with 
NYSE corporate governance listing standards. The Board of 
Directors adopted charters for the Audit/Ethics, Compensation 
and Governance Committees that comply with the requirements 
of the NYSE standards, applicable provisions of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 (“SOX”) and SEC rules. Each of the charters 
has been posted and is available for public viewing under the 
“About Baker Hughes” section of the Company’s website at 
www.bakerhughes.com and are also available upon request 
to the Company’s Corporate Secretary.

Audit/Ethics Committee. The Audit/Ethics Committee, 
which is comprised of Messrs. McCall (Chairman), Cazalot, 
Fernandes, Lash and Nichols, held 11 meetings during fiscal 
year 2004. The Board of Directors has determined that the 
Audit/Ethics Committee members meet the NYSE standards 
for independence and the Company’s “Policy for Director Inde-
pendence, Audit/Ethics Committee Members and Audit Com-
mittee Financial Expert.” The Audit/Ethics Committee Charter 
is attached as Annex B to this Proxy Statement and can be 
accessed electronically under the “About Baker Hughes” sec-
tion of the Company’s website at www.bakerhughes.com. The 
General Auditor and the Corporate internal audit function 
report directly to the Audit/Ethics Committee. The Company’s 
Corporate Audit Department sends written reports quarterly 
to the Audit/Ethics Committee on its audit findings and the 
status of its internal audit projects. The Audit/Ethics Commit-
tee provides assistance to the Board of Directors in overseeing 
matters relating to the accounting and reporting practices of 
the Company, the adequacy of the Company’s disclosure con-
trols and internal controls, the quality and integrity of the 
quarterly and annual financial statements of the Company, 
the performance of the Company’s internal audit function, 
the review and pre-approval of the current year audit and  
non-audit fees and the Company’s risk analysis and risk man-
agement procedures. In addition, the Audit/Ethics Committee 
oversees the Company’s compliance programs relating to legal 
and regulatory requirements. The Audit/Ethics Committee has 
developed “Procedures for the Receipt, Retention and Treat-
ment of Complaints” to address complaints received by the 
Company regarding accounting, internal controls or auditing 
matters. Such procedures are included as Exhibit F to the 
Governance Guidelines. The Governance Guidelines are posted 
under the “About Baker Hughes” section of the Company’s 
website at www.bakerhughes.com and are also available upon 
request to the Company’s Corporate Secretary.

The Audit/Ethics Committee also is responsible for the 
selection and hiring of the Company’s independent auditor. 
To promote independence of the audit, the Committee con-
sults separately and jointly with the independent auditor, 
the internal auditors and management. 

The Board has reviewed the experience of the members 
of the Audit/Ethics Committee and has found that all five 
members of the Committee meet the qualifications to be an 
“audit committee financial expert” under the SEC rules issued 
pursuant to SOX. In addition, the Board has designated 
Anthony G. Fernandes as the member of the Committee 
who serves as the “audit committee financial expert” of the 
Company’s Audit/Ethics Committee. 

Compensation Committee. The Compensation Com-
mittee, which is comprised of Messrs. Riley (Chairman), Brady, 
Djerejian, Watson and Ms. Gargalli, held seven meetings dur-
ing fiscal year 2004. The Board of Directors has determined 
that the Compensation Committee members meet the NYSE 
standards for independence and the Company’s “Policy for 
Director Independence, Audit/Ethics Committee Members 
and Audit Committee Financial Expert.” The Compensation 
Committee Charter can be accessed electronically under the 
“About Baker Hughes” section of the Company’s website at 
www.bakerhughes.com. The functions performed by the Com-
pensation Committee include reviewing and approving Baker 
Hughes’ executive salary and bonus structure; reviewing Baker 
Hughes’ stock option plans (and making grants thereunder), 
employee retirement income plans, the employee thrift plan and 
the employee stock purchase plan; setting bonus goals; approv-
ing salary and bonus awards to key executives; recommending 
incentive compensation and stock award plans for approval by 
stockholders; and reviewing management succession plans.

Governance Committee. The Governance Committee, 
which is comprised of Messrs. Cazalot (Chairman), Djerejian, 
McCall, Riley and Watson, held four meetings during fiscal 
year 2004. The Board of Directors has determined that the 
Governance Committee members meet the NYSE standards 
for independence and the Company’s “Policy for Director 
Independence, Audit/Ethics Committee Members and Audit 
Committee Financial Expert.” A current copy of the Gover-
nance Committee Charter can be accessed electronically under 
the “About Baker Hughes” section of the Company’s website 
at www.bakerhughes.com. The functions performed by the 
Governance Committee include overseeing the Company’s cor-
porate governance affairs and monitoring compliance with the 
Governance Guidelines. In addition, the Governance Committee 
nominates candidates for the Board of Directors, selects candi-
dates to fill vacancies on the Board, reviews the structure and 
composition of the Board, considers the qualifications required 
for continuing Board service and recommends directors’ fees. 
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The Governance Committee has implemented policies 
regarding Board membership. The Governance Committee 
will consider candidates based upon the size and existing 
composition of the Board, the number and qualifications of 
candidates, the benefit of continuity on the Board and the rel-
evance of the candidate’s background and experience to issues 
facing the Company. The criteria used for selecting directors 
are described in the Company’s “Guidelines for Membership 
on the Board of Directors,” included as Exhibit A to the Gov-
ernance Guidelines, which are attached as Annex C to this 
Proxy Statement. In addition, the Company has established a 
formal process for the selection of candidates, as described in 
the Company’s “Selection Process for New Board of Directors 
Candidates” included as Exhibit B to the Governance Guide-
lines which are attached as Annex D to this Proxy Statement, 
and candidates are evaluated based on their background, 
experience and other relevant factors as described in the 
Guidelines for Membership on the Board of Directors. The 
Board or the Governance Committee will evaluate candidates 
properly proposed by stockholders in the same manner as all 
other candidates. 

The Governance Committee has established, in accordance 
with the Company’s Bylaws regarding stockholder nominees, 
a policy that it will consider director candidates recommended 
by stockholders. Recommendations that stockholders desire to 
make should be submitted between October 16, 2005 and 
November 15, 2005 in accordance with the Company’s Bylaws 
and “Policy and Submission Procedures for Stockholder Rec-
ommended Director Candidates” included as Exhibit D to the 
Governance Guidelines, which are posted under the “About 
Baker Hughes” section of the Company’s website at www.
bakerhughes.com and are also available upon request to: 
Chairman, Governance Committee of the Board of Directors, 
P.O. Box 4740, Houston, Texas 77210-4740, or to the Corpo-
rate Secretary c/o Baker Hughes Incorporated, 3900 Essex 
Lane, Suite 1200, Houston, Texas 77027-5177 and should be 
accompanied by substantially the same types of information as 
are required under the Company’s Bylaws for stockholder 
nominees.

Each of the current nominees for director listed under the 
caption “Election of Directors” is an existing director standing 
for re-election. The Company has not paid any fee to a third 
party to identify or evaluate or to assist in identifying or evalu-
ating such nominees. In connection with the 2005 Annual 
Meeting, the Governance Committee did not receive any rec-
ommendation for a nominee proposed from any stockholder 
or group of stockholders. 

Stockholder Communications  
with the Board of Directors

The Company’s Annual Meeting provides an opportunity 
each year for stockholders to ask questions of or otherwise 
communicate directly with members of the Company’s 
Board of Directors on matters relevant to the Company. In 
accordance with the Company’s “Annual Meeting Director 
Attendance Policy,” which has been incorporated into the 
Governance Guidelines, all directors and nominees for elec-
tion as directors are requested and encouraged to personally 
attend the Company’s Annual Meeting. Ten of the Company’s 
directors and director nominees attended the Company’s 2004 
Annual Meeting.

In order to provide the Company’s stockholders and other 
interested parties with a direct and open line of communica-
tion to the Company’s Board of Directors, a process has been 
established for communications with any member of the Board 
of Directors, including the Company’s Lead Director, any of the 
Chairmen of the Company’s Governance Committee, Audit/
Ethics Committee, Compensation Committee, Finance Com-
mittee or with the non-management directors as a group. The 
procedures for “Stockholder Communications with the Board 
of Directors” are included as Exhibit E to the Governance 
Guidelines and can be accessed electronically under the 
“About Baker Hughes” section of the Company’s website 
at www.bakerhughes.com and are also available upon 
request to the Company’s Corporate Secretary.

Business Code of Conduct
The Company has a Business Code of Conduct that 

applies to all officers, directors and employees, which includes 
the code of ethics for the Company’s principal executive offi-
cer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or 
controller and all other persons performing similar functions 
within the meaning of the securities laws and regulations. In 
addition, each of such officers has certified compliance with 
the Company’s Business Code of Conduct as well as with the 
applicable NYSE and SOX provisions. The Company’s Business 
Code of Conduct and Code of Ethical Conduct Certification 
are posted under the “About Baker Hughes” section of the 
Company’s website at www.bakerhughes.com and are also 
available upon request to the Company’s Corporate Secretary.
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 Shares Beneficially Owned

 Shares Shares Subject to Options Total

 Owned which are or will become Beneficial % of

Name as of 2/25/05 Exercisable prior to 4/25/05 Ownership Class(1)

Larry D. Brady 2,204(2) – 2,204  –
Clarence P. Cazalot, Jr.  3,795(3) 1,727 5,522  –
Edward P. Djerejian 3,795(3) 4,727 8,522  –
Anthony G. Fernandes 5,795(3) 12,948 18,743  –
Claire W. Gargalli 11,575(3) 13,127 24,702  –
James A. Lash 3,795(3) 1,727 5,522  –
James F. McCall 5,795(3) 5,727 11,522  –
J. Larry Nichols 3,795(3) 4,727 8,522  –
H. John Riley, Jr. 13,795(3) 5,727 19,522  –
Charles L. Watson 10,635(3) 36,303 46,938  –
Michael E. Wiley 197,100(4) 1,310,000(5) 1,507,100  –
Chad C. Deaton 130,850(6) – 130,850  –
G. Stephen Finley 126,535(7) 167,496 294,031  –
James R. Clark 111,546(8) 69,165 180,711  –
Alan R. Crain, Jr. 29,609(9) 126,617 156,226  –
Douglas J. Wall 31,040(10) 62,347 93,387  –
All directors and executive officers as a group (23 persons) 818,062 2,174,884 2,992,946  –

(1) No percent of class is shown for holdings of less than 1%.

(2) Includes 382 and 822 shares issued as restricted stock awards on July 28, 2004 and January 26, 2005, respectively, which awards will vest upon  
retirement from the Board of Directors.

(3) Includes 1,202, 512, 459, 418, 382 and 822 shares issued as restricted stock awards on July 24, 2002, January 29, 2003, July 22, 2003, January 28, 2004,  
July 28, 2004 and January 26, 2005, respectively, which awards will vest upon retirement from the Board of Directors.

(4) Includes a one-time, stock-matching award of 40,000 shares of restricted stock issued in 2002 to which Mr. Wiley, former Chairman and CEO who retired on  
October 25, 2004, was entitled under the provisions of his restated employment agreement. Vesting of Mr. Wiley’s 40,000 shares of restricted stock was accelerated 
from August 2005 to August 2004.

(5) Mr. Wiley’s options vested on October 25, 2004 and will expire on October 25, 2007.

(6) Includes 80,000 and 50,850 shares issued as restricted stock awards on October 25, 2004 and January 26, 2005, respectively, which awards will vest 25 percent  
on each of October 25, 2006, 2007, 2008 and 2009, and one-third on each of January 26, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively.

(7) Includes 20,000 and 14,400 shares issued as restricted stock awards on October 23, 2002 and January 26, 2005, respectively, which awards will vest on June 30, 2006 
and January 26, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively.

(8) Includes 40,000 and 20,350 shares issued as restricted stock awards on October 27, 2004 and January 26, 2005, respectively, which awards will vest 25 percent on 
each of October 27, 2007 and October 27, 2008, with the remaining 50 percent vesting on October 27, 2009 and one-third on each of January 26, 2006, 2007 and 
2008, respectively. Also includes a one-time, stock-matching award of 25,000 shares of restricted stock issued on September 2, 2002, which award will vest upon 
Mr. Clark’s retirement from the Company. Up to 19,355 shares are subject to a Sales Plan intended to comply with Rule 10b5-1 under the SEC rules.

(9) Includes 10,000 and 9,325 shares issued as restricted stock awards on April 28, 2004 and January 26, 2005, respectively, which awards will vest on April 28, 2008 and 
one-third on each of January 26, 2006, 2007 and 2008.

(10) Includes 10,000 and 4,750 shares issued as restricted stock awards on March 2, 2004 and January 26, 2005, respectively, which awards will vest on March 2, 2008 
and one-third on each of January 26, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF MANAGEMENT
Set forth below is certain information with respect to beneficial ownership of the Common Stock as of February 25, 2005 by 

each director and director nominee, the persons named in the Summary Compensation Table below and the directors and executive 
officers as a group. The table includes transactions effected prior to the close of business on February 25, 2005.
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CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS
Within the preceding year, the Company did not make 

any contributions to any charitable organization in which an 
independent director served as an executive officer, which 
exceeded the greater of $1 million or 2% of the charitable 
organization’s consolidated gross revenues.

COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 16(a) OF 
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended (“Exchange Act”), requires executive officers, direc-
tors and persons who beneficially own more than 10% of the 

Common Stock to file initial reports of ownership and reports 
of changes in ownership with the SEC and the NYSE. SEC reg-
ulations require executive officers, directors and greater than 
10% beneficial owners to furnish the Company with copies 
of all Section 16(a) forms they file.

Based solely on a review of the copies of those forms fur-
nished to the Company and written representations from the 
executive officers and directors, the Company believes, that 
during its fiscal year ended December 31, 2004, the Company’s 
executive officers and directors complied with all applicable 
Section 16(a) filing requirements.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE
The following table sets forth the compensation earned by the Chief Executive Officer and the four most highly compensated 

executive officers of the Company for services rendered to the Company and its subsidiaries for the fiscal years ended December 31, 
2004, 2003 and 2002. Compensation information is also included for Mr. Wiley who served as our Chief Executive Officer during 
our most recently completed fiscal year but retired prior to our fiscal-year end. Bonuses are paid under the Company’s applicable 
incentive compensation guidelines and are generally paid in the year following the year in which the bonus is earned.

 Annual Compensation Long-Term Compensation Awards

    Other Annual Restricted Securities Underlying 

Name and Principal Position Year Salary Bonus Compensation(1) Stock Awards Options (# Shares)(2)

Michael E. Wiley, Chairman of 2004 $ 858,254 $ 1,014,300 $ 1,881,940(4) – 300,000
 the Board and Chief 2003  998,469  918,592  142,782 – 300,000
 Executive Officer(3) 2002  969,423  490,000  283,239 40,000(5) 210,000

Chad C. Deaton, Chairman of 2004  126,923  600,000  11,706 80,000(7) 75,000
 the Board and Chief
 Executive Officer(6)

G. Stephen Finley, Senior Vice 2004  507,257  624,484  111,794 – 79,000
 President – Finance and 2003  483,441  289,098  92,905 – 79,000
 Administration and 2002  464,677  160,000  120,692 20,000(8) 62,000
 Chief Financial Officer

James R. Clark, President and  2004  500,702  720,261  113,132 40,000(9) 98,500
 Chief Operating Officer  2003  321,270  245,134  74,890 – 26,000
  2002  297,027  155,414  74,208 25,000(10) 22,000

Alan R. Crain, Jr., Vice President  2004  402,385  419,164  90,269 10,000(11) 55,000
 and General Counsel 2003  386,346  195,491  77,212 – 54,500
  2002  375,508  114,345  128,128 – 39,000

Douglas J. Wall, Vice President  2004  330,250  374,902  69,145 10,000(12) 28,000
 and Group President, Completions 2003  311,812  198,411  58,844 – 25,000
 and Production(13) 2002  299,762  127,053  71,140 – 22,000
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(1) Other Annual Compensation includes Company contributions to the Baker Hughes Thrift Plan, the Baker Hughes Supplemental Retirement Plan, the Baker Hughes Pen-
sion Plan, life insurance premiums, perquisites and other compensation for the named executive officers. Amounts for fiscal year 2004 for the persons named above 
are as follows:

 Thrift SRP Pension Life Perquisites Total 

Michael E. Wiley $ 11,667 $ 288,151* $ 8,200* $ 3,935 $ 24,788 $ 336,741
Chad C. Deaton  5,077  –  5,077  776  –  10,930
James R. Clark  11,667  69,634  8,200  4,158  19,473  113,132
G. Stephen Finley  12,172  75,191  8,200  5,731  10,500  111,794
Alan R. Crain, Jr.  11,667  51,878  8,200  4,580  13,944  90,269
Douglas J. Wall  16,400   31,005  8,200  3,783  9,757  69,145

   *  Mr. Wiley retired on October 25, 2004 and was not vested in the Company contributed portion of his SRP or his  
Baker Hughes Pension Plan Account. Thus, Mr. Wiley is not eligible to receive these amounts. 

(2) See Footnote (1) to table in “Stock Options Granted During 2004” below.

(3) Mr. Wiley retired as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company effective October 25, 2004. 

(4) In accordance with Mr. Wiley’s restated employment agreement, upon his retirement on October 25, 2004, Mr. Wiley received a lump sum payment which included, 
$526,656 representing his unpaid base salary through April 30, 2005, $350,000 representing payment of his 2005 annual incentive, $138,491 for his remaining 2004 
vacation balance and the 2005 vacation balance, $500,000 as a retirement vesting offset and $30,052 additional perquisites for 2004 and 2005.

(5) Mr. Wiley received a one-time, stock-matching award of 40,000 shares of restricted stock on June 30, 2002 valued at $1,331,600. See Footnote (4) to the table under 
the caption “Security Ownership of Management” above. Vesting of Mr. Wiley’s 40,000 shares of restricted stock was accelerated from August 2005 to August 1, 2004.

(6) Mr. Deaton joined the Company on October 25, 2004 as Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer.

(7) On October 25, 2004, Mr. Deaton was awarded 80,000 shares of restricted Common Stock valued at $3,471,200. See Footnote (6) to the table under the caption 
“Security Ownership of Management” above. After October 25, 2004, Mr. Deaton received the Company’s ordinary dividend payment on the award on a quarterly 
basis. The 80,000-share award vests 25 percent on each of October 25, 2006, 2007, 2008 and 2009. At December 31, 2004, Mr. Deaton held 80,000 shares of 
restricted stock, valued at $3,413,600, based upon the closing stock price of $42.67 per share of Common Stock on the NYSE on December 31, 2004.

(8) On October 23, 2002, Mr. Finley was awarded 20,000 shares of restricted Common Stock valued at $554,600. See Footnote (7) to the table under the caption  
“Security Ownership of Management” above. After October 23, 2002, Mr. Finley received the Company’s ordinary dividend payment on the award on a quarterly 
basis. The 20,000-share award vests on June 30, 2006. At December 31, 2004, Mr. Finley held 20,000 shares of restricted stock, valued at $853,400, based upon the 
closing stock price of $42.67 per share of Common Stock on the NYSE on December 31, 2004.

(9) On October 27, 2004, Mr. Clark was awarded 40,000 shares of restricted Common Stock valued at $1,768,000. See Footnote (8) to the table under the caption 
“Security Ownership of Management” above. After October 27, 2004, Mr. Clark received the Company’s ordinary dividend payment on the award on a quarterly basis. 
The 40,000-share award vests 25 percent on each of October 27, 2007 and 2008 with the remaining 50 percent vesting on October 27, 2009. At December 31, 2004, 
Mr. Clark held 40,000 shares of restricted stock, valued at $1,706,800 based upon the closing stock price of $42.67 per share of Common Stock on the NYSE on 
December 31, 2004.

(10) Mr. Clark received a one-time, stock-matching award of 25,000 shares of restricted stock on September 2, 2002 valued at $687,500. After that date through Decem-
ber 3, 2003, Mr. Clark received a cash payment equivalent to the Company’s ordinary dividend payment on the award on a quarterly basis. After December 3, 2003, 
Mr. Clark received the ordinary quarterly cash dividend payment versus such cash payment equivalent. See Footnote (8) to the table under the caption “Security Own-
ership of Management” above. At December 31, 2004, Mr. Clark held 25,000 shares of restricted stock, valued at $1,066,750, based upon the closing stock price of 
$42.67 per share of Common Stock on the NYSE on December 31, 2004.

(11) On April 28, 2004, Mr. Crain was awarded 10,000 shares of restricted Common Stock valued at $382,700. See Footnote (9) to the table under the caption “Security Own-
ership of Management” above. After April 28, 2004, Mr. Crain received the Company’s ordinary dividend payment on the award on a quarterly basis. The 10,000-share 
award vests on April 28, 2008. At December 31, 2004, Mr. Crain held 10,000 shares of restricted stock, valued at $426,700, based upon the closing stock price of 
$42.67 per share of Common Stock on the NYSE on December 31, 2004.

(12) On March 2, 2004, Mr. Wall was awarded 10,000 shares of restricted Common Stock valued at $384,000. See Footnote (10) to the table under the caption “Security Own-
ership of Management” above. After March 2, 2004, Mr. Wall received the Company’s ordinary dividend payment on the award on a quarterly basis. The 10,000-share 
award vests on March 2, 2008. At December 31, 2004, Mr. Wall held 10,000 shares of restricted stock, valued at $426,700, based upon the closing stock price of 
$42.67 per share of Common Stock on the NYSE on December 31, 2004.

(13) Mr. Wall was appointed Group President, Completions and Production effective February 28, 2005. He served as President, Baker Oil Tools from 2003 to 2005.
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STOCK OPTIONS GRANTED DURING 2004
The following table sets forth certain information regarding stock options granted during fiscal year 2004 to the persons named 

in the Summary Compensation Table above. The theoretical values on the date of the grant of stock options granted in 2004 shown 
below are presented pursuant to SEC rules and are calculated using the Black-Scholes Model for pricing options. The theoretical  
values of options trading in the stock markets do not necessarily bear a relationship to the compensation cost to the Company or 
potential gain realized by an executive. The actual amount, if any, realized upon exercise of stock options will depend upon the mar-
ket price of the Common Stock relative to the exercise price per share of the stock option at the time the stock option is exercised. 
There is no assurance that the theoretical values of stock options reflected in this table actually will be realized.

  % of Total 

Name and Options Options Granted Exercise Expiration Grant Date 

Date of Option Grant Granted to Employees Price Date Theoretical Value(1)

Michael E. Wiley(2)

 01/28/2004 150,000 12.6% $ 35.81 10/25/2007 $ 1,678,980
 07/28/2004 150,000 11.6%  39.23 10/25/2007  1,658,385

Chad C. Deaton
 10/25/2004 75,000 100.0%  43.39 10/25/2014  892,463

G. Stephen Finley
 01/28/2004 39,500 3.3%  35.81 01/28/2014  442,131
 07/28/2004 39,500 3.1%  39.23 07/28/2014  436,708

James R. Clark
 01/28/2004 39,500 3.3%  35.81 01/28/2014  442,131
 07/28/2004 59,000 4.6%  39.23 07/28/2014  652,298

Alan R. Crain, Jr.
 01/28/2004 27,500 2.3%  35.81 01/28/2014  307,813
 07/28/2004 27,500 2.1%  39.23 07/28/2014  304,037

Douglas J. Wall
 01/28/2004 14,000 1.8%  35.81 01/28/2014  156,705
 07/28/2004 14,000 1.2%  39.23 07/28/2014  154,783

(1) The theoretical values on the grant date are calculated under the Black-Scholes Model. The Black-Scholes Model is a mathematical formula used to value options 
traded on stock exchanges. This formula considers a number of factors to estimate the option’s theoretical value, including the stock’s historical volatility, the dividend 
rate, the expected life of the option and risk-free interest rates. The grant date theoretical value assumes a volatility of 39.9%, a dividend yield of 1.3%, a risk-free rate 
of return of 2.80% and an expected option life of 3.5 years.

(2) Upon Mr. Wiley’s retirement all of his 2004 options vested with a three-year exercise period from October 25, 2004.
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AGGREGATED OPTION EXERCISES DURING 2004 
AND OPTION VALUES AT DECEMBER 31, 2004

The following table sets forth certain information regarding options the persons named in the Summary Compensation Table 
above exercised during 2004 and the options those persons held at December 31, 2004. The values of unexercised in-the-money 
stock options at December 31, 2004, shown below, are presented pursuant to SEC rules. The actual amount, if any, realized upon 
exercise of stock options will depend upon the market price of the Common Stock relative to the exercise price per share of the 
stock option at the time the stock option is exercised.

 Option Exercises Unexercised Options at December 31, 2004

  Number of Securities Value of Unexercised   

 Underlying Unexercised Options In-the-Money Options ($)(1)

 Shares Acquired Value 

Name on Exercise (#) Realized ($) Exercisable Unexercisable Exercisable Unexercisable 

Michael E. Wiley – $ – 1,950,791 – $ 11,266,322 $ –
Chad C. Deaton –  – – 75,000  –  –
G. Stephen Finley 150,860  3,207,284 130,829 152,336  1,273,960  1,313,228
James R. Clark –  – 48,332 123,168  305,164  777,406
Alan R. Crain, Jr. 17,000  284,170 101,784 104,668  594,900  894,899
Douglas J. Wall 140,002  2,846,838  50,347 52,002  401,901  438,738

(1) Based on the closing price of the Common Stock of $42.67 on December 31, 2004, the last trading day of 2004.

LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN 
FOR 2004-2006 PERFORMANCE PERIOD
    Number of  Performance 

Name    Target Shares(1) Period Payout

Michael E. Wiley(2)        8,862 01/01/04–12/31/06 
Chad C. Deaton        17,000 01/01/04–12/31/06 
G. Stephen Finley        7,774 01/01/04–12/31/06 
James R. Clark        13,993 01/01/04–12/31/06 
Alan R. Crain, Jr.        4,664 01/01/04–12/31/06 
Douglas J. Wall        3,109 01/01/04–12/31/06

(1) Under the Company’s 2002 Director & Officer Long-Term Incentive Plan, individuals may be awarded target shares that subject to the terms and conditions of the plan 
may entitle the individual to receive shares of Common Stock. If (a) the Company’s total shareholder return for the three-year period ending December 31, 2006 (the 
“Performance Period”), equals or exceeds the median of the total shareholder returns of the Morgan Stanley Oil Services Index Companies for the Performance Period, 
(b) a Change in Control of the Company has not occurred on or before December 31, 2006, and (c) the executive remains in the active employ of the Company and/or 
one or more wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company through the last day of the Performance Period, then the Company will issue to the executive that number of 
shares of Common Stock equal to (x) the number of shares of Common Stock set forth above as the “Number of Target Shares” for the executive’s performance 
award, multiplied by (y) the applicable “Percentage Target Earned” factor specified in the table below. If (a) the Company’s total shareholder return for the Perfor-
mance Period is less than the median of the total shareholder returns of the Morgan Stanley Oil Services Index Companies for the Performance Period, and (b) a 
Change in Control of the Company has not occurred on or before December 31, 2006, then the award will lapse and be forfeited as of December 31, 2006.

 Percentile Rank of the Company’s Total Shareholder Return for the      

Performance Period as Compared to the Total Shareholder Returns of     Percentage Target  

 all Morgan Stanley Oil Services Index Companies    Earned

95th Percentile or more 200%
85th Percentile or more, but less than 95th Percentile 150%
80th Percentile or more, but less than 85th Percentile 125%
70th Percentile or more, but less than 80th Percentile 100%
65th Percentile or more, but less than 70th Percentile 75%
55th Percentile or more, but less than 65th Percentile 50%
50th Percentile or more, but less than 55th Percentile 25%
Less than 50th Percentile 0%

(2) Mr. Wiley retired from the Company on October 25, 2004. In accordance with the terms and conditions of the performance award agreements, Mr. Wiley forfeited his 
performance award units and therefore will receive no payment under these awards.
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PENSION PLAN TABLE
Baker Hughes adopted the Baker Hughes Incorporated 

Pension Plan, effective January 1, 2002, to provide benefits 
to its U.S. employees. (Employees outside the U.S. are covered 
under different retirement plans.) Employees who are officers 
of the Company participate on the same basis as other eligible 
employees. The Pension Plan is a tax-qualified, defined benefit 
plan funded entirely by the Company. Under the provisions 
of the Pension Plan, a cash balance account is established for 
each participant. Company contributions are made quarterly 
to the accounts, and the contribution percentage is deter-
mined by the employee’s age on the last day of the quarter 
and is applied to quarterly eligible compensation. In addition 
to the Company contributions, the cash balance accounts 
are credited with interest credits based on the balance in the 
account on the last day of the quarter, using the applicable 
interest rate provided under section 417(e)(3)(A)(ii)(II) of the 
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. The following 
are the quarterly contribution rates under the Pension Plan:

Age at End of Quarter Percentage Contribution

Under age 35 2.0%
 35 – 39 2.5%
 40 – 44 3.0%
 45 – 49 3.5%
50 and older 4.0%

An employee is fully vested in his or her Pension Plan 
account after five years of service. However, regardless of the 
number of years of service, an employee is fully vested if the 
employee retires from Baker Hughes at age 65 or later, or 
upon the death of the employee. In addition, employees of 
Baker Hughes who were 55 years or older on January 1, 2002, 
had their prior years of service with Baker Hughes counted 
in the number of years of service. Employees who are fully 
vested are eligible for early retirement benefits starting at age 
55. Pension Plan benefits in excess of $5,000 may be paid in 
the form of a single lump sum, a single life annuity, or if an 
employee is married, a joint and 50% survivor annuity. 

Estimated annual benefits payable upon retirement at  
normal retirement age (i.e., age 65) under the Baker Hughes 
Pension Plan to each executive named in this Proxy Statement 
are reflected in the following table. The retirement benefits in 
the table are calculated based on the assumptions that each 
executive officer named in the Summary Compensation Table 
will remain an employee until age 65 at the base salary shown 
in the Summary Compensation Table, with no pay increases, 
cash balances are credited at the rate of 4% per quarter, inter-
est is credited quarterly using the applicable rate at August 1 
of the preceding plan year, and the terms of the Pension Plan 
remain unchanged.

LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN AWARDS DURING 2004 
FOR 2003–2004 PERFORMANCE PERIOD

      Potential Payouts
   

Number of Shares, Performance
 Under Non-Stock

 
Units or Other Period

 Price-Based Plans(1) 
Actual

Name Rights(#) (1) Payout Target (Dollars)(2) Maximum (Dollars)(3) Payout

Michael E. Wiley(4) – 01/01/03–12/31/04 $ 285,000 $ 570,000 – 
Chad C. Deaton n/a –  –  – – 
G. Stephen Finley – 01/01/03–12/31/04  115,000  230,000 – 
James R. Clark – 01/01/03–12/31/04  67,500  135,000 – 
Alan R. Crain, Jr. – 01/01/03–12/31/04  100,000  200,000 – 
Douglas J. Wall – 01/01/03–12/31/04  67,500  135,000 –

(1) Under the Company’s 2002 Director & Officer Long-Term Incentive Plan, individuals were awarded a performance unit effective January 1, 2003 that subject to the 
terms and conditions of the plan would have entitled the individual to receive shares of restricted stock. If the Company achieved a first or second ranking in total 
shareholder return for the applicable two-year measurement period ending December 31, 2004, as compared to the rankings of the designated competitors, the Com-
pany would have issued shares of its restricted stock equal to a specified dollar amount. The calculation of the number of shares of restricted stock to be issued to each 
executive officer named in the Summary Compensation Table would have been based on the price per share of the last sale of the Company’s Common Stock on the 
last trading day for the two-year period, as listed in the NYSE composite transactions. The restricted stock would have vested one-year from the date of issuance. For 
the two-year period ending December 31, 2004, the Company did not receive the requisite ranking, so the performance unit awards lapsed and were forfeited and no 
restricted stock was awarded. See the “Compensation Committee Report” for additional information.

(2) The “Target” was the equivalent of the attainment of the second rank in total shareholder return for the applicable two-year period ending December 31, 2004.

(3) The “Maximum” was the equivalent of the attainment of first rank in total shareholder return for the applicable two-year period ending December 31, 2004.

(4) Mr. Wiley retired from the Company on October 25, 2004. In accordance with the terms and conditions of the performance award agreements, Mr. Wiley forfeited his 
performance award units and received no payment under these awards.
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 Approximate Years of Estimated Annual

 Credited Service at Benefits Payable at

Named Officer Anticipated Retirement Anticipated Retirement

Michael E. Wiley(1) Retired $ 0.00
Chad C. Deaton 13   16,374.96
G. Stephen Finley 13   16,789.32
James R. Clark 13   15,622.08
Alan R. Crain, Jr. 14   17,591.28
Douglas J. Wall 16  19,158.60

(1) Mr. Wiley retired on October 25, 2004 and was not fully vested and will not 
receive any benefit under the Baker Hughes Pension Plan.

In addition to the Pension Plan, the Company has a Sup-
plemental Retirement Plan to provide covered executives with 
the total amount of retirement benefit they would have other-
wise received under the Pension Plan but for legislated com-
pensation ceilings in compliance with certain sections of the 
Internal Revenue Code, which limit retirement benefits payable 
under qualified plans. In accordance with these legislated ceil-
ings, eligible compensation under the Pension Plan was limited 
to $205,000 in 2004. The compensation limit is assumed, for 
purposes of determining estimated benefits shown in the 
above table, to increase in future years, based on estimated 
cost-of-living increases applicable to such limit. The ceiling may 
be adjusted in the future by regulations issued under the Inter-
nal Revenue Code. See Footnote (1) to the table under the 
caption “Summary Compensation Table.”

EMPLOYMENT, CHANGE IN CONTROL, SEVERANCE 
AND INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENTS 

Employment Agreement
The Company has an employment agreement with Mr. 

Chad C. Deaton, dated as of October 25, 2004, which pro-
vides for the employment of Mr. Deaton for an initial two-year 
period ending October 25, 2006, with automatic one-year 
renewals unless either party provides a notice not to extend 
the employment agreement at least thirteen months prior to 
the then current expiration date. During the term of the 
employment agreement, Mr. Deaton is entitled to receive the 
following, all as established from time to time by the Board of 
Directors or the Compensation Committee:
• a base salary;
• the opportunity to earn annual cash bonuses in amounts 

that may vary from year to year and that are based upon 
achievement of performance goals;

• long-term incentives in the form of equity-based compen-
sation no less favorable than awards made to other senior 
executives of the Company and that are commensurate 
with awards granted to CEOs of other public companies 
of a similar size to the Company; and

• benefits and perquisites that other officers and employees 
of the Company are entitled to receive.
Mr. Deaton’s base salary is to be reviewed at least annually 

during the term of the employment agreement and may be 
increased (but not decreased) based upon his performance 
during the year. 

Upon the termination of Mr. Deaton’s employment due to 
his Disability (as defined in the employment agreement) or his 
death, he or his beneficiary is to be paid a lump sum in cash 
equal to one-half his then base salary for each year (prorated 
for partial years) during the remaining term of the employ-
ment agreement and a lump sum in cash equal to his 
expected value incentive bonus for the year of termination. 
Upon termination of Mr. Deaton’s employment by him for 
Good Reason (as defined in the employment agreement) or 
by the Company without Cause (as defined in the employ-
ment agreement), he is entitled to:
(i) a lump sum cash payment in an amount equal to two 

times his then base salary; 
(ii) a lump sum cash payment equal to the expected value of 

his incentive bonus for the year of termination, prorated 
to the date of termination; 

(iii) for the remainder of the term of the employment agree-
ment, continuation of certain executive perquisites and 
medical insurance benefits; and

(iv) for the remainder of the term of the employment agree-
ment, continued employer contributions to the Company’s 
Supplemental Retirement Plan.
However, the foregoing benefits are not payable if  

Mr. Deaton is entitled to benefits under his 2004 Change 
in Control Agreement discussed below.

If Mr. Deaton’s employment is terminated by him for any 
reason other than a Good Reason (as defined in the employ-
ment agreement) or by the Company for Cause (as defined in 
the employment agreement), he is to receive only those vested 
benefits to which he is entitled under the terms of the 
employee benefit plans in which he is a participant as of the 
date of termination and a lump sum amount in cash equal to 
the sum of (i) his base salary through the date of termination; 
(ii) any compensation previously deferred by him (together 
with any accrued interest or earnings thereon) and any 
accrued vacation pay; and (iii) any other amounts due him 
as of the date of termination, in each case to the extent not 
theretofore paid.

During the term of the employment agreement and for a 
period of two years following termination of the employment 
agreement, Mr. Deaton is prohibited from (i) engaging in 
Competition (as defined in the employment agreement) 
with the Company and (ii) soliciting customers, employees 
and consultants of the Company. To the extent any provision 
is covered by both the employment agreement and the 
2004 Change in Control Agreement described and defined 
below, the 2004 Change in Control Agreement provision so 
covered will supersede the employment agreement provision.

Change in Control Agreements
In addition to the employment agreement described 

above, the Company during 2004 entered into change in con-
trol agreements (“2004 Change in Control Agreements”) with 
Messrs. Chad C. Deaton, G. Stephen Finley, James R. Clark, 
Alan R. Crain, Jr. and Douglas J. Wall (“Named Officers”), as 
well as eight other officers of the Company. The 2004 Change 
in Control Agreements provide for payment of certain benefits 
to these officers as a result of termination of employment  
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following, or in connection with, a Change in Control of the 
Company. The initial term of the 2004 Change in Control 
Agreement for Mr. Deaton expires on October 25, 2007. 
The 2004 Change in Control Agreements for the remaining 
Named Officers are effective as of January 1, 2006, and the 
initial term will expire December 31, 2007 and are intended 
to replace the Prior Severance Agreements described below, 
which will expire on December 31, 2005. After the expiration 
of the initial term, the 2004 Change in Control Agreements 
will be automatically extended for successive two-year periods 
beginning on the day immediately following the expiration 
date, unless, not later than 18 months prior to the expiration 
date or applicable renewal date, the Company shall give notice 
to the Named Officer that the term of the 2004 Change in 
Control Agreements will not be extended.

Pursuant to the 2004 Change in Control Agreements, the 
Company pays severance benefits to an officer if the officer’s 
employment is terminated following, or in connection with, 
a Change in Control and during the term unless:
(i) the Named Officer resigns without Good Reason (as defined 

in the 2004 Change in Control Agreements);
(ii) the Company terminates the employment of the Named 

Officer for Cause (as defined in the 2004 Change in Con-
trol Agreements); or

(iii) the employment of the Named Officer is terminated by 
reason of death or Disability (as defined in the 2004 
Change in Control Agreements).
If the Named Officer meets the criteria for payment of 

severance benefits due to termination of employment follow-
ing a Change in Control during the term as described above, 
in addition to any benefits he is due under the Company’s 
employee benefit plans and equity and incentive compensa-
tion plans, he will receive the following benefits:

(a) a lump sum payment equal to three (3) times the 
Named Officer’s annual base salary in effect imme-
diately prior to (i) the first event or circumstance  
constituting Good Reason for his resignation, (ii) the 
Change of Control, or (iii) the Named Officer’s termi-
nation of employment, whichever is greatest (his 
“Highest Base Salary”);

(b) a lump sum payment equal to the Named Officer’s 
expected value target percentage for his incentive 
bonus under the Company’s 1995 Employee Annual 
Incentive Plan, as amended, for the year in which he 
terminates employment multiplied by his Highest Base 
Salary, prorated based upon the number of days of his 
service during the performance period (reduced by any 
payments received by the Named Officer under the 
Company’s 1995 Employee Annual Incentive Compen-
sation Plan, as amended in connection with the 
Change in Control if the Named Officer’s termination 
of employment occurs during the same calendar year 
in which the Change in Control occurs);

(c) a lump sum payment equal to Named Officer’s 
expected value target percentage under his bonus for 
the year in which he terminates employment multiplied 
by his Highest Base Salary and multiplied by three (3); 

(d) continuation of accident and health insurance benefits 
for an additional three (3) years;

(e) a lump sum payment equal to the sum of (i) the cost 
of the Named Officer’s perquisites in effect prior to his 
termination of employment for the remainder of the 
calendar year and (ii) the cost of the Named Officer’s 
perquisites in effect prior to his termination of employ-
ment for an additional three (3) years;

(f) a lump sum payment equal to the undiscounted  
value of the benefits the Named Officer would have 
received had he continued to participate in the Com-
pany’s thrift and supplemental retirement and pension 
plans for an additional three (3) years, assuming for 
this purpose that:
(1) the Named Officer’s compensation during that 

three-year period remained at the levels used for 
calculating the severance payment described in 
paragraphs (a) and (c) above, and

(2) the Named Officer’s contributions to and accruals 
under those plans remained at the levels in effect 
as of the date of the Change in Control or the 
date of termination, whichever is greater;

(g) eligibility for the Company’s retiree medical program 
if the Named Officer would have become entitled 
to participate in that program had he remained 
employed for an additional three (3) years;

(h) a lump sum payment equivalent to thirty-six (36) mul-
tiplied by the monthly basic life insurance premium 
applicable to the Named Officer’s basic life insurance 
coverage on the date of termination; 

(i) outplacement services for a period of three (3) years 
or, if earlier, until the Named Officer’s acceptance of 
an offer of employment or in lieu of outplacement 
services, the Named Officer may elect to receive a 
cash payment of $30,000; and

(j) an additional amount (a “gross-up” payment) in 
respect of excise taxes that may be imposed under the 
“golden parachute” rules on payments and benefits 
received in connection with the Change in Control. 
The gross-up payment would make the officer whole 
for excise taxes (and for all taxes on the gross-up pay-
ment) in respect of payments and benefits received 
pursuant to all the Company’s plans, agreements and 
arrangements (including for example, acceleration of 
vesting of equity awards).

In addition to the above, the 2004 Change in Control 
Agreements provide for full vesting of all stock options and 
other equity incentive awards upon the occurrence of a 
Change in Control.

Pursuant to the 2004 Change in Control Agreements, 
a “Change in Control” is deemed to occur if:
(i) the individuals who are Incumbent Directors (as defined in 

the 2004 Change in Control Agreements) cease for any rea-
son to constitute a majority of the members of the Board; 

(ii) the consummation of a merger of the Company or an 
affiliate of the Company with another entity, unless the 
individuals and entities who were the beneficial owners of 
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the voting securities of the Company outstanding immedi-
ately prior to such merger own, directly or indirectly, at 
least 50 percent of the combined voting power of the vot-
ing securities of the Company, the surviving entity or the  
parent of the surviving entity outstanding immediately after 
such merger; 

(iii) any person, other than a Specified Owner (as defined in the 
2004 Change in Control Agreements), becomes a beneficial 
owner, directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company 
representing 30 percent or more of the combined voting 
power of the Company’s then outstanding voting securities; 

(iv) a sale, transfer, lease or other disposition of all or substan-
tially all of the Company’s Assets (as defined in the 2004 
Change in Control Agreements) is consummated (an 
“Asset Sale”), unless:
(a) the individuals and entities who were the beneficial 

owners of the voting securities of the Company immedi-
ately prior to such Asset Sale own, directly or indirectly, 
50 percent or more of the combined voting power of 
the voting securities of the entity that acquires such 
Assets in such Asset Sale or its parent immediately 
after such Asset Sale in substantially the same propor-
tions as their ownership of the Company’s voting 
securities immediately prior to such Asset Sale; or

(b) the individuals who comprise the Board immediately 
prior to such Asset Sale constitute a majority of the 
board of directors or other governing body of either 
the entity that acquired such Assets in such Asset Sale 
or its parent (or a majority plus one member where 
such board or other governing body is comprised of 
an odd number of directors); or

(v) the stockholders of the Company approve a plan of com-
plete liquidation or dissolution of the Company.

Severance Agreements
The Company also has severance agreements (“Prior Sev-

erance Agreements”) with G. Stephen Finley, James R. Clark, 
Alan R. Crain, Jr. and Douglas J. Wall, as well as three other 
officers of the Company. The Prior Severance Agreements 
provide for payment of certain benefits to the Named Officers 
as a result of termination of employment following, or in con-
nection with, a Change in Control (described below) of the 
Company. The initial term of the Prior Severance Agreements 
expired on December 31, 1999, except for the agreement of 
Mr. Crain, which initially expired on December 31, 2001 and 
the agreement of Mr. Clark, which initially expired on Decem-
ber 31, 2002. Beginning on January 1, 1998 for Mr. Finley and 
Mr. Wall, January 1, 2002 for Mr. Crain and January 1, 2003 
for Mr. Clark and on each successive January 1 thereafter 
(“Extension Date”), the term of the Prior Severance Agree-
ments was automatically renewed for an additional year, 
unless notice of nonextension had been given by the Septem-
ber 30th prior to the Extension Date. The term is automatically 
extended for 24 months following a Change in Control (as 
defined below). Mr. Wiley had a Prior Severance Agreement 
that terminated upon his retirement. 

Prior to September 30, 2004, the Company sent notice 
of nonextension of the Prior Severance Agreements to the 
Named Officers notifying each of them that their Prior Sever-
ance Agreement would be terminated as of December 31, 
2005 and that each officer would then be covered by an indi-
vidual Change in Control Agreement as described above.

Pursuant to the Prior Severance Agreements, the Company 
pays severance benefits to a Named Officer if the Named Offi-
cer’s employment is terminated following, or in connection 
with, a Change in Control and during the term unless:
(i) the Named Officer resigns without Good Reason (as defined 

in the Prior Severance Agreements);
(ii) the Company terminates the employment of the Named 

Officer for Cause (as defined in the Prior Severance Agree-
ments); or

(iii) the employment of the Named Officer is terminated by 
reason of death or Disability (as defined in the Prior Sever-
ance Agreements).
If the Named Officer meets the criteria for payment of sev-

erance benefits due to termination of employment following, 
or in connection with, a Change in Control during the term 
as described above, in addition to any benefits he is due under 
the Company’s employee benefit plans and equity and incen-
tive plans, he will receive the following benefits:

(a) a lump sum payment equal to three (3) times the 
Named Officer’s annual base salary in effect on the 
date of termination of employment or, if higher, his 
annual base salary in effect immediately prior to the 
event or circumstance constituting Good Reason for 
his resignation;

(b) a lump sum payment equal to three (3) times the 
average annual bonus earned by the Named Officer 
during the three (3) fiscal years ending immediately 
prior to the fiscal year in which his termination of 
employment occurs or, if higher, immediately prior 
to the fiscal year in which occurs the event or circum-
stance constituting Good Reason for resignation; pro-
vided, that if the Named Officer has not participated 
in an annual bonus plan of the Company for the 
entirety of the three-year period, then the average 
bonus will be calculated using such lesser number of 
bonuses as have been earned;

(c) continuation of life, disability, accident and health 
insurance benefits and all perquisites for an additional 
three (3) years;

(d) a lump sum payment equal to the sum of: 
(1) any unpaid incentive compensation that has been 

allocated or awarded to the Named Officer for a 
completed fiscal year or other measuring period 
preceding the date of termination under the 
Company’s 1995 Employee Annual Incentive 
Compensation Plan, as amended, and that, as of 
the date of termination, is contingent only upon 
the continued employment of the Named Officer 
to a subsequent date, and
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(2) a pro rata portion to the date of termination of 
the aggregate value of all contingent incentive 
compensation awards to the Named Officer for 
all then uncompleted periods under the Compa-
ny’s 1995 Employee Annual Incentive Compensa-
tion Plan, as amended, assuming the achievement 
of the expected value target level of the perfor-
mance goals established for the awards, pro-
vided, that if the termination of employment 
occurs during the same year in which the Change 
in Control occurs, the pro rata bonus payment 
shall be offset by any payments received under 
the Company’s 1995 Employee Annual Incentive 
Compensation Plan, as amended, in connection 
with the Change in Control;

(e) a lump sum payment equal to the present value of the 
benefits the Named Officer would have received had 
he continued to participate in the Company’s thrift 
and supplemental retirement plans for an additional 
three (3) years, assuming for this purpose that:
(1) the Named Officer’s compensation during that 

three-year period remained at the levels used for 
calculating the severance payment described in 
paragraphs (a) and (b) above, and

(2) the Named Officer’s contributions to those plans 
remained at the levels in effect as of the date of 
the Change in Control or the date of termination, 
whichever is greater;

(f) eligibility for the Company’s retiree medical program 
if the Named Officer would have become entitled to 
participate in that program had he remained 
employed for an additional three (3) years;

(g) outplacement services for a period of three (3) years 
or, if earlier, until the Named Officer’s acceptance of 
an offer of employment; and

(h) an additional amount (a “gross-up” payment) in 
respect of excise taxes that may be imposed under the 
“golden parachute” rules on payments and benefits 
received in connection with the Change in Control. 
The gross-up payment would make the Named Officer 
whole for excise taxes (and for all taxes on the gross-
up payment) in respect of payments and benefits 
received pursuant to all the Company’s plans, agree-
ments and arrangements (including for example, 
acceleration of vesting of equity awards).

In addition to the above, the Prior Severance Agreements 
provide for full vesting of all stock options and other equity 
incentive awards upon the occurrence of a Change in Control.

Pursuant to the Prior Severance Agreements, a “Change 
in Control” is deemed to occur if:
(i) any person becomes the beneficial owner of 20% or more 

of the Company’s voting securities (excluding securities 
acquired directly from the Company or its affiliates) other 
than a person described in (iii)(A) below;

(ii) a change in the majority of the membership of the Board 
occurs without approval of two-thirds of the directors who 
either were directors at the beginning of the period, or 
whose election was previously so approved;

(iii) there is consummated a merger or consolidation of the 
Company or a subsidiary thereof with any other corporation 
other than (A) a merger or consolidation with a person in 
which the Company’s stockholders continue to hold at least 
65% of the voting securities of the surviving entity or (B) a 
merger or consolidation effected to implement a recapitaliza-
tion of the Company and in which no person becomes the 
owner of 20% of the Company’s voting securities (excluding 
securities acquired directly from the Company or its affiliates, 
except securities acquired in connection with the acquisition 
of a business by the Company or its affiliates); or

(iv) the Company’s stockholders approve a plan of complete liq-
uidation or dissolution of the Company or there is consum-
mated an agreement for the sale or disposition of all or 
substantially all of the Company’s assets other than a sale or 
disposition to an entity in which the Company’s stockholders 
continue to hold at least 65% of the voting securities.
In addition, the Company has an Executive Severance Plan 

that provides salary continuation between 9 and 18 months for 
the executive officers and other benefits, based upon salary grade, 
if the executive’s employment is terminated for certain specific 
reasons, other than a Change in Control of the Company cov-
ered by the Prior Severance Agreements described above.

Indemnification Agreements
The Company has entered into an indemnification agree-

ment with each of its directors and executive officers. These 
agreements provide for the Company to, among other things, 
indemnify such persons against certain liabilities that may arise 
by reason of their status or service as directors or officers, to 
advance their expenses incurred as a result of a proceeding as 
to which they may be indemnified and to cover such person 
under any directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policy the 
Company chooses, in its discretion, to maintain. These indem-
nification agreements are intended to provide indemnification 
rights to the fullest extent permitted under applicable indemni-
fication rights statutes in the State of Delaware and shall be in 
addition to any other rights the indemnitee may have under 
the Company’s Restated Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws 
and applicable law. 

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT

To Our Stockholders
This report is provided in accordance with SEC rules to 

inform the Company’s stockholders of the Compensation 
Committee’s compensation policies for executive officers and 
the rationale for compensation paid to the Chief Executive 
Officer of the Company.
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The Compensation Committee consists of five non-
employee, independent directors (as defined in Annex A to this 
Proxy Statement) who have no “interlocking” relationships (as 
defined by the SEC). The Compensation Committee’s overall 
goal is to develop executive compensation policies that support 
the Company’s strategic business objectives and consider current 
competitive market practices. The Compensation Committee 
reviews and approves the design of, assesses the effectiveness 
of and oversees executive compensation programs and other 
matters. The Compensation Committee also reviews and 
approves all compensation and incentive programs for senior 
executives and evaluates CEO performance.

Compensation Philosophy
The Company’s primary business objective is to maximize 

stockholder value over the long-term. The Company has dev-
eloped a comprehensive business strategy that emphasizes 
financial and organizational performance and continuing  
market leadership and best in class products and services.

The following compensation policies are intended to facili-
tate the achievement of the Company’s business strategies:
• Drive and reward strong business performance which sup-

ports the Company’s core values and creates superior value 
for stockholders and executives.

• Provide senior executives a significant percentage of total 
pay that is at-risk compensation to ensure management is 
focused on the long-term interests of stockholders while 
balancing short- and long-term business goals.

• Encourage executives to maintain significant stock holdings 
to align interests with those of stockholders and require 
senior executive officers to own from two to five times 
their base salary in Company Common Stock. 

• Design competitive total compensation and rewards which 
enhance the Company’s ability to attract and retain knowl-
edgeable and experienced executives.

• Target compensation and incentive levels that reflect  
competitive market practices.
An independent compensation consultant provides com-

petitive market data which includes current compensation and 
benefit trends. The consultant reviews and provides survey 
data to the Committee to compare the Company’s executive 
compensation with compensation levels at companies in peer 
and general industry groups. The Compensation Committee 
reviews and approves the selection of companies used for 
compensation comparison purposes. 

The companies in the S&P 500 Oil and Gas Equipment 
and Services Index in the Performance Graph included in this 
Proxy Statement are included in the group of companies used 
for compensation comparisons. The Committee believes the 
Company’s market for both compensation comparison and 
executive talent purposes consists of companies with national 
and international business operations and similar sales vol-
umes, employment levels and operations in comparable lines 
of business.

The key components of the executive compensation pro-
gram are base salary, annual and long-term incentives and 
benefits. All executive officers are also entitled to participate 
in the executive benefits and perquisite plan. 

The Compensation Committee regularly reviews all ele-
ments of an executive’s total compensation package. Total 
compensation opportunity is targeted between the 50th and 
75th percentile based on performance. Executives can be 
rewarded at the upper end of the range based on individual 
or company performance, as well as the executive’s experience 
and expertise. 

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code places a 
limit of $1,000,000 on the amount of compensation that may 
be deducted by the Company in any year with respect to the 
Company’s Chief Executive Officer and its four other highest 
paid executive officers, unless the compensation is perfor-
mance-based compensation as described in Section 162(m) 
and the related regulations. The Company has qualified cer-
tain compensation paid to executive officers for deductibility 
under Section 162(m), including compensation expense related 
to options granted pursuant to the Company’s 1993 Stock 
Option Plan, and options and other long-term performance-
based stock or cash awards granted pursuant to the Company’s 
Long-Term Incentive Plan and the Baker Hughes Incorporated 
2002 Director & Officer Long-Term Incentive Plan. The Com-
pany may from time to time pay compensation to its executive 
officers that may not be deductible.

Base Salaries
Executive base salaries are targeted at median levels of the 

peer and general industry group. Base salaries are determined by 
evaluating an executive’s level of responsibility and experience, 
company-wide performance and internal and external equity.

After evaluating the competitive market data, increases to 
base salaries, if any, are driven primarily by individual perfor-
mance. Individual performance considers the executive’s efforts 
in achieving business results; promoting the Company’s core 
values and keys to success; continuing educational and man-
agement training; improving product quality; developing rela-
tionships with customers, suppliers and employees; and 
demonstrating leadership abilities among co-workers.

In April 2004, Mr. Michael E. Wiley announced that he 
would not seek re-election to the Board of Directors when 
his term expired in 2005, at the next stockholders’ meeting. 
Mr. Wiley also intended to retire as Chief Executive Officer by 
that date. A Special Committee of the Board of Directors was 
formed in connection with the selection of a new Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Chad C. Deaton was selected by the 
Special Committee and approved by the Compensation Com-
mittee and Board of Directors to replace Mr. Wiley as Chairman 
and Chief Executive Officer effective October 25, 2004. 

The base salary for Mr. Wiley, Chairman of the Board 
and Chief Executive Officer, was not increased in 2004 and 
remained at $1,014,300 per year. This salary was established 
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comparing the compensation of chief executive officers in a 
group of comparator companies based on data provided by 
the independent consultant. Following his announcement, the 
Compensation Committee recommended and the Board of 
Directors approved a restatement dated as of August 1, 2004 
of Mr. Wiley’s employment agreement in order to provide for 
an orderly transition of management. Pursuant to Mr. Wiley’s 
restated employment agreement, upon his retirement on  
October 25, 2004, Mr. Wiley received his base salary through 
April 30, 2005. 

In setting the base salary of Mr. Deaton for fiscal year 
2004, the Compensation Committee reviewed the compensa-
tion of chief executive officers from a group of comparator 
companies and with comparable levels of experience. Based on 
this evaluation and analysis by outside advisors, the Compensa-
tion Committee established a base salary of $825,000 for Mr. 
Deaton. Mr. Deaton’s salary will be reviewed on an ongoing 
basis using comparable data. In the future, the Compensation 
Committee expects to also consider a review of Mr. Deaton’s 
performance, including a review of the Company’s financial 
performance during the previous fiscal year with respect to  
revenue growth, expense control, net income and earnings 
per share in setting Mr. Deaton’s salary. Members of the Board 
of Directors that are not part of the Compensation Committee 
will also be given the opportunity to review Mr. Deaton’s per-
formance each year and provide input to the Compensation 
Committee with respect to both past performance and perfor-
mance goals and objectives for the upcoming year.

Annual Incentives
The 1995 Employee Annual Incentive Compensation Plan, 

as amended, provides executives with the opportunity to earn 
cash bonuses based on the achievement of specific Company-
wide, business unit and individual performance goals. 

Each year, the Compensation Committee establishes  
specific goals relating to each executive’s bonus opportunity. 
Executives are assigned threshold, target and overachievement 
bonus levels based on a percentage of their base salary. The 
percentages have been established based on competitive prac-
tices of the comparator group. Executives earn bonuses based 
on achievements of the extent to which pre-established goals 
are achieved. Bonus awards may be adjusted to differentiate 
performance among executives. However, no bonus is paid 
unless predetermined threshold performance levels are 
reached. If overachievement status is reached and surpassed, 
bonus awards earned over this level are paid to the executive 
over a two-year period. 

Performance goals are approved each year by the Compen-
sation Committee and are based upon financial and/or strategic 
objectives of the Company. During fiscal year 2004, the corpo-
rate objective was based on (i) earnings per share and (ii) Baker 
Value Added, a Company metric that measures our operating 
profit after tax less the cost of capital employed as a measure 
of the value we create for our stockholders. Baker Value Add-
ed integrates the profit and loss results and balance sheet 

investments of the Company by assuring that the cost of any 
capital used to earn those profits is fully taken into account. 
Where executives have business unit responsibilities, a portion 
of the goal may be based on financial performance measures 
that support business unit performance. This portion varies 
with the position of each individual and the particular objec-
tives of the Company. 

Performance targets are established by the Compensation 
Committee at levels that are achievable, but require above-
average performance from each executive. Target bonus 
awards range from 45% to 100% of base salary.

Each of the named executive officers received an annual 
bonus based on their contribution to the 2004 financial per-
formance. Pursuant to Mr. Deaton’s employment agreement 
with the Company, Mr. Deaton’s bonus for 2004 is guaranteed 
to be not less than $600,000.

Pursuant to Mr. Wiley’s restated employment agreement, 
Mr. Wiley received during 2004, as part of his lump sum pay-
ment following his retirement, payments relating to his bonus 
for 2004 and 2005 of $1,014,300 and $350,000, respectively. 

Long-Term Incentives
Long-term incentives comprise the largest portion of an 

executive’s total compensation package, supporting the Com-
pany’s commitment to provide a total compensation package 
that favors at-risk pay. The Compensation Committee’s objec-
tive is to provide executives with long-term incentive award 
opportunities that are consistent with grants made within the 
comparator groups.

Long-term incentive award guidelines are determined 
using competitive market references for each executive posi-
tion and the individual performance of each executive.

Long-term incentives are provided pursuant to the Com-
pany’s long-term incentive plans. Stock options are granted at 
an option price equal to the fair market value of the Common 
Stock on the date prior to the date of grant. Stock options 
have value if the stock price appreciates after the date the 
options are granted. 

Each year the Compensation Committee determines the 
total pool of stock options that will be made available to the 
Company’s executives, as well as the size of individual grants 
for each senior executive. The amounts vary each year and are 
based upon what the Compensation Committee believes is 
appropriate after consideration of the data provided by the 
independent compensation consultant as well as the execu-
tive’s total compensation package.

Mr. Wiley was awarded a stock option grant of 150,000 
shares of Common Stock, effective January 28, 2004, and a 
second stock option grant of 150,000 shares of Common 
Stock, effective July 28, 2004, at an exercise price equal to the 
fair market value of the stock on the day prior to the respec-
tive date of grant. The options vest and become exercisable 
in increments of 33 1/3% each year from the date of grant. 
These grants were made to furnish an incentive for Mr. Wiley 
to create stockholder value through his remaining term. Upon 
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Mr. Wiley’s retirement from the Company on October 25, 
2004, these options were vested and in accordance with his 
restated employment agreement will expire in 2007.

Mr. Deaton was awarded a stock option grant of 
75,000 shares of Common Stock, effective October 25, 2004, 
at an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the stock 
on the date prior to the respective date of grant. The option 
vests and becomes exercisable one-third each year beginning 
October 25, 2005. On October 25, 2004, Mr. Deaton was also 
awarded 80,000 shares of restricted Common Stock, which 
vests 25 percent on each of October 25, 2006, 2007, 2008 
and 2009. These grants were made to furnish an incentive for 
Mr. Deaton to create stockholder value over the long-term.

In fiscal year 2004, the Compensation Committee also 
awarded grants of options to certain of the Company’s senior 
executives, including Messrs. Finley, Clark, Crain and Wall to 
furnish an incentive for top performance for the mutual bene-
fit of the employees, the Company and stockholders. In addi-
tion, during fiscal 2004 Messrs. Clark, Crain and Wall received 
awards of 40,000, 10,000 and 10,000 restricted shares of 
Common Stock, respectively. Mr. Clark’s award vests 25 per-
cent on each of October 27, 2007 and 2008 with the remain-
ing 50 percent vesting on October 27, 2009. Mr. Crain’s award 
vests on April 28, 2008. Mr. Wall’s award vests on March 2, 2008. 

In 2002, the Compensation Committee and the Compa-
ny’s Board of Directors approved, subject to stockholder 
approval, the Baker Hughes Incorporated 2002 Director & Offi-
cer Long-Term Incentive Plan for performance-related awards 
for senior executives in order to maintain a strong link to 
stockholders and to provide a more balanced long-term incen-
tive program. The Company’s stockholders approved this plan 
in April 2002.

The performance-related awards for 2003-2004 under 
the plan provided for a comparison of Baker Hughes’ relative 
total shareholder return to a group of industry peer companies 
(5 comparators). With respect to prior awards under the plan, 
if the Company ranked first or second in relative total share-
holder return for the applicable two-year period, as compared 
to the rankings of designated oilfield services competitors, the 
Company would issue shares of restricted stock equal to a dol-
lar value specified for each participating executive and for 
each ranking. If company-wide performance ranks third or 
lower, no awards were earned. For the two-year period ending 
December 31, 2004, the applicable rankings were not 
achieved and no restricted stock was earned and issued.

In December 2003, the Compensation Committee entered 
into an engagement with a separate independent executive 
compensation consultant for the purpose of reviewing the 
Company’s executive equity compensation program. The Com-
mittee received and reviewed the recommendations from the 
consultant in 2004 for which the Committee has taken into 
consideration in its overall compensation program. Based upon 
the advice of the consultant, the more appropriate measure 
for the performance-related awards would be to include addi-
tional companies in the comparison. Thus, the plan was 
changed for the 2004-2006 performance-related awards. 

In 2004, the Compensation Committee approved perfor-
mance-related awards for senior executives under the plan. 
If the Company’s total shareholder return for the three-year 
period ending December 31, 2006 equals or exceeds the 
median of the total shareholder returns of the Morgan Stanley 
Oil Services Index companies (29 comparators) for the period, 
the Company will issue shares of Common Stock equal to the 
participant’s number of target shares of Common Stock for  
the performance award multiplied by the applicable percent-
age target earned factor for the Morgan Stanley Oil Services 
Index companies. 

Summary
The Compensation Committee believes the executive com-

pensation program provides a competitive total compensation 
opportunity with a significant performance orientation. The 
annual incentive plan is designed to evaluate and reward 
achievement of specific objectives that drive the success of 
the Company. The long-term incentive awards link executives 
directly to stockholders and reward the Company’s executives 
for continuing positive stock performance on an absolute and 
relative basis. 

H. John Riley, Jr. (Chairman)
Larry D. Brady
Edward P. Djerejian
Claire W. Gargalli
Charles L. Watson

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE INTERLOCKS  
AND INSIDER PARTICIPATION

The Company’s Compensation Committee consists of 
Messrs. Riley, Brady, Djerejian and Watson and Ms. Gargalli, all 
of whom are non-management directors. None of the Com-
pensation Committee members has served as an officer of the 
Company, and none of the Company’s executive officers has 
served as a member of a compensation committee or board 
of directors of any other entity, which has an executive officer 
serving as a member of the Company’s Board of Directors.

CORPORATE PERFORMANCE GRAPH
The following graph compares the yearly percentage 

change in the Company’s cumulative total stockholder return 
on its Common Stock (assuming reinvestment of dividends 
into Common Stock at the date of payment) with the cumula-
tive total return on the published Standard & Poor’s 500 Stock 
Index and the cumulative total return on Standard & Poor’s 
500 Oil and Gas Equipment and Services Index over the pre-
ceding five-year period. The following graph is presented pur-
suant to SEC rules. The Company believes that while total 
stockholder return is an important corporate performance 
indicator, it is subject to the vagaries of the market. In addition 
to the creation of stockholder value, the Company’s executive 
compensation program is based on financial and strategic 
results and the other factors set forth and discussed above 
in the “Compensation Committee Report.”
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AUDIT/ETHICS COMMITTEE REPORT
The Audit/Ethics Committee is comprised of five members, 

each of whom is independent, as defined by the standards of 
the NYSE, the rules of the SEC, and under the Company’s Pol-
icy for Director Independence (attached as Annex A to this 
Proxy Statement). Under the charter of the Audit/Ethics Com-
mittee (attached as Annex B to this Proxy Statement), the 
Audit/Ethics Committee assists the Board of Directors in over-
seeing matters relating to the accounting and reporting prac-
tices of the Company, the adequacy of the Company’s 
disclosure controls and internal controls, the quality and integ-
rity of the quarterly and annual financial statements of the 
Company, the performance of the Company’s internal audit 
function and the review and pre-approval of the current year 
audit and non-audit fees with the Company’s independent 
auditor. The Audit/Ethics Committee also oversees the  
Company’s policies with respect to risk assessment and risk 
management and compliance programs relating to legal and  
regulatory requirements. 

During the year ended December 31, 2004, the Audit/Ethics 
Committee held 11 meetings and otherwise met and commu-
nicated with management and with Deloitte & Touche LLP, the 

Company’s Independent Auditor for 2004. Deloitte & Touche 
discussed with the Audit/Ethics Committee various matters 
under applicable auditing standards, including information 
regarding the scope and results of the audit and other matters 
required to be discussed by the Statement on Auditing Stan-
dards No. 61, as amended, “Communication with Audit Com-
mittees.” The Audit/Ethics Committee also discussed with 
Deloitte & Touche its independence from the Company and 
received a written statement from Deloitte & Touche concern-
ing independence as required by the Independence Standards 
Board Standard No. 1, “Independence Discussions with Audit 
Committees.” The Audit/Ethics Committee also reviewed the 
provision of services by Deloitte & Touche not related to the 
audit of the Company’s financial statements and not related 
to the review of the Company’s interim financial statements 
as it pertains to the independence of Deloitte & Touche. 

The Audit/Ethics Committee reviewed and discussed with 
management the Company’s financial results prior to the 
release of earnings. In addition, the Audit/Ethics Committee 
reviewed and discussed with management, the Company’s 
internal auditors and Deloitte & Touche the interim financial 
information included in the March 31, 2004, June 30, 2004 
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and September 30, 2004 Form 10-Qs prior to their being filed 
with the SEC. The Audit/Ethics Committee also reviewed and 
discussed the Company’s audited financial statements for the 
year ended December 31, 2004 with management, the Com-
pany’s internal auditors and Deloitte & Touche. Deloitte & Tou-
che informed the Audit/Ethics Committee that the Company’s 
audited financial statements are presented fairly in conformity 
with generally accepted accounting principles. The Audit/Ethics 
Committee also monitored and reviewed the Company’s 
implementation of procedures and policies relating to the 
requirements of Section 404 of SOX and related regulations.

Based on the review and discussions referred to above, 
and such other matters deemed relevant and appropriate 
by the Audit/Ethics Committee, the Audit/Ethics Committee 
recommended to the Board of Directors, and the Board has 
approved, that the financial statements be included in the 
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2004.

James F. McCall (Chairman)
Clarence P. Cazalot, Jr.
Anthony G. Fernandes
James A. Lash
J. Larry Nichols

PROPOSAL NO. 2 
RATIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The Audit/Ethics Committee has selected the firm of 
Deloitte & Touche LLP as our Independent Auditor to audit the 
Company’s books and accounts for the year ending Decem-
ber 31, 2005. Deloitte & Touche has served as our Indepen-
dent Auditor for fiscal year 2004. While the Audit/Ethics 
Committee is responsible for the appointment, compensation, 
retention, termination and oversight of the independent audi-
tor, we are requesting, as a matter of good corporate gover-
nance, that the stockholders ratify the appointment of Deloitte 
& Touche as our principal Independent Auditor. If the stock-
holders fail to ratify the selection, the Audit/Ethics Committee 
will reconsider whether to retain Deloitte & Touche and may 
retain that firm or another without re-submitting the matter 
to our stockholders. Even if the appointment is ratified, the 
Audit/Ethics Committee may, in its discretion, direct the 
appointment of a different independent auditor at anytime 
during the year if it determines that such change would be 
in the Company’s best interests and in the best interests of 
our stockholders.

Deloitte & Touche’s representatives will be present at the 
Annual Meeting and will have an opportunity to make a state-
ment, if they so desire, as well as to respond to appropriate 
questions asked by our stockholders.

Recommendation of the Board of Directors
Your Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR ratification 

of the selection of Deloitte & Touche LLP as the Company’s 
Independent Auditor for 2005.

FEES PAID TO DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
In 2004 and 2003, Deloitte & Touche LLP, the member 

firms of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and their respective affili-
ates (collectively, “Deloitte Entities”) billed the Company and 
its subsidiaries for the aggregate fees set forth in the table 
below. These fees include all fees paid by the Company for  
(i) professional services rendered for the audit of the Compa-
ny’s annual financial statements and review of quarterly finan-
cial statements, audit services related to Management’s Report 
on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and audit services 
related to the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting, (ii) assurance and related services that 
are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or 
review of the Company’s financial statements, (iii) professional 
services rendered for tax compliance, tax advice, and tax plan-
ning and (iv) products and services provided by Deloitte Enti-
ties. In 2003, the Company also purchased software and 
hardware through Deloitte Consulting, one of the Deloitte 
Entities. The aggregate amount of those purchases was 
approximately $4.0 million for 2003, of which substantially all 
was subject to the Company’s competitive bid process. No pur-
chases of this nature were made during 2004. 

 Fees Paid in  Fees Paid in 

(in millions) Fiscal Year 2004 Fiscal Year 2003

Audit fees $ 10.6(1) $ 3.6 
Audit-related fees  0.2  0.2 
Tax fees  1.1  1.1 
All other fees  0.0  0.0 
 Total  $ 11.9 $ 4.9

(1) Includes approximately $4.2 million related to the audit of the Company’s 
annual financial statements and review of quarterly financial statements and 
approximately $6.4 million related to the audit of Management’s Report on 
Internal Controls as required by Section 404 of SOX and audit services related 
to the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Audit-related fees paid to Deloitte Entities for both  
2004 and 2003 relate primarily to assistance with regulatory 
filings and related matters, non-audit assistance with an inter-
nal control assessment program, non-audit work related to the 
implementation of Section 404 of SOX, training services and 
miscellaneous other minor services.

Tax fees paid to Deloitte Entities are primarily for the prep-
aration of income, payroll, value added and various other mis-
cellaneous tax returns in 31 of the more than 90 countries 
where the Company operates. The Company also incurs local 
country tax advisory services in these countries. Examples of 
these kinds of services are assistance with audits by the local 
country tax authorities, acquisition and disposition advice, con-
sultation regarding changes in legislation or rulings and advice 
on the tax effect of other structuring and operational matters.
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Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures
The Audit/Ethics Committee has adopted guidelines for 

the pre-approval of audit and permitted non-audit services by 
the Company’s independent auditor. The Audit/Ethics Commit-
tee will consider annually and, if appropriate, approve the pro-
vision of audit services by its independent auditor and consider 
and, if appropriate, pre-approve the provision of certain 
defined audit and non-audit services. The Audit/Ethics Com-
mittee will also consider on a case-by-case basis and, if appro-
priate, approve specific engagements that are not otherwise 
pre-approved. The “Guidelines for Pre-Approval of Audit and 
Non-Audit Fees of the Independent Auditor” adopted by the 
Audit/Ethics Committee on January 27, 2004 is attached as 
Annex E to this Proxy Statement. Any proposed engagement 
with estimated non-audit fees of $15,000 or more that does 
not fit within the definition of a pre-approved service may be 
presented to the Chairman of the Audit/Ethics Committee for 
pre-approval. The Chairman of the Audit/Ethics Committee will 
report any specific approval of services at its next regular meet-
ing. The Audit/Ethics Committee will review a summary report 
detailing all services being provided to the Company by its 
Independent Auditor. All of the fees and services described 
above under “audit fees,” “audit-related fees,” “tax fees” and 
“all other fees” were approved under the Guidelines for Pre-
Approval of Audit and Non-Audit Fees of the Independent 
Auditor and pursuant to Section 202 of SOX.

PROPOSAL NO. 3 
AMENDMENT TO COMPANY’S RESTATED  
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

The Board of Directors has determined the Company’s 
Restated Certificate of Incorporation (“Restated Certificate”) 
should be amended to repeal the provisions that provide for 
the classification of the Board of Directors. In particular, Article 
Eleventh of the Restated Certificate provides for the classifica-
tion of the Board of Directors into three classes, Class I, Class II 
and Class III with each director serving for a term of three 
years and contains provisions concerning the apportionment 
of newly created directorships into director classes and the 
removal of directors and Article Thirteenth of the Restated 
Certificate references the classification of the Board of Direc-
tors. The Board has unanimously adopted a resolution to 
amend Article Eleventh and the appropriate portions of Article 
Thirteenth and otherwise approve the amendment, declaring 
it advisable and recommending such amendment to the Com-
pany’s stockholders.

If the Company’s stockholders approve the proposed 
amendment, the classified board will be eliminated, directors 
will thereafter at each annual meeting be elected for a one-
year term ending on the date of the Annual Meeting of Stock-
holders following the annual meeting at which the director 
was elected and will serve until their successors are elected 
and qualified. In addition, any director appointed in the future 
as a result of a newly created position or to fill a vacancy on 
the Company’s Board of Directors will hold office only until 
the next Annual Meeting of Stockholders. Each of the direc-
tors have agreed to shorten their existing terms and stand for 

re-election at the 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders for a 
one-year term ending on the following annual meeting if the 
proposed amendment is approved by the stockholders and the 
amendment is filed in Delaware. If approved, the proposed 
amendment will also delete the existing provision in Article 
Eleventh that specified directors may not be removed except 
for cause. Under Delaware law, directors of companies that 
do not have classified boards may be removed by the stock-
holders with or without cause, by the affirmative vote of the 
holders of a majority of the outstanding shares then entitled 
to vote generally in the election of directors. 

The Company believes that the election of directors to 
staggered terms has promoted good corporate governance by 
providing the stability to develop and execute long-term, stra-
tegic planning. The staggered election of directors has also 
assured that the Company has had directors with a historical 
perspective of the Company and its operations, and that per-
spective has provided the in-depth knowledge for continuity 
in pursuing the Company’s strategic goals. The Board believes 
that the Company’s Board is knowledgeable about manage-
ment and the Company’s plans. 

A non-binding proposal to declassify the Board was 
first introduced by a stockholder in 2000. In 2003 and 2004, 
the stockholder again introduced such proposal. In 2005, 
Mr. Harold J. Mathis, Jr. again submitted such proposal, but 
has withdrawn it as a result of this proposal by the Company’s 
Board of Directors. The Company stated in its 2004 Proxy 
Statement that if the stockholder proposal to declassify the 
Board of Directors received at least the same support by the 
stockholders of all of the outstanding shares at its 2004 Annual 
Meeting as it did at the 2003 Annual Meeting, the Board of 
Directors would introduce and support a binding proposal at 
the 2005 Annual Meeting to amend the Company’s Restated 
Certificate in order to eliminate the provision classifying the 
Company’s Board. The stockholder proposal received 90.38% 
of the votes cast for or against the proposal at the 2004 Annual 
Meeting, which equated to 72.50% of all of the outstanding 
shares of Common Stock. In 2003, the stockholder proposal 
received 84.88% of the votes cast for or against the proposal, 
which equates to 68.82% of all the outstanding shares of  
Common Stock.

In order to eliminate the class structure of the Board, the 
Company’s Restated Certificate must be amended, which 
requires the affirmative vote of 75% of the total voting power 
of all shares of stock of the Company entitled to vote in the 
election of directors, and filed with the Secretary of State of 
the State of Delaware. 

The text of the proposed amendment and related amend-
ments to the Restated Certificate is attached as Annex F to 
this Proxy Statement. If the proposal is approved by the stock-
holders, conforming amendments will be made to the bylaws.

Recommendation of the Board of Directors 
Your Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR the 

approval of the proposal to eliminate the classification of 
the Board of Directors and the related amendments to the 
Restated Certificate.
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STOCKHOLDER PROPOSAL NO. 1 
REGARDING MAJORITY VOTES PROTOCOL

The following proposal was submitted to Baker Hughes by 
William C. Thompson, Jr., Comptroller, City of New York (with 
an address of 1 Centre Street, New York, New York 10007-
2341 and an email address of wthompson@comptroller.nyc.
gov), on behalf of the Boards of Trustees of the New York City 
Pension Funds which hold beneficially 2,514,284 shares of the 
Company’s Common Stock, and is included in this Proxy State-
ment in compliance with SEC rules and regulations.

Proponent’s Statement in Support of Proposal:
WHEREAS, in 2002, United States Congress, the Securities 

and Exchange Commission, and the stock exchanges, recog-
nizing the urgent need to restore public trust and confidence 
in the capital markets, acted to strengthen accounting regula-
tions, to improve corporate financial disclosure, independent 
oversight of auditors, and the independence and effectiveness 
of corporate boards; and 

WHEREAS, we believe these reforms, albeit significant 
steps in the right direction, have not adequately addressed 
shareholder rights and the accountability of directors of corpo-
rate boards to the shareholders who elect them; and 

WHEREAS, we believe the reforms have not addressed a 
major concern of institutional investors – the continuing failure 
of numerous boards of directors to adopt shareholder proposals 
on important corporate governance reforms despite the propos-
als being supported by increasingly large majorities of the totals 
of shareholder votes cast for and against the proposals; 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of our company has not 
adopted shareholder proposals that were supported by major-
ity votes in the past five years; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED: That the shareholders 
request the Board of Directors to adopt a policy establishing an 
engagement process with the proponents of shareholder pro-
posals that are supported by a majority of the votes cast, exclud-
ing abstentions and broker non-votes, at any annual meeting.

In adopting such a policy, the Board of Directors should 
consider including the following steps:
• Within four months after the annual meeting, an indepen-

dent board committee should schedule a meeting (which 
may be held telephonically) with the proponent of the pro-
posal, to obtain any additional information to provide to the 
Board of Directors for its reconsideration of the proposal. 
The meeting with the proponent should be coordinated with 
the timing of a regularly scheduled board meeting.

• Following the meeting with the proponent, the indepen-
dent board committee should present the proposal with 
the committee’s recommendation, and information relevant 
to the proposal, to the full Board of Directors, for action 
consistent with the company’s charter and by-laws, which 
should necessarily include a consideration of the interest 
of the shareholders. 

Statement of the Board of Directors and Management in 
Opposition to Stockholder Proposal No. 1

Your Board of Directors believes it has already adequately 
addressed and implemented the purpose of this proposal – to 
adopt a policy opening the lines of communication in an effort 
to assure thoughtful consideration by the Board of Directors of 
stockholder proposals. In particular, your Board of Directors 
believes this proposal is unnecessary for the following reasons:
1. The Company’s currently existing policy has an established 

process for the evaluation of ALL stockholder proposals.
2. The Company’s Annual Meeting provides ample opportunity 

each year for stockholders to ask questions of or otherwise 
communicate directly with members of the Company’s Board 
of Directors on matters relevant to the Company. Further-
more, a process has already been established to provide the 
Company’s stockholders and other interested parties with an 
open line of communication to any member of the Compa-
ny’s Board of Directors by sending a written communication 
to the Company’s Corporate Secretary who will then forward 
the communication to the appropriate director(s). 

3. The Board of Directors has introduced and supported a bind-
ing proposal for the 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders 
to amend the Company’s Restated Certificate of Incorpora-
tion eliminating the classification of the Board. 
The Governance Committee, whose Governance Guide-

lines are posted under the “About Baker Hughes” section of 
the Company’s website at www.bakerhughes.com, is charged 
with the responsibility for the initial evaluation of stockholder 
proposals to ensure that the process would be conducted 
under the purview of independent directors. Upon submission 
of a stockholder proposal to the Committee, the Committee 
will evaluate and make recommendations, as appropriate, to 
the Board of Directors, with respect to such proposals. This 
evaluation by the Committee may include, without limitation, 
consideration of: 
• the appropriateness of the proposal, 
• the best interest of all stockholders of the Company, 
• whether the proposal would result in appropriately  

accomplishing the goals and objectives described in 
such proposal, and

• any other considerations that the Committee may  
deem appropriate. 
The process of evaluation may include communication 

directly with the stockholder proponent by the Committee 
or its management designees, as the Committee may deem 
appropriate. The Board’s existing policy is broader than 
requested by the stockholder proponent because the Board 
believes all properly submitted stockholder proposals should  
be thoughtfully considered.

Although the current process does not mandate direct 
contact between the Board and the proponent of a stock-
holder proposal, the Board of Directors has in the past, when 
it has deemed appropriate, on its own initiative met with pro-
ponents to discuss stockholder proposals and believes the 
existing approach of evaluating stockholder proposals better 
serves the interests of the Company and its stockholders. 
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Recommendation of the Board of Directors
Your Board of Directors recommends a vote AGAINST 

approval of Stockholder Proposal No. 1 regarding majority 
votes protocol.

ANNUAL REPORT
The 2004 Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company, 

which includes audited financial statements for the fiscal year 
ended December 31, 2004, accompanies this Proxy Statement; 
however, that report is not part of the proxy soliciting information.

INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE
To the extent that this Proxy Statement is incorporated 

by reference into any other filing by Baker Hughes under the 
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, 
the sections of this Proxy Statement entitled “Compensation 
Committee Report,” “Audit/Ethics Committee Report” (to the 
extent permitted by the rules of the SEC) and “Corporate Per-
formance Graph,” as well as the annexes to this Proxy State-
ment, will not be deemed incorporated unless specifically 
provided otherwise in such filing. Information contained on or 
connected to our website is not incorporated by reference into 
this Proxy Statement and should not be considered part of this 
Proxy Statement or any other filing that we make with the SEC.

STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS
Proposals of stockholders intended to be presented at the 

2006 Annual Meeting must be received by the Company by 
November 15, 2005 to be properly brought before the 2006 
Annual Meeting and to be considered for inclusion in the 
Proxy Statement and form of proxy relating to that meeting. 
Such proposals should be mailed to Corporate Secretary, c/o 
Baker Hughes Incorporated 3900 Essex Lane, Suite 1200, 
Houston, Texas 77027-5177. Nominations of directors by 
stockholders must be received by the Chairman of the Gover-
nance Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors, P.O. 
Box 4740, Houston, Texas 77210-4740 or the Corporate Sec-
retary, c/o Baker Hughes Incorporated 3900 Essex Lane, Suite 
1200, Houston, Texas 77027-5177 between October 16, 2005 
and November 15, 2005 to be properly nominated before the 
2006 Annual Meeting, although the Company is not required 
to include such nominees in its Proxy Statement.

OTHER MATTERS
The Board of Directors knows of no other matter to be 

presented at the Annual Meeting. If any additional matter 
should be presented properly, it is intended that the enclosed 
proxy will be voted in accordance with the discretion of the 
persons named in the proxy.
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ANNEX A

BAKER HUGHES INCORPORATED 
POLICY FOR DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE, AUDIT/ETHICS 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS AND AUDIT COMMITTEE  
FINANCIAL EXPERT

INDEPENDENCE

I. Introduction
A member of the Board of Directors (“Board”) of Baker 

Hughes Incorporated (“Company”) shall be deemed indepen-
dent pursuant to this Policy of the Board, only if the Board 
affirmatively determines that (1) such director meets the stan-
dards set forth in Section II below, and (2) the director has no 
material relationship with the Company (either directly or as 
a partner, shareholder or officer of an organization that has a 
relationship with the Company). In making its determination, 
the Board shall broadly consider all relevant facts and circum-
stances. Material relationships can include commercial, indus-
trial, banking, consulting, legal, accounting, charitable and 
familial relationships, among others.

Each director of the Company’s Audit/Ethics Committee, 
Governance Committee and Compensation Committee must 
be Independent. A director who is a member of the Company’s 
Audit/Ethics Committee is also required to meet the criteria set 
forth below in Section III. These standards shall be implemented 
by the Governance Committee with such modifications as it 
deems appropriate.

II. Standards for Director Independence
1. A director who is an employee, or whose immediate family 

member is an executive officer, of the Company is not inde-
pendent until three years after the end of such employment 
relationship. Employment as an interim Chairman or CEO 
shall not disqualify a director from being considered inde-
pendent following that employment.

2. A director who receives, or whose immediate family member 
receives, more than $100,000 per year in direct compensa-
tion from the Company, other than director and committee 
fees and pension or other forms of deferred compensation 
for prior service (provided such compensation is not contin-
gent in any way on continued service), is not independent 
until three years after he or she ceases to receive more than 
$100,000 per year in such compensation. Compensation 
received by a director for former service as an interim 
Chairman or CEO need not be considered in determining 
independence under this test. Compensation received by 
an immediate family member for service as a non-executive 
employee of the Company need not be considered in 
determining independence under this test.

3. A director who is affiliated with or employed by, or whose 
immediate family member is affiliated with or employed in 
a professional capacity by, a present or former internal or 
external auditor of the Company is not “independent” until 
three years after the end of the affiliation or the employment 
or auditing relationship.

4. A director who is employed, or whose immediate family 
member is employed, as an executive officer of another 
company where any of the Company’s present executives 
serve on that company’s compensation committee is not 
“independent” until three years after the end of such ser-
vice or the employment relationship.

5. A director who is an executive officer or an employee, or 
whose immediate family member is an executive officer, of  
a company that makes payments to, or receives payments 
from, the Company for property or services in an amount 
which, in any single fiscal year, exceeds the greater of  
$1 million, or 2% of the consolidated gross revenues of 
such other company employing such executive officer or 
employee, is not “independent” until three years after  
falling below such threshold.1

6. The three year period referred to in paragraphs II.1 through 
II.5 above will be applied consistent with the New York 
Stock Exchange’s (“NYSE”) transition rules, which permit a 
one year look-back period until November 4, 2004. Accord-
ingly, until November 4, 2004, a one year period, rather 
than a three year period, shall apply to the determination 
of independence and the application of paragraphs II.1 
through II.5 above.

III. Standards for Audit/Ethics Committee Members
1. A director who is a member of the Audit/Ethics Committee 

other than in his or her capacity as a member of the Audit/
Ethics Committee, the Board, or any other Board committee, 
may not accept directly or indirectly any consulting, advisory, 
or other compensatory fee from the Company or any subsid-
iary thereof, provided that, unless the rules of the NYSE pro-
vide otherwise, compensatory fees do not include the receipt 
of fixed amounts of compensation under a retirement plan 
(including deferred compensation) for prior service with the 
Company (provided that such compensation is not contin-
gent in any way on continued service).

  Indirect acceptance of compensatory payments 
includes: (1) payments to spouses, minor children or step-
children, or children or stepchildren sharing a household 
with the member; or (2) payments accepted by an entity 
in which such member is a partner, member, officer such 
as a managing director occupying a comparable position 
or executive officer, or occupies a similar position and 
which provides accounting, consulting, legal, investment 
banking or financial advisory services to the Company. 

2. A director, who is a member of the Audit/Ethics Committee 
may not, other than in his or her capacity as a member of 
the Audit/Ethics Committee, the Board, or any other Board 
committee, be an affiliated person of the Company or any 
subsidiary thereof.

3. A member of the Audit/Ethics Committee may not simulta-
neously serve on the audit committees of more than two 
other public companies in addition to the Company. 
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IV. Definitions
An “immediate family member” includes a person’s 

spouse, parents, children, siblings, mothers and fathers-in-law, 
sons and daughters-in-law, brothers and sisters-in-law, and 
anyone (other than domestic employees) who shares such per-
son’s household. When considering the application of the 
three year period referred to in each of paragraphs II.1 
through II.5 above, the Company need not consider individuals 
who are no longer immediate family members as a result of 
legal separation or divorce, or those who have died or become 
incapacitated.

The “Company” includes any subsidiary in a consolidated 
group with the Company.

AUDIT/ETHICS COMMITTEE FINANCIAL  
EXPERT QUALIFICATIONS

The Company believes that it is desirable that one or more 
members of the Audit/Ethics Committee possess such qualities 
and skills such that they qualify as an Audit Committee Finan-
cial Expert as defined by the Securities and Exchange Commis-
sion (“SEC”).
1. The SEC rules define an Audit Committee Financial Expert 

as a director who has the following attributes:
(a) An understanding of generally accepted accounting 

principles and financial statements;
(b) The ability to assess the general application of such 

principles in connection with the accounting for esti-
mates, accruals and reserves;

(c) Experience preparing, auditing, analyzing or evaluating 
financial statements that present a breadth and level 
of complexity of accounting issues that are generally 
comparable to the breadth and complexity of issues 
that can reasonably be expected to be raised by 
the registrant’s financial statements, or experience 
actively supervising one or more persons engaged 
in such activities;

(d) An understanding of internal controls and procedures 
for financial reporting; and

(e) An understanding of audit committee functions.

2. Under SEC rules, a director must have acquired such attri-
butes through any one or more of the following:
(a) Education and experience as a principal financial officer, 

principal accounting officer, controller, public accoun-
tant or auditor or experience in one or more positions 
that involve the performance of similar functions;

(b) Experience actively supervising a principal financial officer, 
principal accounting officer, controller, public accountant, 
auditor or person performing similar functions;

(c) Experience overseeing or assessing the performance 
of companies or public accountants with respect to 
the preparation, auditing or evaluation of financial 
statements; or

(d) Other relevant experience.

1 In applying this test, both the payments and the consolidated gross revenues 
to be measured shall be those reported in the last completed fiscal year. The 
look-back provision for this test applies solely to the financial relationship 
between the Company and the director or immediate family member’s cur-
rent employer; the Company need to consider former employment of the 
director or immediate family member. Charitable organizations shall not be 
considered “companies” for purposes of this test provided however that the 
company shall disclose in its annual proxy statement any charitable contribu-
tions made by the Company to any charitable organization in which a direc-
tor serves as an executive officer if, within the preceding three years, 
contributions in any single fiscal year exceeded the greater of $1 million, 
or 2% of such charitable organization’s consolidated gross revenues.
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ANNEX B

BAKER HUGHES INCORPORATED 
CHARTER OF THE AUDIT/ETHICS COMMITTEE OF  
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
(as amended and restated October 27, 2004)

The Board of Directors of Baker Hughes Incorporated (the 
“Company”) has heretofore constituted and established an 
Audit/Ethics Committee (the “Committee”) with authority, 
responsibility and specific duties as described in this Charter. It 
is intended that this Charter and the composition of the Com-
mittee comply with the rules of the New York Stock Exchange 
(the “NYSE”). This document replaces and supersedes in its 
entirety the previous Charter of the Committee adopted by 
the Board of Directors of the Company. 

Purpose
The Committee’s purpose is to assist the Board of Directors 

with oversight of: (i) the integrity of the Company’s financial 
statements and reporting system, (ii) the Company’s compli-
ance with legal and regulatory requirements, (iii) the indepen-
dent auditor’s qualifications and independence and (iv) the 
performance of the Company’s internal audit function and 
independent auditors. The Committee’s purpose is also to 
pre pare the report of the Committee to be included in the 
Company’s annual proxy statement, carry out the duties and 
responsibilities set forth in this Charter and conduct an  
annual self-evaluation.

Composition
The Committee and Chairman of the Committee shall 

be elected annually by the Board of Directors and subject to 
removal pursuant to the terms of the Company’s Bylaws. The 
Committee shall be comprised of not less than three non-
employee Directors who are (i) independent (as defined by 
Section 10A(m)(3) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 
the regulations thereunder and the NYSE) and (ii) financially lit-
erate (as interpreted by the Board of Directors in its business 
judgment). Such Committee members may not simultaneously 
serve on the audit committee of more than three public com-
panies. At least one member of the Committee shall have 
accounting or related financial management expertise and at 
least one member of the Committee shall be an “audit com-
mittee financial expert,” as defined by the Securities and 
Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The audit committee financial 
expert must have: an understanding of GAAP and financial 
statements; experience in the (a) preparation, auditing, analyz-
ing or evaluating of financial statements of generally compara-
ble issuers and (b) application of such principles in connection 
with the accounting for estimates, accruals and reserves; an 
understanding of internal accounting controls and procedures 
for financial reporting; and an understanding of audit commit-
tee functions. The Committee may, if appropriate, delegate its 
authority to subcommittees.

Principal Responsibilities
The principal responsibilities of the Committee are: (i) to 

provide assistance to the Board of Directors in fulfilling its 
responsibility in matters relating to the accounting and report-
ing practices of the Company, the adequacy of the Company’s 
internal controls and the quality and integrity of the financial 
statements of the Company; and (ii) to oversee the Company’s 
compliance programs. The independent auditor is ultimately 
accountable to the Board of Directors and the Committee, 
as representatives of the Company’s stockholders, and shall 
report directly to the Committee; and the Committee has the 
ultimate authority and direct responsibility to select, appoint, 
evaluate, compensate and oversee the work, and, if necessary, 
terminate and replace the independent auditor (subject, if 
applicable, to stockholder ratification). The Committee shall 
have authority to conduct or authorize investigations into any 
matters within its scope of responsibilities.

The Committee shall have the authority to engage inde-
pendent counsel and other advisors, as the Committee deems 
necessary to carry out its duties. The Committee shall have the 
sole authority to approve the fees paid to any independent 
advisor retained by the Committee, and the Company shall 
provide funding for such payments. In addition, the Company 
must provide funding for ordinary administrative expenses of 
the Committee that are necessary or appropriate in carrying 
out its duties.

The Committee shall review the composition, expertise 
and availability of the Committee members on an annual 
basis. The Committee shall also perform a self-evaluation 
of the Committee and its activities on an annual basis.

The Committee shall meet in executive session at each 
regularly scheduled meeting, including separate, private meet-
ings with the independent auditors, internal auditors, general 
counsel and compliance officer.

This Charter is intended to be flexible so that the Commit-
tee is able to meet changing conditions. The Committee is 
authorized to take such further actions as are consistent with 
the following described responsibilities and to perform such 
other actions as applicable law, the NYSE, the Company’s 
charter documents and/or the Board of Directors may require. 
To that end, the Committee shall review and reassess the ade-
quacy of this Charter annually. Any proposed changes shall be 
put before the Board of Directors for its approval.

With regard to its audit responsibilities, the Committee shall:
• Receive and review reports from the independent auditors 

pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“SOX”) and, 
on an annual basis, formal written reports from the inde-
pendent auditors regarding the auditors’ independence 
required by Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1 
(Independence Discussions with Audit Committees), giving 
consideration to the range of audit and non-audit services 
performed by them and all their relationships with the Com-
pany, as well as a report describing the (i) independent audi-
tors’ internal quality-control procedures; and (ii) material 
issues raised by the most recent internal quality-control 
review or Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
review, of the independent auditors, or by any inquiry or 
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investigation by governmental professional authorities, 
within the preceding five years, respecting one or more inde-
pendent audits carried out by the auditors, and any steps 
taken to deal with such issues. Conduct an active discussion 
with the independent auditors with respect to any disclosed 
relationships or services that may impact the objectivity and 
independence of the auditors; and, select the independent 
auditors to be employed or discharged by the Company. 
Review competence of partners and managers of the inde-
pendent auditors who lead the audit as well as possible 
rotation of the independent auditors. The Committee shall 
establish hiring policies for the Company of employees or 
former employees of the independent auditors in accordance 
with the NYSE rules, SOX and as specified by the SEC and 
review and discuss with management and the independent 
auditors any proposals for hiring any key member of the 
independent auditors’ team.

• Prior to commencement of the annual audit, review with 
management, the internal auditors and the independent 
auditors the proposed scope of the audit plan and fees, 
including the areas of business to be examined, the per-
sonnel to be assigned to the audit, the procedures to be 
followed, special areas to be investigated, as well as the 
program for integration of the independent and internal 
audit efforts. 

• Review policies and procedures for the engagement of the 
independent auditors to provide audit and non-audit ser-
vices, giving due consideration to whether the independent 
auditor’s performance of non-audit services is compatible 
with the auditor’s independence and review and pre-approve 
all audit and non-audit fees for such services, subject to 
the deminimus exception under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. 
With the exception of the annual audit, the Committee 
may delegate to a member of the Committee the author-
ity to pre-approve all audit and non-audit services with any 
such decision presented to the full Committee at the next 
scheduled meeting.

• Review with management and independent auditors the 
accounting and reporting policies and procedures that may 
be viewed as critical, any improvements, questions of choice 
and material changes in accounting policies and procedures, 
including interim accounting, as well as significant account-
ing, auditing and SEC pronouncements.

• Review with management and independent auditors the 
financial reporting and disclosure issues, including material 
correcting adjustments and off-balance sheet financings and 
relationships, if any, discuss significant judgment matters 
made in connection with the preparation of the Company’s 
financial statements and ascertain that any significant dis-
agreements among them have been satisfactorily resolved, 
and ascertain that no restrictions were placed by manage-
ment on implementation of the independent or internal 
auditors’ examinations. Regularly scheduled executive  
sessions will be held for this purpose. 

• Review with management and the independent auditors 
the results of the annual audit prior to release of the 
audited financial statements in the Company’s annual 
report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC, including a review 
of the MD&A section, quarterly financial statements prior to 
release in the Company’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q filed 
with the SEC, including a review of the MD&A section, and 
have management review the Company’s financial results 
with the Board of Directors prior to the release of earnings.

• Establish guidelines with respect to earnings press releases 
and financial information and earnings guidance provided 
to analysts and rating agencies. The Committee may request 
a prior review of any annual or quarterly earnings release or 
earnings guidance and delegate to the Chairman of the 
Committee the authority to review any such earnings 
releases and guidance.

• Review with the Board of Directors any issues that arise with 
respect to the quality or integrity of the Company’s financial 
statements and reporting system, the Company’s compliance 
with legal or regulatory requirements, the performance and 
independence of the Company’s independent auditors or 
the performance of the internal audit function. 

• Review guidelines and policies on risk assessment and risk 
management related to the Company’s major financial risk 
exposures and the steps management has taken to monitor 
and control such exposures.

• Annually prepare a report to stockholders included in the 
Company’s proxy statement (a) stating that the Committee 
has (i) reviewed and discussed the audited financial state-
ments with management; (ii) discussed with the independent 
auditors the matters required to be discussed by Statement 
on Auditing Standards No. 61; (iii) received a formal written 
report from the independent auditors concerning the audi-
tors’ independence; and (iv) based upon the review and  
discussion of the audited financial statements with both 
management and the independent auditors, the Committee 
recommended to the Board of Directors that the audited 
financial statements be included in the Company’s Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the last fiscal year for filing with 
the SEC and (b) cause the Charter to be included periodically 
in the proxy statement as required by applicable rules.

• Review actions taken by management on the independent 
auditors and internal auditors’ recommendations relating 
to organization, internal controls and operations.

• Meet separately and periodically with management, the 
internal auditors and the independent auditors to review 
the responsibilities, budget and staffing of the Company’s 
internal audit function, the effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal controls, including computerized information sys-
tems controls, and security. Review the Company’s annual 
internal audit plan, staffing and budget, and receive regular 
reports on their activities, including significant findings and 
management’s actions. Review annually the audit of the 
expenses of the Company’s senior management.
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• Review membership of Company’s “Disclosure Control and 
Internal Control Committee” (“DCIC”), the DCIC’s sched-
uled activities and the DCIC’s quarterly report. Review on 
an annual basis the DCIC Charter.

• Receive reports from the CEO and CFO on all significant 
deficiencies in the design or operation of certain internal 
controls and any fraud, whether or not material, that 
involves management or other employees who have a  
significant role in the Company’s internal controls.

• Review reports, media coverage and similar public informa-
tion provided to analysts and rating agencies, as the Com-
mittee deems appropriate.

• Establish formal procedures for (i) the receipt, retention 
and treatment of complaints received by the Company 
regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or 
auditing matters, (ii) the confidential, anonymous submis-
sions by Company employees of concerns regarding ques-
tionable accounting or auditing matters, and (iii) the 
protection of reporting employees from retaliation.

• The Committee shall annually review with the independent 
auditors any audit problems or difficulties and manage-
ment’s response. The Committee must regularly review 
with the independent auditor any difficulties the auditor 
encountered in the course of the audit work, including any 
restrictions on the scope of the independent auditors’ activ-
ities or on access to requested information, and any signifi-
cant disagreements with management. Among the items 
the Committee may want to review with the auditors are: 
any accounting adjustments that were noted or proposed 
by the auditor but were “passed” (as immaterial or other-
wise); any communications between the audit team and 
the audit firm’s national office respecting auditing or 
accounting issues presented by the engagement; and any 
“management” or “internal control” letter issued, or pro-
posed to be issued, by the audit firm to the Company.

With regard to its compliance responsibilities, the  
Committee shall:
• Review the management’s recommendation of and moni-

toring of compliance with the Company’s Business Code 
of Conduct and Foreign Corrupt Practices Act policy.

• Review in conjunction with counsel (i) any legal matters 
that could have significant impact on the organization’s 
financial statements; (ii) correspondence and material inqui-
ries received from regulators or governmental agencies; 
and (iii) all matters relating to the ethics of this Company 
and its subsidiaries.

• Coordinate the Company’s compliance with inquiries from 
any government officials concerning legal compliance in 
the areas covered by the Business Code of Conduct and 
the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act policy.

• Review the Company’s compliance with its environmental 
policy on an annual basis.

• Respond to such other duties as may be assigned to the 
Committee, from time to time, by the Board of Directors.
While the Committee has the responsibilities and powers 

set forth in this Charter, it is not the duty of the Committee 
to plan or conduct audits or to determine that the Company’s 
financial statements are complete and accurate and are in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 
these are the responsibilities of management and the indepen-
dent auditor. Nor is it the duty of the Committee to conduct 
investigations, to resolve disagreements, if any, between man-
agement and the independent auditor or to assure compliance 
with laws and regulations or with Company policies.

Meetings
The Committee will meet at least five times per year as 

determined by the Board of Directors. Special meetings may 
be called, as needed, by the Chairman of the Board of Direc-
tors or the Chairman of the Committee. The Committee may 
create subcommittees who shall report to the Committee. In 
addition, the Committee will make itself available to the inde-
pendent auditors and the internal auditors of the Company as 
requested. All meetings of the Committee will be held pursu-
ant to the Bylaws of the Company with regard to notice and 
waiver thereof, and written minutes of each meeting will be 
duly filed in the Company records. Reports of meetings of the 
Committee shall be made to the Board of Directors at its next 
regularly scheduled meeting following the Committee meeting 
accompanied by any recommendations to the Board of Direc-
tors approved by the Committee.
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ANNEX C

BAKER HUGHES INCORPORATED 
GUIDELINES FOR MEMBERSHIP ON THE  
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

These Guidelines set forth the policies of the Board of 
Directors (“Board”) of Baker Hughes Incorporated (“Com-
pany”) regarding Board membership. These Guidelines shall be 
implemented by the Governance Committee of the Board with 
such modifications as it deems appropriate. The Governance 
Committee will consider candidates based upon:
• The size and existing composition of the Board
• The number and qualifications of candidates
• The benefit of continuity on the Board
• The relevance of the candidate’s background and experience 

to issues facing the Company.

1. Criteria for Selection
In filling director vacancies on the Board, the Governance 

Committee will strive to:
(A) Recommend candidates for director positions who will help 

create a collective membership on the Board with varied 
experience and perspective and who:
i) Have demonstrated leadership, and significant experi-

ence in an area of endeavor such as business, finance, 
law, public service, banking or academia;

ii) Comprehend the role of a public company director, 
particularly the fiduciary obligations owed to the 
Company and its stockholders;

iii) Have relevant expertise and experience, and be able to 
offer advice and guidance based upon that expertise;

iv) Have a substantive understanding of domestic consid-
erations and geopolitics, especially those pertaining to 
the service sector of the oil and gas and energy 
related industries;

v) Will dedicate sufficient time to Company business;
vi) Exhibit integrity, sound business judgment and sup-

port for the Core Values of the Company;
vii) Understand basic financial statements;
viii) Are independent as defined by the Securities and 

Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and the New York 
Stock Exchange.

ix) Support the ideals of the Company’s Business Code of 
Conduct and are not engaged in any activity adverse 
to, or do not serve on the board of another company 
whose interests are adverse to, or in conflict with the 
Company’s interests;

x) Possess the ability to oversee, as a director, the affairs 
of the Company for the benefit of its stockholders 
while keeping in perspective the interests of the Com-
pany’s customers, employees and the public; and

xi) Are able to exercise sound business judgment.
(B) Maintain a Board that reflects diversity, including but not 

limited to gender, ethnicity and experience.

2. Age
The Board will not nominate any person to serve as a 

director who has attained the age of 72.

3. Audit/Ethics Committee
The Governance Committee believes that it is desirable 

that one or more members of the Company’s Audit/Ethics 
Committee possess such qualities and skills such that they 
qualify as an Audit Committee Financial Expert, as defined 
by SEC rules and regulations.

4. Significant Change in Occupation or Employment
Any non-employee director who has a significant change 

in occupation or retires from his or her principal employment 
or position will promptly notify the Governance Committee. 
The Governance Committee will determine if it is in the best 
interests of the Company to nominate such person to serve 
another term as a director following expiration of the director’s 
current term.

5. Board Review and Assessments
Each year the members of the Board will participate in a 

review and assessment of the Board and of each committee. 
In connection with such reviews, or at any other time, a direc-
tor with concerns regarding performance, attendance, poten-
tial conflicts of interest, or any other concern respecting any 
other director shall report such concerns to the Chairman of 
the Governance Committee. The Chairman of the Governance 
Committee, in consultation with such other directors as he 
or she deems appropriate will determine how such concerns 
should be investigated and reported to members of the Gov-
ernance Committee who are not the director in question 
(“Disinterested Committee Members”). If the Disinterested 
Committee Members conclude that the director is not fulfilling 
his or her duties, they will determine what actions should be 
taken. Such actions may include, without limitation, the Chair-
man of the Board or another Board member discussing the sit-
uation with the director in question, identifying what steps are 
required to improve performance, or, if appropriate, requesting 
that the director resign from the Board.
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ANNEX D

BAKER HUGHES INCORPORATED 
SELECTION PROCESS FOR NEW 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS CANDIDATES

Baker Hughes Incorporated (“Company”) has established 
the following process for the selection of new candidates for 
the Company’s Board of Directors (“Board”). The Board or the 
Company’s Governance Committee will evaluate candidates 
properly proposed by stockholders in the same manner as all 
other candidates.
1. Chairman/CEO, the Governance Committee, or other Board 

members identify a need to fill vacancies or add newly cre-
ated directorships.

2. Chairman of the Governance Committee initiates search, 
working with staff support and seeking input from the Board 
members and senior management, and hiring a search firm 
or obtaining advice from legal or other advisors, if necessary. 

3. Candidates, including any candidates properly proposed by 
stockholders in accordance with the Company’s Bylaws that 
satisfy criteria as described in the Company’s “Guidelines For 
Membership on the Board of Directors” or otherwise qualify 
for membership on the Board, are identified and presented 
to the Governance Committee. 

4. Determine if the Governance Committee members, Board 
members or senior management have a basis to initiate 
contact with preferred candidates; or if appropriate, utilize 
a search firm.

5. Chairman/CEO and at least one member of the Governance 
Committee interviews prospective candidate(s).

6. Full Board to be kept informed of progress.
7. The Governance Committee meets to consider and approve 

final candidate(s) (conduct interviews as necessary).
8. The Governance Committee will propose to the full  

Board candidates for Board membership to fill vacancies, 
or to stand for election at the next Annual Meeting 
of Stockholders.

ANNEX E

BAKER HUGHES INCORPORATED 
AUDIT/ETHICS COMMITTEE 
GUIDELINES FOR PRE-APPROVAL OF AUDIT  
AND NON-AUDIT FEES OF INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Audit Fees
The independent auditor will submit to the Audit/Ethics 

Committee of the Board of Directors (“Committee”) for pre-
approval a worldwide engagement letter outlining the scope 
of the audit services proposed to be performed for the fiscal 
year together with an audit services fee proposal annually. 

Non-Audit Fees
Management will submit to the Committee for pre-

approval proposed projects annually for the upcoming year 
requesting specific pre-approval for all projects over $15,000 
and general approval for all projects under $15,000 with the 
Committee informed of the particular services. The Company’s 
independent auditor may be awarded any type of non-audit 
services not prohibited by law or regulations, including the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act, which services may include but not be 
limited to: tax compliance, planning and tax audit assistance; 
limited situation projects related to the Company or employee 
statutory filings, requirements or applications; assignments 
related to financial statement and internal control risk assess-
ments. The annual request must include a representation from 
management and the independent auditor as to whether, in 
their view, the request is consistent with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission’s rules on auditor independence. 

The Committee has delegated to the Chairman of the 
Committee the pre-approval requirement of non-audit fees for 
new projects that are identified after the annual pre-approval 
by the Committee. Projects with estimated fees of $15,000 
and above arising subsequent to the annual Committee pre-
approval will be presented to the Chairman of the Committee 
for approval prior to starting the project. New projects with 
estimated fees less than $15,000 not included in the annual 
pre-approval will also be presented to the Chairman of the 
Committee “in total”, with a comparison to original approvals. 
The Chairman (and subsequently the Committee) will be 
informed of the particular services. All such decisions by the 
Chairman will be reported to the Committee at a scheduled 
meeting. The Committee does not delegate its responsibilities 
to pre-approve services performed by the independent auditor 
to management.

The Committee will be provided an interim update during 
the year. However, if there are deviations of ten percent or 
greater from the aggregate pre-approved amount, the Com-
mittee will receive an update at a scheduled meeting. Any pro-
posed services exceeding pre-approved cost levels will require 
specific approval by the Committee.
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ANNEX F

BAKER HUGHES INCORPORATED 
CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT TO RESTATED  
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION  
The Restated Certificate of Incorporation is hereby amended  
as follows:

ARTICLE ELEVENTH of the Restated Certificate of Incorpo-
ration of the Corporation is hereby amended in its 
entirety to read as follows:

ELEVENTH: The directors of the Corporation shall serve for 
a term of one year ending on the date of the annual 
meeting of stockholders following the annual meeting 
at which the director was elected.

The number of directors shall be fixed from time to time 
by the bylaws of the Corporation or an amendment 
thereof duly adopted by the Board of Directors or by 
the stockholders acting in accordance with Article 
SEVENTH herein.

Notwithstanding any of the foregoing provisions of this 
Article, each director shall serve until his or her succes-
sor is elected and qualified or until his or her death, 
retirement, resignation or removal. 

ARTICLE THIRTEENTH is hereby amended by replacing the 
reference to “ELEVENTH (dealing with the classifica-
tion and number of directors)” with “ELEVENTH (deal-
ing with the term and number of directors).“
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Baker Hughes Incorporated (“Baker Hughes,” “Company,” 

“we,” “our” or “us”) is a Delaware corporation engaged in 
the oilfield services industry. Baker Hughes is a major supplier 
of wellbore-related products and technology services and sys-
tems to the worldwide oil and natural gas industry, including 
products and services for drilling, formation evaluation, com-
pletion and production of oil and natural gas wells. We con-
duct part or all of our operations through subsidiaries, 
affiliates, ventures or alliances.

Baker Hughes was formed in April 1987 in connection 
with the combination of Baker International Corporation and 
Hughes Tool Company. We acquired Western Atlas Inc. in a 
merger completed on August 10, 1998.

As used herein, “Baker Hughes,” “Company,” “we,” 
“our” and “us” may refer to Baker Hughes Incorporated or its 
subsidiaries. The use of these terms is not intended to connote 
any particular corporate status or relationships.

Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on 
Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to 
those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the 
“Exchange Act”), are made available free of charge on our 
Internet website at www.bakerhughes.com as soon as reason-
ably practicable after these reports have been electronically 
filed with, or furnished to, the Securities and Exchange Com-
mission (the “SEC”).

We have adopted a Business Code of Conduct to provide 
guidance to our directors, officers and employees on matters 
of business conduct and ethics, including compliance standards 
and procedures. We have also required our principal executive 
officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting 
officer to sign a Code of Ethical Conduct Certification. Our 
Business Code of Conduct and Code of Ethical Conduct Certi-
fications are available on the Investor Relations section of our 
website at www.bakerhughes.com. We intend to promptly dis-
close on our website information about any waiver of these 
codes with respect to our executive officers and directors. Our 
Corporate Governance Guidelines and the charters of our 
Audit/Ethics Committee, Compensation Committee, Executive 
Committee, Finance Committee and Governance Committee 
are also available on the Investor Relations section of our web-
site at www.bakerhughes.com. In addition, a copy of our Busi-
ness Code of Conduct, Code of Ethical Conduct Certification, 
Corporate Governance Guidelines and the charters of the 
Committees referenced above are available in print at no cost 
to any stockholder who requests them by writing or telephon-
ing us at the following address or telephone number:

Baker Hughes Incorporated
3900 Essex Lane, Suite 1200
Houston, TX  77027
Attention: Investor Relations
Telephone: (713) 439-8039

Information contained on or connected to our website is 
not incorporated by reference into this annual report on Form 
10-K and should not be considered part of this report or any 
other filing that we make with the SEC.

We have seven operating divisions – Baker Atlas, Baker 
Hughes Drilling Fluids, Baker Oil Tools, Baker Petrolite, Centri-
lift, Hughes Christensen and INTEQ – that we have aggregated 
into the Oilfield segment because they have similar economic 
characteristics and because the long-term financial perfor-
mance of these divisions is affected by similar economic condi-
tions. These operating divisions manufacture and sell products 
and provide services used in the oil and natural gas industry, 
including drilling, formation evaluation, completion and pro-
duction of oil and natural gas wells. They operate in the same 
markets, which include all of the major oil and natural gas 
producing regions of the world: North America, South Amer-
ica, Europe, Africa, the Middle East and the Far East. The Oil-
field segment also includes our 30% interest in WesternGeco, 
a seismic venture we entered into with Schlumberger Limited 
(“Schlumberger”), as well as other investments in affiliates.

For additional industry segment information for the three 
years ended December 31, 2004, see Note 13 of the Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 herein.

Baker Atlas
Baker Atlas is a leading provider of formation evaluation 

and wireline completion and production services for oil and 
natural gas wells.

Formation Evaluation. Formation evaluation involves 
measuring and analyzing specific physical properties of the 
rock (petrophysical properties) in the immediate vicinity of a 
wellbore to determine an oil or natural gas reservoir’s bound-
aries, volume of hydrocarbons and ability to produce fluids to 
the surface. Electronic sensor instrumentation is run through 
the wellbore to measure porosity and density (how much open 
space there is in the rock), permeability (how well connected 
the spaces in the rock are) and resistivity (is there oil, natural 
gas or water in the spaces). At the surface, measurements are 
recorded digitally and can be displayed on a continuous graph, 
or “well log,” which shows how each parameter varies along 
the length of the wellbore. Formation evaluation tools can also 
be used to record formation pressures and take samples of 
formation fluids to be further evaluated on the surface.

Formation evaluation instrumentation can be run in the 
well in several ways and at different times over the life of the 
well. The two most common methods of data collection are 
wireline logging (performed by Baker Atlas) and logging-while-
drilling (“LWD”) (performed by INTEQ). Wireline logging is con-
ducted by pulling or pushing instruments through the wellbore 
after it is drilled, while LWD instruments are attached to the 
drill string and take measurements while the well is being 
drilled. Wireline logging measurements can be made before the 
well’s protective steel casing is set (open hole logging) or after 
casing has been set (cased hole logging). Baker Atlas also offers 
geophysical data interpretation services which help the opera-
tor interpret the petrophysical properties measured by the log-
ging instruments and make inferences about the formation, 

2004 Form 10-K     3



presence and quantity of hydrocarbons present. This informa-
tion is used to determine the next steps in drilling and com-
pleting the well.

Wireline Completion and Production Services. Wireline 
completion and production services include using wireline 
instruments to evaluate well integrity, perform mechanical 
intervention and perform cement evaluations. Wireline instru-
ments can also be run in producing wells to perform produc-
tion logging. Baker Atlas (and Baker Oil Tools) also provide 
perforating services, which involve puncturing a well’s steel 
casing and cement sheath with explosive charges. This creates 
a fracture in the formation and provides a path for hydrocar-
bons in the formation to enter the wellbore and be produced.

Baker Atlas’ services allow oil and natural gas companies 
to define, manage and reduce their exploration and produc-
tion risk. As such, the main driver of customer purchasing 
decisions is the value added by formation evaluation and wire-
line completion and production services. Specific opportunities 
for competitive differentiation include:
• data acquisition efficiency,
• the sophistication and accuracy of measurements,
• the ability to interpret the information gathered to quan-

tify the hydrocarbons producible from the formation, and
• the ability to differentiate services which can run exclu-

sively or more efficiently on wireline from services which 
can run on either wireline or drill pipe.
Baker Atlas’ primary formation evaluation and wireline 

completion and perforating competitors are Schlumberger, Halli-
burton Company (“Halliburton”), Precision Drilling Corporation, 
Expro International Group PLC and various other competitors.

Key business drivers for Baker Atlas include the number of 
drilling and workover rigs operating, as well as the current and 
expected future price of both oil and natural gas.

Baker Hughes Drilling Fluids
Baker Hughes Drilling Fluids is a major provider of drilling 

fluids (also called “mud”), and a provider of completion fluids 
(also called “brines”) and fluids environmental services. Drilling 
fluids are an important component of the drilling process and 
are pumped from the surface through the drill string, exiting 
nozzles in the drill bit and traveling back up the wellbore 
where the fluids are recycled. This process cleans the bottom 
of the well by transporting the cuttings to the surface while 
also cooling and lubricating the bit and drill string. Drilling flu-
ids typically contain barite or bentonite to give them weight 
that enables the fluid to hold the wellbore open and stabilize 
it. Additionally, the fluids control downhole pressures and seal 
porous sections of the wellbore. To ensure maximum efficiency 
and wellbore stability, drilling fluids are often customized by 
the wellsite engineer. For drilling through the reservoir itself, 
Baker Hughes Drilling Fluids’ drill-in or completion fluids pos-
sess properties that minimize formation damage. The fluids 
environmental services of Baker Hughes Drilling Fluids also 
provide equipment and services to separate the drill cuttings 
from the drilling fluids and re-inject the processed cuttings into 
a specially prepared well, or to transport and dispose of the 
cuttings by other means.

The main driver of customer purchasing decisions in drill-
ing fluids is cost efficiency. Specific opportunities for competi-
tive differentiation include:
• improvements in drilling efficiency,
• minimizing formation damage, and
• the environmentally safe handling and disposal of drilling 

fluids and cuttings.
Baker Hughes Drilling Fluids’ primary competitors include 

Halliburton, M-I, LLC, Newpark Resources, Inc., TETRA Tech-
nologies, Inc. and various other competitors.

Key business drivers for Baker Hughes Drilling Fluids 
include the number of drilling rigs operating, as well as the 
current and expected future price of both oil and natural gas.

Baker Oil Tools
Baker Oil Tools is a leading provider of downhole comple-

tion, workover and fishing equipment and services.
Completions. The economic success of a well depends in 

large part on how the well is completed. Completions are the 
equipment installed in a well after it is drilled to allow the effi-
cient and safe production of oil and natural gas to the surface. 
Baker Oil Tools’ completion systems are matched to the forma-
tion and reservoir for optimum production and can employ a 
variety of products and services including:
• Liner hangers, which suspend a section of steel casing 

(also called a liner) inside the bottom of the previous sec-
tion of casing. Its expandable slips grip the inside of the 
casing and support the weight of the liner below.

• Packers, which seal the annular space between the steel pro-
duction tubing and the casing. These tools control the flow 
of fluids in the well and protect the casing above and below 
from reservoir pressures and corrosive formation fluids.

• Flow control equipment, which controls and adjusts the 
flow of downhole fluids. Typical flow control devices 
include sliding sleeves, which can be opened or closed 
to allow or limit production from a particular portion of 
a reservoir. Flow control can be accomplished from the  
surface via wireline or downhole via hydraulic or electric 
motor-based automated systems.

• Subsurface safety valves, which shut off all flow of fluids 
to the surface in the event of an emergency, thus saving 
the well and preventing pollution of the environment. 
These valves are required in substantially all offshore wells.

• Sand control equipment, which includes gravel pack tools, 
sand screens and fracturing fluids. These tools and related ser-
vices are used in loosely consolidated formations to prevent 
the production of formation sand with the hydrocarbons.

• Advanced completion technologies, which include multilat-
eral systems, intelligent well systems and expandable metal 
technologies. Multilateral completion systems enable two 
or more zones to be produced from a single well, using 
multiple horizontal branches. Intelligent Completions® use 
real-time, remotely operated downhole systems to control 
the flow of hydrocarbons from one or more zones. Expand-
able metal technology involves the permanent downhole 
expansion of a variety of tubular products used in drilling, 
completion and well remediation applications.
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Workovers. Workover products and services seek to 
improve, maintain or restore economical production from an 
already producing well. In this area, Baker Oil Tools provides 
service tools and inflatable products to repair and stimulate 
new and existing wells. Service tools function as surface- 
activated, downhole sealing and anchoring devices to isolate  
a portion of the wellbore. Service tool applications range from 
treating and cleaning to testing components from the well-
head to the perforations. Service tools also refer to tools and 
systems that are used for temporary or permanent well aban-
donment. An inflatable packer expands to set in pipe that is 
much larger than the outside diameter of the packer itself, so 
it can run through a restriction in the well and then set in the 
larger diameter below. Inflatable packers can also set in “open 
hole” as opposed to conventional tools which can only be set 
inside casing. Thru-tubing inflatables enable remedial operations 
in producing wells. This results in cost savings as rig require-
ments are lower and workovers can occur without having to 
remove the completion, which can be very costly.

Fishing. Baker Oil Tools is a leading provider of specialized 
fishing services and equipment that are used to locate, dis-
lodge and retrieve damaged or stuck pipe, tools or other 
objects from inside the wellbore, often thousands of feet 
below the surface. Other fishing services include cleaning  
wellbores and milling windows in the casing to drill a “side-
track” or multilateral well.

The main drivers of customer purchasing decisions in com-
pletions, workovers and fishing are superior wellsite service 
execution and value-adding technologies that improve produc-
tion rates, protect the reservoir from damage and reduce cost. 
Specific opportunities for competitive differentiation include:
• the engineering and manufacturing of superior 

quality products,
• reduced well construction costs,
• enhanced production and ultimate recovery,
• minimized risks, and
• reliable performance over the life of the well, particularly 

in harsh environments and critical wells.
Baker Oil Tools’ primary competitors in completions are 

Halliburton, Schlumberger, Weatherford International Ltd. 
(“Weatherford”), BJ Services Company and various other com-
petitors. Its primary competitors in workover are Halliburton, 
Schlumberger, Weatherford and various other competitors. Its 
major competitors in fishing are Smith International, Inc. 
(“Smith”), Weatherford and various other competitors.

Key business drivers for Baker Oil Tools include the number 
of drilling and workover rigs operating, as well as the current 
and expected future price of both oil and natural gas.

Baker Petrolite
Baker Petrolite is a leading provider of specialty chemicals 

to a number of industries, primarily oil and natural gas pro-
duction, but also including refining, pipeline transportation, 
petrochemical, agricultural and iron and steel manufacturing. 
Additionally, Baker Petrolite provides polymer-based products 
to a broad range of industrial and consumer markets.

Baker Petrolite provides oilfield chemical programs for 
drilling, well stimulation, production, pipeline transportation 
and maintenance programs. Its products provide measurable 
increases in productivity, decreases in operating and mainte-
nance cost and solutions to environmental problems. Examples 
of specialty oilfield chemical programs include:
• Hydrate inhibitors – Natural gas hydrates are solid ice-like 

crystals that can form in production flowlines and tubing, 
causing shutdowns and the need for system maintenance. 
Subsea wells and flowlines, particularly in deepwater envi-
ronments, are especially susceptible to hydrates.

• Paraffin inhibitors – The liquid hydrocarbons produced 
from many oil and natural gas reservoirs become unstable 
soon after leaving the formation. Changing conditions, 
including decreases in temperature and pressure, can 
cause certain hydrocarbons in the produced fluids to crys-
tallize and deposit on the walls of the well’s tubing, flow 
lines and surface equipment. These deposits are commonly 
referred to as paraffin. Baker Petrolite offers solvents that 
remove the deposits, as well as inhibitors that prevent new 
deposits from forming.

• Scale inhibitors – Unlike paraffin deposits that originate 
from organic material in the produced hydrocarbons, scale 
deposits come from mineral-based contaminants in water 
that are produced from the formation as the water under-
goes changes in temperature or pressure. Similar to paraffin, 
scale deposits can clog the production system. Treatments 
prevent and remove deposits in production systems.

• Corrosion inhibitors – Another problem caused by water 
mixed with downhole hydrocarbons is corrosion of the 
well’s tubulars and other production equipment. Corrosion 
can also be caused by dissolved hydrogen sulfide (“H2S”) 
gas which reacts with the iron in tubulars, valves and other 
equipment, potentially causing failures and leaks. Addi-
tionally, the reaction creates iron sulfide which can impair 
treating systems and cause blockages. Baker Petrolite 
offers a variety of corrosion inhibitors and H2S scavengers.

• Emulsion breakers – Water and oil typically do not mix, 
but water present in the reservoir and co-produced with 
oil can often become emulsified, or mixed, causing prob-
lems for oil and natural gas producers. Baker Petrolite 
offers emulsion breakers which allow the water compo-
nent of the emulsion to be separated from the oil.
For the refining industry, Baker Petrolite offers various 

process and water treatment programs, as well as finished 
fuel additives. Examples include programs to remove salt from 
crude oil and environmentally friendly cleaners that decontami-
nate refinery equipment and petrochemical vessels at a lower 
cost than other methods.
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Through its Pipeline Management Group (“PMG”), Baker 
Petrolite also offers a variety of products and services for the 
pipeline transportation industry. To improve efficiency, Baker 
Petrolite offers custom turnkey cleaning programs that combine 
chemical treatments with brush and scraper usage. Efficiency 
can also be improved by adding polymer-based drag reduction 
agents to reduce the slowing effects of friction between the 
pipeline walls and the fluids within, thus increasing through-
put and pipeline capacity. Additional services allow pipelines to 
operate more safely. These include inspection and internal cor-
rosion assessment technologies, which physically confirm the 
structural integrity of the pipeline. In addition, PMG’s flow-
modeling capabilities can identify high-risk segments of a pipe-
line to ensure proper mitigation programs are in place.

Baker Petrolite also provides chemical technology solutions 
to other industrial markets throughout the world, including 
petrochemicals, fuel additives, plastics, imaging, adhesives, 
steel and crop protection.

The main driver of customer purchasing decisions in  
specialty chemicals is superior application of technology and 
service delivery. Specific opportunities for competitive differen-
tiation include:
• improved levels of production or throughput,
• reduced maintenance costs and frequency,
• lower treatment costs,
• lower treatment intervals, and
• successful resolution of environmental issues.

Baker Petrolite’s primary oilfield specialty chemical compet-
itors are GE Water Technologies, Nalco Company, Champion 
Technologies and various other competitors.

Key business drivers for Baker Petrolite include oil and  
natural gas production levels, the number of producing wells, 
and the current and expected future price of both oil and  
natural gas.

Centrilift
Centrilift is a leading manufacturer and supplier of electri-

cal submersible pump systems (“ESPs”) and progressing cavity 
pump systems (“PCPs”). 

Electrical Submersible Pump Systems. ESPs lift high 
quantities of oil or oil and water from wells that do not flow 
under their own pressure. These “artificial lift” systems con-
sist of a centrifugal pump and electric motor installed in the 
wellbore, armored electric cabling to provide power to the 
downhole motor and a surface controller. Centrilift designs, 
manufactures, markets and installs all the components of ESP 
systems and also offers modeling software to size ESPs and 
simulate operating performance. ESPs may be used in onshore 
or offshore applications and are primarily used in mature oil 
producing reservoirs.

Progressing Cavity Pump Systems. PCPs are a form of 
artificial lift comprised of a downhole progressing cavity pump 
powered by either a downhole electric motor or a rod turned 
by a motor on the surface. PCP systems are preferred when the 
fluid to be lifted is viscous or when the volume is significantly 
less than could be economically lifted with an ESP system. 

Specific opportunities for competitive differentiation 
include:
• system reliability,
• system run-life,
• optimizing production,
• operating efficiency, and
• service delivery.

Centrilift’s primary competitors in the ESP market are  
Schlumberger, John Wood Group PLC and various other  
competitors and in the PCP market are Weatherford,  
Robbins & Myers, Inc. and various other competitors.

Key business drivers for Centrilift include oil production 
levels, as well as the current and expected future price of oil, 
the volume of water produced in mature basins and the 
removal of water from coal bed methane wells.

Hughes Christensen
Hughes Christensen is a leading manufacturer and supplier 

of drill bits, primarily Tricone® roller cone bits and fixed-cutter 
polycrystalline diamond compact (“PDC”) bits, to the world-
wide oil and natural gas industry. The primary objective of a 
drill bit is to drill a hole as efficiently as possible.

Tricone® Bits. Tricone® drill bits employ either hardened 
steel teeth or tungsten carbide insert cutting structures 
mounted on three rotating cones. These bits work by crushing 
and shearing the formation rock as they are turned. Tricone® 
drill bits have a wide application range.

PDC Bits. PDC (also known as “Diamond”) bits use fixed 
position cutters that shear the formation rock with a milling 
action as they are turned. In many softer and less variable 
applications, PDC bits offer higher penetration rates and a lon-
ger life than Tricone® bits. A rental market has developed for 
PDC bits as improvements in bit life and bit repairs allow a bit 
to be used to drill multiple wells.

The main driver of customer purchasing decisions in drill 
bits is the value added, usually measured in terms of savings in 
total operating costs per distance drilled. Specific opportunities 
for competitive differentiation include:
• improving the rate of penetration,
• extending bit life, and
• selecting the optimal bit for each section to be drilled.

Hughes Christensen’s primary competitors in the oil  
and natural gas drill bit market are Smith, Halliburton, Grant 
Prideco, Inc. and various other competitors.

Key business drivers for Hughes Christensen include the 
number of drilling rigs operating, as well as the current and 
expected future price of both oil and natural gas.

INTEQ
INTEQ is a leading supplier of drilling and evaluation  

services, which include directional drilling, measurement- 
while-drilling (“MWD”) and LWD services. 

Directional Drilling. Directional drilling services are used 
to guide a well along a predetermined path to optimally 
recover hydrocarbons from the reservoir. These services are 
used to accurately drill vertical wells, deviated or directional 
wells (which deviate from vertical by a planned angle and 
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direction), horizontal wells (which are sections of wells drilled 
perpendicular or nearly perpendicular to vertical) and extended 
reach wells.

INTEQ is a leading supplier of both conventional and rotary 
based directional drilling systems. Conventional directional 
drilling systems employ a downhole motor which turns the 
drill bit independently of drill string rotation from the surface. 
Placed just above the bit, a steerable motor assembly has a 
bend in its housing that is oriented to steer the well’s course. 
During the “rotary” mode, the entire drill string is rotated 
from the surface, negating the effect of this bend and causing 
the bit to drill on a straight course. During the “sliding” mode, 
drill string rotation is stopped and a “mud” motor (which con-
verts hydraulic energy from the drilling fluids being pumped 
through the drill string into rotational energy at the bit) allows 
the bit to drill in the planned direction by orienting its angled 
housing, gradually guiding the wellbore through an arc.

INTEQ was a pioneer and is a leader in the development 
and use of automated rotary steerable technology. In rotary 
steerable environments, the entire drill string is turned from 
the surface to supply energy to the bit. Unlike conventional 
systems, INTEQ’s AutoTrak® rotary steerable system changes 
the trajectory of the well using three pads that push against 
the wellbore from a non-rotating sleeve and is controlled by a 
downhole guidance system.

Measurement-While-Drilling. Directional drilling systems 
need real-time measurements of the location and orientation 
of the bottom hole assembly to operate effectively. INTEQ’s 
MWD systems are downhole tools that provide this directional 
information, which is necessary to adjust the drilling process 
and guide the wellbore to a specific target. The AutoTrak® 
rotary steerable system has these MWD systems built in, 
allowing the tool to automatically alter its course based on 
a planned trajectory.

Logging-While-Drilling. LWD is a variation of MWD in 
which the LWD tool gathers information on the petrophysical 
properties of the formation through which the wellbore is 
being drilled. Many LWD measurements are the same as those 
taken via wireline; however, taking them in real-time often 
allows for greater accuracy, as measurements occur before 
any damage has been sustained by the reservoir as a result 
of the drilling process. Real-time measurements also enable 
“geo-steering” where geological markers identified by LWD 
tools are used to guide the bit and assure placement of the 
wellbore in the optimal location.

In both MWD and LWD systems, surface communication 
with the tool is achieved through mud-pulse telemetry, which 
uses pulse signals (pressure changes in the drilling fluid traveling 
through the drill string) to communicate the operating condi-
tions and location of the bottom hole assembly to the surface. 
The information transmitted is used to maximize the efficiency 
of the drilling process, update and refine the reservoir model 
and steer the well into the optimal location in the reservoir.

As part of INTEQ’s mud logging services, engineers monitor 
the interaction between the drilling fluid and the formation and 
perform laboratory analysis of drilling fluids and examinations 
of the drill cuttings to detect the presence of hydrocarbons and 
identify the different geological layers penetrated by the drill bit.

The main drivers of customer purchasing decisions in these 
areas are the value added by technology and the reliability and 
durability of the tools used in these operations. Specific oppor-
tunities for competitive differentiation include:
• the sophistication and accuracy of measurements,
• the efficiency of the drilling process,
• equipment reliability,
• the optimal placement of the wellbore in the reservoir, and
• the quality of the wellbore.

INTEQ’s primary competitors in drilling and evaluation services 
are Halliburton, Schlumberger and various other competitors.

Key business drivers for INTEQ include the number of drill-
ing rigs operating, as well as the current and expected future 
price of both oil and natural gas.

WesternGeco
WesternGeco is a seismic venture in which we own 30% 

and Schlumberger owns 70%. WesternGeco provides compre-
hensive worldwide reservoir imaging, monitoring and develop-
ment services, with one of the most extensive seismic crews 
and data processing centers in the industry, as well as one of 
the world’s largest multiclient seismic libraries. Services range 
from 3D and time-lapse (4D) seismic surveys to multicompo-
nent surveys for delineating prospects and reservoir manage-
ment. WesternGeco is positioned to meet the full range of 
customer needs in land, marine, and shallow-water transition-
zone areas.

Seismic solutions include proprietary Q-Technology* for 
enhanced reservoir description, characterization and monitoring 
throughout the life of the field – from exploration through 
enhanced recovery. Q* single-sensor hardware and software are 
setting a new quality and capability standard for seismic solutions.

WesternGeco’s Omega* Seismic Processing System encom-
passes one of the industry’s most advanced and comprehensive 
suites of algorithms and runs on multiplatform technology, 
ensuring timely turnaround for even the most complex pro-
cessing projects. WesternGeco’s major competitors are Com-
pagnie Generale de Geophysique, Veritas DGC, Inc. and 
Petroleum Geo-Services ASA. 

For additional information related to WesternGeco, see the 
“Related Party Transactions” section in Item 7 and Note 8 of 
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8, both 
contained herein.
* Mark of WesternGeco

Marketing, Competition and Economic Conditions
We market our products and services on a product line 

basis primarily through our own sales organizations, although 
certain of our products and services are marketed through 
supply stores, independent distributors, agents, licensees or 
sales representatives. We ordinarily provide technical and advi-
sory services to assist in our customers’ use of our products 
and services. Stock points and service centers for our products 
and services are located in areas of drilling and production 
activity throughout the world.

Our products and services are sold in highly competitive 
markets, and revenues and earnings can be affected by 
changes in competitive prices, fluctuations in the level of  
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drilling, workover and completion activity in major markets, 
general economic conditions, foreign currency exchange fluctu-
ations and governmental regulation. We compete with the oil 
and natural gas industry’s largest diversified oilfield services 
providers, as well as many small companies. We believe that 
the principal competitive factors in our industries are product 
and service quality, availability and reliability, health, safety and 
environmental standards, technical proficiency and price.

Further information is contained in “Item 7. Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results  
of Operations.”

International Operations
We operate in over 90 countries worldwide, and our 

operations are subject to the risks inherent in doing business 
in multiple countries with various laws and differing political 
environments. These risks include, but are not limited to: war, 
boycotts, political and economic changes, corruption, terrorism, 
expropriation, foreign currency exchange controls, taxes and 
changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Although it is 
impossible to predict the likelihood of such occurrences or 
their effect on us, division and corporate management routinely 
evaluate these risks and take appropriate actions to mitigate the 
risks where possible. However, there can be no assurance that 
an occurrence of any one or more of these events would not 
have a material adverse effect on our operations.

Further information is contained in “Item 7. Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results 
of Operations.”

Research and Development; Patents
We are engaged in research and development activities 

directed primarily toward the improvement of existing prod-
ucts and services, the design of specialized products to meet 
specific customer needs and the development of new products, 
processes and services. For information regarding the amounts 
of research and development expense in each of the three years 
in the period ended December 31, 2004, see Note 17 of the 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 herein.

We have followed a policy of seeking patent and trade-
mark protection both inside and outside the United States for 
products and methods that appear to have commercial signifi-
cance. We believe our patents and trademarks to be adequate 
for the conduct of our business, and aggressively pursue pro-
tection of our patents against patent infringement worldwide. 
While we regard patent and trademark protection as impor-
tant to our business and future prospects, we consider our 
established reputation, the reliability and quality of our products 
and the technical skills of our personnel to be more important. 
No single patent or trademark is considered to be of a critical 
nature to our business.

Raw Materials
We purchase various raw materials and component parts 

for use in manufacturing our products. The principal materials 
we purchase are steel alloys (including chromium and nickel), 
titanium, beryllium, copper, tungsten carbide, synthetic and 

natural diamonds, printed circuit boards and other electronic 
components and hydrocarbon-based chemical feed stocks. All 
of these materials are available from numerous sources and 
could be subject to rising costs. We have not experienced any 
significant shortages of these materials and normally do not 
carry inventories of such materials in excess of those reasonably 
required to meet our production schedules. We do not expect 
any significant interruptions in supply, but there can be no 
assurance that there will be no price or supply issues over the 
long term.

Other Developments
In October 2003, we signed a definitive agreement for 

the sale of BIRD Machine (“BIRD”), the remaining division of 
the former Process segment, and recorded charges totaling 
$37.4 million, net of tax of $10.9 million, which consisted of 
a loss of $13.5 million on the write down of BIRD to fair value, 
$6.2 million of severance and warranty accruals and a loss of 
$17.7 million related to the recognition of cumulative foreign 
currency translation adjustments into earnings. In January 2004, 
we completed the sale of BIRD and recorded an additional loss 
on the sale of $0.5 million with no tax benefit. We received 
$5.6 million in proceeds, which were subject to post-closing 
adjustments to the purchase price, and retained certain 
accounts receivable, inventories and other assets. During 
the second quarter of 2004, we made a net payment of 
$6.8 million to the buyer in settlement of the final purchase 
price adjustments. The adjustments were the result of changes 
in the value of assets sold to and liabilities assumed by the 
buyer between the date the initial sales price was negotiated 
and the closing of the sale.

In February 2004, we completed the sale of our minority 
interest in Petreco International for $35.8 million, of which 
$7.4 million is held in escrow pending the outcome of poten-
tial indemnification obligations pursuant to the sales agree-
ment. We recognized a gain on the sale of $1.3 million, net 
of tax of $1.5 million.

In September 2004, we completed the sale of Baker 
Hughes Mining Tools, a product line group within the Oilfield 
segment that manufactured rotary drill bits used in the mining 
industry, for $31.5 million. We recorded a gain on the sale of 
$0.2 million, net of tax of $3.6 million, which consisted of a 
gain on disposal of $6.8 million offset by a loss of $6.6 million 
related to the recognition of the cumulative foreign currency 
translation adjustments into earnings.

Employees
At December 31, 2004, we had approximately 26,900 

employees, as compared with approximately 26,500 employees 
at December 31, 2003. Approximately 2,300 of these employees 
are represented under collective bargaining agreements or sim-
ilar-type labor arrangements, of which the majority are outside 
the U.S. Based upon the geographic diversification of these 
employees, we believe any risk of loss from employee strikes 
or other collective actions would not be material to the con-
duct of our operations taken as a whole. We believe that our 
relations with our employees are good.
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Executive Officers
The following table shows as of February 28, 2005, the 

name of each of our executive officers, together with his age 
and all offices presently held.

Name Age
Chad C. Deaton 52

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of 
the Company since October 2004. President and Chief 
Executive Officer of Hanover Compressor Company 
from August 2002 to October 2004. Senior Advisor to 
Schlumberger Oilfield Services from 1999 to September 
2001. Served as an Executive Vice President of Schlum-
berger from 1998 to 1999. Employed by the Company 
in 2004. 

James R. Clark 54

President and Chief Operating Officer of the Company 
since February 2004. Vice President, Marketing and 
Technology of the Company from August 2003 to Feb-
ruary 2004. Vice President of the Company and Presi-
dent of Baker Petrolite Corporation from 2001 to 2003. 
President and Chief Executive Officer of Consolidated 
Equipment Companies, Inc. from 2000 to 2001 and 
President of Sperry-Sun from 1996 to 1999. Employed 
by the Company in 2001.

G. Stephen Finley 54

Senior Vice President – Finance and Administration 
and Chief Financial Officer of the Company since 1999. 
Employed as Senior Vice President and Chief Adminis-
trative Officer of the Company from 1995 to 1999, 
Controller from 1987 to 1993 and Vice President from 
1990 to 1995. Served as Chief Financial Officer of  
Baker Hughes Oilfield Operations from 1993 to 1995. 
Employed by the Company in 1982.

Alan R. Crain, Jr. 53

Vice President and General Counsel of the Company 
since October 2000. Executive Vice President, General 
Counsel and Secretary of Crown, Cork & Seal Company, 
Inc. from 1999 to 2000. Vice President and General 
Counsel, 1996 to 1999, and Assistant General Counsel, 
1988 to 1996, of Union Texas Petroleum Holding, Inc. 
Employed by the Company in 2000.

Greg Nakanishi 53

Vice President, Human Resources of the Company 
since November 2000. Employed as President of GN 
Resources from 1989 to 2000. Employed by the Com-
pany in 2000.

David H. Barr 55

Group President of Drilling and Evaluation since 2005 
and Vice President of the Company since 2000. Served 
as President of Baker Atlas from 2000 to 2005. Served 
as Vice President, Supply Chain Management, of Cooper 
Cameron from 1999 to 2000. Mr. Barr also held the fol-
lowing positions with the Company: Vice President, 
Business Process Development, from 1997 to 1998 and 
the following positions with Hughes Tool Company/
Hughes Christensen: Vice President, Production and 
Technology, from 1994 to 1997; Vice President, Dia-
mond Products, from 1993 to 1994; Vice President, 
Eastern Hemisphere Operations, from 1990 to 1993 and 
Vice President, North American Operations, from 1988 
to 1990. Employed by the Company in 1972.

Douglas J. Wall 52

Group President of Completions and Production since 
2005 and Vice President of the Company since 1997. 
Served as President of Baker Oil Tools from 2003 to 
2005 and President of Hughes Christensen from 1997  
to 2003. Served as President and Chief Executive Officer  
of Western Rock Bit Company Limited, Hughes Chris-
tensen’s former distributor in Canada, from 1991 to 
1997. Previously employed as General Manager of  
Century Valve Company from 1989 to 1991 and Vice 
President, Contracts and Marketing, of Adeco Drilling  
& Engineering from 1980 to 1989. Employed by the 
Company in 1997.

Ray A. Ballantyne 55

Vice President of the Company since 1998 and Presi-
dent, INTEQ since 1999. Employed as Vice President, 
Marketing, Technology and Business Development, 
of the Company from 1998 to 1999; Vice President, 
Worldwide Marketing, of Baker Oil Tools from 1992 
to 1998 and Vice President, International Operations, 
of Baker Service Tools, from 1989 to 1992. Employed 
by the Company in 1975.

Chris P. Beaver 47

Vice President of the Company and President of Baker 
Oil Tools since 2005. Served as Vice President of Finance 
for Baker Petrolite from 2002 to 2005; Director of 
Finance and Controller at INTEQ from 1999 to 2002; 
Controller at Hughes Christensen from 1994 to 1999. 
Employed in various accounting and finance positions  
at Hughes Christensen in the Eastern Hemisphere from 
1985 to 1994. Employed by the Company in 1985.
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Paul S. Butero 48

Vice President of the Company and President of Hughes 
Christensen since 2005. Employed as Vice President, 
Marketing, of Hughes Christensen from 2001 to 2005 
and as Region Manager for various Hughes Christensen 
areas (both in the United States and the Eastern Hemi-
sphere) from 1989 to 2001. Employed by the Company 
in 1981.

Martin S. Craighead 45

Vice President of the Company and President of Baker 
Atlas since 2005. Served as Vice President of Worldwide 
Operations for Baker Atlas from 2003 to 2005 and  
Vice President, Marketing and Business Development  
for Baker Atlas from 2001 to 2003; Region Manager  
for Baker Atlas in Latin America and Asia and Region 
Manager for E&P Solutions from 1995 to 2001.
Employed by BJ Services Company as a Region Engineer 
from 1982 to 1986. Employed by the Company in 1986.

William P. Faubel 49

Vice President of the Company and President of Centri-
lift since 2001. Employed as Vice President, Marketing, 
of Hughes Christensen from 1994 to 2001 and as 
Region Manager for various Hughes Christensen areas 
(both domestic and international) from 1986 to 1994. 
Employed by the Company in 1977.

Edwin C. Howell 57

Vice President of the Company since 1995 and President 
of Baker Petrolite Corporation since 2003. President of 
Baker Oil Tools from 1992 to 2003. Employed as Presi-
dent of Baker Service Tools from 1989 to 1992 and 
Vice President – General Manager of Baker Performance 
Chemicals (the predecessor of Baker Petrolite) from 
1984 to 1989. Employed by the Company in 1975.

Alan J. Keifer 50

Vice President and Controller of the Company since 
July 1999. Employed as Western Hemisphere Controller 
of Baker Oil Tools from 1997 to 1999 and Director of 
Corporate Audit for the Company from 1990 to 1996. 
Employed by the Company in 1990.

Jay G. Martin 53

Vice President, Chief Compliance Officer and Senior 
Deputy General Counsel since July 2004. Shareholder at 
Winstead Sechrest & Minick P.C. from 2001 to July 
2004. Partner, Phelps Dunbar from 2000 to 2001 and 
Partner, Andrews & Kurth from 1996 to 2000. Employed 
by the Company in 2004.

John A. O’Donnell 57

Vice President of the Company since 1998 and President 
of Baker Hughes Drilling Fluids since 2004. Employed 
as Vice President, Business Process Development of the 
Company from 1998 to 2002; Vice President, Manufac-
turing, of Baker Oil Tools from 1990 to 1998 and Plant 
Manager of Hughes Tool Company from 1988 to 1990. 
Employed by the Company in 1975.

There are no family relationships among our executive officers.

Environmental Matters
We are committed to the health and safety of people,  

protection of the environment and compliance with laws,  
regulations and our policies. Our past and present operations 
include activities that are subject to domestic (including 
U.S. federal, state and local) and international regulations 
with regard to air and water quality and other environmental 
matters. We believe we are in substantial compliance with these 
regulations. Regulation in this area continues to evolve, and 
changes in standards of enforcement of existing regulations, 
as well as the enactment and enforcement of new legislation, 
may require us and our customers to modify, supplement or 
replace equipment or facilities or to change or discontinue 
present methods of operation.

We are involved in voluntary remediation projects at some 
of our present and former manufacturing facilities, the major-
ity of which relate to properties obtained in acquisitions or 
to sites no longer actively used in operations. On rare occa-
sions, remediation activities are conducted as specified by a 
government agency-issued consent decree or agreed order. 
Remediation costs are accrued based on estimates of probable 
exposure using currently available facts, existing environmental 
permits, technology and presently enacted laws and regula-
tions. For sites where we are primarily responsible for the 
remediation, our cost estimates are developed based on  
internal evaluations and are not discounted. Such accruals 
are recorded when it is probable that we will be obligated 
to pay amounts for environmental site evaluation, remediation 
or related activities, and such amounts can be reasonably esti-
mated. If the obligation can only be estimated within a range, 
we accrue the minimum amount in the range. Such accruals 
are recorded even if significant uncertainties exist over the  
ultimate cost of the remediation. Ongoing environmental  
compliance costs, such as obtaining environmental permits, 
installation of pollution control equipment and waste disposal, 
are expensed as incurred.

During the year ended December 31, 2004, we spent 
approximately $24.4 million to comply with domestic and  
international standards regulating the discharge of materials 
into the environment or otherwise relating to the protection  
of the environment (collectively, “Environmental Regulations”). 
This cost includes the total spent on remediation projects at 
current or former sites, Superfund projects and environmental 
compliance activities, exclusive of capital. In 2005, we expect to 
spend approximately $26.4 million to comply with Environmental 
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Regulations. Based upon current information, we believe that 
our compliance with Environmental Regulations will not have a 
material adverse effect upon our capital expenditures, earnings 
or competitive position because we have either established ade-
quate reserves or our cost for that compliance is not expected 
to be material to our consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended December 31, 2004, we incurred 
approximately $2.3 million in capital expenditures for environ-
mental control equipment, and we estimate we will incur 
approximately $3.9 million during 2005. We believe these capital 
expenditures for environmental control equipment will not have 
a material adverse effect upon our consolidated financial state-
ments because the aggregate amount of these expenditures is 
not expected to be material.

The Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensa-
tion and Liability Act (known as “Superfund” or “CERCLA”) 
imposes liability for the release of a “hazardous substance” 
into the environment. Superfund liability is imposed without 
regard to fault and even if the waste disposal was in compli-
ance with laws and regulations. We have been identified as 
a potentially responsible party (“PRP”) in remedial activities 
related to various Superfund sites, and we accrue our share of 
the estimated remediation costs of the site based on the ratio 
of the estimated volume of waste we contributed to the site to 
the total volume of waste disposed at the site. With the joint 
and several liability imposed under Superfund, a PRP may be 
required to pay more than its proportional share of such costs.

We have been identified as PRPs at various Superfund sites 
discussed below. The United States Environmental Protection 
Agency (the “EPA”) and appropriate state agencies supervise 
investigative and cleanup activities at these sites. At Decem-
ber 31, 2004, we have accrued $3.6 million of remediation 
costs related to the sites detailed below. When used in the 
descriptions of the sites below, the word de minimis refers to the 
smallest PRPs, whose contribution rate is usually less than 1%.
(a) Baker Petrolite, Hughes Christensen, an INTEQ predecessor 

entity, Baker Oil Tools and a former subsidiary were named 
in April 1984 as PRPs at the Sheridan Superfund Site 
located in Hempstead, Texas. The Texas Commission on 
Environmental Quality (“TCEQ”) is overseeing the remedial 
work at this site. The Sheridan Site Trust was formed to 
manage the site remediation and we participate as a 
member. Based on the use of new remedial technologies, 
the 2004 cost projections for full remediation have been 
reduced from $30 million to $6 million, of which $1.0 mil-
lion has been collected. Our contribution is approximately 
1.8% of the estimated $5 million in remaining costs.

(b) In December 1987, one of our former subsidiaries was 
named a respondent in an EPA Administrative Order for 
Remedial Design and Remedial Action associated with 
the Middlefield-Ellis-Whisman Study Area, an eight square 
mile soil and groundwater contamination site located in 
Mountain View, California. As a result of the environmen-
tal investigations and a resulting report delivered to the 
EPA in September 1991, the EPA has informed us that no 
further work needs to be performed on the site. In fact, 

the EPA has indicated that it does not believe there is a 
contaminant source on the property. We signed a settle-
ment agreement in March 2004, which transferred any 
future liability for investigation and remediation at the site 
to the PRP group. The settlement amount was not material.

(c) In 1997, we entered into a settlement agreement with 
Prudential Insurance Company (“Prudential”) regarding 
cost recovery for the San Fernando Valley – Glendale 
Superfund. One of our predecessors operated on the  
Prudential property in Glendale. Prudential was identified 
as a PRP for the Glendale Superfund. Prudential instituted 
legal proceedings against us for cost recovery under CER-
CLA. Without any admission of liability, we agreed to pay 
40% of Prudential’s costs attributed to cleanup at the site, 
limited to a cap of $0.3 million. A pump and treat system 
was selected as the cleanup remedy at Glendale, and it is 
expected to operate until 2012. We continue to contribute 
our portion of ongoing assessments to fund this remedia-
tion strategy.

(d) In June 1999, the EPA named a Hughes Christensen prede-
cessor as a PRP at the Li Tungsten Site in Glen Cove, New 
York. We contributed a de minimis amount of hazardous 
substances to the site. In December 2004, the EPA issued 
us a special de minimis settlement offer based on the fact 
that our contribution was limited to metals contamination, 
not radiological contamination, at the site. The settlement 
offer has been signed and is not material.

(e) In January 1999, Baker Oil Tools, Baker Petrolite and pre-
decessor entities of Baker Petrolite were named as PRPs by 
the State of California’s Department of Toxic Substances 
Control for the Gibson site in Bakersfield, California. The 
cost estimate for remediation of the site is approximately 
$14 million. The combined volume that we contributed to 
the site is estimated to be less than 0.5% for liquids and 
0.25% for solids.

(f) In 2001, a Hughes Christensen predecessor, Baker Oil 
Tools, INTEQ and one of our former subsidiaries were 
named as PRPs in the Force Road State Superfund Site 
located in Brazoria County, Texas. The TCEQ is overseeing 
the investigation and remediation at the Force Road State 
Site. We participate as a member of the technical commit-
tee to effectively manage the project, since our contribu-
tion is estimated to be 71%. The initial investigation at the 
site is complete and a detailed report has been submitted 
to the TCEQ along with a proposed work plan. The most 
current cost projections for closure of the site are in the 
range of $5 million to $7 million; however, this projection 
may change once the remedial options are fully evaluated.

(g) In 2002, Baker Petrolite predecessors, Hughes Christensen 
predecessors and two of our former subsidiaries were 
identified as PRPs for the Malone site located on Campbell 
Bayou Road in Texas City, Texas. The EPA oversees the 
investigation and remediation of the Malone site. The EPA 
has engaged in some emergency removal actions at the 
site. The investigation is underway and when complete, 
remedial options will be developed and submitted to the 
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EPA for evaluation. The initial estimate for cleanup at the 
Malone site is $82 million; however, this is subject to 
change since the final remedial plan has not been selected. 
Our total contribution is estimated at approximately 1.7%.

(h) In January 2003, Western Atlas International, Inc., its pre-
decessor companies and Baker Hughes Oilfield Operations, 
Inc. were identified as PRPs in the Gulf Nuclear Superfund 
site in Odessa, Texas. The EPA conducted an emergency 
removal at the site in 2000. Total investigation and 
cleanup costs are estimated by the EPA to be approxi-
mately $24 million. A preliminary settlement proposal 
has been issued for review, and our settlement cost is 
not expected to be material.

(i) In September 2003, we were identified as a de minimis 
PRP by the EPA for the Operating Industries, Inc. Super-
fund site in Monterrey Park, California. A settlement offer 
to all de minimis parties was delayed, but is expected in 
2005. The EPA and Steering Committee estimate cleanup 
costs in excess of $650 million. As of January 2005, there 
was insufficient information to estimate our potential con-
tribution to these cleanup costs.

(j) In October 2003, Baker Petrolite was notified by the EPA 
of their potential involvement at the Cooper Drum Super-
fund site located in South Gate, California. At this time 
there is no estimate available for cleanup costs and, 
accordingly, there is insufficient information to estimate 
our potential contribution.

(k) In April 2004, we were notified that Baker Petrolite was 
included in the Container Recycling Superfund site in  
Kansas City, Kansas. We are a major PRP at the site, which 
was a former drum recycler used by a predecessor com-
pany to Baker Petrolite. The EPA estimates outstanding 
remedial costs of $1.7 million, with our contribution esti-
mated to be 4% to 7% of these costs.
In addition to the sites mentioned above, there are four 

Superfund sites where we have ongoing obligations. The 
remedial work at most of these sites has been completed 
and remaining operations are limited to groundwater recovery 
and/or monitoring. The monitoring phase can continue for up 
to 30 years. Our aggregate cost for these sites is estimated to 
be less than $0.1 million over this period of time.

While PRPs in Superfund actions have joint and several lia-
bility for all costs of remediation, it is not possible at this time 
to quantify our ultimate exposure because some of the proj-
ects are either in the investigative or early remediation stage. 
Based upon current information, we do not believe that prob-
able or reasonably possible expenditures in connection with 
the sites described above are likely to have a material adverse 
effect on our consolidated financial statements because we 
have established adequate reserves to cover the estimate we 
presently believe will be our ultimate liability with respect to 
the matter. Further, other PRPs involved in the sites have sub-
stantial assets and may reasonably be expected to pay their 
share of the cost of remediation, and, in some circumstances, 
we have insurance coverage or contractual indemnities from 
third parties to cover the ultimate liability.

We are subject to various other governmental proceedings 
and regulations, including foreign regulations, relating to envi-
ronmental matters, but we do not believe that any of these 
matters is likely to have a material adverse effect on our 
consolidated financial statements. See Note 16 of the Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 herein for further 
discussion of environmental matters.

“Environmental Matters” contains forward-looking state-
ments within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act 
of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Exchange Act 
(each a “forward-looking statement”). The words “will,” 
“believe,” “to be,” “expect,” “estimate” and similar expres-
sions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. 
Our expectations regarding our compliance with Environmen-
tal Regulations and our expenditures to comply with Environ-
mental Regulations, including (without limitation) our capital 
expenditures for environmental control equipment, are only our 
forecasts regarding these matters. These forecasts may be sub-
stantially different from actual results, which may be affected by 
the following factors: changes in Environmental Regulations; a 
material change in our allocation or other unexpected, adverse 
outcomes with respect to sites where we have been named as a 
PRP, including (without limitation) the Superfund sites described 
above; the discovery of new sites of which we are not aware 
and where additional expenditures may be required to comply 
with Environmental Regulations; an unexpected discharge of 
hazardous materials in the course of our business or operations; 
a catastrophic event causing discharges into the environment; 
or an acquisition of one or more new businesses.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
We are headquartered in Houston, Texas and operate 

40 principal manufacturing plants, all within the Oilfield  
segment, ranging in size from approximately 4,600 to  
333,000 square feet of manufacturing space. The total area 
of the plants is more than 3.1 million square feet, of which 
approximately 2.1 million square feet (68%) are located in 
the United States, 0.3 million square feet (9%) are located  
in South America, 0.7 million square feet (23%) are located 
in Europe, and a minimal amount of space is located in the  
Far East. Our principal manufacturing plants are located as  
follows: United States – Houston, Texas; Broken Arrow and  
Claremore, Oklahoma; Lafayette, Louisiana; South America – 
various cities in Venezuela; and Europe – Aberdeen and East 
Kilbride, Scotland; Liverpool, England; Celle, Germany; Belfast, 
Northern Ireland.

We own or lease numerous service centers, shops and 
sales and administrative offices throughout the geographic 
areas in which we operate. We also have a significant invest-
ment in service vehicles, rental tools and manufacturing and 
other equipment. We believe that our manufacturing facilities 
are well maintained and suitable for their intended purposes. 
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The table below shows our principal manufacturing plants 
by geographic area:

 Number of 

Geographic Area Principal Plants

United States 27 
South America 5 
Europe 7 
Far East 1

Total 40

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
We are involved in litigation or proceedings that have 

arisen in our ordinary business activities. We insure against 
these risks to the extent deemed prudent by our management 
and to the extent insurance is available, but no assurance can 
be given that the nature and amount of that insurance will be 
sufficient to fully indemnify us against liabilities arising out of 
pending and future legal proceedings. Many of these insur-
ance policies contain deductibles or self-insured retentions in 
amounts we deem prudent and for which we are responsible 
for payment. In determining the amount of self-insurance, it is 
our policy to self-insure those losses that are predictable, mea-
surable and recurring in nature, such as claims for automobile 
liability, general liability and workers compensation. We record 
accruals for the uninsured portion of losses related to these 
types of claims. The accruals for losses are calculated by esti-
mating losses for claims using historical claim data, specific 
loss development factors and other information as necessary.

On September 12, 2001, the Company, without admitting 
or denying the factual allegations contained in the Order, con-
sented with the SEC to the entry of an Order making Findings 
and Imposing a Cease-and-Desist Order (the “Order”) for vio-
lations of Section 13(b)(2)(A) and Section 13(b)(2)(B) of the 
Exchange Act. Among the findings included in the Order were 
the following: In 1999, we discovered that certain of our offi-
cers had authorized an improper $75,000 payment to an Indo-
nesian tax official, after which we embarked on a corrective 
course of conduct, including voluntarily and promptly disclosing 
the misconduct to the SEC and the Department of Justice (the 
“DOJ”). In the course of our investigation of the Indonesia 
matter, we learned that we had made payments in the amount 
of $15,000 and $10,000 in India and Brazil, respectively, to our 
agents, without taking adequate steps to ensure that none of 
the payments would be passed on to foreign government offi-
cials. The Order found that the foregoing payments violated 
Section 13(b)(2)(A). The Order also found the Company in vio-
lation of Section 13(b)(2)(B) because it did not have a system 
of internal controls to determine if payments violated the 
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”). The FCPA makes it 
unlawful for U.S. issuers, including the Company, or anyone 
acting on their behalf, to make improper payments to any 
foreign official in order to obtain or retain business. In addi-
tion, as discussed below, the FCPA establishes accounting and 
internal control requirements for U.S. issuers. We cooperated 
with the SEC’s investigation.

By the Order, dated September 12, 2001 (previously dis-
closed by us and incorporated by reference in this annual 
report as Exhibit 99.1), we agreed to cease and desist from 
committing or causing any violation and any future violation 
of Section 13(b)(2)(A) and Section 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange 
Act. Such Sections of the Exchange Act require issuers to (x) 
make and keep books, records and accounts, which, in rea-
sonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the issuer and (y) devise and main-
tain a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to pro-
vide reasonable assurances that: (i) transactions are executed 
in accordance with management’s general or specific authori-
zation; and (ii) transactions are recorded as necessary: (I) to 
permit preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
generally accepted accounting principles or any other criteria 
applicable to such statements, and (II) to maintain account-
ability for assets.

On March 29, 2002, we announced that we had been 
advised that the SEC and the DOJ are conducting investiga-
tions into allegations of violations of law relating to Nigeria 
and other related matters. The SEC has issued a formal order 
of investigation into possible violations of provisions under the 
FCPA regarding anti-bribery, books and records and internal 
controls. On August 6, 2003, the SEC issued a subpoena seek-
ing information about our operations in Angola and Kazakh-
stan as part of its ongoing investigation. We are providing 
documents to and cooperating fully with the SEC and DOJ. 
The DOJ and the SEC have issued subpoenas to, or otherwise 
asked for interviews with, current and former employees in 
connection with the investigations regarding Nigeria, Angola 
and Kazakhstan. In addition, we have conducted internal 
investigations into these matters.

Our internal investigations have identified issues regarding 
the propriety of certain payments and apparent deficiencies in 
our books and records and internal controls with respect to 
certain operations in Nigeria, Angola and Kazakhstan, as well 
as potential liabilities to governmental authorities in Nigeria. 
The investigation in Nigeria was substantially completed during 
the first quarter of 2003 and, based upon current information, 
we do not expect that any such potential liabilities will have a 
material adverse effect on our consolidated financial state-
ments. The internal investigations in Angola and Kazakhstan 
were substantially completed in the third quarter of 2004.  
Evidence obtained during the course of the investigations has 
been provided to the SEC and DOJ.

The Department of Commerce, Department of the Navy 
and the DOJ (the “U.S. agencies”) are investigating compliance 
with certain export licenses issued to Western Geophysical 
from 1994 through 2000 for export of seismic equipment 
leased by the People’s Republic of China. We acquired West-
ern Geophysical in August 1998 and subsequently transferred 
related assets to WesternGeco in December 2000. Under the 
WesternGeco formation agreement, we owe indemnity to 
WesternGeco for certain matters. We are cooperating fully 
with the U.S. agencies.

We have received a subpoena from a grand jury in the 
Southern District of New York regarding goods and services we 
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delivered to Iraq from 1995 through 2003 during the United 
Nations Oil-for-Food Program (the “U.N. Program”). We have 
also received a request from the SEC to provide a written state-
ment and certain information regarding our participation in 
the U.N. Program. We are responding to both the subpoena 
and the request. Other companies in the energy industry are 
believed to have received similar subpoenas and requests.

The U.S. agencies, the SEC and other authorities have a 
broad range of civil and criminal sanctions they may seek to 
impose against corporations and individuals in appropriate  
circumstances including, but not limited to, injunctive relief,  
disgorgement, fines, penalties and modifications to business 
practices and compliance programs. During 2004, such agen-
cies and authorities entered into agreements with, and obtained 
a range of sanctions against, several public corporations and 
individuals arising from allegations of improper payments  
and deficiencies in books and records and internal controls, 
whereby civil and criminal penalties were imposed, including  
in some cases multi-million dollar fines and other sanctions. It 
is not possible to accurately predict at this time when any of 

the investigations related to the Company will be completed. 
Based on current information, we cannot predict the outcome 
of such investigations or what, if any, actions may be taken by 
the U.S. agencies, the SEC or other authorities or the effect it 
may have on our consolidated financial statements.

On May 10, 2004, the District Court of Andrews County, 
Texas entered a judgment in favor of LOTUS, LLC and against 
INTEQ in the amount of $14.8 million for lost profits resulting 
from a breach of contract in drilling a well to create a salt cav-
ern for disposing of naturally occurring radioactive waste. We 
have filed an appeal and taken other actions. We believe that 
any liability that we may incur as a result of this litigation 
would not have a material adverse financial effect on our con-
solidated financial statements. 

Further information is contained in the “Environmental 
Matters” section of Item 1 herein.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF  
SECURITY HOLDERS

None.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

     Maximum Number

    Total Number (or Approximate

    of Shares Dollar Value) of

  Total Number Average Purchased as Shares that May

  of Shares Price Paid Part of a Publicly Yet Be Purchased

Period  Purchased(1) per Share(1) Announced Plan(2, 3) Under the Plan(2, 3)

October 1–31, 2004   – $ – – – 
November 1–30, 2004   –  – – – 
December 1–31, 2004   32,868  43.91 – –

Total   32,868  $ 43.91 – –

(1) Represents shares purchased from employees to pay the option exercise price related to stock-for-stock exchanges in option exercises under employee benefit plans.

(2) On September 10, 2002, we announced a plan to repurchase from time to time up to $275 million of our outstanding common stock. No shares were repurchased in 
2004 under the plan. The plan has no expiration date, but may be terminated by the Board of Directors at any time. Under the plan, we have authorization remaining 
to repurchase up to $44.5 million in common stock.

(3) On September 3, 2004, we announced the commencement of a voluntary sale program (also known as an odd-lot program) for stockholders owning fewer than  
100 shares of our common stock. The shares were sold on the open market by the program’s administrator, Mellon Investor Services LLC. The program was not  
conditioned on receipt of a minimum number of tenders and expired on November 5, 2004.

PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER  
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our Common Stock, $1.00 par value per share (the “Common Stock”), is principally traded on the New York Stock Exchange. 
Our Common Stock is also traded on the Pacific Exchange and the SWX Swiss Exchange. As of February 25, 2005, there were 
approximately 62,700 stockholders and approximately 17,300 stockholders of record.

For information regarding quarterly high and low sales prices on the New York Stock Exchange for our Common Stock during 
the two years ended December 31, 2004 and information regarding dividends declared on our Common Stock during the two years 
ended December 31, 2004 see Note 18 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 herein.

The following table contains information about our purchases of equity securities during the fourth quarter of 2004.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
The Selected Financial Data should be read in conjunction with “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 

Condition and Results of Operations” and “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data,” both contained herein.

 Year Ended December 31,

(In millions, except per share amounts) 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

Revenues $ 6,103.8 $ 5,252.4 $ 4,860.2 $ 5,000.1 $ 4,791.1 
Costs and expenses: 
 Cost of revenues  4,367.4  3,820.9  3,490.1  3,532.2  3,692.3 
 Selling, general and administrative  915.4  827.0  807.7  751.5  689.1 
 Impairment of investment in affiliate  –  45.3  –  –  – 
 Restructuring charges (reversals)  –  (1.1)  –  (4.2)  7.0 
 (Gain) loss on disposal of assets  –  –  –  (2.4)  67.9

   Total  5,282.8  4,692.1  4,297.8  4,277.1  4,456.3

Operating income  821.0  560.3  562.4  723.0  334.8 
Equity in income (loss) of affiliates  36.3  (137.8)  (69.7)  45.8  (4.6) 
Interest expense  (83.6)  (103.1)  (111.1)  (126.3)  (179.9) 
Interest income  6.8  5.3  5.2  11.7  4.3 
Gain on trading securities  –  –  –  –  14.1

Income from continuing operations before 
 income taxes  780.5  324.7  386.8  654.2  168.7 
Income taxes  (252.3)  (146.8)  (159.0)  (222.9)  (99.1)

Income from continuing operations  528.2  177.9  227.8  431.3  69.6 
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, 
 net of tax  0.4  (43.4)  (16.4)  7.4  32.7

Income before extraordinary loss and  
 cumulative effect of accounting change  528.6  134.5  211.4  438.7  102.3 
Extraordinary loss, net of tax  –  –  –  (1.5)  – 
Cumulative effect of accounting change, 
 net of tax  –  (5.6)  (42.5)  0.8  –

Net income $ 528.6 $ 128.9 $ 168.9 $ 438.0 $ 102.3

Per share of common stock: 
 Income from continuing operations: 
   Basic $ 1.58 $ 0.53 $ 0.67 $ 1.29 $ 0.21 
   Diluted  1.57  0.53  0.67  1.28  0.21 
 Dividends  0.46  0.46  0.46  0.46  0.46 
Financial Position: 
 Working capital $ 1,731.1 $ 1,208.6 $ 1,496.9 $ 1,659.8 $ 1,704.5 
 Total assets  6,821.3  6,416.5  6,499.7  6,676.2  6,489.1 
 Long-term debt  1,086.3  1,133.0  1,424.3  1,682.4  2,049.6 
 Stockholders’ equity  3,895.4  3,350.4  3,397.2  3,327.8  3,046.7
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Notes to Selected Financial Data
(1) Discontinued operations. The selected financial data has 

been reclassified to reflect Baker Hughes Mining Tools, 
BIRD Machine, EIMCO Process Equipment and our oil pro-
ducing operations in West Africa as discontinued opera-
tions. See Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements in Item 8 herein for additional information 
regarding discontinued operations.

(2) WesternGeco. In November 2000, we formed the West-
ernGeco venture with Schlumberger by transferring the 
seismic fleets, data processing assets, exclusive and nonex-
clusive multiclient surveys and other assets of our Western 
Geophysical division. We own 30% of the venture and 
Schlumberger owns 70%, and we account for this invest-
ment using the equity method of accounting.

(3) Restructuring charges (reversals). See Note 4 of the Notes 
to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 herein  
for a description of the restructuring charge reversal in 
2003. During 2000, we recorded a restructuring charge 
of $29.5 million related to our plan to substantially exit the 
oil and natural gas exploration business. The major actions 
included in this restructuring were a reduction in work-
force, costs to settle contractual obligations and a loss on 
the write-off of our undeveloped exploration properties in 
certain foreign jurisdictions. In 2000, we also recorded a 
$6.0 million restructuring charge in connection with the 
formation of WesternGeco and recorded a reversal of 
$28.5 million of restructuring charges recorded in 1999. 
Included in the costs to settle contractual obligations was 
$4.5 million for the minimum amount of our share of proj-
ect costs relating to our interest in an oil and natural gas 
property in Colombia. After unsuccessful attempts to 
negotiate a settlement with our joint venture partner, 
we decided to abandon further involvement in the project. 
Subsequently, in 2001, a third party agreed to assume the 
remaining obligation in exchange for our interest in the 
project. Accordingly, we reversed $4.2 million related to 
this obligation.

(4) (Gain) loss on disposal of assets. During 2000, we recorded 
a loss of $75.5 million on the sale of our interests in cer-
tain oil and natural gas properties and recorded gains of 
$7.6 million on the sale of various product lines.

(5) Cumulative effect of accounting change. In 2003, we 
adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 
(“SFAS”) No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obliga-
tions. In 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and 
Other Intangible Assets. In 2001, we adopted SFAS No. 133, 
Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activi-
ties, as amended by SFAS No. 137 and 138.

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF 
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condi-
tion and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) should be read in 
conjunction with “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supple-
mentary Data” contained herein.

Executive Summary
We are a leading provider of drilling, formation evaluation, 

completion and production products and services to the world-
wide oil and natural gas industry. We compete as one of the 
three largest diversified oilfield services companies. Our Oilfield 
segment is comprised of seven product line focused divisions. 
Baker Hughes Drilling Fluids (drilling fluids), Hughes Christensen 
(oilfield drill bits) and INTEQ (drilling and measurement-while-
drilling) provide products and services used to drill oil and nat-
ural gas wells. Baker Atlas (wireline formation evaluation) and 
INTEQ (formation evaluation while drilling) provide formation 
evaluation services. Baker Atlas (tubing conveyed perforating) 
and Baker Oil Tools (completion equipment) provide completion 
systems. Baker Petrolite (oilfield specialty chemicals), Centrilift 
(electric submersible pumps and progressing cavity pumps) and 
Baker Oil Tools (workover and completion equipment) provide 
equipment and services used during the production phase of 
oil and natural gas wells.

Our headquarters are in Houston, Texas, and we have sig-
nificant manufacturing operations in various countries including, 
but not limited to, the United States (Texas, Oklahoma, and 
Louisiana), Scotland (Aberdeen), Germany (Celle), Northern 
Ireland (Belfast) and Venezuela (Maracaibo). We operate in 
over 90 countries around the world and employ approximately 
26,900 employees – about one-half of which work outside 
the U.S. Our revenue in 2004 was in excess of $6 billion – 
approximately 35% of which came from providing products 
and services to oil and natural gas companies operating in 
the U.S.

The customers for our products and services include 
the super-major and major integrated oil and natural gas 
companies, independent oil and natural gas companies and 
state-owned national oil companies (“NOCs”). Our ability to 
compete in the oilfield services market is dependent on our 
ability to differentiate our product and service offerings by 
technology, service and the price paid for the value we deliver. 
Our primary competitors include the other two large diversified 
oilfield service companies – Schlumberger and Halliburton, 
as well as a number of smaller competitors, including Smith, 
Weatherford and Grant Prideco.

The primary driver of our business is our customers’ capital 
and operating expenditures dedicated to exploring, drilling, 
developing, and producing oil and natural gas. Our business is 
cyclical and is dependent upon our customers’ forecasts of 
future oil and natural gas prices, future economic growth and 
hydrocarbon demand and estimates of future oil and natural 



gas production. In 2004, our customers’ spending directed to 
both worldwide oil and North American oil and natural gas 
projects increased. These increases were driven by the per-
ceived, multi-year requirement to produce more hydrocarbons 
to meet the growth in demand, offset production declines, 
increase inventory levels and rebuild excess productive capacity. 
The increases were supported by historically high oil and natu-
ral gas prices. Our customers’ spending on oil projects is 
expected to continue to grow in 2005 and in the near future, 
with a bias towards those projects in the Middle East, Russia 
and the Caspian region and Africa. Spending in North America 
is dominated by spending on natural gas projects. In North 
America, customer activity is expected to grow modestly in 
2005 compared with 2004 levels, which were the highest in 
over two decades.

In 2004, we reported revenues of $6,103.8 million, a 
16.2% increase compared with 2003. Income from continu-
ing operations for 2004 was $528.2 million compared with 
$177.9 million in 2003. Included in income from continuing 
operations for 2003 are charges, net of tax, of $105.9 million 
related to our share of a WesternGeco restructuring charge 
and $45.3 million related to the impairment of our investment 
in WesternGeco. Both our revenues and operating profits set 
all time records in 2004.

During 2004, the Baker Hughes rig count rose to its high-
est level since 1986, as oil and natural gas companies around 
the world recognized the need to increase productive capacity 
to meet the growing demand for hydrocarbons. Oil and natu-
ral gas prices were at historic highs in 2004, reflecting strong 
demand and relatively low inventories. The lack of excess pro-
ductive capacity and several geopolitical and weather events 
also contributed to higher and more volatile commodity prices 
in 2004. In 2004, our revenues increased 16.2% compared 
with 2003, outpacing the 10.1% increase in the worldwide 
average rig count for 2004 compared with 2003. In North 
America, our 2004 revenues increased 14.4% compared with 
2003, while the rig count increased 10.9% for 2004 compared 
with 2003, driven primarily by land-based drilling for natural 
gas. Outside North America, our 2004 revenues increased 
17.5% compared with 2003, while the rig count increased 
8.6% for 2004 compared with 2003. Revenue growth was 
particularly noteworthy in Russia and the Caspian region, Latin 
America, the Middle East, Africa and Asia. Our European reve-
nues in 2004 were up modestly compared with 2003, despite 
a 15.2% drop in the North Sea rig count.

The critical success factors for our business are embodied 
in our long-term strategy, which we call our Strategic Frame-
work. This strategy includes the development and mainte-
nance of a high performance culture founded on our Core 
Values and Keys to Success; our product line focused organiza-
tion and our focus on best-in-class opportunities; maintaining 
our financial flexibility and financial discipline; and execution 
of our strategies for product development and commercializa-
tion, manufacturing quality and service quality.

Our ongoing effort to develop and maintain a high perfor-
mance culture starts with our Core Values of integrity, team-
work, performance and learning and with our Keys to Success. 
We employ succession planning efforts to develop leaders 
across all our businesses that embody these Core Values and 
represent the diversity of our customer base. We hire and train 
employees from around the world to ensure that we have a 
well-trained workforce in place to support our business plans. 

Our focus on best-in-class opportunities starts with our 
product line focused organization structure. We believe that 
through our product line focused divisions, we develop the 
technologies that deliver best-in-class value to our customers. 
As an enterprise, we are also focused on those markets that 
we believe provide best-in-class opportunities for growth. Our 
management team has identified markets for immediate focus 
including Russia and the Caspian region and NOCs.

Our focus on financial flexibility and financial discipline is 
the backbone of our effort to deliver differential growth at 
superior margins while earning an acceptable return on our 
investments throughout the business cycle. Investments are 
given priority and funded depending on their ability to provide 
risk-adjusted returns in excess of our cost of capital. Our effort 
to obtain the best price we can for our products and services 
begins with our approach to capital discipline. Over the past 
few years, we have invested for growth in our business, repaid 
debt, paid dividends and repurchased stock, and we expect to 
maintain the flexibility to be able to undertake such activities 
in the future.

The last element of our Strategic Framework focuses on 
our ability to identify, develop and commercialize new prod-
ucts and services that will lead to differential growth at supe-
rior margins in our business. The effort extends to every phase 
of our operations, including continuous improvement pro-
grams in our manufacturing facilities and field operations 
that support our goal of flawless execution at the well site.

The execution of our 2005 business plan and the ability 
to meet our 2005 financial objectives are dependent on a 
number of factors. These factors include, but are not limited 
to, our ability to: manage raw material and component costs 
(especially steel alloys, copper and chemicals) which are 
expected to increase in 2005 compared with 2004; continue 
to make ongoing improvements in the productivity of our 
manufacturing organization; recruit, train and retain the skilled 
and diverse workforce necessary to meet our business needs; 
expand our business in areas that are growing rapidly (such as 
Russia and the Caspian region) with customers whose spend-
ing is expected to increase the most rapidly (such as NOCs), 
and in areas in which we are underrepresented (such as the 
Middle East); and realize price increases commensurate with 
the value we provide to our customers. For a full discussion 
of risk factors and forward-looking statements, please see 
the “Risk Factors Related to the Worldwide Oil and Natural 
Gas Industry”, “Risk Factors Related to Our Business” and 
“Forward-Looking Statements” sections contained herein.
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Business Enviroment
Our business environment and its corresponding operating 

results are significantly affected by the level of energy industry 
spending for the exploration and production (“E&P”) of oil 
and natural gas reserves. An indicator for this spending is the 
rig count because when drilling and workover rigs are active, 
many of the products and services provided by the oilfield ser-
vices industry are required. Our products and services are used 
during the drilling and workover phases, during the comple-
tion of the oil and natural gas wells and during actual produc-
tion of the hydrocarbons. This E&P spending by oil and natural 
gas companies is, in turn, influenced strongly by expectations 
about the supply and demand for oil and natural gas products 
and by current and expected prices for both oil and natural 
gas. Rig counts, therefore, generally reflect the relative 
strength and stability of energy prices.

Rig Counts
We have been providing rig counts to the public since 

1944. We gather all relevant data through our field service 
personnel, who obtain the necessary data from routine visits 
to the various rigs, customers, contractors or other outside 
sources. This data is then compiled and distributed to various 
wire services and trade associations and is published on our 
website. Rig counts are compiled weekly for the U.S. and Can-
ada and monthly for all international and U.S. workover rigs. 
Published international rig counts do not include rigs drilling in 
certain locations, such as Russia and onshore China, because 
this information is extremely difficult to obtain.

North American rigs are counted as active if, on the day the 
count is taken, the well being drilled has been started, drilling 
has not been completed and the well is anticipated to be of 
sufficient depth to be a potential consumer of our drill bits. 
In most international areas, rigs are counted as active if drilling 
operations have taken place for at least 15 days during the 
month. The rig count does not include rigs that are in transit 
from one location to another, are rigging up, are being used in 
non-drilling activities, including production testing, completion 
and workover, or are not significant consumers of drill bits. In 
some active international areas where better data is available, 
a weekly or daily average of active rigs is taken.

Our rig counts are summarized in the table below as aver-
ages for each of the periods indicated.

 2004 2003 2002

U.S. – land and inland waters 1,095 924 717 
U.S. – offshore 97 108 113 
Canada 365 372 263

 North America 1,557 1,404 1,093

Latin America 290 244 214 
North Sea 39 46 52 
Other Europe 31 38 36 
Africa 49 54 58 
Middle East 230 211 201 
Asia Pacific 197 177 171

 Outside North America 836 770 732

Worldwide 2,393 2,174 1,825

U.S. Workover Rigs 1,235 1,129 1,010

The U.S. – land and inland waters rig count increased 
18.5% in 2004 compared with 2003 due to the increase in 
drilling for natural gas. The U.S. – offshore rig count decreased 
10.2% in 2004 compared with 2003 primarily related to a 
reduced level of spending by major diversified oil and natural 
gas companies who have continued to redirect a portion of 
their spending towards larger international projects. The Cana-
dian rig count decreased 1.9%, primarily as a result of unusu-
ally wet weather in the summer and fall of 2004.

Outside North America, the rig count increased 8.6% in 
2004 compared with 2003. The rig count in Latin America 
increased 18.9% in 2004 compared with 2003, driven primar-
ily by spending increases in Mexico, Venezuela and Argentina. 
The North Sea rig count decreased 15.2% in 2004 compared 
with 2003 primarily driven by continued declines in drilling 
activity in both the U.K. and Norwegian sectors. Increases in 
spending in the North Sea by independent oil and natural 
gas companies were not large enough to offset decreases in 
spending by major diversified oil and natural gas companies, 
which continue to redirect spending towards other larger 
international projects, especially in Russia and the Caspian 
region. The rig count in Africa declined 9.3% in 2004 com-
pared with 2003 primarily due to project delays in West Africa. 
Activity in the Middle East continued to rise steadily, with a 
9.0% increase in the rig count in 2004 compared with 2003. 
The rig count in the Asia Pacific region was up 11.3% in 2004 
compared with 2003 primarily due to activity increases in 
India, Indonesia, Australia and offshore China.
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Oil and Natural Gas Prices
Generally, changes in the current price and expected future 

prices of oil or natural gas drive both customers’ expectations 
about their prospects from oil and natural gas sales and their 
expenditures to explore for or produce oil and natural gas. 
Accordingly, changes in these expenditures will normally result 
in increased or decreased demand for our products and ser-
vices. Oil (Bloomberg West Texas Intermediate (WTI) Cushing 
Crude Oil Spot Price) and natural gas (Bloomberg Henry Hub 
Natural Gas Spot Price) prices are summarized in the table 
below as averages of the daily closing prices during each of 
the periods indicated.

 2004 2003 2002

Oil prices ($/Bbl) $ 41.51 $ 31.06 $ 26.17 
Natural gas prices 
 ($/mmBtu)  5.90  5.49  3.37

Oil prices averaged a historic high of $41.51/Bbl in 2004. 
Prices increased from the low $30s/Bbl in January 2004 to a 
high of $56.17/Bbl in late October 2004, before moderating 
and ending the year in the low $40s/Bbl. Inventories of crude 
and petroleum products were relatively low throughout the year, 
supporting high prices. Worldwide demand for hydrocarbons 
was driven by strong worldwide economic growth, which was 
particularly strong in China and developing Asia. Worldwide 
excess productive capacity was at the lowest level in 30 years, 
and disruptions, or the potential for disruptions, in oil supply 
resulted in volatile oil prices throughout the year. Events in 
2004 which either disrupted, or had the potential to disrupt, 
oil supplies included: the August recall elections in Venezuela; 
sabotage of Iraqi oil production assets; actions taken by the 
Russian government regarding Yukos and their tax obligations; 
terrorism in the Middle East, including the possibility of a dis-
ruption in oil supply from Saudi Arabia; labor strikes in Nor-
way; labor strikes and violence in Nigeria; and weather, 
especially the impact of hurricanes in the Gulf of Mexico. By 
the end of the year, a number of these issues were resolved 
without significant disruptions to oil supply, which led to oil 
prices of just above $40/Bbl. In addition to these events, the 
weakness of the U.S. dollar relative to many worldwide curren-
cies contributed to high U.S. dollar-denominated oil prices.

During 2004, natural gas prices averaged a historic high of 
$5.90/mmBtu. Throughout the year, a tight balance between 
supply and demand supported prices between $5/mmBtu and 
$7/mmBtu, with weather related spikes outside of this range. 
High natural gas drilling activity in 2004 combined with 
increasing depletion rates resulted in limited production 
growth. We began the year with U.S. natural gas storage lev-
els slightly greater than the five-year average storage levels. 
Natural gas prices peaked above $7/mmBtu in January as a 
result of colder than normal winter weather. Prices fell to just 
above $5/mmBtu in late February, as winter weather moder-
ated and storage remained just above the five-year average. 
However, by the end of the winter heating season, natural gas 
inventories fell below the five-year average. In the first half of 
the summer, the market required natural gas prices in excess 

of $6/mmBtu in order to limit consumption of natural gas and 
allow storage to refill. In July and August, below average sum-
mer temperatures allowed storage to fill more rapidly and, as 
storage increased above the five-year average, prices fell to a 
low of $4.40/mmBtu in early September. High oil prices, hurri-
cane-driven supply disruptions and the start of the winter 
heating season resulted in a peak price of $8.14/mmBtu in late 
October. Prices fell below $5/mmBtu in November, as the 
beginning of the winter was milder than normal and storage 
was above the five-year average. A late December cold snap 
resulted in a natural gas price in excess of $7/mmBtu. Prices 
ended the year at approximately $6/mmBtu.

Worldwide Oil and Natural Gas Industry Outlook
This section should be read in conjunction with the fac-

tors described in the “Risk Factors Related to the Worldwide 
Oil and Natural Gas Industry,” “Risk Factors Related to Our 
Business” and “Forward-Looking Statements” sections con-
tained herein. These factors could impact, either positively 
or negatively, our expectation for oil and natural gas demand, 
oil and natural gas prices and drilling activity.

Oil – Oil prices in 2005 are expected to trade between 
$35/Bbl and $55/Bbl. Continuing the trend from 2004, low 
inventories of crude oil and products, combined with strong 
worldwide economic growth, are expected to support prices 
that could average above $40/Bbl. Growth in oil demand is 
expected to slow in 2005 compared with 2004, as worldwide 
economic growth and, in particular, economic growth in China 
moderates from the extraordinarily strong growth exhibited in 
2004. The ongoing lack of excess productive capacity will leave 
the energy markets susceptible to price volatility should there 
be any disruptions or threat of disruptions in oil supplies.

Factors that could lead to prices at the lower end of our 
range include but are not limited to: a more significant than 
expected slowing of worldwide economic growth, particularly 
economic growth in China; greater than planned growth in 
Russian oil exports; Organization of Petroleum Exporting 
Countries (“OPEC”) exports in excess of their stated goals; or 
other factors which result in oil inventories increasing signifi-
cantly from historically low levels.

Factors that could lead to prices at the top of our range 
include but are not limited to: more rapid than planned expan-
sion of the worldwide economy, particularly the economy in 
China; a significant slowing of exports from Russia; or other 
factors which result in oil inventories that remain at historically 
low levels.

Factors that could lead to disruptions or the threat of dis-
ruptions in oil supply and volatility in oil prices include but are 
not limited to: terrorist attacks targeting oil production from 
Saudi Arabia or other key producers; labor strikes in key oil 
producing areas such as Nigeria; the potential for other mili-
tary actions in the Middle East; and adverse weather condi-
tions, especially in the Gulf of Mexico. The potential for these 
and other events to cause volatility will be mitigated by the 
degree to which OPEC, and in particular Saudi Arabia, are 
able to increase excess productive capacity.
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Natural Gas – Natural gas prices in 2005 are expected to 
remain volatile, trading between $4/mmBtu and $7/mmBtu. 
Natural gas prices could trade at the top of this range if 
weather is colder than normal, the U.S. economy, particularly 
the industrial sector, exhibits greater than expected growth 
and continued levels of customer spending are not sufficient 
to support the production growth required to meet the growth 
of natural gas demand. Natural gas prices could move to the 
bottom of this range if the U.S. economic recovery is weaker 
than expected or weather is milder than expected. During the 
summer, natural gas prices are expected to trade at a level 
necessary to curtail price sensitive demand and allow storage 
to refill.

Customer Spending – Based upon our discussions with 
major customers, review of published industry reports and our 
outlook for oil and natural gas prices described above, antici-
pated customer spending trends are as follows:
• North America – Spending in North America, primarily 

towards developing natural gas supplies, is expected to 
increase approximately 7% to 9% in 2005 compared 
with 2004.

• Outside North America – Customer spending, primarily 
directed at developing oil supplies, is expected to increase 
10% to 14% in 2005 compared with 2004.

• Total spending is expected to increase 9% to 12% in 2005 
compared with 2004.
Drilling Activity – Based upon our outlook for oil and 

natural gas prices and customer spending described above, our 
outlook for drilling activity, as measured by the Baker Hughes 
rig count, is as follows:
• The North American rig count is expected to increase 

approximately 4% to 6% in 2005 compared with 2004.
• Drilling activity outside of North America is expected to 

increase approximately 9% to 11% in 2005 compared 
with 2004.

Risk Factors Related to the Worldwide Oil 
and Natural Gas Industry

Our business is focused on providing products and services 
to the worldwide oil and natural gas industry; therefore, our 
risk factors are centered on those factors that impact, either 
positively or negatively, the markets for oil and natural gas. 
Key risk factors currently influencing the worldwide oil and 
natural gas markets are discussed below.
• Excess productive capacity – the impact of supply and 

demand disruptions on oil prices and oil price volatility is tem-
pered by the size of the disruption relative to the excess pro-
ductive capacity. Key measures include estimates of worldwide 
productive capacity as compared with worldwide demand.

• Supply disruptions – the loss of production, the inability to 
export and/or delay of activity from key oil exporting coun-
tries, including but not limited to, Iraq, Saudi Arabia and 
other Middle Eastern countries, Nigeria, Norway, Russia 
and Venezuela, due to political instability, civil unrest, labor 
issues or military activity. In addition, adverse weather such 
as hurricanes could impact production facilities, causing 
supply disruptions.

• Energy prices and price volatility – the impact of widely 
fluctuating commodity prices on the stability of the market 
and subsequent impact on customer spending. While cur-
rent energy prices are important contributors to positive 
cash flow at E&P companies, expectations for future prices 
and price volatility are generally more important for deter-
mining future E&P spending. While higher commodity 
prices generally lead to higher levels of E&P spending, sus-
tained high energy prices can be an impediment to eco-
nomic growth.

• Global economic growth – particularly the impact of the 
U.S. and Western European economies and the economic 
activity in Japan, China, South Korea and the developing 
areas of Asia where the correlation between economic 
growth and energy demand is strong. The strength of the 
U.S. economy and economic growth in developing Asia, 
particularly China, will continue to be important in 2005. 
Key measures include U.S. and international economic 
output, global energy demand and forecasts of future 
demand by governments and private organizations.

• Oil and natural gas storage inventory levels – an indicator 
of the balance between supply and demand. A key measure 
of U.S. natural gas inventories is the storage level reported 
weekly by the U.S. Department of Energy compared with 
historic levels. Key measures for oil inventories include U.S. 
inventory levels reported by the U.S. Department of Energy 
and the American Petroleum Institute and worldwide esti-
mates reported by the International Energy Agency.

• Production control – the degree to which individual  
OPEC nations and other large oil and natural gas produc-
ing countries, including, but not limited to, Mexico, Nor-
way and Russia, are willing and able to control production 
and exports of oil, to decrease or increase supply and to 
support their targeted oil price while meeting their market 
share objectives. Key measures of production control 
include actual production levels compared with target or 
quota production levels, oil prices compared with targeted 
oil prices and changes in each country’s market share.

• Ability to produce natural gas – the amount of natural gas 
that can be produced is a function of the number and pro-
ductivity of new wells drilled, completed and connected to 
pipelines as well as the rate of production and resulting 
depletion of existing wells. Advanced technologies, such 
as horizontal drilling, improve total recovery but also result 
in a more rapid production decline. Key measures include 
government and private surveys of natural gas production, 
company reported production, estimates of reservoir deple-
tion rates and drilling and completion activity.

• Impact of energy prices and price volatility on demand for 
hydrocarbons – short-term price changes can result in 
companies switching to the most economic sources of 
fuel, prompting a temporary curtailment of demand, while 
long-term price changes can lead to permanent changes 
in demand. These changes in demand result in the oilfield 
services industry being cyclical in nature. Key indicators  
include hydrocarbon prices on a Btu equivalent basis and  
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indicators of hydrocarbon demand, such as electricity gen-
eration or industrial production.

• Access to prospects – the ability of oil and natural gas com-
panies to develop economically attractive projects based on 
their expectations of future energy prices, required invest-
ments and resulting returns. Access to prospects may be 
limited because host governments do not allow access to 
the reserves or because another oil and natural gas com-
pany owns the rights to develop the prospect.

• Weather – the impact of variations in temperatures as 
compared with normal weather patterns and the related 
effect on demand for oil and natural gas. A key measure 
of the impact of weather on energy demand is population-
weighted heating and cooling degree days as reported by 
the U.S. Department of Energy and forecasts of warmer 
than normal or cooler than normal temperatures. Weather 
can also impact production, for example, in the North Sea, 
the Gulf of Mexico and Canada.

• Access to capital – the ability of oil and natural gas compa-
nies to access the funds necessary to carry out their E&P 
plans. Access to capital is particularly important for smaller 
independent oil and natural gas companies. Key measures 
of access to capital include cash flow, interest rates, analy-
sis of oil and natural gas company leverage and equity 
offering activity.

• Technological progress – the design and application of 
new products that allow oil and natural gas companies to 
drill fewer wells and to drill, complete and produce wells 
faster, recover more hydrocarbons and/or lower costs. Key 
measures also include the overall level of research and 
engineering spending by oilfield services companies and 
the pace at which new technology is both introduced 
commercially and accepted by customers.

• Pace of new investment – the investment by oil and natu-
ral gas companies in emerging markets and any impact it 
has on their spending in areas where they already have an 
established presence.

• Maturity of the resource base – the growing necessity for 
increased levels of investment and activity to support pro-
duction from an area the longer it is developed. Key mea-
sures include changes in undeveloped hydrocarbon reserves 
in mature areas like the North Sea, the U.S., Canada and 
Latin America.

• Government regulations – the costs incurred by oil and 
natural gas companies to conform to and comply with 
government regulations, including environmental regula-
tions, may limit the quantity of oil and natural gas that 
may be economically produced.
For additional risk factors and cautions regarding forward-

looking statements, see the “Risk Factors Related to Our  
Business” and the “Forward-Looking Statements” sections 
contained herein. This list of risk factors is not intended to 
be all inclusive.

Business Outlook
In our outlook for 2005, we took into account the factors 

described herein. We expect that 2005 will be a stronger year 
than 2004, with revenues increasing 9% to 11%, in line with 
the expected increase in customer spending. We expect that 
the growth in our revenues will primarily be due to increased 
activity and, to a lesser extent, price improvement. Our 
assumptions regarding overall growth in customer spending 
assume strong economic growth in the U.S. and China, and 
OPEC discipline, resulting in an average oil price exceeding 
$35/Bbl. Our assumptions regarding customer spending in 
North America assume strong economic growth in the U.S. 
and natural gas prices exceeding an average of $5/mmBtu.

In North America, we expect revenues to increase 11% 
to 13% in 2005 compared with 2004, with the majority of 
the increase occurring in the second half of 2005. We expect 
spending on land-based projects to continue to increase in 2005 
driven by demand for natural gas, following the trend evident in 
2004. We also expect offshore spending in the Gulf of Mexico 
to increase modestly in 2005 compared with 2004. The normal 
weather-driven seasonal decline in U.S. and Canadian spend-
ing in the first half of the year should result in sequentially 
softer revenues in the first and second quarters of 2005.

In 2004, 2003 and 2002, revenues outside North America 
were 58.4%, 57.7% and 59.9% of total revenues, respectively. 
In 2005, we expect revenues, outside North America to con-
tinue to be between 55% and 60% of total revenues, and we 
expect these revenues to increase 7% to 9% in 2005 com-
pared with 2004, continuing the multi-year trend of modest 
growth in customer spending. Spending on large projects by 
NOCs will reflect established seasonality trends, resulting in 
softer revenues in the first half of the year and stronger reve-
nues in the second half. In addition, customer spending should 
be affected by weather-related reductions in the North Sea in 
the first and second quarters of 2005. The Middle East, Africa 
and Latin America are expected to grow modestly in 2005 
compared with 2004. Our expectations for spending and reve-
nue growth could decrease if average prices fall below $35/Bbl 
for oil or $5/mmBtu for natural gas or if there are disruptions 
in key oil and natural gas production markets, such as Venezu-
ela or Nigeria.

In 2004, WesternGeco contributed $34.5 million of equity 
in income of affiliates compared with equity in loss of affiliates 
of $9.9 million in 2003, which excludes $135.7 million related 
to our portion of certain restructuring and impairment charges 
taken by WesternGeco in the third quarter of 2003, which we 
recorded in “Equity in income (loss) of affiliates” in our consoli-
dated statement of operations. We expect the trend of improv-
ing operating results for WesternGeco to continue throughout 
2005; however, based on the historical trend of operating 
losses and weakness in the seismic industry in prior years, there 
is uncertainty regarding the future operating results of West-
ernGeco. Information regarding WesternGeco’s profitability in 
2005 is based on information that WesternGeco has provided 
to us. Should this information not be accurate, our forecasts for 
profitability could be impacted, either positively or negatively.
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In 2005, we modified our stock award program to pro-
vide a combination of both restricted stock and stock option 
awards. Restricted stock awards and stock option awards 
were granted in January and stock option awards may also 
be granted in July. As required under the current accounting 
rules, awards of restricted stock are expensed over the vesting 
period based on their fair value when granted. We will begin 
expensing the fair value of stock option awards and stock 
issued under the employee stock purchase plan in July 2005, 
when we adopt the revised Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 123, Share-Based Payment (“SFAS No. 123R”). 
We are currently in the process of evaluating different option 
pricing models and the impact of SFAS No. 123R on our con-
solidated financial statements. If we were to adopt SFAS  
No. 123R in July 2005 using a prospective application, we 
expect that income from continuing operations per diluted 
share will be reduced by approximately $0.03 for 2005. For 
further information, see Note 1 of the Notes to the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements in Item 8 herein.

Based on the above forecasts, we believe that income from 
continuing operations per diluted share in 2005 will be in the 
range of $1.80 to $1.95, which includes the impact of expens-
ing restricted stock awards but excludes the impact of expens-
ing stock option awards and stock issued under the employee 
stock purchase plan. Significant price increases or significantly 
better than expected results from WesternGeco could cause 
earnings per share to reach the upper end of this range. Con-
versely, significant price decreases or significantly worse than 
expected results at WesternGeco could result in earnings per 
share being at or below the bottom of this range. Our ability 
to improve pricing is dependent on demand for our products 
and services and our competitors strategies of managing capac-
ity. While the commercial introduction of new technology is an 
important factor in realizing price improvement, without pricing 
discipline throughout the industry as a whole, meaningful 
improvements in our prices are not likely to be realized. Addi-
tionally, significant changes in drilling activity outside our expec-
tations, as well as changes in expected costs of raw materials, 
could impact operating results positively or negatively.

We do business in approximately 90 countries including 
over one-half of the 35 countries having the lowest scores, 
which indicates high levels of corruption, in Transparency  
International’s Corruption Perception Index (“CPI”) survey 
for 2004. We devote significant resources to the development, 
maintenance and enforcement of our Business Code of Con-
duct policy, our Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the “FCPA”) 
policy, our internal control processes and procedures and other 
compliance related policies. Notwithstanding the devotion of 
such resources, and in part as a consequence thereof, from 
time to time we discover or receive information alleging poten-
tial violations of laws and regulation, including the FCPA and 
our policies, processes and procedures. We conduct internal 
investigations of these potential violations and take appropri-
ate action depending upon the outcome of the investigation. 
In addition, U.S. government agencies and authorities are  

conducting investigations into allegations of potential viola-
tions of laws. We anticipate that the devotion of significant 
resources to compliance related issues, including the necessity 
for investigations, will continue to be an aspect of doing busi-
ness in a number of the countries in which oil and natural gas 
exploration, development and production take place and in 
which we are requested to conduct operations. Compliance 
related issues could limit our ability to do business in these 
countries. In order to provide products and services in some of 
these countries, we may in the future utilize ventures with 
third parties, sell products to distributors or otherwise modify 
our business approach in order to improve our ability to con-
duct our business in accordance with laws and regulations and 
our Business Code of Conduct.

Risk Factors Related to Our Business
Our expectations regarding our business outlook, including 

changes in revenue, pricing, capital spending and profitability, 
are only our forecasts regarding these matters. These forecasts 
may be substantially different from actual results, which are 
affected by the following risk factors and the timing of any 
of these risk factors:
• Oil and gas market conditions – the level of petroleum 

industry E&P expenditures; drilling rig and oil and natural 
gas industry manpower and equipment availability; the 
price of, and the demand for, crude oil and natural gas; 
drilling activity; risks from operating hazards; seasonal and 
other weather conditions that affect the demand for 
energy; severe weather conditions, such as hurricanes, that 
affect exploration and production activities; OPEC policy 
and the adherence by OPEC nations to their OPEC produc-
tion quotas; war, military action, terrorist activities or 
extended period of international conflict, particularly 
involving the U.S., Middle East or other major petroleum-
producing or consuming regions; civil unrest or security 
conditions where we operate; expropriation of assets by 
governmental action.

• Pricing, market share and contract terms – our ability to 
implement and affect price increases for our products and 
services; receipt of license fees; the effect of the level and 
sources of our profitability on our tax rate; the ability of  
our competitors to capture market share; our ability to 
retain or increase our market share; changes in our stra-
tegic direction; our ability to negotiate acceptable terms 
and conditions with our customers, especially NOCs; our 
ability to manage warranty claims and improve perfor-
mance and quality; our ability to effectively manage our 
commercial agents.

• Costs and availability of resources – our ability to manage 
the rising costs and availability of sufficient raw materials 
and components (especially steel alloys, copper and chemi-
cals); our ability to recruit, train and retain the skilled and 
diverse workforce necessary to meet our business needs; 
manufacturing capacity and subcontracting capacity at 
forecasted costs to meet our revenue goals; the availability 
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of essential electronic components used in our products; 
the effect of competition, particularly our ability to intro-
duce new technology on a forecasted schedule and at fore-
casted costs; potential impairment of long-lived assets; the 
accuracy of our estimates regarding our capital spending 
requirements; unanticipated changes in the levels of our 
capital expenditures; the need to replace any unanticipated 
losses in capital assets; the development of technology by 
us or our competitors that lowers overall finding and 
development costs; labor-related actions, including strikes, 
slowdowns and facility occupations.

• Litigation and changes in laws or regulatory conditions – 
the potential for unexpected litigation or proceedings; the 
legislative, regulatory and business environment in the U.S. 
and other countries in which we operate; outcome of gov-
ernment and internal investigations and legal proceedings; 
new laws, regulations and policies that could have a signif-
icant impact on the future operations and conduct of all 
businesses; changes in export control laws or exchange 
control laws; additional restrictions on doing business in 
countries subject to sanctions: changes in laws in Russia or 
other countries identified by management for immediate 
focus; changes in accounting standards; changes in tax 
laws or tax rates in the jurisdictions in which we operate; 
resolution of audits by various tax authorities; ability to 
fully utilize our tax loss carryforwards and tax credits.

• Economic conditions – worldwide economic growth; for-
eign currency exchange fluctuations and changes in the 
capital markets in international locations where we operate; 
the condition of the capital and equity markets in general; 
our ability to estimate the size of and changes in the world-
wide oil and natural gas industry.

• Environmental matters – unexpected, adverse outcomes  
or material increases in liability with respect to environ-
mental remediation sites where we have been named  
as a potentially responsible party; the discovery of new 
environmental remediation sites; changes in environ-
mental regulations; the discharge of hazardous materials 
or hydrocarbons into the environment. See also the  
“Environmental Matters” section in Item 1 contained 
herein for further information.
For additional risk factors and cautions regarding forward-

looking statements, see the “Risk Factors Related to the 
Worldwide Oil and Natural Gas Industry” and “Forward-Looking 
Statements” sections contained herein. This list of risk factors 
is not intended to be all inclusive.

Critical Accounting Estimates
The preparation of our consolidated financial statements 

requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses 
and related disclosures about contingent assets and liabilities. 
We base these estimates and judgments on historical experi-
ence and other assumptions and information that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances. Estimates and 
assumptions about future events and their effects cannot be 

perceived with certainty, and accordingly, these estimates may 
change as new events occur, as more experience is acquired, 
as additional information is obtained and as the business envi-
ronment in which we operate changes.

We have defined a critical accounting estimate as one that 
is both important to the portrayal of our financial condition 
and results of operations and requires us to make difficult, 
subjective or complex judgments or estimates about matters 
that are uncertain. We have discussed the development and 
selection of our critical accounting estimates with the Audit/
Ethics Committee of our Board of Directors and the Audit/Eth-
ics Committee has reviewed the disclosure presented below. 
During the past three fiscal years, we have not made any 
material changes in accounting methodology used to establish 
the critical accounting estimates discussed below. We believe 
that the following are the critical accounting estimates used 
in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. 
In addition, there are other items within our consolidated 
financial statements that require estimation but are not 
deemed critical as defined above.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
The determination of the collectibility of amounts due 

from our customers requires us to use estimates and make 
judgments regarding future events and trends, including moni-
toring our customers’ payment history and current credit worthi-
ness to determine that collectibility is reasonably assured, as 
well as consideration of the overall business climate in which 
our customers operate. Inherently, these uncertainties require 
us to make frequent judgments and estimates regarding our 
customers’ ability to pay amounts due us in order to determine 
the appropriate amount of valuation allowances required 
for doubtful accounts. Provisions for doubtful accounts are 
recorded when it becomes evident that the customer will not 
make the required payments at either contractual due dates 
or in the future. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, reserves 
for doubtful accounts totaled $50.5 million, or 3.6%, and 
$61.8 million, or 5.1%, of total accounts receivable before 
reserves, respectively. We believe that our reserve for doubtful 
accounts is adequate to cover anticipated losses under current 
conditions; however, uncertainties regarding changes in the 
financial condition of our customers, either adverse or positive, 
could impact the amount and timing of any additional provi-
sions for doubtful accounts that may be required. A five percent 
change in this reserve would have had a pre-tax impact of 
approximately $2.5 million in 2004.

Inventory Reserves
Inventory is a significant component of current assets and 

is stated at the lower of cost or market. This requires us to 
record provisions and maintain reserves for excess or obsolete 
inventory. To determine these reserve amounts, we regularly 
review inventory quantities on hand and compare them to esti-
mates of future product demand, market conditions, produc-
tion requirements and technological developments. These 
estimates and forecasts inherently include uncertainties and 
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require us to make judgments regarding potential outcomes. 
At December 31, 2004 and 2003, inventory reserves totaled 
$221.1 million, or 17.6%, and $232.5 million, or 18.7%, of 
gross inventory, respectively. We believe that our reserves are 
adequate to cover anticipated losses under current conditions. 
Significant or unanticipated changes to our estimates and 
forecasts, either adverse or positive, could impact the amount 
and timing of any additional provisions for excess or obsolete 
inventory that may be required. A five percent difference in 
this reserve would have had a pre-tax impact of approximately 
$11.1 million in 2004.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
Long-lived assets, which include property, goodwill, intan-

gible assets, investments in affiliates and certain other assets, 
comprise a significant amount of our total assets. We review 
the carrying values of these assets for impairment periodically, 
and at least annually for goodwill, or whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts 
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recorded in the 
period in which it is determined that the carrying amount is 
not recoverable. This requires us to make judgments regarding 
long-term forecasts of future revenues and costs related to the 
assets subject to review. In turn, these forecasts are uncertain 
in that they require assumptions about demand for our prod-
ucts and services, future market conditions and technological 
developments. Significant and unanticipated changes to these 
assumptions could require a provision for impairment in a 
future period. Given the nature of these evaluations and their 
application to specific assets and specific times, it is not possi-
ble to reasonably quantify the impact of changes in these 
assumptions; however, based upon our evaluation of the  
current business climate in which we operate, we do not cur-
rently anticipate that any significant asset impairment losses 
will be necessary.

Income Taxes
The liability method is used for determining our income 

taxes, under which current and deferred tax liabilities and 
assets are recorded in accordance with enacted tax laws and 
rates. Under this method, the amounts of deferred tax liabili-
ties and assets at the end of each period are determined using 
the tax rate expected to be in effect when taxes are actually 
paid or recovered. Valuation allowances are established to 
reduce deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that 
some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be real-
ized. In determining the need for valuation allowances, we 
have considered and made judgments and estimates regarding 
estimated future taxable income and ongoing prudent and 
feasible tax planning strategies. These estimates and judg-
ments include some degree of uncertainty and changes in 
these estimates and assumptions could require us to adjust 
the valuation allowances for our deferred tax assets. Histori-
cally, changes to valuation allowances have been caused by 
major changes in the business cycle in certain countries and 
changes in local country law. The ultimate realization of the  
 

deferred tax assets depends on the generation of sufficient 
taxable income in the applicable taxing jurisdictions.

We operate in more than 90 countries under many legal 
forms. As a result, we are subject to the jurisdiction of numer-
ous domestic and foreign tax authorities, as well as to tax 
agreements and treaties among these governments. Our  
operations in these different jurisdictions are taxed on various 
bases: actual income before taxes, deemed profits (which are 
generally determined using a percentage of revenues rather 
than profits) and withholding taxes based on revenue. Deter-
mination of taxable income in any jurisdiction requires the 
interpretation of the related tax laws and regulations and the 
use of estimates and assumptions regarding significant future 
events such as the amount, timing and character of deductions, 
permissible revenue recognition methods under the tax law and 
the sources and character of income and tax credits. Changes 
in tax laws, regulations, agreements and treaties, foreign cur-
rency exchange restrictions or our level of operations or profit-
ability in each taxing jurisdiction could have an impact on the 
amount of income taxes that we provide during any given year.

Our tax filings for various periods are subjected to audit 
by the tax authorities in most jurisdictions where we conduct 
business. These audits may result in assessments of additional 
taxes that are resolved with the authorities or potentially 
through the courts. We believe that these assessments may 
occasionally be based on erroneous and even arbitrary interpre-
tations of local tax law. Resolution of these situations inevitably 
includes some degree of uncertainty; accordingly, we provide 
taxes only for the amounts we believe will ultimately result 
from these proceedings. The resulting change to our tax liabil-
ity, if any, is dependent on numerous factors which are difficult 
to estimate. These include, among others, the amount and 
nature of additional taxes potentially asserted by local tax 
authorities; the willingness of local tax authorities to negotiate 
a fair settlement through an administrative process; the impar-
tiality of the local courts; the sheer number of countries in 
which we do business; and the potential for changes in the 
tax paid to one country to either produce, or fail to produce, 
an offsetting tax change in other countries. Our experience 
has been that the estimates and assumptions we have used to 
provide for future tax assessments have proven to be appropri-
ate. However, past experience is only a guide, and the poten-
tial exists, however limited, that the tax resulting from the 
resolution of current and potential future tax controversies 
may differ materially from the amount accrued. While we have 
provided for the taxes that we believe will ultimately be pay-
able as a result of these assessments, the aggregate assess-
ments are approximately $34.0 million in excess of the taxes 
provided for in our consolidated financial statements.

In addition to the aforementioned assessments that have 
been received from various taxing authorities, we provide 
for taxes in certain situations where assessments have not been 
received. In those situations, we consider it probable that the 
taxes ultimately payable will exceed those amounts reflected in 
filed tax returns; accordingly, taxes are provided in those situa-
tions under the guidance in Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards (“SFAS“) No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies.
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Pensions and Postretirement Benefit Obligations
Pensions and postretirement benefit obligations and the 

related plan expenses are calculated using actuarial models 
and methods. This involves the use of two critical assumptions, 
the discount rate and the expected rate of return on assets, 
both of which are important elements in determining plan 
expenses and in measuring plan assets and liabilities. We eval-
uate these critical assumptions at least annually. Other less crit-
ical assumptions used in determining benefit obligations and 
plan expenses, such as demographic factors like retirement 
age, mortality and turnover, are also evaluated periodically and 
are updated accordingly to reflect our actual experience.

The discount rate enables us to state expected future cash 
flows at a present value on the measurement date. A lower dis-
count rate increases the present value of benefit obligations and 
increases plan expenses. We used a discount rate of 6.25% in 
2004, 6.75% in 2003 and 7.00% in 2002 to determine plan 
expenses. A 75 basis point reduction in the discount rate would 
have increased plan expenses in 2004 by $6.2 million.

To determine the expected rate of return on plan assets, 
we consider the current and expected asset allocations, as 
well as historical and expected returns on various categories 
of plan assets. A lower rate of return increases plan expenses. 
We assumed that rates of return on our plan investments 
were 8.50% in 2004 and 2003 and 9.00% in 2002. A 50 basis 
point decrease in the expected rate of return on assets of our 
principal plans would have increased plan expenses in 2004 
by $1.8 million.

Discontinued Operations
In September 2004, we completed the sale of Baker 

Hughes Mining Tools (“BHMT”), a product line group within 
the Oilfield segment that manufactured rotary drill bits used 
in the mining industry, for $31.5 million. We recorded a gain 
on the sale of $0.2 million, net of tax of $3.6 million, which 
consisted of a gain on the disposal of $6.8 million offset by a 
loss of $6.6 million related to the recognition of the cumula-
tive foreign currency translation adjustments into earnings.

In October 2003, we signed a definitive agreement for 
the sale of BIRD Machine (“BIRD”), the remaining division of 
the former Process segment, and recorded charges totaling 
$37.4 million, net of tax of $10.9 million, which consisted of 
a loss of $13.5 million on the write-down of BIRD to fair value, 
$6.2 million of severance and warranty accruals and a loss of 
$17.7 million related to the recognition of cumulative foreign 
currency translation adjustments into earnings. In January 2004, 
we completed the sale of BIRD and recorded an additional loss 

on the sale of $0.5 million with no tax benefit. We received 
$5.6 million in proceeds, which were subject to post-closing 
adjustments to the purchase price, and retained certain 
accounts receivable, inventories and other assets. During the 
second quarter of 2004, we made a net payment of $6.8 mil-
lion to the buyer in settlement of the final purchase price 
adjustments. The adjustments were the result of changes in 
the value of assets sold to and liabilities assumed by the buyer 
between the date the initial sales price was negotiated and the 
closing of the sale.

In December 2002, we entered into exclusive negotiations 
for the sale of our interest in our oil producing operations in 
West Africa for $32.0 million in proceeds. The transaction was 
effective as of January 1, 2003, and resulted in a gain on the 
sale of $4.1 million, net of a tax benefit of $0.2 million. We 
received $10.0 million as a deposit in 2002 and the remaining 
$22.0 million in April 2003.

In November 2002, we sold EIMCO Process Equipment 
(“EIMCO”), a division of the former Process segment, and 
recorded a loss on the disposal of $22.3 million, net of tax of 
$1.2 million, which consisted of a loss of $2.3 million on the 
write-down to fair value and a loss of $20.0 million related 
to the recognition of cumulative foreign currency translation 
adjustments into earnings. We received total proceeds of 
$48.9 million, of which $4.9 million was held in escrow pend-
ing completion of final adjustments to the purchase price. In 
2003, all purchase price adjustments were completed, resulting 
in the release of the escrow balance, of which we received 
$2.0 million and $2.9 million was returned to the buyer. In 2003, 
we also recorded an additional loss on the sale due to purchase 
price adjustments of $2.5 million, net of tax of $1.3 million.

We have reclassified the consolidated financial statements 
for all prior periods presented to reflect these operations as 
discontinued. See Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Finan-
cial Statements in Item 8 herein for additional information 
regarding discontinued operations.

Results of Operations
The discussions below relating to significant line items rep-

resent our analysis of significant changes or events that impact 
the comparability of reported amounts. Where appropriate, we 
have identified specific events and changes that affect compa-
rability or trends and, where possible and practical, have quan-
tified the impact of such items.

The table below details certain consolidated statement of 
operations data and their percentage of revenues for 2004, 
2003 and 2002, respectively.

 2004 2003 2002

 $ % $ % $ %

Revenues $ 6,103.8 100.0% $ 5,252.4 100.0% $ 4,860.2 100.0% 
Cost of revenues  4,367.4 71.6  3,820.9 72.7  3,490.1 71.8 
Selling, general and administrative  915.4 15.0  827.0 15.7  807.7 16.6
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Revenues
Revenues for 2004 increased 16.2% compared with 2003, 

reflecting a 10.1% increase in the worldwide rig count. Reve-
nues in North America, which accounted for 41.6% of total 
revenues, increased 14.4% compared with 2003. This increase 
reflects increased drilling activity in the U.S. and Canada, as 
evidenced by a 10.9% increase in the North American rig 
count, and $24.8 million related to intellectual property license 
fees, which is not expected to recur in the same magnitude in 
the future. Revenues outside North America, which accounted 
for 58.4% of total revenues, increased 17.5% compared with 
2003. This increase reflects the improvement in international 
drilling activity, as evidenced by an 8.6% increase in the rig 
count outside North America, primarily in Latin America and 
Asia Pacific, partially offset by decreased drilling activity in the 
North Sea and Africa. During 2004, our revenue growth was 
primarily due to increases in activity and, to a lesser extent,  
pricing improvements.

Revenues for 2003 increased 8.1% compared with 2002, 
reflecting a 19.1% increase in the worldwide rig count. Reve-
nues in North America, which accounted for 42.3% of total 
revenues, increased 14.0% compared with 2002. This increase 
reflects increased drilling activity in the U.S. and Canada, as 
evidenced by a 28.4% increase in the North American rig 
count. Revenues outside North America, which accounted 
for 57.7% of total revenues, increased 4.1% compared with 
2002. This increase reflects the improvement in international 
drilling activity, as evidenced by the 5.2% increase in the rig 
count outside North America, primarily in Latin America and 
the Middle East, partially offset by decreased drilling activity 
in the North Sea and Africa. During 2003, pricing was not a 
significant contributor to our revenue growth, as deterioration 
in prices for certain product lines at our INTEQ division were 
partially offset by pricing improvement realized from our  
other product lines.

Cost of Revenues
Cost of revenues for 2004 increased 14.3% compared 

with 2003. Cost of revenues as a percentage of revenues 
was 71.6% and 72.7% for 2004 and 2003, respectively. 
The decrease in cost of revenues as a percentage of revenues 
is primarily related to limited pricing improvement in certain 
markets and product lines and improved cost control mea-
sures, including lower repair and maintenance costs at our 
INTEQ division, partially offset by increased material costs and 
higher employee bonus expense. A change in the geographic 
and product mix from the sale of our products and services 
also contributed to the decrease in the cost of revenues as a 
percentage of revenues. During 2004, our revenue increases 
came predominantly from outside North America and our mar-
gins on revenues generated outside North America are typi-
cally higher than margins generated in North America.

Cost of revenues for 2003 increased 9.5% compared 
with 2002. Cost of revenues as a percentage of revenues 
was 72.7% and 71.8% for 2003 and 2002, respectively. 
The increase in cost of revenues as a percentage of revenues 
is primarily related to our INTEQ division. In 2003, INTEQ  

experienced the highest revenue growth of our divisions; how-
ever, margins deteriorated as they were impacted by increased 
downward pricing trends, increased repair and maintenance 
costs for newly developed downhole rental tools and other 
nonrecurring costs. A change in the geographic and product 
mix from the sale of our products and services also contributed 
to the increase in the cost of revenues as a percentage of reve-
nues. During 2003, our revenue increases came predominantly 
from North America and our margins on revenues generated 
in North America are typically lower than margins generated 
outside of North America.

Selling, General and Administrative
Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses for 

2004 increased 10.7% compared with 2003. This increase was 
primarily due to higher marketing and administrative expenses 
as a result of increased activity, including higher annual employee 
bonus expense, and increased costs related to our continued 
focus on compliance, including legal investigations and 
increased staffing in our legal, compliance and audit groups. 
The increase was also due to the implementation of programs 
and procedures as a result of the requirements of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

SG&A expenses for 2003 increased 2.4% compared with 
2002. This increase was primarily due to an $8.9 million 
increase in net costs related to corporate activities and an 
increase of approximately $17.0 million in costs related to 
our self insurance programs, offset by improvement in the 
impact of foreign currency exchange activity of $18.3 million.

Reversal of Restructuring Charge
In 2000, our Board of Directors approved a plan to sub-

stantially exit the oil and natural gas exploration business and 
we recorded a restructuring charge of $29.5 million. Included 
in the restructuring charge was $1.1 million for a contractual 
obligation related to an oil and natural gas property in Angola. 
The property was subsequently sold in 2003 and we reversed 
the liability related to this contractual obligation.

Impairment of Investment in Affiliate
In 2003, as a result of the continued weakness in the seis-

mic industry, we evaluated the carrying value of our invest-
ment in WesternGeco and recorded an impairment loss of 
$45.3 million to write-down the investment to its fair value. 
The fair value was determined using a combination of a mar-
ket capitalization and discounted cash flows approach. We 
were assisted in the determination of the fair value by a third 
party. Although not anticipated, further declines in the fair 
value of the investment in WesternGeco would result in addi-
tional impairments.

Equity in Income (Loss) of Affiliates
Equity in income of affiliates was $36.3 million in 2004 

compared with equity in loss of affiliates of $2.1 million in 
2003, which excludes the $135.7 million related to our portion 
of the restructuring and impairment charge taken by West-
ernGeco in the third quarter of 2003. During 2003, the  

2004 Form 10-K     27



operating results of WesternGeco continued to be adversely 
affected by the weakness in the seismic industry and, as a 
result of this weakness, WesternGeco recorded certain impair-
ment and restructuring charges of $452.0 million for impair-
ment of its multiclient seismic library and rationalization of its 
marine seismic fleet.

Operating results for WesternGeco are expected to con-
tinue to improve in 2005; however, based on the trend of 
operating losses and weakness in the seismic industry in prior 
years, there is uncertainty regarding the future operating per-
formance of WesternGeco.

Interest Expense
Interest expense for 2004 decreased $19.5 million com-

pared with 2003 primarily due to lower total debt levels and the 
effect of the interest rate swap agreement entered into in April 
2004. The lower total debt levels are the result of the repay-
ment of $350.0 million of long-term debt in the second quar-
ter of 2004, which decreased interest expense by $16.0 million 
in 2004 compared with 2003. Additionally, the interest rate 
swap agreement decreased interest expense by $4.1 million 
in 2004 compared with 2003.

Interest expense for 2003 decreased $8.0 million compared 
with 2002 due to lower total debt levels, lower weighted 
average interest rates on our commercial paper and money 
market borrowings and increased amortization of deferred 
gains related to terminated interest rate swap agreements. 
The lower total debt levels are the result of the repayment 
of $100.0 million of long-term debt in February 2003. The 
approximate weighted average interest rate on our commercial 
paper and money market borrowings was 1.2% in 2003 com-
pared with 1.8% for 2002. The amortization of deferred gains 
related to terminated interest rate swap agreements reduced 
interest expense by $9.9 million in 2003 compared with 
$6.0 million in 2002.

Income Taxes
Our effective tax rates differ from the U.S. statutory 

income tax rate of 35% due to state income taxes, differing 
rates of tax on international operations and higher taxes 
within the WesternGeco venture.

During 2003, we recognized an incremental effect of 
$36.3 million of additional taxes attributable to our portion of 
the operations of WesternGeco. Of this amount, $15.9 million 
related to the reduction in the carrying value of our equity 
investment in WesternGeco for which there was no tax bene-
fit. The remaining $20.4 million arose from operations of the 
venture due to: (i) the venture being taxed in certain foreign 
jurisdictions based on a deemed profit basis, which is a per-
centage of revenues rather than profits and (ii) unbenefitted 
foreign losses of the venture, which are operating losses and 
impairment and restructuring charges in certain foreign juris-
dictions where there was no current tax benefit and where a 
deferred tax asset was not recorded due to the uncertainty of 
realization. In 2002, the amount of additional taxes resulting 
from operations of the venture was $40.2 million.

During 2003, a benefit of $3.3 million was recognized 
as the result of various refund claims filed in the U.S. During 
2002, a $14.4 million benefit was recognized as the result of 
the settlement of an IRS examination related to our September 
30, 1996 through September 30, 1998 tax years.

Our tax filings for various periods are subjected to audit by 
tax authorities in most jurisdictions where we conduct busi-
ness. These audits may result in assessments of additional 
taxes that are resolved with the authorities or potentially 
through the courts. We believe that these assessments may 
occasionally be based on erroneous and even arbitrary inter-
pretations of local tax law. We have received tax assessments 
from various taxing authorities and are currently at varying 
stages of appeals and/or litigation regarding these matters.  
We have provided for the amounts we believe will ultimately 
result from these proceedings. We believe we have substantial 
defenses to the questions being raised and will pursue all legal 
remedies should an unfavorable outcome result. However, res-
olution of these matters involves uncertainties and there are 
no assurances that the outcomes will be favorable.

Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change
On January 1, 2003, we adopted SFAS No. 143, Accounting 

for Asset Retirement Obligations. SFAS No. 143 requires that 
the fair value of a liability associated with an asset retirement 
obligation (“ARO”) be recognized in the period in which it is 
incurred if a reasonable estimate can be made. The liability for 
the ARO is revised each subsequent period due to the passage 
of time and changes in estimates. The associated retirement 
costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the long-
lived asset and subsequently depreciated over the estimated 
useful life of the asset. The adoption of SFAS No. 143 in 2003 
resulted in a charge of $5.6 million, net of tax of $2.8 million, 
recorded as the cumulative effect of accounting change in the 
consolidated statement of operations. In conjunction with the 
adoption, we recorded ARO liabilities of $11.4 million primarily 
for anticipated costs of obligations associated with the future 
disposal of power source units at certain of our divisions and 
refurbishment costs associated with certain leased facilities in 
Europe and with a fleet of leased railcars and tanks.

On January 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 142, Goodwill 
and Other Intangible Assets. The adoption of SFAS No. 142 
required us to cease amortizing goodwill and to perform a 
transitional impairment test of goodwill in each of our report-
ing units as of January 1, 2002. The reporting units were 
based on our organizational and reporting structure. Corpo-
rate and other assets and liabilities were allocated to the 
reporting units to the extent that they related to the opera-
tions of these reporting units. Valuations of the reporting 
units were performed by a third party. The goodwill in both 
the EIMCO and BIRD operating divisions of the former Process 
segment was determined to be impaired using a combination 
of a market value and discounted cash flows approach to  
estimate fair value. Accordingly, we recognized transitional 
impairment losses of $42.5 million, net of tax of $20.4 million, 
in 2002 as the cumulative effect of accounting change in the 
consolidated statement of operations.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our objective in financing our business is to maintain  

adequate financial resources and access to additional liquidity. 
During 2004, cash flows from operations and short-term bor-
rowings were the principal sources of funding. We anticipate 
that cash flows from operations will cover our liquidity needs 
in 2005. We also have a $500.0 million committed revolving 
credit facility that provides back-up liquidity in the event of an 
unanticipated significant demand on cash flows that could not 
be funded by operations or short-term borrowings. This facility 
expires in July 2006.

Our capital planning process is focused on utilizing cash 
flows generated from operations in ways that enhance the 
value of our company. In 2004, we used cash for a variety 
of activities including working capital needs, payment of divi-
dends, repayments of indebtedness and capital expenditures.

Cash Flows
Cash flows provided (used) by continuing operations by type 

of activity were as follows for the years ended December 31:

 2004 2003 2002

Operating activities $ 783.6 $ 651.6 $ 620.1 
Investing activities  (196.4)  (361.1)  (280.4) 
Financing activities  (352.2)  (335.8)  (312.3)

Statements of cash flows for entities with international 
operations that are local currency functional exclude the 
effects of the changes in foreign currency exchange rates that 
occur during any given year, as these are considered to be 
noncash changes. As a result, changes reflected in certain 
accounts on the consolidated statements of cash flows may 
not reflect the changes in corresponding accounts on the  
consolidated balance sheets.

Operating Activities
Cash flows from operating activities have been steadily 

increasing over the last three years and we expect this trend to 
continue in 2005. We attribute the increases in our cash flows 
to successful management of working capital and increasing 
levels of income from continuing operations adjusted for non-
cash items.

Cash flows from operating activities of continuing opera-
tions increased $132.0 million in 2004 compared with 2003. 
This increase was primarily due to increased operating perfor-
mance, which is directly related to our increased revenues. In 
addition, changes in working capital, primarily consisting of 
changes in accounts receivable, inventories, accounts payable 
and other current liabilities, provided $12.7 million less in cash 
flows during 2004 compared with 2003.

The underlying drivers of the changes in working capital 
are as follows:
• An increase in accounts receivable used $175.3 million in 

cash in 2004 compared with using $13.9 million in cash  
 

in 2003. This was due to the increase in revenues and an 
increase in days sales outstanding (defined as the average 
number of days our accounts receivable are outstanding) 
of approximately two days.

• A build up in inventory in anticipation of increased activity 
used $4.5 million in cash in 2004 compared with providing 
$20.9 million in cash in 2003. The build up in inventory 
was partially offset by our continued focus on improving 
the utilization of inventory on hand.

• An increase in accounts payable and other current liabili-
ties provided $190.6 million in cash in 2004 compared 
with providing $16.5 million in cash in 2003. This was due 
to increased activity, increased employee compensation 
accruals, better management of our accounts payable and 
$45.3 million less in net income tax payments in 2004 
compared with 2003. 
Our pension contributions in 2004 were approximately 

$110.0 million, an increase of approximately $82.0 million com-
pared with 2003, due to our decision to improve the funded 
status of certain pension plans and to provide us with increased 
flexibility on the future funding of these pension plans.

Cash flows from operating activities of continuing operations 
increased $31.5 million in 2003 compared with 2002 primarily 
due to increased operating performance attributable to our 
increased revenues. In addition, working capital decreased with 
the effect of increasing cash flows from operating activities.

The underlying drivers of the changes in working capital 
are as follows:
• An increase in accounts receivable in 2003 used $13.9 mil-

lion in cash compared with providing $86.4 million in 
cash in 2002. This was primarily due to the increase in rev-
enues offset by a reduction in days sales outstanding of 
approximately two days.

• A decrease in inventory in 2003 provided $20.9 million in 
cash compared with providing $15.4 million in cash in 
2002 as we increased our focus on improving the utiliza-
tion of inventory on hand.

• An increase in accounts payable and other current liabilities 
in 2003 provided $16.5 million in cash compared with 
using $106.2 million in cash in 2002. This was due to 
increased activity, increased employee compensation accru-
als, better management of our accounts payable and 
increased accruals for our self insurance programs. Theses 
changes were partially offset by an increase in income tax 
payments of $59.8 million in 2003 compared with 2002.

Investing Activities
Our principal recurring investing activity is the funding 

of capital expenditures to ensure that we have the appropriate 
levels and types of rental tools in place to generate revenues 
from operations. Expenditures for capital assets totaled 
$348.3 million, $404.3 million and $355.9 million for 2004, 
2003 and 2002, respectively. The majority of these expendi-
tures were for rental tools, including wireline, and machinery 
and equipment.
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In December 2004, we paid $1.0 million in cash for the 
remaining 60% interest in Luna Energy L.L.C. (“Luna”), a  
venture we entered into in 2002. During 2004, we also paid 
$5.6 million in settlement of the final purchase price related to 
an acquisition completed in a prior year and invested an addi-
tional $7.1 million in certain of our investments in affiliates.

In 2003, we made two acquisitions having an aggregate 
purchase price of $16.9 million, of which $9.5 million was paid 
in cash. In addition, during 2003, we invested $38.1 million in 
affiliates, of which $30.1 million related to our 50% interest in 
the QuantX Wellbore Instrumentation venture, which is 
engaged in the permanent in-well monitoring market.

In 2002, we made three acquisitions having an aggregate 
cash purchase price of $39.7 million, net of cash acquired. 
In addition, during 2002, we invested $16.5 million in Luna.

In 2004, we received $58.7 million in net proceeds from 
the sale of businesses and our interest in an affiliate. In Janu-
ary, we completed the sale of BIRD and received $5.6 million 
in proceeds, which were subject to post-closing adjustments to 
the purchase price. During the second quarter, we made a net 
payment of $6.8 million to the buyer in settlement of the final 
purchase price adjustments. In February, we completed the 
sale of our minority interest in Petreco International, a venture 
we entered into in 2001, and received proceeds of $35.8 mil-
lion, of which $7.4 million is held in escrow pending the out-
come of potential indemnification obligations pursuant to the 
sales agreement. A portion of the escrow will be released in 
May 2005, with the remainder released in February 2006. In 
September, we also completed the sale of BHMT and received 
proceeds of $31.5 million.

In 2003, we completed the sale of our interest in an oil 
producing property in West Africa for $32.0 million in pro-
ceeds. We received a deposit of $10.0 million in 2002 and 
the remaining $22.0 million in 2003. During 2002, we also 
disposed of our EIMCO division for $48.9 million in proceeds. 
We received $44.0 million in proceeds in 2002, with the 
remainder of the sales price held in escrow pending comple-
tion of final adjustments of the purchase price. In 2003, all 
purchase price adjustments were completed, resulting in the 
release of the escrow balance. We received $2.0 million and 
$2.9 million was returned to the buyer.

Proceeds from disposal of assets were $106.9 million, 
$66.8 million and $77.7 million for 2004, 2003 and 2002, 
respectively. These disposals relate to rental tools that were 
lost-in-hole, as well as machinery, rental tools and equipment 
no longer used in operations that were sold throughout the 
year. Included in the proceeds for 2004 was $12.2 million 
related to the sale of certain real estate properties held for sale.

Financing Activities
We had net borrowings (repayments) of commercial paper 

and other short-term debt of $35.5 million, $11.2 million and 
$(162.4) million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. In 2004, 
we repaid the $100.0 million 8.0% Notes due May 2004 and 
the $250.0 million 7.875% Notes due June 2004. In 2003, 
we repaid the $100.0 million 5.8% Notes due February 2003. 

These repayments were funded with cash on hand, cash flows 
from operations and the issuance of commercial paper.

Total debt outstanding at December 31, 2004 was 
$1,162.3 million, a decrease of $322.1 million compared 
with December 31, 2003. The total debt to total capitalization 
(defined as total debt plus stockholders’ equity) ratio was 
0.23 at December 31, 2004 and 0.31 at December 31, 2003.

At different times during 2003, we entered into three  
separate interest rate swap agreements, each for a notional 
amount of $325.0 million, associated with our 6.25% Notes 
due January 2009. These agreements had been designated 
and had qualified as fair value hedging instruments. Due to 
our outlook for interest rates, we terminated the three agree-
ments and received payments totaling $26.9 million. Each of 
the three agreements was terminated prior to entering into a 
new agreement. The deferred gains are being amortized as a 
reduction of interest expense over the remaining life of the 
underlying debt security, which matures in January 2009.

During 2002, we terminated two interest rate swap  
agreements that had been entered into in prior years. These 
agreements had been designated and had qualified as fair 
value hedging instruments. Upon termination, we received 
proceeds of $4.8 million and $11.0 million. The deferred 
gain of $4.8 million was amortized as a reduction of interest 
expense over the remaining life of the underlying debt  
security, which matured in June 2004. The deferred gain of 
$11.0 million is being amortized as a reduction of interest 
expense over the remaining life of the underlying debt secu-
rity, which matures in January 2009.

We received proceeds of $115.9 million, $61.8 million 
and $38.3 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, from 
the issuance of common stock through the exercise of stock 
options and our employee stock purchase plan.

During 2002, we were authorized by our Board of Direc-
tors to repurchase up to $275.0 million of our common stock. 
During 2003, we repurchased 6.3 million shares at an average 
price of $28.78 per share, for a total of $181.4 million. During 
2002, we repurchased 1.8 million shares at an average price 
of $27.52 per share, for a total of $49.1 million. Upon repur-
chase, the shares were retired. We did not repurchase any 
shares during 2004.

We paid dividends of $153.6 million, $154.3 million and 
$154.9 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Available Credit Facilities
At December 31, 2004, we had $897.4 million of credit 

facilities with commercial banks, of which $500.0 million is a 
committed revolving credit facility (the “facility”) that expires 
in July 2006. The facility contains certain covenants which, 
among other things, require the maintenance of a funded 
indebtedness to total capitalization ratio (a defined formula 
per the facility) of less than or equal to 0.50, limit the amount 
of subsidiary indebtedness and restrict the sale of significant 
assets, defined as 10% or more of total consolidated assets. 
At December 31, 2004, we were in compliance with all the 
facility covenants. There were no direct borrowings under the 
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facility during the year ended December 31, 2004; however, to 
the extent we have outstanding commercial paper, our ability 
to borrow under the facility is reduced. At December 31, 
2004, we had no outstanding commercial paper or money 
market borrowings.

If market conditions were to change and revenues were 
to be significantly reduced or operating costs were to increase, 
our cash flows and liquidity could be reduced. Additionally, it 
could cause the rating agencies to lower our credit rating. 
We do not have any ratings triggers in the facility that would 
accelerate the maturity of any borrowings under the facility. 
However, a downgrade in our credit ratings could increase the 
cost of borrowings under the facility. Also, a downgrade in our 
credit ratings could limit or preclude our ability to issue com-
mercial paper. Should this occur, we would seek alternative 
sources of funding, including borrowing under the facility.

Cash Requirements
In 2005, we believe operating cash flows will provide us 

with sufficient capital resources and liquidity to manage our 
working capital needs, meet contractual obligations, fund cap-
ital expenditures, pay dividends, repurchase common stock 
and support the development of our short-term and long-term 
operating strategies.

We currently expect that 2005 capital expenditures will be 
between $440.0 million and $460.0 million, excluding acquisi-
tions. The expenditures are expected to be used primarily for 
normal, recurring items necessary to support the growth of 
our business and operations.

In 2005, we expect to make interest payments of approxi-
mately $80.0 million to $90.0 million. This is based on our  
current expectations of debt levels during 2005.

We have authorization remaining to repurchase up to 
$44.5 million in common stock. We may continue to repurchase 

our common stock in 2005 depending on the price of our 
common stock, our liquidity and other considerations. In 2005, 
we anticipate paying dividends of $0.46 per share of common 
stock. However, our Board of Directors is free to change the 
dividend policy at any time.

During 2005, we estimate that we will contribute approxi-
mately $12.0 million to $19.0 million to our pension plans and 
make benefit payments related to postretirement welfare plans 
of approximately $16.3 million. We also estimate that we will 
contribute approximately $70.0 million to $80.0 million to our 
defined contribution plans.

We anticipate making income tax payments of approxi-
mately $230.0 million to $260.0 million in 2005.

We do not believe that there are any other material trends, 
demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that would 
have, or are reasonably likely to have, a material impact on 
our financial condition and liquidity. Other than previously dis-
cussed, we currently have no information that would create a 
reasonable likelihood that the reported levels of revenues and 
cash flows from operations in 2004 are not indicative of what 
we can expect in the future.

Contractual Obligations
In the table below, we set forth our enforceable and 

legally binding obligations as of December 31, 2004. Some of 
the figures we include in this table are based on our estimates 
and assumptions about these obligations, including their dura-
tion, anticipated actions by third parties and other factors. The 
enforceable and legally binding obligations we will actually pay 
in future periods may vary from those reflected in the table 
because the estimates and assumptions are subjective.

 Payments Due by Period 

  Less Than 1 – 3  4 – 5  After 

(In millions) Total 1 year  Years Years 5 Years

Total debt(1) $ 1,151.1 $ 76.0 $ 0.1 $ 525.0 $ 550.0 
Estimated interest payments(2)  1,069.1  72.6  145.2  129.1  722.2 
Operating leases(3)  327.7  74.0  85.2  42.2  126.3 
Purchase obligations(4)  114.7  99.4  13.9  1.4  – 
Other long-term liabilities(5)  20.5  4.4  8.9  4.6  2.6

Total $ 2,683.1 $ 326.4 $ 253.3 $ 702.3 $ 1,401.1

(1) Amounts represent the expected cash payments for our total debt and do not include any unamortized discounts, deferred issuance costs, fair market valuation of our 
current interest rate swap agreement or deferred gains on terminated interest rate swap agreements.

(2) Amounts represent the expected cash payments for interest on our fixed rate long-term debt.

(3) We enter into operating leases in the normal course of business. Some lease agreements provide us with the option to renew the lease. Our future operating lease 
payments would change if we exercised these renewal options and if we entered into additional operating lease agreements.

(4) Purchase obligations include agreements to purchase goods or services that are enforceable and legally binding and that specify all significant terms, including: fixed or 
minimum quantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum or variable price provisions; and the approximate timing of the transaction. Purchase obligations exclude agree-
ments that are cancelable at anytime without penalty.

(5) Amounts represent other long-term liabilities, including the current portion, reflected in the consolidated balance sheet where both the timing and amount of 
payment streams are known. Amounts include: payments for certain environmental remediation liabilities, payments for deferred compensation, payouts under 
acquisition agreements and payments for certain asset retirement obligations. Amounts do not include: payments for pension contributions, payments for various 
postretirement welfare benefit plans and postemployment benefit plans and payments for deferred taxes and other tax liabilities, as such amounts have not been 
determined beyond 2005.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
In the normal course of business with customers, vendors 

and others, we have entered into off-balance sheet arrange-
ments, such as letters of credit and other bank issued guaran-
tees, which totaled approximately $312.3 million at Decem- 
ber 31, 2004. In addition, at December 31, 2004, we have 
guaranteed debt and other obligations of third parties with a 
maximum potential exposure of $7.4 million. None of these 
off-balance sheet arrangements either has, or is likely to have, 
a material effect on our current or future financial condition, 
results of operations, liquidity or capital resources.

Other than normal operating leases, we do not have any 
off-balance sheet financing arrangements such as securitiza-
tion agreements, liquidity trust vehicles, synthetic leases or 
special purpose entities. As such, we are not materially 
exposed to any financing, liquidity, market or credit risk that 
could arise if we had engaged in such financing arrangements.

New Accounting Standards
In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board 

(“FASB”) issued FASB Interpretation No. 46 (“FIN 46”), Consoli-
dation of Variable Interest Entities. An entity is subject to the 
consolidation rules of FIN 46 and is referred to as a variable 
interest entity (“VIE”) if the entity’s equity investors lack the 
characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have 
sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its operations 
without additional financial support. In December 2003, the 
FASB issued modifications to FIN 46 (“FIN 46R”), resulting in 
multiple effective dates based on the nature as well as the cre-
ation date of a VIE. The adoption of FIN 46 and FIN 46R in 
2004 had no impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In May 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. 106-2 
(“FSP 106-2”), Accounting and Disclosure Requirements 
Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and 
Modernization Act of 2003, which provides guidance on the 
accounting for the effects of the Medicare Prescription Drug, 
Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 for employers 
that sponsor postretirement health care plans that provide  
prescription drug benefits. We adopted the provisions of FSP 
106-2 in the third quarter of 2004, resulting in a reduction 
in our accumulated postretirement benefit obligation of  
$18.8 million. We recognized a reduction in our net periodic 
postretirement benefit costs of $2.0 million for 2004 as a 
result of the adoption of FSP 106-2.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, Inven-
tory Costs – an Amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, which 
amends the guidance in ARB No. 43 to clarify the accounting 
for abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling 
costs and wasted material. SFAS No. 151 requires that these 
items be recognized as current period charges. In addition, 
SFAS No. 151 requires the allocation of fixed production over-
heads to inventory based on the normal capacity of the pro-
duction facilities. SFAS No. 151 is effective for inventory costs 
incurred during fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. 
We are currently evaluating the provisions of SFAS No. 151 
and will adopt SFAS No. 151 on January 1, 2006.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, 
Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets – an amendment of APB 
Opinion No. 29, to address the measurement of exchanges of 
nonmonetary assets. SFAS No. 153 eliminates the exception 
from fair value measurement for nonmonetary exchanges of 
similar productive assets and replaces it with a general excep-
tion for exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not have 
commercial substance. A nonmonetary exchange has com-
mercial substance if the future cash flows of the entity are 
expected to change significantly as a result of the exchange. 
SFAS No. 153 is effective for nonmonetary exchanges occur-
ring after June 30, 2005. We will adopt SFAS No. 153 on 
July 1, 2005.

In December 2004, the FASB revised SFAS No. 123, Share-
Based Payment (“SFAS No. 123R”). SFAS No. 123R is a revision 
of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, 
and supersedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, 
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. SFAS No. 123R 
requires a public entity to measure the cost of employee ser-
vices received in exchange for an award of equity instruments 
based on the grant-date fair value of the award. That cost will 
be recognized over the period in which an employee is 
required to provide service in exchange for the award. SFAS 
No. 123R also requires a public entity to initially measure the 
cost of employee services rendered in exchange for an award 
of liability instruments at its current fair value. The fair value of 
that award is to be remeasured subsequently at each reporting 
date through the settlement date. Changes in the fair value 
during the required service period are to be recognized as 
compensation cost over that period. We are currently in the 
process of evaluating different option pricing models and the 
impact of SFAS No. 123R on our consolidated financial state-
ments. We will adopt SFAS No. 123R on July 1, 2005.

In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position 
No. 109-1 (“FSP 109-1”), Application of FASB Statement 
No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” (“SFAS No. 109”) to 
the Tax Deduction on Qualified Production Activities Provided 
by the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004, which provides 
guidance on the recently enacted American Jobs Creation Act 
of 2004 (the “Act”). The Act provides a tax deduction for 
income from qualified domestic production activities. FSP 109-1 
provides for the treatment of the deduction as a special deduc-
tion as described in SFAS No. 109. As such, the deduction will 
have no effect on existing deferred tax assets and liabilities. 
The impact of the deduction is to be reported in the period in 
which the deduction is claimed on our U.S. tax return. We do 
not expect that this deduction will have a material impact on 
our effective tax rate in future years. FSP 109-1 is effective 
prospectively as of January 1, 2005.

In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position 
No. 109-2 (“FSP 109-2”), Accounting and Disclosure Guidance 
for the Foreign Repatriation Provision within the American 
Jobs Creation Act of 2004, which provides guidance under 
SFAS No. 109 with respect to recording the potential impact 
of the repatriation provisions of the Act on a company’s 
income tax expense and deferred tax liability. FSP 109-2 states 
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that a company is allowed time beyond the financial reporting 
period of enactment to evaluate the effect of the Act on its 
plan for reinvestment or repatriation of foreign earnings for 
purposes of applying SFAS No. 109. We have not yet decided 
on whether, and to what extent, we might elect to repatriate  
foreign earnings under the provisions in the Act. Any such 
repatriation under the Act must occur by December 31, 2005. 
Accordingly, our consolidated financial statements do not 
reflect a provision for taxes related to this election. The maxi-
mum amount we could elect to repatriate is $500 million as 
prescribed in the Act. Our evaluation of the effect of the elec-
tion is expected to be completed by the end of the second 
quarter of 2005.

Related Party Transactions
In conjunction with the formation of WesternGeco in 

November 2000, we entered into an agreement with Schlum-
berger whereby a cash true-up payment will be made by 
either of the parties based on a formula comparing the ratio 
of the net present value of sales revenue from each party’s 
contributed multiclient seismic data libraries during the four-
year period ending November 30, 2004 and the ratio of the 
net book value of those libraries as of November 30, 2000. 
The maximum payment that either party will be required to 
make as a result of this adjustment is $100.0 million. We cur-
rently estimate that Schlumberger will make a payment to us 
in the range of $9.0 million to $11.5 million, pending final 
determination of the adjustment. When received, this payment 
will be recorded as a reduction to the carrying value of our 
investment in WesternGeco. This payment will be taxable 
when paid and the tax effect will be recorded as current 
income tax expense.

In November 2000, we also entered into an agreement 
with WesternGeco whereby WesternGeco subleased a facility 
from us for a period of ten years at then current market 
rates. During 2004, 2003 and 2002, we received payments 
of $5.5 million, $5.0 million and $5.5 million, respectively, 
from WesternGeco related to this lease.

On or after December 1, 2005, either party to the West-
ernGeco Master Formation Agreement may offer to sell their 
entire interest in the venture to the other party at a cash pur-
chase price per percentage interest specified in an offer notice. 
If the offer to sell is not accepted, the offering party will be 
obligated to purchase the entire interest of the other party at 
the same price per percentage interest as the price specified 
in the offer notice. We cannot predict when, or if, we or  
Schlumberger may exercise this right.

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, net accounts (payable) 
receivable from affiliates totaled $(1.1) million and $0.7 mil-
lion, respectively. There were no other significant related  
party transactions.

Forward-Looking Statements
MD&A and certain statements in the Notes to Consoli-

dated Financial Statements include forward-looking statements 
within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 
1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934, as amended, (each a “forward-looking state-
ment”). The words “anticipate,” “believe,” “ensure,” 
“expect,” “if,” “intend,” “estimate,” “project,” “forecasts,” 
“predict,” “outlook,” “aim,” “will,” “could,” “should,” 
“would,” “may,” “likely” and similar expressions, and the 
negative thereof, are intended to identify forward-looking 
statements. We undertake no obligation to publicly update 
or revise any forward-looking statement. Our expectations 
regarding our business outlook, including changes in revenue, 
pricing, capital spending, profitability, oil and natural gas mar-
ket conditions, market share and contract terms, costs and 
availability of resources, economic and regulatory conditions, 
and environmental matters are only our forecasts regarding 
these matters.

These forecasts may be substantially different from actual 
results, which are affected by those risk factors and the timing 
of any of those risk factors identified in the “Environmental 
Matters” section in Item 1 herein and the “Risk Factors Related 
to the Worldwide Oil and Natural Gas Industry” and “Risk Fac-
tors Related to Our Business” sections contained herein.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE  
DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to certain market risks that are inherent 
in our financial instruments that arise in the normal course 
of business. We may enter into derivative financial instrument 
transactions to manage or reduce market risk but do not enter 
into derivative financial instrument transactions for speculative 
purposes. A discussion of our primary market risk exposure in 
financial instruments is presented below.

Indebtedness
We are subject to interest rate risk on our long-term fixed 

interest rate debt. Commercial paper borrowings, other short-
term borrowings and variable rate long-term debt do not give 
rise to significant interest rate risk because these borrowings 
either have maturities of less than three months or have variable 
interest rates. All other things being equal, the fair market value 
of debt with a fixed interest rate will increase as interest rates fall 
and will decrease as interest rates rise. This exposure to interest 
rate risk is managed by borrowing money that has a variable 
interest rate or using interest rate swaps to change fixed interest 
rate borrowings to variable interest rate borrowings.
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Interest Rate Swap Agreements
In April 2004, we entered into an interest rate swap agree-

ment for a notional amount of $325.0 million associated with 
our 6.25% Notes due January 2009. Under this agreement we 
receive interest at a fixed rate of 6.25% and pay interest at 
a floating rate of six-month LIBOR plus a spread of 2.741%. 
The interest rate swap agreement has been designated and 
qualifies as a fair value hedging instrument. The interest rate 
swap agreement is fully effective, resulting in no gain or loss 
recorded in the consolidated statement of operations. We 
recorded the fair value of the interest rate swap agreement, 
which was a $2.3 million liability at December 31, 2004, based 
on quoted market prices for contracts with similar terms and 
maturity dates.

At different times during 2003, we entered into three 
separate interest rate swap agreements, each for a notional 
amount of $325.0 million, associated with our 6.25% Notes 
due January 2009. These agreements had been designated 
and had qualified as fair value hedging instruments. Due to 
our outlook for interest rates, we terminated the three agree-
ments and received payments totaling $26.9 million. Each of 
the three agreements was terminated prior to entering into a 
new agreement. The deferred gains are being amortized as a 
reduction of interest expense over the remaining life of the 
underlying debt security, which matures in January 2009.

During 2002, we terminated two interest rate swap  
agreements that had been entered into in prior years. These 
agreements had been designated and had qualified as fair 
value hedging instruments. Upon termination, we received 
proceeds of $4.8 million and $11.0 million. The deferred 
gain of $4.8 million was amortized as a reduction of interest 
expense over the remaining life of the underlying debt security, 
which matured in June 2004. The deferred gain of $11.0 mil-
lion is being amortized as a reduction of interest expense over 
the remaining life of the underlying debt security, which 
matures in January 2009.

Foreign Currency and Foreign  
Currency Forward Contracts

We conduct operations around the world in a number 
of different currencies. The majority of our significant foreign 
subsidiaries have designated the local currency as their func-
tional currency. As such, future earnings are subject to change 
due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates when trans-
actions are denominated in currencies other than our func-
tional currencies. To minimize the need for foreign currency 
forward contracts to hedge this exposure, our objective is to 
manage foreign currency exposure by maintaining a minimal 
consolidated net asset or net liability position in a currency 
other than the functional currency.

(Dollar amounts in millions) 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 Thereafter Total

As of December 31, 2004:
Long-term debt(1)(2) $ – $ 0.1 $ 0.1 $ – $ – $ 525.0 $ 550.0 $ 1,075.2
 Weighted average
  effective interest rates    12.30%  6.50%    4.96%(3)(4) 7.55% 6.24%(3)(4)

Fixed to variable swaps(4)

 Notional amount           $ 325.0   $ 325.0
 Pay rate            4.60%(5)   4.60%(5)

 Receive rate            6.25%   6.25%

As of December 31, 2003:
Long-term debt(1)(2) $ 350.4 $ – $ 0.2 $ – $ – $ – $ 1,075.0 $ 1,425.6
 Weighted average
  effective interest rates  7.21%(3)    6.12%        6.16%(3) 6.41%(3)

(1) Amounts do not include any unamortized discounts, deferred issuance costs or deferred gains on terminated interest rate swap agreements.

(2) Fair market value of fixed rate long-term debt was $1,239.0 million at December 31, 2004 and $1,570.8 million at December 31, 2003.

(3) Includes the effect of the amortization of deferred gains on terminated interest rate swap agreements.

(4) Includes the fair market value of the interest rate swap agreement entered into in April 2004. The fair market value of the interest rate swap agreement was a  
$2.3 million liability at December 31, 2004.

(5) Six-month LIBOR for the U.S. Dollar, reset semi-annually in January and July, plus 2.741%.

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, we had fixed rate debt aggregating $1,075.2 million and $1,425.6 million, respectively. The fol-
lowing table sets forth the required cash payments for our indebtedness, which bear a fixed rate of interest and are denominated in 
U.S. Dollars, and the related weighted average effective interest rates by expected maturity dates as of December 31, 2004 and 2003.
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At December 31, 2004, we had entered into several  
foreign currency forward contracts with notional amounts 
aggregating $78.0 million to hedge exposure to currency  
fluctuations in various foreign currencies, including the British 
Pound Sterling, the Norwegian Krone, the Euro and the Brazil-
ian Real. These contracts are designated and qualify as fair 
value hedging instruments. Based on quoted market prices as 
of December 31, 2004 for contracts with similar terms and 
maturity dates, we recorded a loss of $0.4 million to adjust 
these foreign currency forward contracts to their fair market 
value. This loss offsets designated foreign exchange gains 
resulting from the underlying exposures and is included in sell-
ing, general and administrative expense in the consolidated 
statement of operations.

At December 31, 2004, we had also entered into several 
foreign currency forward contracts with notional amounts 
aggregating $122.4 million to hedge exposure to currency 
fluctuations in various foreign currencies, including the British 
Pound Sterling and the Canadian Dollar. These exposures arise 
when local currency operating expenses are not in balance 
with local currency revenue collections. The funding of such 
imbalances is supported by short-term intercompany borrow-
ing commitments that have definitive amounts and funding 
dates. All fundings are scheduled to take place on or before 
December 31, 2005. These foreign currency forward contracts 
were designated as cash flow hedging instruments and are 
fully effective. Based on quoted market prices as of Decem-
ber 31, 2004 for contracts with similar terms and maturity 
dates, we recorded a loss of $0.1 million to adjust these  
foreign currency forward contracts to their fair market value. 
The loss is recorded in other comprehensive income in the 
consolidated balance sheet.

At December 31, 2003, we had entered into several for-
eign currency forward contracts with notional amounts aggre-
gating $62.5 million to hedge exposure to currency fluctuations 
in various foreign currencies, including the British Pound Ster-
ling, the Norwegian Krone, the Euro, the Brazilian Real and 
the Argentine Peso. These contracts are designated and qualify 
as fair value hedging instruments. Based on quoted market 
prices as of December 31, 2003 for contracts with similar 
terms and maturity dates, we recorded a gain of $1.5 million 
to adjust these foreign currency forward contracts to their fair 
market value. This gain offsets designated foreign exchange 
losses resulting from the underlying exposures and is included 
in selling, general and administrative expense in the consoli-
dated statement of operations.

The counterparties to the forward contracts are major 
financial institutions. The credit ratings and concentration of 
risk of these financial institutions are monitored on a continu-
ing basis. In the unlikely event that the counterparties fail to 
meet the terms of a foreign currency contract, our exposure 
is limited to the foreign currency rate differential.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over our financial reporting, as such 

term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f). Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide rea-
sonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Our control environment is the foundation for our system of internal con-
trol and is embodied in our Business Code of Conduct, which sets the tone of our company and includes our Core Values of Integ-
rity, Teamwork, Performance and Learning. Included in our system of internal control are written policies, an organizational structure 
providing division of responsibilities, the selection and training of qualified personnel and a program of financial and operations 
reviews by a professional staff of corporate auditors. Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and proce-
dures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the underlying transac-
tions, including the acquisition and disposition of assets; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that our assets are safeguarded and 
transactions are executed in accordance with management’s and our directors’ authorization and are recorded as necessary to per-
mit preparation of our financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; and (iii) provide reasonable 
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of our assets that could have a 
material effect on the financial statements.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal 
financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Our evaluation was 
based on the framework in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission.

Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal Control – Integrated Framework, our principal executive officer and prin-
cipal financial officer concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2004. The conclu-
sion of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer is based on the recognition that there are inherent limitations in all 
systems of internal control. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect mis-
statements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Our management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004  
has been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is 
included herein.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Baker Hughes Incorporated
Houston, Texas

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over 
Financial Reporting, that Baker Hughes Incorporated and subsidiaries (the “Company”) maintained effective internal control over 
financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining 
effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial report-
ing. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control 
over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control 
over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of 
internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit 
provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s principal 
executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company’s board of directors, 
management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation 
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal con-
trol over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable 
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of 
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unau-
thorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper 
management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. 
Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to 
the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the poli-
cies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in 
all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on the criteria established in 
Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), 
the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of December 31, 2004 and for the year then ended, and the financial 
statement schedule II; and our report dated February 24, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial 
statements and financial statement schedule.

Houston, Texas
February 24, 2005
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Baker Hughes Incorporated
Houston, Texas

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Baker Hughes Incorporated and subsidiaries (the “Com-
pany”) as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash 
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule 
II, valuation and qualifying accounts. These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Com-
pany’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by manage-
ment, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for 
our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Baker 
Hughes Incorporated and subsidiaries at December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for 
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. Also, in our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consoli-
dated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

As described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements: effective as of January 1, 2003, the Company adopted State-
ment of Financial Accounting Standards No. 143, which established new accounting and reporting standards for asset retirement 
obligations; and effective as of January 1, 2002, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, which 
established new accounting and reporting standards for the recording, amortization and impairment of goodwill and other intangibles.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on the criteria established 
in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and 
our report dated February 24, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Com-
pany’s internal control over financial reporting and an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting.

Houston, Texas
February 24, 2005

38     Baker Hughes Incorporated



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

 Year Ended December 31,

(In millions, except per share amounts) 2004 2003 2002 

Revenues $ 6,103.8 $ 5,252.4 $ 4,860.2

Costs and expenses: 
 Cost of revenues  4,367.4  3,820.9  3,490.1
 Selling, general and administrative  915.4  827.0  807.7 
 Impairment of investment in affiliate  –  45.3  –
 Reversal of restructuring charge  –  (1.1)  –

  Total  5,282.8  4,692.1  4,297.8

Operating income  821.0  560.3  562.4
Equity in income (loss) of affiliates  36.3  (137.8)  (69.7)
Interest expense  (83.6)  (103.1)  (111.1)
Interest income  6.8  5.3  5.2

Income from continuing operations before income taxes  780.5  324.7  386.8
Income taxes  (252.3)  (146.8)  (159.0)

Income from continuing operations  528.2  177.9  227.8
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax  0.4  (43.4)  (16.4)

Income before cumulative effect of accounting change  528.6  134.5  211.4
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax  –  (5.6)  (42.5)

Net income $ 528.6 $ 128.9 $ 168.9

Basic earnings per share: 
 Income from continuing operations $ 1.58 $ 0.53 $ 0.67
 Income (loss) from discontinued operations  –  (0.13)  (0.05) 
 Cumulative effect of accounting change  –  (0.02)  (0.12)

 Net income $ 1.58 $ 0.38 $ 0.50

Diluted earnings per share: 
 Income from continuing operations $ 1.57 $ 0.53 $ 0.67
 Income (loss) from discontinued operations  0.01  (0.13)  (0.05) 
 Cumulative effect of accounting change  –  (0.02)  (0.12)

 Net income $ 1.58 $ 0.38 $ 0.50

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

 December 31, 

(In millions, except par value) 2004 2003

Assets
Current Assets:
 Cash and cash equivalents  $ 319.0 $ 98.4
 Accounts receivable – less allowance for doubtful accounts:
  December 31, 2004, $50.5; December 31, 2003, $61.8  1,356.1  1,141.8
 Inventories  1,035.2  1,013.4 
 Deferred income taxes  199.7  172.6
 Other current assets  56.6  58.1 
 Assets of discontinued operations  –  48.7

  Total current assets  2,966.6  2,533.0

Investments in affiliates  678.1  691.3
Property – less accumulated depreciation:
 December 31, 2004, $2,382.9; December 31, 2003, $2,215.0   1,334.1  1,395.1
Goodwill  1,267.0  1,239.4 
Intangible assets – less accumulated amortization:
 December 31, 2004, $70.2; December 31, 2003, $55.8  155.1  163.4
Other assets  420.4  394.3

Total assets $ 6,821.3 $ 6,416.5

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities:
 Accounts payable $ 454.3 $ 386.4
 Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term debt  76.0  351.4
 Accrued employee compensation  368.8  277.8 
 Income taxes  104.8  41.6 
 Other accrued liabilities  231.6  237.7
 Liabilities of discontinued operations  –  29.5

  Total current liabilities  1,235.5  1,324.4

Long-term debt  1,086.3  1,133.0
Deferred income taxes and other tax liabilities  231.9  218.9
Pensions and postretirement benefit obligations  308.3  311.1
Other liabilities  63.9  78.7
Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders’ equity:
 Common stock, one dollar par value (shares authorized – 750.0;
  outstanding – 336.6 at December 31, 2004 and 332.0 at December 31, 2003)   336.6  332.0
 Capital in excess of par value  3,127.8  2,998.6
 Retained earnings   545.9  170.9
 Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (109.8)  (151.1) 
 Unearned compensation  (5.1)  –

Total stockholders’ equity   3,895.4  3,350.4

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 6,821.3 $ 6,416.5

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

    Accumulated 

  Capital in  Other  

 Common Excess of Retained Comprehensive Unearned 

(In millions, except per share amounts) Stock Par Value Earnings Loss Compensation Total

Balance, December 31, 2001 $ 336.0 $ 3,119.3 $ 182.3 $ (309.8) $ – $ 3,327.8
Comprehensive income:            
 Net income      168.9      
 Foreign currency translation adjustments:            
  Reclassifications included in net  
   income due to sale of business        20.0    
  Translation adjustments, net of tax of $(0.2)       74.5    
 Change in minimum pension liability,  
  net of tax of $15.7        (31.2)    
Total comprehensive income            232.2
Cash dividends ($0.46 per share)      (154.9)      (154.9)
Stock issued pursuant to employee stock plans  1.6  39.6        41.2
Repurchase and retirement of common stock  (1.8)  (47.3)        (49.1)

Balance, December 31, 2002  335.8  3,111.6  196.3  (246.5)  –  3,397.2
Comprehensive income:            
 Net income      128.9      
 Foreign currency translation adjustments:            
  Reclassifications included in net income  
   due to sale of business        17.7  
  Translation adjustments, net of tax of $0.3        95.6  
 Change in minimum pension liability,   
  net of tax of $5.3        (17.9)    
Total comprehensive income            224.3
Cash dividends ($0.46 per share)      (154.3)      (154.3)
Stock issued pursuant to employee stock plans  2.5  62.1        64.6
Repurchase and retirement of common stock  (6.3)  (175.1)        (181.4)

Balance, December 31, 2003  332.0  2,998.6  170.9  (151.1)  –  3,350.4
Comprehensive income:            
 Net income      528.6      
 Foreign currency translation adjustments:            
  Reclassifications included in net     
   income due to sale of business        6.6    
  Translation adjustments, net of tax of $2.3        30.8    
 Change in minimum pension liability,  
  net of tax of $(1.8)        4.0    
 Loss on derivative instruments, net of    
  tax of $0.01        (0.1)    
Total comprehensive income            569.9
Cash dividends ($0.46 per share)      (153.6)      (153.6)
Issuance of restricted stock  0.2  6.7      (6.9)  –
Amortization of unearned compensation,  
 net of tax of $1.0          1.8  1.8
Stock issued pursuant to employee stock plans 4.4  122.5        126.9

Balance, December 31, 2004 $ 336.6 $ 3,127.8 $ 545.9 $ (109.8) $ (5.1) $ 3,895.4

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

 Year Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2004 2003 2002

Cash flows from operating activities:      
Income from continuing operations $ 528.2 $ 177.9 $ 227.8
Adjustments to reconcile income from continuing  
 operations to net cash flows from operating activities:      
 Depreciation and amortization  371.8  347.5  319.6
 Amortization of deferred gains on derivatives  (7.9)  (6.7)  (1.3)
 Amortization of unearned compensation  1.8  –  –
 Acquired in-process research and development  1.8  –  –
 Provision (benefit) for deferred income taxes  48.4  (20.1)  (20.4)
 Gain on disposal of assets  (37.8)  (30.2)  (45.8)
 Impairment of investment in affiliate  –  45.3  –
 Equity in (income) loss of affiliates  (36.3)  137.8  69.7
 Change in accounts receivable  (175.3)  (13.9)  86.4
 Change in inventories  (4.5)  20.9  15.4
 Change in accounts payable  49.2  16.0  (56.8)
 Change in accrued employee compensation and other accrued liabilities  141.4  0.5  (49.4)
 Change in pensions and postretirement benefit obligations and other liabilities  (30.4)  (23.0)  18.0
 Change in other assets and liabilities  (66.8)  (0.4)  56.9

Net cash flows from continuing operations  783.6  651.6  620.1
Net cash flows from discontinued operations  0.1  4.5  86.3

Net cash flows from operating activities  783.7  656.1  706.4

      
Cash flows from investing activities:      
 Expenditures for capital assets  (348.3)  (404.3)  (355.9)
 Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired  (6.6)  (9.5)  (39.7)
 Investments in affiliates  (7.1)  (38.1)  (16.5)
 Proceeds from sale of business and interest in affiliate  58.7  24.0  54.0
 Proceeds from disposal of assets  106.9  66.8  77.7

Net cash flows from continuing operations  (196.4)  (361.1)  (280.4)
Net cash flows from discontinued operations  (0.4)  (1.1)  (2.7)

Net cash flows from investing activities  (196.8)  (362.2)  (283.1)

      
Cash flows from financing activities:      
 Net borrowings (repayments) of commercial paper and other short-term debt  35.5  11.2  (162.4)
 Repayment of indebtedness  (350.0)  (100.0)  –
 Proceeds from termination of interest rate swap agreements  –  26.9  15.8
 Proceeds from issuance of common stock  115.9  61.8  38.3
 Repurchase of common stock  –  (181.4)  (49.1)
 Dividends  (153.6)  (154.3)  (154.9)

Net cash flows from financing activities  (352.2)  (335.8)  (312.3)

      
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash  (14.1)  (3.6)  (5.8)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  220.6  (45.5)  105.2
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  98.4  143.9  38.7

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 319.0 $ 98.4 $ 143.9

      
Income taxes paid $ 143.2 $ 188.5 $ 128.7
Interest paid $ 97.5 $ 116.2 $ 111.8

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

42     Baker Hughes Incorporated



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Nature of Operations

Baker Hughes Incorporated (“Baker Hughes”) is engaged 
in the oilfield services industry. Baker Hughes is a major sup-
plier of wellbore-related products and technology services and 
systems to the worldwide oil and natural gas industry and pro-
vides products and services for drilling, formation evaluation, 
completion and production of oil and natural gas wells.

Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts 

of Baker Hughes and all majority owned subsidiaries (“we,” 
“our” or “us”). Investments over which we have the ability to 
exercise significant influence over operating and financial poli-
cies, but do not hold a controlling interest, are accounted for 
using the equity method of accounting. All significant intercom-
pany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consoli-
dation. In the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, all 
dollar and share amounts in tabulations are in millions of dollars 
and shares, respectively, unless otherwise indicated.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America requires management to make estimates and judg-
ments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabili-
ties, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date 
of the financial statements and the reported amounts of reve-
nues and expenses during the reporting period. We base our 
estimates and judgments on historical experience and on vari-
ous other assumptions and information that are believed to 
be reasonable under the circumstances. Estimates and 
assumptions about future events and their effects cannot be 
perceived with certainty and, accordingly, these estimates may 
change as new events occur, as more experience is acquired, 
as additional information is obtained and as our operating 
environment changes. While we believe that the estimates 
and assumptions used in the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements are appropriate, actual results could differ 
from those estimates. Estimates are used for, but are not lim-
ited to, determining the following: allowance for doubtful 
accounts and inventory valuation reserves, recoverability of 
long-lived assets, useful lives used in depreciation and amorti-
zation, income taxes and related valuation allowances, and 
insurance, environmental, legal and pensions and postretire-
ment benefit obligations.

Revenue Recognition
Our products and services are generally sold based upon 

purchase orders or contracts with the customer that include 
fixed or determinable prices and that do not include right of 
return or other similar provisions or other significant post-
delivery obligations. Our products are produced in a standard 
manufacturing operation, even if produced to our customer’s 
specifications, and are sold in the ordinary course of business 
through our regular marketing channels. We recognize reve-
nue for these products upon delivery, when title passes and 
when collectibility is reasonably assured. Provisions for esti-
mated warranty returns or similar types of items are made at 
the time the related revenue is recognized. Revenue for ser-
vices is recognized as the services are rendered and when col-
lectibility is reasonably assured. Rates for services are typically 
priced on a per day, per meter, per man hour or similar basis.

Cash Equivalents
We consider all highly liquid investments with an original 

maturity of three months or less at the time of purchase to be 
cash equivalents.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is 

determined using the first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) method or the 
average cost method, which approximates FIFO, and includes 
the cost of materials, labor and manufacturing overhead.

Property and Depreciation
Property is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation, 

which is generally provided by using the straight-line method 
over the estimated useful lives of the individual assets. We 
manufacture a substantial portion of our rental tools and 
equipment and the cost of these items, which includes direct 
and indirect manufacturing costs, are capitalized and carried in 
inventory until the tool is completed. Once the tool has been 
completed, the cost of the tool is reflected in capital expendi-
tures and the tool is classified as rental tools and equipment in 
property. Significant improvements and betterments are capi-
talized if they extend the useful life of the asset.

We had an interest in an oil producing property in West 
Africa that was sold effective January 2003 and is classified as 
a discontinued operation. We used the full-cost method of 
accounting for this property. Under this method, we capital-
ized all acquisition, exploration and development costs 
incurred for the purpose of finding oil reserves. In accordance 
with full cost accounting rules, we performed ceiling tests on 
the carrying value of our oil properties. During 2002, there 
was no ceiling test charge recorded. Depreciation, depletion 
and amortization of oil properties were computed using the 
unit-of-production method based upon production and esti-
mates of proved reserves and totaled $16.6 million in 2002. 
No costs were excluded from the full cost amortization pool. 
At December 31, 2002, our only cost center related to these 
properties was in West Africa.
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Goodwill, Intangible Assets and Amortization
Goodwill, including goodwill associated with equity 

method investments, and intangible assets with indefinite lives 
are not amortized. Intangible assets with finite useful lives are 
amortized either on a straight-line basis over the asset’s esti-
mated useful life or on a basis that reflects the pattern in which 
the economic benefits of the intangible assets are realized. 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
We review property, intangible assets and certain other 

assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circum-
stances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recover-
able. The determination of recoverability is made based upon 
the estimated undiscounted future net cash flows, excluding 
interest expense. The amount of impairment loss, if any, is 
determined by comparing the fair value, as determined by a 
discounted cash flows analysis, with the carrying value of the 
related assets.

We perform an annual impairment test of goodwill as 
of October 1, or more frequently if circumstances indicate 
that impairment may exist. Investments in affiliates are also 
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in cir-
cumstances indicate that impairment may exist. The determina-
tion of impairment is made by comparing the carrying amount 
with its fair value, which is calculated using a combination of a 
market capitalization and discounted cash flows approach.

Income Taxes
We use the liability method for determining our income 

taxes, under which current and deferred tax liabilities and 
assets are recorded in accordance with enacted tax laws and 
rates. Under this method, the amounts of deferred tax liabili-
ties and assets at the end of each period are determined using 
the tax rate expected to be in effect when taxes are actually 
paid or recovered. Future tax benefits are recognized to the 
extent that realization of such benefits is more likely than not.

Deferred income taxes are provided for the estimated 
income tax effect of temporary differences between financial 
and tax bases in assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets are 
also provided for certain tax credit carryforwards. A valuation 
allowance to reduce deferred tax assets is established when it 
is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred 
tax assets will not be realized.

We intend to indefinitely reinvest certain earnings of our 
foreign subsidiaries in operations outside the U.S., and accord-
ingly, we have not provided for U.S. income taxes on such 
earnings. We do provide for the U.S. and additional non-U.S. 
taxes on earnings anticipated to be repatriated from our non-
U.S. subsidiaries.

We operate in more than 90 countries under many legal 
forms. As a result, we are subject to the jurisdiction of numer-
ous domestic and foreign tax authorities, as well as to tax 
agreements and treaties among these governments. Our oper-
ations in these different jurisdictions are taxed on various 
bases:  actual income before taxes, deemed profits (which are 
generally determined using a percentage of revenues rather 

than profits) and withholding taxes based on revenue. Deter-
mination of taxable income in any jurisdiction requires the 
interpretation of the related tax laws and regulations and the 
use of estimates and assumptions regarding significant future 
events, such as the amount, timing and character of deduc-
tions, permissible revenue recognition methods under the tax 
law and the sources and character of income and tax credits. 
Changes in tax laws, regulations, agreements and treaties, for-
eign currency exchange restrictions or our level of operations 
or profitability in each taxing jurisdiction could have an impact 
upon the amount of income taxes that we provide during any 
given year.

Our tax filings for various periods are subjected to audit by 
tax authorities in most jurisdictions where we conduct busi-
ness. These audits may result in assessments of additional 
taxes that are resolved with the authorities or potentially 
through the courts. We believe that these assessments may 
occasionally be based on erroneous and even arbitrary inter-
pretations of local tax law. We have received tax assessments 
from various taxing authorities and are currently at varying 
stages of appeals and/or litigation regarding these matters. 

We have provided for the amounts we believe will ulti-
mately result from these proceedings. We believe we have 
substantial defenses to the questions being raised and will 
pursue all legal remedies should an unfavorable outcome 
result. However, resolution of these matters involves uncer-
tainties and there are no assurances that the outcomes will 
be favorable.

Product Warranties
We sell certain products with a product warranty that pro-

vides that customers can return a defective product during a 
specified warranty period following the purchase in exchange 
for a replacement product, repair at no cost to the customer 
or the issuance of a credit to the customer. We accrue 
amounts for estimated warranty claims based upon current 
and historical product sales data, warranty costs incurred and 
any other related information known to us.

Environmental Matters
Remediation costs are accrued based on estimates of prob-

able environmental exposure using currently available facts, 
existing environmental permits, technology and presently 
enacted laws and regulations. For sites where we are primarily 
responsible for the remediation, our cost estimates are devel-
oped based on internal evaluations and are not discounted. 
Such accruals are recorded when it is probable that we will 
be obligated to pay amounts for environmental site evaluation, 
remediation or related activities, and such amounts can be rea-
sonably estimated. If the obligation can only be estimated 
within a range, we accrue the minimum amount in the range. 
Such accruals are recorded even if significant uncertainties 
exist over the ultimate cost of the remediation. As additional 
or more accurate information becomes available, we adjust 
such accruals to reflect current cost estimates. Ongoing envi-
ronmental compliance costs, such as obtaining environmental 
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permits, installation of pollution control equipment and waste 
disposal, are expensed as incurred. Where we have been iden-
tified as a potentially responsible party in a United States fed-
eral or state “Superfund” site, we accrue our share of the 
estimated remediation costs of the site. This share is based on 
the ratio of the estimated volume of waste we contributed to 
the site to the total volume of waste disposed at the site.

Foreign Currency
The majority of our significant foreign subsidiaries have 

designated the local currency as their functional currency 
and, as such, gains and losses resulting from balance sheet 
translation of foreign operations are included as a separate 
component of accumulated other comprehensive loss within 
stockholders’ equity. Gains and losses from foreign currency 
transactions, such as those resulting from the settlement of 
foreign receivables or payables, are included in selling, general 
and administrative (“SG&A”) expense in the consolidated 
statements of operations as incurred. For those foreign  
subsidiaries that have designated the U.S. Dollar as the  
functional currency, gains and losses resulting from balance 
sheet translation of foreign operations are also included in 
SG&A expense in the consolidated statements of operations 
as incurred. We recorded net foreign currency transaction 
and translation gains (losses) of $4.0 million, $1.5 million 
and $(16.8) million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Derivative Financial Instruments
We monitor our exposure to various business risks includ-

ing commodity price, foreign currency exchange rate and 
interest rate risks and occasionally use derivative financial 
instruments to manage the impact of certain of these risks. 
Our policies do not permit the use of derivative financial 
instruments for speculative purposes. We use foreign currency 
forward contracts to hedge certain firm commitments and 
transactions denominated in foreign currencies. We use inter-
est rate swaps to manage interest rate risk.

At the inception of any new derivative, we designate the 
derivative as a cash flow hedge or fair value hedge. We docu-
ment all relationships between the hedging instruments and 
the hedged items, as well as our risk management objectives 
and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. We 
assess whether the derivatives that are used in hedging trans-
actions are highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows 
of the hedged item at both the inception of the hedge and on 
an ongoing basis.

Stock-Based Compensation
As allowed under Statement of Financial Accounting  

Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based  
Compensation, we have elected to account for our stock-
based compensation using the intrinsic value method of 
accounting in accordance with Accounting Principles Board 
Opinion No. 25 (“APB No. 25”), Accounting for Stock Issued 
to Employees. Under this method, compensation expense 
is to be recognized for the difference between the quoted 
market price of the stock at the measurement date less the 

amount, if any, the employee is required to pay for the stock. 
Our reported net income does not include any compensation 
expense associated with stock option awards because the 
exercise prices of our stock option awards equal the market 
prices of the underlying stock when granted. Our reported 
net income does include compensation expense associated 
with restricted stock awards.

If we had recognized compensation expense as if the fair 
value based method had been applied to all awards as pro-
vided for under SFAS No. 123, our pro forma net income, 
earnings per share (“EPS”) and stock-based compensation cost 
would have been as follows for the years ended December 31:

 2004 2003 2002 

Net income, as reported $ 528.6 $ 128.9 $ 168.9
Add: Stock-based com- 
 pensation for restricted 
 stock awards included 
 in reported net income,  
 net of tax  1.6  1.9  2.1 
Deduct: Stock-based  
 compensation deter- 
 mined under the  
 fair value-method,  
 net of tax   (23.1)  (23.1)  (23.3)

Pro forma net income $ 507.1 $ 107.7 $ 147.7

Basic EPS 
 As reported $ 1.58 $ 0.38 $ 0.50 
 Pro forma  1.52  0.32  0.44 
Diluted EPS 
 As reported $ 1.58 $ 0.38 $ 0.50 
 Pro forma  1.51  0.32  0.44

These pro forma calculations may not be indicative of future 
amounts since additional awards in future years are anticipated.

Under SFAS No. 123, the fair value of stock-based awards is 
calculated through the use of option pricing models. These mod-
els require subjective assumptions, including future stock price 
volatility and expected time to exercise, which greatly affect 
the calculated values. Our calculations were made using the 
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted 
average assumptions for the years ended December 31:

 Assumptions

   Risk-Free Expected 

 Dividend Expected Interest Life 

 Yield Volatility Rate (In Years)

2004 1.3% 39.9% 2.8% 3.5 
2003 1.6% 45.0% 2.5% 3.8 
2002 1.4% 45.0% 3.5% 3.8

The weighted average fair values of options granted in 
2004, 2003 and 2002 were $11.16, $10.25 and $10.24 per 
share, respectively.
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New Accounting Standards
In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board 

(“FASB”) issued FASB Interpretation No. 46 (“FIN 46”), Consol-
idation of Variable Interest Entities. An entity is subject to the 
consolidation rules of FIN 46 and is referred to as a variable 
interest entity (“VIE”) if the entity’s equity investors lack the 
characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have 
sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its operations 
without additional financial support. In December 2003, the 
FASB issued modifications to FIN 46 (“FIN 46R”), resulting in 
multiple effective dates based on the nature as well as the cre-
ation date of a VIE. The adoption of FIN 46 and FIN 46R in 
2004 had no impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In May 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. 106-2 
(“FSP 106-2”), Accounting and Disclosure Requirements 
Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and 
Modernization Act of 2003, which provides guidance on the 
accounting for the effects of the Medicare Prescription Drug, 
Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 for employers 
that sponsor postretirement health care plans that provide  
prescription drug benefits. We adopted the provisions of FSP 
106-2 in the third quarter of 2004, resulting in a reduction 
in our accumulated postretirement benefit obligation of 
$18.8 million. We recognized a reduction in our net periodic 
postretirement benefit costs of $2.0 million for 2004 as a 
result of the adoption of FSP 106-2.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, Inven-
tory Costs – an Amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, which 
amends the guidance in ARB No. 43 to clarify the accounting 
for abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, han-
dling costs and wasted material. SFAS No. 151 requires that 
these items be recognized as current period charges. In addi-
tion, SFAS No. 151 requires the allocation of fixed production 
overheads to inventory based on the normal capacity of the 
production facilities. SFAS No. 151 is effective for inventory 
costs incurred during fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. 
We are currently evaluating the provisions of SFAS No. 151 and 
will adopt SFAS No. 151 on January 1, 2006.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, 
Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets – an amendment of APB 
Opinion No. 29, to address the measurement of exchanges of 
nonmonetary assets. SFAS No. 153 eliminates the exception 
from fair value measurement for nonmonetary exchanges of 
similar productive assets and replaces it with a general excep-
tion for exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not have 
commercial substance. A nonmonetary exchange has commer-
cial substance if the future cash flows of the entity are 
expected to change significantly as a result of the exchange. 
SFAS No. 153 is effective for nonmonetary exchanges occur-
ring after June 30, 2005. We will adopt SFAS No. 153 on 
July 1, 2005.

In December 2004, the FASB revised SFAS No. 123, Share-
Based Payment (“SFAS No. 123R”). SFAS No. 123R is a revision 
of SFAS No. 123 and supersedes APB No. 25. SFAS No. 123R 
requires a public entity to measure the cost of employee ser-
vices received in exchange for an award of equity instruments 
based on the grant-date fair value of the award. That cost will 

be recognized over the period in which an employee is 
required to provide service in exchange for the award. SFAS 
No. 123R also requires a public entity to initially measure the 
cost of employee services rendered in exchange for an award 
of liability instruments at its current fair value. The fair value of 
that award is to be remeasured subsequently at each reporting 
date through the settlement date. Changes in the fair value 
during the required service period are to be recognized as 
compensation cost over that period. We are currently in the 
process of evaluating different option pricing models and the 
impact of SFAS No. 123R on our consolidated financial state-
ments. We will adopt SFAS No. 123R on July 1, 2005.

In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position 
No. 109-1 (“FSP 109-1”), Application of FASB Statement 
No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” (“SFAS No. 109”) 
to the Tax Deduction on Qualified Production Activities Pro-
vided by the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004, which  
provides guidance on the recently enacted American Jobs  
Creation Act of 2004 (the “Act”). The Act provides a tax 
deduction for income from qualified domestic production 
activities. FSP 109-1 provides for the treatment of the deduc-
tion as a special deduction as described in SFAS No. 109. 
As such, the deduction will have no effect on existing deferred 
tax assets and liabilities. The impact of the deduction is to be 
reported in the period in which the deduction is claimed on 
our U.S. tax return. We do not expect that this deduction will 
have a material impact on our effective tax rate in future years. 
FSP 109-1 is effective prospectively as of January 1, 2005.

In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position 
No. 109-2 (“FSP 109-2”), Accounting and Disclosure Guidance 
for the Foreign Repatriation Provision within the American 
Jobs Creation Act of 2004, which provides guidance under 
SFAS No. 109 with respect to recording the potential impact 
of the repatriation provisions of the Act on a company’s 
income tax expense and deferred tax liability. FSP 109-2 states 
that a company is allowed time beyond the financial reporting 
period of enactment to evaluate the effect of the Act on its 
plan for reinvestment or repatriation of foreign earnings for 
purposes of applying SFAS No. 109. We have not yet decided 
on whether, and to what extent, we might elect to repatriate 
foreign earnings under the provisions in the Act. Any such 
repatriation under the Act must occur by December 31, 2005. 
Accordingly, our consolidated financial statements do not 
reflect a provision for taxes related to this election. The maxi-
mum amount we could elect to repatriate is $500 million as 
prescribed in the Act. Our evaluation of the effect if the elec-
tion is made is expected to be completed by the end of the 
second quarter of 2005.

Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications, including reclassifications for 

deferred income taxes and other tax liabilities, have been 
made to the prior years’ consolidated financial statements 
to conform with the current year presentation.
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Note 2. Discontinued Operations
In September 2004, we completed the sale of Baker 

Hughes Mining Tools (“BHMT”), a product line group within 
the Oilfield segment that manufactured rotary drill bits used 
in the mining industry, for $31.5 million. We recorded a gain 
on the sale of $0.2 million, net of tax of $3.6 million, which 
consisted of a gain on the disposal of $6.8 million offset by a 
loss of $6.6 million related to the recognition of the cumula-
tive foreign currency translation adjustments into earnings.

In October 2003, we signed a definitive agreement for 
the sale of BIRD Machine (“BIRD”), the remaining division of 
the former Process segment, and recorded charges totaling 
$37.4 million, net of tax of $10.9 million, which consisted of 
a loss of $13.5 million on the write-down of BIRD to fair value, 
$6.2 million of severance and warranty accruals and a loss of 
$17.7 million related to the recognition of cumulative foreign 
currency translation adjustments into earnings. In January 
2004, we completed the sale of BIRD and recorded an addi-
tional loss on the sale of $0.5 million with no tax benefit. We 
received $5.6 million in proceeds, which were subject to post-
closing adjustments to the purchase price, and retained certain 
accounts receivable, inventories and other assets. During the 
second quarter of 2004, we made a net payment of $6.8 mil-
lion to the buyer in settlement of the final purchase price 
adjustments. The adjustments were the result of changes in 
the value of assets sold to and liabilities assumed by the buyer 
between the date the initial sales price was negotiated and the 
closing of the sale.

In December 2002, we entered into exclusive negotiations 
for the sale of our interest in our oil producing operations in 
West Africa for $32.0 million in proceeds. The transaction was 
effective as of January 1, 2003, and resulted in a gain on the 
sale of $4.1 million, net of a tax benefit of $0.2 million. We 
received $10.0 million as a deposit in 2002 and the remaining 
$22.0 million in April 2003.

In November 2002, we sold EIMCO Process Equipment 
(“EIMCO”), a division of the former Process segment, and 
recorded a loss on the disposal of $22.3 million, net of tax of 
$1.2 million, which consisted of a loss of $2.3 million on the 
write-down to fair value and a loss of $20.0 million related 
to the recognition of cumulative foreign currency translation 
adjustments into earnings. We received total proceeds of 
$48.9 million, of which $4.9 million was held in escrow pending 
completion of final adjustments to the purchase price. In 2003, 
all purchase price adjustments were completed, resulting in the 
release of the escrow balance, of which we received $2.0 mil-
lion and $2.9 million was returned to the buyer. In 2003, we 
also recorded an additional loss on the sale due to purchase 
price adjustments of $2.5 million, net of tax of $1.3 million.

We have reclassified the consolidated financial statements 
for all prior periods presented to reflect these operations as 
discontinued.  Summarized financial information from discon-
tinued operations is as follows for the years ended December 31:

 2004 2003 2002

Revenues: 
  BHMT $ 29.4 $ 40.4 $ 41.5 
  BIRD  1.6  94.2  118.7 
  Oil producing operations   –  4.2  49.1 
  EIMCO  –  –  138.0

Total $ 31.0 $ 138.8 $ 347.3

Income (loss) before  
 income taxes: 
  BHMT $ 1.1 $ 3.5 $ 2.8 
  BIRD  (0.2)  (16.9)  (9.1) 
  Oil producing operations   –  1.8  19.7 
  EIMCO  –  –  (1.5)

Total  0.9  (11.6)  11.9

Income taxes: 
  BHMT  (0.3)  (1.3)  (1.0) 
  BIRD  0.1  6.0  3.2 
  Oil producing operations   –  (0.7)  (8.7) 
  EIMCO  –  –  0.5

Total  (0.2)  4.0  (6.0)

Income (loss) before  
 gain (loss) on disposal: 
  BHMT  0.8  2.2  1.8 
  BIRD  (0.1)  (10.9)  (5.9) 
  Oil producing operations   –  1.1  11.0 
  EIMCO  –  –  (1.0)

Total  (0.7)  (7.6)  5.9

Gain (loss) on disposal,  
 net of tax:       
  BHMT  0.2  –  – 
  BIRD  (0.5)  (37.4)  – 
  Oil producing operations   –  4.1  – 
  EIMCO  –  (2.5)  (22.3)

Total  (0.3)  (35.8)  (22.3)

Income (loss) from  
 discontinued operations $ 0.4 $ (43.4) $ (16.4)
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 Assets and liabilities of discontinued operations are as fol-
lows for the year ended December 31:

  2003

Accounts receivable, net   $ 13.4 
Inventories    21.4 
Other current assets    0.9 
Property, net    13.0

Assets of discontinued operations   $ 48.7

 
Accounts payable   $ 13.2 
Accrued employee compensation    6.6 
Other accrued liabilities    8.0 
Other liabilities    1.7

Liabilities of discontinued operations   $ 29.5

Note 3. Acquisitions
In 2002, we entered into a venture, Luna Energy, L.L.C. 

(“Luna”), in which we had a 40% interest and that we 
accounted for using the equity method of accounting. In 
December 2004, we acquired the remaining 60% interest in 
Luna for $1.0 million in cash. We now are required to consoli-
date Luna’s accounts and have discontinued using the equity 
method of accounting for Luna. As a result of the acquisition, 
we have recorded approximately $19.0 million of goodwill and 
$5.5 million of intangible assets. We also assigned $1.8 million 
to in-process research and development that was written off 
at the date of acquisition. This write-off is included in research 
and development expenses, which are included in cost of reve-
nues in the consolidated statement of operations. The pur-
chase price was allocated based on the fair value of the assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed of Luna. The fair values were 
determined using a discounted cash flows approach. We were 
assisted in the valuation of Luna by a third party. Pro forma 
results of operations have not been presented because the 
effect of this acquisition was not material to our consolidated 
financial statements.

In 2003, we made two acquisitions having an aggregate 
purchase price of $16.9 million, of which $9.5 million was 
paid in cash. As a result of these acquisitions, we recorded 
approximately $3.9 million of goodwill and $9.6 million of 
intangible assets. The purchase price was allocated based on 
the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in 
each of these acquisitions. Pro forma results of operations 
have not been presented because the effects of these acquisi-
tions were not material to our consolidated financial state-
ments on either an individual or aggregate basis.

In 2002, we made three acquisitions having an aggregate 
cash purchase price of $39.7 million, net of cash acquired. As 
a result of these acquisitions, we recorded approximately 
$28.4 million of goodwill. The purchase prices were allocated 
based on the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed. Pro forma results of operations have not been pre-
sented because the effects of these acquisitions were not 
material to our consolidated financial statements on either an 
individual or aggregate basis.

Note 4. Reversal Of Restructuring Charge
In 2000, our Board of Directors approved a plan to sub-

stantially exit the oil and natural gas exploration business and 
recorded a restructuring charge of $29.5 million. Included in 
the restructuring charge was $1.1 million for a contractual 
obligation related to an oil and natural gas property in Angola. 
The property was sold in 2003 and we reversed the liability 
related to this contractual obligation.

Note 5. Income Taxes
The provision for income taxes on income from continuing 

operations is comprised of the following for the years ended 
December 31:

 2004 2003 2002

Current: 
 United States $ 53.4 $ 2.8 $ 7.3 
 Foreign  150.5  164.1  172.1

Total current  203.9  166.9  179.4

Deferred: 
 United States  45.4  (38.1)  19.5 
 Foreign  3.0  18.0  (39.9)

Total deferred  48.4  (20.1)  (20.4)

Provision for 
 income taxes $ 252.3 $ 146.8 $ 159.0

The geographic sources of income from continuing opera-
tions before income taxes are as follows for the years ended 
December 31:

 2004 2003 2002

United States $ 218.5 $ (134.1) $ 53.3 
Foreign  562.0  458.8  333.5

Income from continuing  
 operations before  
 income taxes $ 780.5 $ 324.7 $ 386.8

Tax benefits of $12.5 million, $1.5 million and $1.4 mil-
lion associated with the exercise of employee stock options 
were allocated to equity and recorded in capital in excess of 
par value in the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 
2002, respectively.
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The provision for income taxes differs from the amount 
computed by applying the U.S. statutory income tax rate to 
income from continuing operations before income taxes for 
the reasons set forth below for the years ended December 31:

 2004 2003 2002

Statutory income 
 tax at 35%  $ 273.2 $ 113.6 $ 135.4
Effect of WesternGeco  
 operations  1.8  36.3  40.2
Effect of foreign  
 operations  (28.3)  (5.8)  (14.4)
Net tax charge related 
 to foreign losses  4.0  4.9  10.0
State income taxes –  
 net of U.S. tax benefit  3.4  4.0  2.7
IRS audit agreement 
 and refund claims  –  (3.3)  (14.4)
Other – net  (1.8)  (2.9)  (0.5)

Provision for 
 income taxes $ 252.3 $ 146.8 $ 159.0

During 2004, we recognized an incremental effect of 
$1.8 million of additional taxes attributable to our portion of 
the operations of WesternGeco, primarily as a result of 
increased income in the U.S. During 2003, we recognized an 
incremental effect of $36.3 million of additional taxes related 
to our investment in WesternGeco. Of this amount, $15.9 mil-
lion related to the reduction in the carrying value of our equity 
investment in WesternGeco, for which there was no tax bene-
fit. The remaining $20.4 million arose from operations of the 
venture due to: (i) the venture being taxed in certain foreign 
jurisdictions based on a deemed profit basis, which is a per-
centage of revenues rather than profits, and (ii) unbenefitted 
foreign losses of the venture, which are operating losses and 
impairment and restructuring charges in certain foreign juris-
dictions where there was no current tax benefit and where a 
deferred tax asset was not recorded due to the uncertainty of 
realization. In 2002, the amount of additional taxes resulting 
from operations of the venture was $40.2 million.

In 2003, we recognized a $3.3 million benefit as the 
result of refund claims filed in the U.S. In 2002, a $14.4 mil-
lion benefit was recognized as the result of the settlement of 
an Internal Revenue Service examination related to our Sep-
tember 30, 1996 through September 30, 1998 tax years.

We have received tax assessments from various taxing 
authorities and are currently at varying stages of appeals  
and /or litigation regarding these matters. We have provided 
for the amounts we believe will ultimately result from these 
proceedings. We believe we have substantial defenses to the 
questions being raised and will pursue all legal remedies 
should an unfavorable outcome result. While we have pro-
vided for the taxes that we believe will ultimately be payable 
as a result of these assessments, the aggregate assessments 
are approximately $34.0 million in excess of the taxes provided 
for in our consolidated financial statements.

In addition to the aforementioned assessments that have 
been received from various taxing authorities, we provide 
for taxes in certain situations where assessments have not 
been received. In those situations, we consider it probable 
that the taxes ultimately payable will exceed those amounts 
reflected in filed tax returns; accordingly, taxes are provided in 
those situations under the guidance in SFAS No. 5, Accounting 
for Contingencies, and are included in both income taxes in 
current liabilities and in deferred income taxes and other tax 
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of tempo-
rary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts 
used for income tax purposes, as well as operating loss and 
tax credit carryforwards. The tax effects of our temporary dif-
ferences and carryforwards are as follows at December 31:

 2004 2003

Deferred tax assets: 
 Receivables $ 9.7 $ 15.4 
 Inventory  110.6  122.8 
 Employee benefits  25.0  27.3 
 Other accrued expenses  26.5  45.1 
 Operating loss carryforwards  49.1  77.3 
 Tax credit carryforwards  76.9  79.8 
 Capitalized research and  
  development costs  74.1  87.8 
 Other  47.1  17.9

 Subtotal  419.0  473.4 
 Valuation allowances  (36.7)  (54.1)

Total  382.3  419.3

Deferred tax liabilities: 
 Property  –  40.1 
 Goodwill  105.4  89.9 
 Undistributed earnings 
  of foreign subsidiaries  34.7  19.6 
 Other  20.1  18.6

Total  160.2  168.2

Net deferred tax asset  $ 222.1 $ 251.1

We record a valuation allowance when it is more likely 
than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets 
will not be realized. The ultimate realization of the deferred 
tax assets depends on the ability to generate sufficient taxable 
income of the appropriate character in the future and in the 
appropriate taxing jurisdictions. We have provided a valuation 
allowance for operating loss carryforwards in certain non-U.S. 
jurisdictions where our operations have decreased, currently 
ceased or we have withdrawn entirely.

Provision has been made for U.S. and additional foreign 
taxes for the anticipated repatriation of certain earnings of our 
foreign subsidiaries. We consider the undistributed earnings of 
our foreign subsidiaries above the amount already provided to 
be indefinitely reinvested, as we have no intention to repatriate 
these earnings. These additional foreign earnings could become 
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subject to additional tax if remitted, or deemed remitted, as a 
dividend; however, it is not practicable to estimate the addi-
tional amount of taxes payable.

At December 31, 2004, we had approximately $22.2 mil-
lion of foreign tax credits and $35.1 million of general busi-
ness credits available to offset future payments of federal 
income taxes, expiring in varying amounts between 2010 and 
2025. Our $19.6 million alternative minimum tax credits may 
be carried forward indefinitely under current U.S. law. The 
operating loss carryforwards without a valuation allowance 
will expire in varying amounts over the next twenty years.

Note 6. Earnings Per Share
A reconciliation of the number of shares used for the basic 

and diluted EPS computations is as follows for the years ended 
December 31:

 2004 2003 2002

Weighted average common shares 
 outstanding for basic EPS 333.8 334.9 336.8 
Effect of dilutive securities –  
 stock plans 1.8 1.0 1.1

Adjusted weighted average  
 common shares outstanding  
 for diluted EPS 335.6 335.9 337.9

Future potentially dilutive  
 shares excluded from diluted EPS: 
 Options with an exercise price 
  greater than average market
  price for the period 4.6 6.8 5.0

Note 7. Inventories
Inventories are comprised of the following at December 31:

 2004 2003

Finished goods $ 869.5 $ 858.3 
Work in process  107.6  98.1 
Raw materials  58.1  57.0

Total $ 1,035.2 $ 1,013.4

Note 8. Investments in Affiliates
We have investments in affiliates that are accounted for 

using the equity method of accounting. The most significant 
of these affiliates is WesternGeco, a seismic venture in which 
we own 30% and Schlumberger Limited (“Schlumberger”) 
owns 70%.

In conjunction with the formation of WesternGeco in 
November 2000, we entered into an agreement with Schlum-
berger whereby a cash true-up payment will be made by 
either of the parties based on a formula comparing the ratio 
of the net present value of sales revenue from each party’s 
contributed multiclient seismic data libraries during the four-
year period ending November 30, 2004 and the ratio of the 
net book value of those libraries as of November 30, 2000. 
The maximum payment that either party will be required to 
make as a result of this adjustment is $100.0 million. We  
currently estimate that Schlumberger will make a payment to 
us in the range of $9.0 million to $11.5 million, pending final 
determination of the adjustment. When received, this payment 
will be recorded as a reduction to the carrying value of our 
investment in WesternGeco. This payment will be taxable 
when paid and the tax effect will be recorded as current 
income tax expense. In November 2000, we also entered into 
an agreement with WesternGeco whereby WesternGeco sub-
leased a facility from us for a period of ten years at then cur-
rent market rates. During 2004, 2003 and 2002, we received 
payments of $5.5 million, $5.0 million and $5.5 million, 
respectively, from WesternGeco related to this lease. 

On or after December 1, 2005, either party to the Western-
Geco Master Formation Agreement may offer to sell their 
entire interest in the venture to the other party at a cash pur-
chase price per percentage interest specified in an offer notice. 
If the offer to sell is not accepted, the offering party will be 
obligated to purchase the entire interest of the other party at 
the same price per percentage interest as the price specified in 
the offer notice.

Included in the caption “Equity in income (loss) of affili-
ates” in our consolidated statement of operations for 2003 
is $135.7 million for our share of $452.0 million of certain 
impairment and restructuring charges taken by WesternGeco 
in 2003. The charges related to the impairment of Western-
Geco’s multiclient seismic library and rationalization of Western-
Geco’s marine seismic fleet. In addition, as a result of the 
continued weakness in the seismic industry, we evaluated the 
value of our investment in WesternGeco and recorded an 
impairment loss of $45.3 million in 2003 to write-down the 
investment to its fair value. The fair value was determined 
using a combination of a market capitalization and discounted 
cash flows approach. We were assisted in the determination 
of the fair value by a third party. Included in the caption 
“Equity in income (loss) of affiliates” for 2002 is $90.2 million 
for our share of a $300.7 million restructuring charge related 
to WesternGeco’s impairment of assets, reductions in work-
force, closing certain operations and reducing its marine seis-
mic fleet.
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In February 2004, we completed the sale of our minority 
interest in Petreco International, a venture we entered into in 
2001, for $35.8 million, of which $7.4 million is held in 
escrow pending the outcome of potential indemnification obli-
gations pursuant to the sales agreement. A portion of the 
escrow will be released in May 2005, with the remainder 
released in February 2006. We recognized a gain on the sale 
of $1.3 million, net of tax of $1.5 million.

During 2003, we invested $30.1 million for a 50% interest 
in the QuantX Wellbore Instrumentation venture (“QuantX”) 
with Expro International (“Expro”). The venture is engaged in 
the permanent in-well monitoring market and was formed by 
combining Expro’s permanent monitoring business with one of 
our product lines. We account for our ownership in QuantX 
using the equity method of accounting.

Summarized unaudited combined financial information for 
the affiliates, in which we account for our interests using the 
equity method of accounting, is as follows as of December 31:

 2004 2003

Combined operating results: 
 Revenues $ 1,313.8 $ 1,349.3 
 Operating income (loss)  131.9  (457.9) 
 Net income (loss)  124.9  (478.1) 
 
Combined financial position: 
 Current assets $ 755.2 $ 695.9 
 Noncurrent assets  1,162.8  1,345.2

 Total assets $ 1,918.0 $ 2,041.1

 
 Current liabilities $ 423.6 $ 556.6 
 Noncurrent liabilities  101.2  179.5 
 Stockholders’ equity  1,393.2  1,305.0

 Total liabilities and 
  stockholders’ equity $ 1,918.0 $ 2,041.1

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, net accounts (payable) 
receivable from unconsolidated affiliates totaled $(1.1) million 
and $0.7 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2004 and 
2003, the excess of our investment over our equity in affiliates 
was $268.9 million and $298.2 million, respectively.

Note 9. Property
Property is comprised of the following at December 31:

 Depreciation 

 Period 2004 2003

Land  $ 40.8 $ 39.7 
Buildings and 
 improvements 5 – 40 years  618.1  604.4 
Machinery and 
 equipment 2 – 15 years  1,960.6  1,915.0 
Rental tools and 
 equipment 1 – 10 years  1,097.5  1,051.0

Total property   3,717.0  3,610.1 
Accumulated depreciation  (2,382.9)  (2,215.0)

Property – net  $ 1,334.1 $ 1,395.1
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Note 10. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
On January 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 142, Goodwill 

and Other Intangible Assets. SFAS No. 142 required us to  
cease amortizing goodwill and to perform a transitional 
impairment test of goodwill in each of our reporting units 
as of January 1, 2002. Our reporting units were based on 
our organizational and reporting structure. Corporate and 
other assets and liabilities were allocated to the reporting 
units to the extent that they related to the operations of those 
reporting units. We were assisted in the determination of the 
fair value of the reporting units by a third party. We used a 
combination of a market capitalization and discounted cash 
flows approach to estimate the fair values of the  reporting 
units and determined that the goodwill in both the EIMCO 
and BIRD operating divisions of our former Process segment 
was impaired. Accordingly, we recorded transitional impair-
ment losses of $42.5 million, net of taxes of $20.4 million, 
in the first quarter of 2002 as the cumulative effect of 
accounting change in our consolidated statement of operations.

SFAS No. 142 also requires us to perform an annual impair-
ment test of goodwill. We perform this test as of October 1. 
There were no impairments in 2004 or 2003 at our reporting 
units related to the annual impairment test.

The adoption of SFAS No. 142 also required us to re-evaluate 
the remaining useful lives of our intangible assets to determine 
whether the remaining useful lives were appropriate. We also 
re-evaluated the amortization methods of our intangible assets 
to determine whether the amortization reflects the pattern in 
which the economic benefits of the intangible assets are con-
sumed. In performing these evaluations, we reduced the 
remaining life of one of our marketing related intangibles and 
changed the method of amortization of one of our technology 
based intangibles.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill, all of 
which is in the Oilfield segment, are as follows:

Balance as of December 31, 2002 $ 1,226.6 
Goodwill acquired during the period  3.9 
Translation adjustments and other  8.9

Balance as of December 31, 2003  1,239.4 
Goodwill acquired during the period  24.6 
Translation adjustments and other  3.0

Balance as of December 31, 2004 $ 1,267.0

Intangible assets are amortized either on a straight-line 
basis with estimated useful lives ranging from 1 to 20  
years, or on a basis that reflects the pattern in which the  
economic benefits of the intangible assets are consumed,  
which range from 15 to 30 years.

In 2003, a joint venture that we had been accounting 
for using the equity method of accounting was dissolved 
by mutual agreement between the venture partner and us. 
Included in the carrying value of our investment in this joint 
venture was $21.2 million of goodwill resulting from prior  

purchase accounting. We reclassified this equity method good-
will to contract based, technology based and marketing 
related intangibles as we received the rights to market certain 
products previously held by the joint venture upon the dissolu-
tion of the joint venture.

Amortization expense included in net income for the years 
ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $14.9 million, 
$13.5 million and $10.9 million, respectively. Estimated amorti-
zation expense for each of the subsequent five fiscal years is 
expected to be within the range of $12.5 million to $16.2 million.

 
Intangible assets are comprised of the following at December 31:

 2004 2003

 Gross   Gross 

 Carrying Accumulated  Carrying Accumulated 

 Amount Amortization Net Amount Amortization Net

Technology based $ 190.2 $ (58.8) $ 131.4 $ 183.5 $ (46.8) $ 136.7
Contract based  11.0  (4.8)  6.2  11.2  (2.9)  8.3
Marketing related  6.1  (5.6)  0.5  5.7  (5.0)  0.7
Customer based  0.6  (0.2)  0.4  0.6  (0.1)  0.5
Other  1.2  (0.8)  0.4  2.0  (1.0)  1.0

Total amortizable intangible assets  209.1  (70.2)  138.9  203.0  (55.8)  147.2 
Marketing related intangible asset  
 with an indefinite useful life  16.2  –  16.2  16.2  –  16.2

Total $ 225.3 $ (70.2) $ 155.1 $ 219.2 $ (55.8) $ 163.4
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At December 31, 2004, we had $897.4 million of credit 
facilities with commercial banks, of which $500.0 million is a 
committed revolving credit facility (the “facility”) that expires 
in July 2006. The facility contains certain covenants which, 
among other things, require the maintenance of a funded 
indebtedness to total capitalization ratio (a defined formula 
per the facility) of less than or equal to 0.50, limit the amount 
of subsidiary indebtedness and restrict the sale of significant 
assets, defined as 10% or more of total consolidated assets. 
At December 31, 2004, we were in compliance with all the 
facility covenants. There were no direct borrowings under the 
facility during the year ended December 31, 2004; however, 
our ability to borrow under the facility is reduced to the 
extent that we have outstanding commercial paper. At Decem-
ber 31, 2004, we had no outstanding commercial paper or 
money market borrowings.

We realized gains as a result of terminating various interest 
rate swap agreements prior to their scheduled maturities. The 
gains were deferred and are being amortized as a reduction of 
interest expense over the remaining life of the underlying debt 
securities. The unamortized deferred gains included in certain 
debt securities above and reported in long-term debt in the 
consolidated balance sheets are as follows at December 31:

 2004 2003

7.875% Notes due June 2004 $ – $ 1.3 
6.25% Notes due January 2009  26.8  33.5

Maturities of debt at December 31, 2004 are as follows: 
2005 – $76.0 million; 2006 – $0.1 million; 2007 – $0.0 mil-
lion; 2008 – $0.0 million; 2009 – $547.5 million and 
$538.7 million thereafter.

Note 11. Indebtedness
Total debt consisted of the following at December 31:

 2004 2003

8% Notes due May 2004 with an effective interest rate of 8.08%, net of  
 unamortized discount of $0.1 at December 31, 2003 $ – $ 99.9

7.875% Notes due June 2004 with an effective interest rate of 6.86%, net  
 of unamortized discount of $0.2 at December 31, 2003  –  251.1

6.25% Notes due January 2009 with an effective interest rate of 4.3%, net  
 of unamortized discount of $1.3 at December 31, 2004 ($1.6 at December 31, 2003)  348.2  356.9

6% Notes due February 2009 with an effective interest rate of 6.11%, net  
 of unamortized discount of $0.7 at December 31, 2004 ($0.9 at December 31, 2003)  199.3  199.1

8.55% Debentures due June 2024 with an effective interest rate of 8.80%, net  
 of unamortized discount of $2.6 at December 31, 2004 ($2.6 at December 31, 2003)  147.4  147.4

6.875% Notes due January 2029 with an effective interest rate of 7.08%, net  
 of unamortized discount of $8.7 at December 31, 2004 ($9.0 at December 31, 2003)  391.3  391.0

Other debt  76.1  39.0

Total debt  1,162.3  1,484.4
Less short-term debt and current maturities  76.0  351.4

Long-term debt $ 1,086.3 $ 1,133.0
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Note 12. Financial Instruments
Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Our financial instruments include cash and short-term 
investments, receivables, payables, debt and foreign currency 
forward contracts. Except as described below, the estimated 
fair value of such financial instruments at December 31, 2004 
and 2003 approximate their carrying value as reflected in our 
consolidated balance sheets. The fair value of our debt and 
foreign currency forward contracts has been estimated based 
on year-end quoted market prices.

The estimated fair value of our debt at December 31, 
2004 and 2003 was $1,315.0 million and $1,609.8 million, 
respectively, which differs from the carrying amounts of 
$1,162.3 million and $1,484.4 million, respectively, included 
in our consolidated balance sheets.

Interest Rate Swap Agreements
In April 2004, we entered into an interest rate swap agree-

ment for a notional amount of $325.0 million associated with 
our 6.25% Notes due January 2009. Under this agreement, 
we receive interest at a fixed rate of 6.25% and pay interest 
at a floating rate of six-month LIBOR plus a spread of 2.741%. 
The interest rate swap agreement has been designated and 
qualifies as a fair value hedging instrument. The interest rate 
swap agreement is fully effective, resulting in no gain or loss 
recorded in the consolidated statement of operations. We 
recorded the fair value of the interest rate swap agreement, 
which was a $2.3 million liability at December 31, 2004, based 
on quoted market prices for contracts with similar terms and 
maturity dates.

At different times during 2003, we entered into three  
separate interest rate swap agreements, each for a notional 
amount of $325.0 million, associated with our 6.25% Notes 
due January 2009. These agreements had been designated 
and had qualified as fair value hedging instruments. Due to 
our outlook for interest rates, we terminated the three agree-
ments and received payments totaling $26.9 million. Each of 
the three agreements was terminated prior to entering into a 
new agreement. The deferred gains are being amortized as a 
reduction of interest expense over the remaining life of the 
underlying debt security, which matures in January 2009.

During 2002, we terminated two interest rate swap  
agreements that had been entered into in prior years. These 
agreements had been designated and had qualified as fair 
value hedging instruments. Upon termination, we received 
proceeds of $4.8 million and $11.0 million. The deferred 
gain of $4.8 million was amortized as a reduction of interest 
expense over the remaining life of the underlying debt secu-
rity, which matured in June 2004. The deferred gain of 
$11.0 million is being amortized as a reduction of interest 
expense over the remaining life of the underlying debt secu-
rity, which matures in January 2009.

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts
At December 31, 2004, we had entered into several  

foreign currency forward contracts with notional amounts 
aggregating $78.0 million to hedge exposure to currency  
fluctuations in various foreign currencies, including the British 

Pound Sterling, the Norwegian Krone, the Euro and the Brazil-
ian Real. These contracts are designated and qualify as fair 
value hedging instruments. Based on quoted market prices as 
of December 31, 2004 for contracts with similar terms and 
maturity dates, we recorded a loss of $0.4 million to adjust 
these foreign currency forward contracts to their fair market 
value. This loss offsets designated foreign exchange gains 
resulting from the underlying exposures and is included in 
selling, general and administrative expense in our consoli-
dated statement of operations.

At December 31, 2004, we had also entered into several 
foreign currency forward contracts with notional amounts 
aggregating $122.4 million to hedge exposure to currency 
fluctuations in various foreign currencies, including the British 
Pound Sterling and the Canadian Dollar. These exposures arise 
when local currency operating expenses are not in balance 
with local currency revenue collections. The funding of such 
imbalances is supported by short-term intercompany borrow-
ing commitments that have definitive amounts and funding 
dates. All commitments are scheduled to take place on or 
before December 31, 2005. These foreign currency forward 
contracts are designated as cash flow hedging instruments 
and are fully effective. Based on quoted market prices as of 
December 31, 2004 for contracts with similar terms and matu-
rity dates, we recorded a loss of $0.1 million to adjust these 
foreign currency forward contracts to their fair market value. 
This loss is included in other comprehensive income in the 
consolidated balance sheet.

Additionally, during 2004 and 2003, we entered into and 
settled foreign currency forward contracts to hedge exposure 
to currency fluctuations for specific transactions or balances. 
The impact on our consolidated statements of operations 
was not significant for these contracts either individually or 
in the aggregate.

The counterparties to our foreign currency forward con-
tracts are major financial institutions. The credit ratings and 
concentration of risk of these financial institutions are moni-
tored on a continuing basis. In the unlikely event that the 
counterparties fail to meet the terms of a foreign currency 
contract, our exposure is limited to the foreign currency 
exchange rate differential.

Concentration of Credit Risk
We sell our products and services to numerous companies 

in the oil and natural gas industry. Although this concentration 
could affect our overall exposure to credit risk, we believe that 
we are exposed to minimal risk since the majority of our busi-
ness is conducted with major companies within the industry. 
We perform periodic credit evaluations of our customers’ 
financial condition and generally do not require collateral for 
our accounts receivable. In some cases, we will require pay-
ment in advance or security in the form of a letter of credit 
or bank guarantee.

We maintain cash deposits with major banks that may 
exceed federally insured limits. We periodically assess the 
financial condition of the institutions and believe that the risk 
of any loss is minimal.
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Note 13. Segment and Related Information
We operate through seven divisions – Baker Atlas, Baker 

Hughes Drilling Fluids, Baker Oil Tools, Baker Petrolite, Centri-
lift, Hughes Christensen and INTEQ – that we have aggregated 
into the Oilfield segment because they have similar economic 
characteristics and because the long-term financial perfor-
mance of these divisions is affected by similar economic condi-
tions. The consolidated results are evaluated regularly by our 
chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate 
resources and in assessing performance.

These operating divisions manufacture and sell products 
and provide services used in the oil and natural gas exploration 
industry, including drilling, formation evaluation, completion 
and production of oil and natural gas wells. They operate in 
the same markets, which includes all of the major oil and nat-
ural gas producing regions of the world:  North America, 
South America, Europe, Africa, the Middle East and the Far 
East. They also have substantially the same customers, which 

includes major multi-national, independent and state-owned 
oil companies. The Oilfield segment also includes our 30% 
interest in WesternGeco and other investments in affiliates.

The accounting policies of the Oilfield segment are the 
same as those described in Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements. We evaluate the performance of the Oil-
field segment based on segment profit (loss), which is defined 
as income from continuing operations before income taxes, 
accounting changes, restructuring charge reversals, impair-
ment of assets and interest income and expense.

Summarized financial information is shown in the following 
table. The “Corporate and Other” column includes corporate-
related items, results of insignificant operations and, as it 
relates to segment profit (loss), income and expense not allo-
cated to the Oilfield segment, including restructuring charge 
reversals and impairment of assets. The “Corporate and 
Other” column at December 31, 2003 and 2002 also includes 
assets of discontinued operations.

  Corporate  

 Oilfield and Other Total

2004
 Revenues $ 6,100.4 $ 3.4 $ 6,103.8
 Equity in income (loss) of affiliates  36.8  (0.5)  36.3
 Segment profit (loss)  1,063.9  (283.4)  780.5
 Total assets  6,179.1  642.2  6,821.3
 Investment in affiliates  678.1  –  678.1
 Capital expenditures  346.9  1.4  348.3
 Depreciation and amortization  343.6  28.2  371.8
      
2003      
 Revenues $ 5,252.3 $ 0.1 $ 5,252.4
 Equity in loss of affiliates  (8.6)  (129.2)  (137.8)
 Segment profit (loss)  749.1  (424.4)  324.7
 Total assets  5,891.5  525.0  6,416.5
 Investment in affiliates  662.9  28.4  691.3
 Capital expenditures  401.0  3.3  404.3
 Depreciation and amortization  320.2  27.3  347.5
      
2002      
 Revenues $ 4,860.0 $ 0.2 $ 4,860.2
 Equity in income (loss) of affiliates  18.5  (88.2)  (69.7)
 Segment profit (loss)  727.8  (341.0)  386.8
 Total assets  5,830.1  669.6  6,499.7
 Investment in affiliates  843.5  28.5  872.0
 Capital expenditures  351.1  4.8  355.9
 Depreciation and amortization  292.6  27.0  319.6
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For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, 
there were no revenues attributable to one customer that 
accounted for more than 10% of total revenues. 

The following table presents the details of “Corporate and 
Other” segment loss for the years ended December 31:

 2004 2003 2002

Corporate and other 
 expenses $ (206.6) $ (146.7) $ (144.9) 
Interest – net  (76.8)  (97.8)  (105.9) 
Impairment of 
 investment in affiliate  –  (45.3)  – 
Reversal of 
 restructuring charge  –  1.1  – 
Impairment and restructuring  
 charges related to an   
 investment in affiliate  –  (135.7)  (90.2)

Total $ (283.4) $ (424.4) $ (341.0)

The following table presents the details of “Corporate and 
Other” total assets at December 31:

 2004 2003 2002

Current deferred  
 tax asset $ 61.7 $ 35.7 $ 25.6 
Property – net  107.6  134.7  157.7 
Accounts receivable  26.5  50.0  65.5 
Other tangible assets  115.6  107.5  88.8 
Investment in affiliate  –  28.4  28.5 
Assets of discontinued 
 operations  –  48.7  146.8 
Cash and other assets  330.8  120.0  156.7

Total $ 642.2 $ 525.0 $ 669.6

The following table presents consolidated revenues by 
country based on the location of the use of the products or 
services for the years ended December 31:

 2004 2003 2002

United States $ 2,145.0 $ 1,883.0 $ 1,700.2 
Canada   395.6  337.1  246.6 
United Kingdom   329.8  296.3  347.2 
Norway  310.9  329.1  302.3 
Russia   213.4  122.4  117.9 
China   192.9  117.6  102.6 
Venezuela   163.6  130.4  143.4 
Other countries   2,352.6  2,036.5  1,900.0

Total  $ 6,103.8 $ 5,252.4 $ 4,860.2

The following table presents net property by country based 
on the location of the asset at December 31:

 2004 2003 2002

United States $ 726.4 $ 791.1 $ 774.8 
United Kingdom  146.0  143.4  130.1 
Canada  56.4  54.4  39.1 
Norway  46.8  47.4  52.7 
Germany  44.4  43.3  34.0 
Singapore  26.4  35.1  23.8 
Venezuela  19.8  23.1  26.6 
Other countries  267.9  257.3  254.3

Total $ 1,334.1 $ 1,395.1 $ 1,335.4

Note 14. Employee Stock Plans
We have stock option plans that provide for the issuance 

of incentive and non-qualified stock options to directors, offi-
cers and other key employees at an exercise price equal to or 
greater than the fair market value of the stock at the date of 
grant. These stock options generally vest over three years. 
Vested options are exercisable in part or in full at any time 
prior to the expiration date of ten years from the date of 
grant. As of December 31, 2004, 12.6 million shares were 
available for future option grants. The following table summa-
rizes the activity for our stock option plans:

  Weighted 

 Number Average 

 of Shares Exercise Price 

 (In thousands) Per Share 

Outstanding at December 31, 2001 9,867 $ 32.61 
Granted 2,064  28.80 
Exercised (876)  21.35 
Forfeited (187)  39.50

Outstanding at December 31, 2002 10,868  32.68 
Granted 2,481  30.92 
Exercised (1,005)  21.44 
Forfeited (515)  38.97

Outstanding at December 31, 2003 11,829  32.99 
Granted 2,495  37.68 
Exercised (3,764)  25.62 
Forfeited (255)  39.07

Outstanding at December 31, 2004 10,305 $ 36.67

Shares exercisable at December 31, 2004 6,417 $ 38.02 
Shares exercisable at December 31, 2003 7,611 $ 33.80 
Shares exercisable at December 31, 2002 6,802 $ 33.29
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The following table summarizes information for stock options outstanding at December 31, 2004:

   Outstanding   Exercisable

   Weighted Average Weighted  Weighted 

 Range of Exercise Shares Remaining Contractual Average Shares Average 

 Prices (In thousands) Life (In Years) Exercise Price (In thousands) Exercise Price 

$ 8.80 – $ 15.99 45 1.5 $ 11.24 43 $ 11.14 
 16.08 –  21.00 319 3.3  20.61 317  20.57 
 21.06 –  26.07 808 5.9  24.40 558  24.17 
 28.25 –  40.25 5,727 7.2  34.71 2,168  34.38 
 41.06 –  47.81 3,406 3.5  44.70 3,331  44.72

Total  10,305 5.8 $ 36.67 6,417 $ 38.02

We also have an employee stock purchase plan whereby eligible employees may purchase shares of our common stock at a 
price equal to 85% of the lower of the closing price of our common stock on the first or last trading day of the calendar year. A 
total of 4.1 million shares are remaining for issuance under the plan. Employees purchased 0.8 million shares in each of the three 
years ending December 31, 2004.

We have awarded restricted stock to directors and certain executive officers. The fair value of the restricted stock on the date of 
grant is amortized ratably over the vesting period. The following table summarizes the restricted stock awarded during the years 
ended December 31:

     
 2004 2003 2002 

Number of shares of restricted stock awarded (in thousands)  163  10  97 
Fair value of restricted stock at date of grant (in millions) $ 6.9 $ 0.3 $ 2.8
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 U.S. Pension Benefits Non-U.S. Pension Benefits

 2004 2003 2004 2003

Change in projected benefit obligation:        
 Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 175.6 $ 138.9 $ 269.2 $ 205.1
 Service cost  20.6  16.6  2.1  5.4
 Interest cost  10.6  9.1  12.7  12.1
 Plan amendments  –  0.2  –  –
 Actuarial loss  6.7  19.6  7.9  22.9
 Benefits paid  (9.7)  (8.8)  (5.8)  (3.2)
 Curtailments/settlements  –  –  (42.2)  –
 Exchange rate adjustments  –  –  17.1  26.9

Projected benefit obligation at end of year  203.8  175.6  261.0  269.2

Change in plan assets:        
 Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year  237.9  179.7  135.2  107.9
 Actual gain on plan assets  33.4  44.6  18.3  10.9
 Employer contributions  23.3  22.4  18.4  6.3
 Benefits paid  (9.7)  (8.8)  (5.8)  (3.2)
 Settlements  –  –  (17.6)  –
 Exchange rate adjustments  –  –  9.8  13.3

Fair value of plan assets at end of year  284.9  237.9  158.3  135.2

Funded status – over (under)  81.1  62.3  (102.7)  (134.0)
Unrecognized actuarial loss  59.5  69.4  77.0  98.5
Unrecognized prior service cost  0.3  0.4  0.2  0.8

Net amount recognized  140.9  132.1  (25.5)  (34.7)
Employer contributions/benefits paid – 
 October to December  32.5  0.6  36.1  2.0

Net amount recognized $ 173.4 $ 132.7 $ 10.6 $ (32.7)

Note 15. Employee Benefit Plans
Defined Benefit Pension Plans

We have noncontributory defined benefit pension plans 
(“Pension Benefits”) covering employees primarily in the U.S., 
the U.K. and Germany. During 2004, we converted our plan in 
Norway from a defined benefit plan to a defined contribution 
plan, resulting in a settlement and curtailment of benefits on 
conversion. Generally, we make annual contributions to the 
plans in amounts necessary to meet minimum governmental 
funding requirements; however, during the fourth quarter of 

2004, we contributed $68.6 million to our pension plans in 
order to improve the funded status of certain pension plans 
and to provide us with increased flexibility on the future fund-
ing of these pension plans. The measurements of plan assets 
and obligations are as of October 1 of each year presented.

The reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of 
the projected benefit obligations (“PBO”) and fair value of 
plan assets and the funded status of the plans are as follows 
for the years ended December 31:

We report prepaid benefit cost in other assets and accrued benefit and minimum liabilities in pensions and postretirement bene-
fit obligations in the consolidated balance sheet. The amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheet are as follows at 
December 31:

  U.S. Pension Benefits Non-U.S. Pension Benefits

 2004 2003 2004 2003

Prepaid benefit cost $ 185.0 $ 154.8 $ 33.8 $ 1.3 
Accrued benefit liability  (11.6)  (22.1)  (23.2)  (34.0) 
Minimum liability  (14.9)  (13.9)  (68.3)  (75.7) 
Intangible asset  0.1  0.2  –  0.5 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss  14.8  13.7  68.3  75.2

Net amount recognized  $ 173.4 $ 132.7 $ 10.6 $ (32.7)
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Weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations for these plans are as follows for the years ended  
December 31:

  U.S. Pension Benefits Non-U.S. Pension Benefits

 2004 2003 2004 2003

Discount rate 6.00% 6.25% 5.67% 5.48% 
Rate of compensation increase 3.50% 3.50% 3.53% 3.36% 

The accumulated benefit obligation (“ABO”) is the actuarial present value of pension benefits attributed to employee service to 
date and present compensation levels. The ABO differs from the PBO in that the ABO does not include any assumptions about 
future compensation levels. The ABO for all U.S. plans was $201.8 million and $174.6 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, 
respectively. The ABO for all non-U.S. plans was $252.5 million and $245.0 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Information for the plans with ABOs in excess of plan assets is as follows at December 31:

  U.S. Pension Benefits Non-U.S. Pension Benefits

 2004 2003 2004 2003

Projected benefit obligation $ 78.6 $ 56.3 $ 256.3 $ 264.1 
Accumulated benefit obligation  76.6  55.2  248.2  240.8 
Fair value of plan assets  40.3  19.0  153.3  129.7

The components of net periodic benefit cost are as follows for the years ended December 31:

 U.S. Pension Benefits Non-U.S. Pension Benefits

 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002

Service cost $ 20.6 $ 16.6 $ 13.8 $ 2.1 $ 5.4 $ 4.0 
Interest cost  10.6  9.1  8.4  12.7  12.1  10.5 
Expected return on plan assets  (20.7)  (15.0)  (18.3)  (9.2)  (8.1)  (9.4) 
Amortization of prior service cost  0.1  –  0.5  –  (0.1)  – 
Recognized actuarial loss  4.0  6.5  2.1  4.6  2.9  1.5 
Recognized curtailment gain  –  –  –  (2.1)  –  – 
Recognized settlement gain  –  –  –  (1.1)  –  –

Net periodic benefit cost $ 14.6 $ 17.2 $ 6.5 $ 7.0 $ 12.2 $ 6.6

Weighted average assumptions used to determine net costs for these plans are as follows for the years ended December 31:

 U.S. Pension Benefits Non-U.S. Pension Benefits

 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002

Discount rate  6.25%  6.75%  7.00%  5.37%  5.82%  5.83%
Expected rate of return on plan assets  8.50%  8.50%  9.00%  7.28%  7.41%  7.38%
Rate of compensation increase  3.50%  4.00%  4.50%  2.50%  3.40%  3.41%

In selecting the expected rate of return on plan assets, we consider the average rate of earnings expected on the funds invested 
or to be invested to provide for the benefits of these plans. This includes considering the trusts’ asset allocation and the expected 
returns likely to be earned over the life of the plans.

The weighted average asset allocations by asset category for the plans are as follows at December 31:

 Percentage of Plan Assets

 U.S. Pension Benefits Non-U.S. Pension Benefits

 Target 2004 2003 Target 2004 2003

Equity securities  68%  68%  59%  68%  65%  65%
Debt securities  25%  23%  27%  26%  21%  18%
Real estate  7%  8%  11%  –  9%  10%
Other  –  1%  3%  6%  5%  7%

Total  100%  100%  100%  100%  100%  100%

2004 Form 10-K     59



We have an investment committee that meets quarterly 
to review the portfolio returns and to determine asset-mix  
targets based on asset/liability studies. A nationally recognized 
third-party investment consultant assisted us in developing an 
asset allocation strategy to determine our expected rate of 
return and expected risk for various investment portfolios. The 
investment committee considered these studies in the formal 
establishment of the current asset-mix targets based on the 
projected risk and return levels for each asset class.

In 2005, we expect to contribute between $2.0 million 
and $5.0 million to the U.S. pension plans and between 
$10.0 million to $14.0 million to the non-U.S. pension plans. 

The expected benefit payments related to our U.S. pension 
plans for each of the five years in the period ending December 
31, 2009 are $11.4 million, $12.3 million, $13.3 million, 
$14.7 million and $17.2 million, respectively, and $126.4 mil-
lion in the aggregate for the five years thereafter. The 
expected benefit payments related to our non-U.S. pension 
plans for each of the five years in the period ending Decem-
ber 31, 2009 are $7.9 million, $7.9 million, $12.0 million,  
$6.2 million and $4.2 million, respectively, and $26.0 million 
in the aggregate for the five years thereafter. These payments 
reflect benefits attributable to estimated future employee service 
and are primarily funded from plan assets.

Postretirement Welfare Benefits
We provide certain postretirement health care and life 

insurance benefits (“postretirement welfare benefits”) to sub-
stantially all U.S. employees who retire and have met certain 
age and service requirements. The plan is unfunded. The mea-
surement of plan obligations is as of October 1 of each year 
presented. The reconciliation of the beginning and ending bal-
ances of benefit obligations and the funded status of the plan 
is as follows for the years ended December 31:

 2004 2003

Change in benefit obligation: 
 Accumulated benefit obligation   
  at beginning of year $ 174.8 $ 158.7 
 Service cost  5.5  4.8 
 Interest cost  9.6  10.3 
 Actuarial (gain) loss  (7.1)  12.3 
 Benefits paid  (13.3)  (11.3)

Accumulated benefit obligation  
 at end of year  169.5  174.8

 
Funded status – over (under)  (169.5)  (174.8) 
Unrecognized actuarial loss  34.9  42.9 
Unrecognized prior service cost  7.8  8.5

Net amount recognized  (126.8)  (123.4) 
Benefits paid – October to December 3.6  4.2

Net amount recognized  (123.2)  (119.2) 
Less current portion reported in  
 accrued employee compensation  (16.3)  (18.6)

Long-term portion reported in  
 pensions and postretirement  
 benefit obligations $ (106.9) $ (100.6)

Weighted average discount rates of 6.00% and 6.25% 
were used to determine postretirement welfare benefit obliga-
tions for the plan for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 
2003, respectively.

The components of net periodic benefit cost are as follows 
for the years ended December 31:

 2004 2003 2002

Service cost $ 5.5 $ 4.8 $ 4.4 
Interest cost  9.6  10.3  9.5 
Amortization of prior 
 service cost  0.6  0.6  0.6 
Recognized actuarial loss  1.0  1.1  0.2

Net periodic benefit cost $ 16.7 $ 16.8 $ 14.7

Weighted average discount rates of 6.25%, 6.75% and 
7.00% were used to determine net postretirement welfare ben-
efit costs for the plan for the years ended December 31, 2004, 
2003 and 2002, respectively.

In December 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, 
Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (”the Medicare 
Act”) was signed into law. The Medicare Act expanded Medi-
care to include, for the first time, coverage for prescription 
drugs. In May 2004, the FASB issued FSP 106-2 which  
provided guidance on the accounting for the effects of the 
Medicare Act for employers that sponsor postretirement health 
care plans that provide prescription drug benefits. We adopted 
the provisions of FSP 106-2 in the third quarter of 2004, 
resulting in a reduction in our accumulated postretirement 
benefit obligation of $18.8 million, which is reflected in the 
actuarial (gain) loss caption of the funded status reconciliation. 
We recognized a reduction in our net periodic postretirement 
benefit costs of $2.0 million as a result of the adoption of  
FSP 106-2.

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant 
effect on the amounts reported for the postretirement welfare 
benefits plan. The assumed health care cost trend rate used 
in measuring the accumulated benefit obligation for postretire-
ment welfare benefits was increased in 2003. As of Decem-
ber 31, 2004, the health care cost trend rate was 9.0% for 
employees under age 65 and 7.0% for participants over age 
65, with each declining gradually each successive year until 
it reaches 5.0% for both employees under age 65 and over 
age 65 in 2008. A one percentage point change in assumed 
health care cost trend rates would have had the following 
effects on 2004:

 One Percentage One Percentage 

 Point Increase Point Decrease

Effect on total of service 
 and interest cost components $ 0.6 $ (0.5) 
Effect on postretirement welfare 
 benefit obligation  9.5  (8.5)
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The expected benefit payments related to postretirement welfare benefits are as follows for the years ending December 31:

 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 – 2014

Gross benefit payments $ 16.3 $ 16.8 $ 17.4 $ 18.1 $ 18.5 $ 102.4 
Expected Medicare subsidies  –  (1.8)  (1.9)  (2.1)  (2.1)  (11.5)

Net benefit payments  $ 16.3 $ 15.0 $ 15.5 $ 16.0 $ 16.4 $ 90.9

Defined Contribution Plans
During the periods reported, generally all of our U.S. 

employees were eligible to participate in our sponsored Thrift 
Plan, which is a 401(k) plan under the Internal Revenue Code 
of 1986, as amended. The Thrift Plan allows eligible employees 
to elect to contribute from 1% to 50% of their salaries to an 
investment trust. Employee contributions are matched in cash 
by us at the rate of $1.00 per $1.00 employee contribution for 
the first 3% and $0.50 per $1.00 employee contribution for 
the next 2% of the employee’s salary. Such contributions vest 
immediately. In addition, we make cash contributions for all 
eligible employees between 2% and 5% of their salary 
depending on the employee’s age. Such contributions become 
fully vested to the employee after five years of employment. 
The Thrift Plan provides for ten different investment options, 
for which the employee has sole discretion in determining 
how both the employer and employee contributions are 
invested. Our contributions to the Thrift Plan and several  
other non-U.S. defined contribution plans amounted to 
$75.5 million, $67.7 million and $62.8 million in 2004, 
2003 and 2002, respectively.

For certain non-U.S. employees who are not eligible to 
participate in the Thrift Plan, we provide a non-qualified 
defined contribution plan that provides basically the same ben-
efits as the Thrift Plan. In addition, we provide a non-qualified 
supplemental retirement plan (“SRP”) for certain officers and 
employees whose benefits under both the Thrift Plan and the 
Pension Plan are limited by federal tax law. The SRP also allows 
the eligible employees to defer a portion of their eligible com-
pensation and provides for employer matching and base con-
tributions pursuant to limitations. Both non-qualified plans are 
fully funded and invested through trusts, and the assets and 
corresponding liabilities are included in our consolidated bal-
ance sheet. Our contributions to these non-qualified plans 
were $6.1 million, $5.5 million and $6.0 million for 2004, 
2003 and 2002, respectively.

Postemployment Benefits
We provide certain postemployment disability income,  

medical and other benefits to substantially all qualifying for-
mer or inactive U.S. employees. Income benefits for long-term 
disability are provided through a fully-insured plan. The  
continuation of medical and other benefits while on disability 
(“Continuation Benefits”) are provided through a qualified 
self-insured plan. The accrued postemployment liability for  
Continuation Benefits at December 31, 2004 and 2003 was 
$20.2 million and $27.2 million, respectively, and is included 
in other liabilities in our consolidated balance sheet.

Note 16. Commitments and Contingencies
Leases

At December 31, 2004, we had long-term non-cancelable 
operating leases covering certain facilities and equipment. 
The minimum annual rental commitments, net of amounts 
due under subleases, for each of the five years in the period 
ending December 31, 2009 are $74.0 million, $50.4 million, 
$34.8 million, $25.0 million and $17.2 million, respectively, 
and $126.3 million in the aggregate thereafter. We have not 
entered into any significant capital leases.

Litigation
We are involved in litigation or proceedings that have 

arisen in our ordinary business activities. We insure against 
these risks to the extent deemed prudent by our management 
and to the extent insurance is available, but no assurance can 
be given that the nature and amount of such insurance will be 
sufficient to fully indemnify us against liabilities arising out of 
pending and future legal proceedings. Many of these insur-
ance policies contain deductibles or self-insured retentions in 
amounts we deem prudent, and for which we are responsible 
for payment. In determining the amount of self-insurance, it 
is our policy to self-insure those losses that are predictable, 
measurable and recurring in nature, such as claims for auto-
mobile liability, general liability and workers compensation. We 
record accruals for the uninsured portion of losses related to 
these types of claims. The accruals for losses are calculated by 
estimating losses for claims using historical claim data, specific 
loss development factors and other information as necessary.

On March 29, 2002, we announced that we had been 
advised that the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) 
and the Department of Justice (“DOJ”) are conducting investi-
gations into allegations of violations of law relating to Nigeria 
and other related matters. The SEC has issued a formal order 
of investigation into possible violations of provisions under the 
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”) regarding anti-bribery, 
books and records and internal controls. On August 6, 2003, 
the SEC issued a subpoena seeking information about our 
operations in Angola and Kazakhstan as part of its ongoing 
investigation. We are providing documents to and cooperating 
fully with the SEC and DOJ. The DOJ and the SEC have issued 
subpoenas to, or otherwise asked for interviews with, current 
and former employees in connection with the investigations 
regarding Nigeria, Angola and Kazakhstan. In addition, we 
have conducted internal investigations into these matters.

Our internal investigations have identified issues regarding 
the propriety of certain payments and apparent deficiencies in 
our books and records and internal controls with respect to 
certain operations in Nigeria, Angola and Kazakhstan, as well 
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as potential liabilities to governmental authorities in Nigeria. 
The investigation in Nigeria was substantially completed during 
the first quarter of 2003 and, based upon current information, 
we do not expect that any such potential liabilities will have a 
material adverse effect on our consolidated financial state-
ments. The internal investigations in Angola and Kazakhstan 
were substantially completed in the third quarter of 2004. Evi-
dence obtained during the course of the investigations has 
been provided to the SEC and DOJ.

The Department of Commerce, Department of the Navy 
and DOJ (the “U.S. agencies”) are investigating compliance 
with certain export licenses issued to Western Geophysical 
from 1994 through 2000 for export of seismic equipment 
leased by the People’s Republic of China. We acquired West-
ern Geophysical in August 1998 and subsequently transferred 
related assets to WesternGeco in December 2000. Under the 
WesternGeco formation agreement, we owe indemnity to 
WesternGeco for certain matters. We are cooperating fully 
with the U.S. agencies.

We have received a subpoena from a grand jury in the 
Southern District of New York regarding goods and services we 
delivered to Iraq from 1995 through 2003 during the United 
Nations Oil-for-Food Program (the “U.N. Program”). We have 
also received a request from the SEC to provide a written state-
ment and certain information regarding our participation in the 
U.N. Program. We are responding to both the subpoena and 
the request. Other companies in the energy industry are 
believed to have received similar subpoenas and requests.

The U.S. agencies, the SEC and other authorities have 
a broad range of civil and criminal sanctions they may seek 
to impose against corporations and individuals in appropriate 
circumstances including, but not limited to, injunctive relief, 
disgorgement, fines, penalties and modifications to business 
practices and compliance programs. During 2004, such agen-
cies and authorities entered into agreements with, and 
obtained a range of sanctions against, several public corpo-
rations and individuals arising from allegations of improper 
payments and deficiencies in books and records and internal 
controls, whereby civil and criminal penalties were imposed, 
including in some cases multi-million dollar fines and other 
sanctions. It is not possible to accurately predict at this time 
when any of the investigations related to the Company will 
be completed. Based on current information, we cannot  
predict the outcome of such investigations or what, if any, 
actions may be taken by the U.S. agencies, the SEC or other 
authorities or the effect it may have on our consolidated 
financial statements.

On May 10, 2004, the District Court of Andrews County, 
Texas entered a judgment in favor of LOTUS, LLC and against 
INTEQ in the amount of $14.8 million for lost profits resulting 
from a breach of contract in drilling a well to create a salt 
cavern for disposing of naturally occurring radioactive waste. 
We have filed an appeal and taken other actions. We believe 
that any liability that we may incur as a result of this litigation 
would not have a material adverse financial effect on our con-
solidated financial statements.

Environmental Matters
Our past and present operations include activities which 

are subject to extensive domestic (including U.S. federal, 
state and local) and international environmental regulations 
with regard to air and water quality and other environmental 
matters. Our environmental procedures, policies and practices 
are designed to ensure compliance with existing laws and 
regulations and to minimize the possibility of significant envi-
ronmental damage.

We are involved in voluntary remediation projects at some 
of our present and former manufacturing facilities, the major-
ity of which relate to properties obtained in acquisitions or to 
sites no longer actively used in operations. On rare occasions, 
remediation activities are conducted as specified by a govern-
ment agency-issued consent decree or agreed order. Reme-
diation costs are accrued based on estimates of probable 
exposure using currently available facts, existing environmental 
permits, technology and presently enacted laws and regula-
tions. Remediation cost estimates include direct costs related 
to the environmental investigation, external consulting activi-
ties, governmental oversight fees, treatment equipment and 
costs associated with long-term operation, maintenance and 
monitoring of a remediation project.

We have also been identified as a potentially responsible 
party (“PRP”) in remedial activities related to various Super-
fund sites. We participate in the process set out in the Joint 
Participation and Defense Agreement to negotiate with gov-
ernment agencies, identify other PRPs, determine each PRP’s 
allocation and estimate remediation costs. We have accrued 
what we believe to be our pro-rata share of the total esti-
mated cost of remediation and associated management of 
these Superfund sites. This share is based upon the ratio that 
the estimated volume of waste we contributed to the site 
bears to the total estimated volume of waste disposed at the 
site. Applicable United States federal law imposes joint and 
several liability on each PRP for the cleanup of these sites leav-
ing us with the uncertainty that we may be responsible for the 
remediation cost attributable to other PRPs who are unable to 
pay their share. No accrual has been made under the joint and 
several liability concept for those Superfund sites where our 
participation is minor since we believe that the probability that 
we will have to pay material costs above our volumetric share 
is remote. We believe there are other PRPs who have greater 
involvement on a volumetric calculation basis, who have sub-
stantial assets and who may be reasonably expected to pay 
their share of the cost of remediation. For those Superfund 
sites where we are a major PRP, remediation costs are esti-
mated to include recalcitrant parties. In some cases, we have 
insurance coverage or contractual indemnities from third par-
ties to cover the ultimate liability.

Our total accrual for environmental remediation is $13.6 mil-
lion and $15.6 million, which includes accruals of $3.6 million 
and $4.3 million for the various Superfund sites, at Decem-
ber 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The determination of the 
required accruals for remediation costs is subject to uncer-
tainty, including the evolving nature of environmental regula-
tions and the difficulty in estimating the extent and type of 
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remediation activity that will be utilized. We believe that the 
likelihood of material losses in excess of the recorded accruals 
is remote.

Other
In the normal course of business with customers, ven-

dors and others, we have entered into off-balance sheet 
arrangements, such as letters of credit and other bank issued 
guarantees, which totaled approximately $312.3 million at 
December 31, 2004. We also had commitments outstanding 
for purchase obligations related to capital expenditures and 
inventory under purchase orders and contracts of approxi-
mately $114.7 million at December 31, 2004. In addition, 
at December 31, 2004, we have guaranteed debt and other 
obligations of third parties with a maximum exposure of 
$7.4 million. It is not practicable to estimate the fair value 
of these financial instruments. None of the off-balance sheet 
arrangements either has, or is likely to have, a material effect 
on our consolidated financial statements.

Note 17. Other Supplemental Information
Supplemental consolidated statement of operations infor-

mation is as follows for the years ended December 31:

 2004 2003 2002

Rental expense (generally  
 transportation equipment  
 and warehouse facilities) $ 123.6 $ 111.6 $ 98.2 
Research and development  176.7  173.3  164.4

The changes in the aggregate product warranty liability are 
as follows:

Balance as of December 31, 2002 $ 7.4 
Claims paid  (5.8) 
Additional warranties  11.5 
Other  1.0

Balance as of December 31, 2003  14.1 
Claims paid  (4.9) 
Additional warranties  7.6 
Other  (0.2)

Balance as of December 31, 2004 $ 16.6

On January 1, 2003, we adopted SFAS No. 143, Account-
ing for Asset Retirement Obligations. SFAS No. 143 requires 
that the fair value of a liability associated with an asset retire-
ment obligation (“ARO”) be recognized in the period in which 
it is incurred if a reasonable estimate can be made. The liability 
for the ARO is revised each subsequent period due to the pas-
sage of time and changes in estimates. The associated retire-
ment costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of 
the long-lived asset and subsequently depreciated over the 
estimated useful life of the asset. The adoption of SFAS No. 143 
in 2003 resulted in a charge of $5.6 million, net of tax of 
$2.8 million, recorded as the cumulative effect of accounting 
change in the consolidated statement of operations. In con-
junction with the adoption, we recorded ARO liabilities of 
$11.4 million primarily for anticipated costs of obligations 
associated with the future disposal of power source units at 
certain of our divisions and refurbishment costs associated 
with certain leased facilities in Europe and with a fleet of 
leased railcars and tanks.

The changes in the asset retirement obligation liability are 
as follows:

Pro forma balance as of December 31, 2002 $ 11.4 
Liabilities incurred  0.5 
Liabilities settled  (0.3) 
Accretion expense  0.2 
Revisions to existing liabilities  (0.4) 
Translation adjustments  0.1

Balance as of December 31, 2003  11.5
Liabilities incurred  1.5 
Liabilities settled  (0.4) 
Accretion expense  0.2 
Revisions to existing liabilities  (0.1) 
Translation adjustments  0.2

Balance as of December 31, 2004 $ 12.9

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax, is  
comprised of the following at December 31:

  2004 2003

Foreign currency translation 
 adjustments   $ (52.4) $ (89.8) 
Pension adjustment    (57.3)  (61.3) 
Net loss on derivative  
 instruments    (0.1)  –

Total   $ (109.8)  (151.1)
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Note 18. Quarterly Data (Unaudited)

 First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter Total Year

2004
 Revenues $ 1,387.6 $ 1,499.0 $ 1,538.1 $ 1,679.1 $ 6,103.8
 Gross profit(1)  372.4  427.9  434.3  501.8  1,736.4
 Income from continuing operations  94.4  116.7  137.3  179.8  528.2
 Net income   94.6  116.9  137.5  179.6  528.6
 Basic earnings per share          
  Income from continuing operations  0.28  0.35  0.41  0.54  1.58
  Net income   0.28  0.35  0.41  0.54  1.58
 Diluted earnings per share          
  Income from continuing operations  0.28  0.35  0.41  0.53  1.57
  Net income   0.28  0.35  0.41  0.53  1.58
 Dividends per share  0.11  0.12  0.11  0.12  0.46
 Common stock market prices:          
  High  38.42  38.27  44.57  44.89  
  Low  32.00  33.71  37.80  40.28  
          
2003(2)          
 Revenues $ 1,189.9 $ 1,305.7 $ 1,328.8 $ 1,428.0 $ 5,252.4
 Gross profit(1)  298.7  366.1  361.0  405.7  1,431.5
 Income (loss) from continuing operations  49.4  82.4  (59.9)  106.0  177.9
 Net income (loss)  44.5  81.6  (98.8)  101.6  128.9
 Basic earnings per share          
  Income (loss) from continuing operations  0.15  0.24  (0.18)  0.32  0.53
  Net income (loss)  0.13  0.24  (0.30)  0.31  0.38
 Diluted earnings per share          
  Income (loss) from continuing operations  0.15  0.24  (0.18)  0.32  0.53
  Net income (loss)  0.13  0.24  (0.29)  0.30  0.38
 Dividends per share  0.11  0.12  0.11  0.12  0.46
 Common stock market prices:          
  High  33.38  35.94  34.16  32.56  
  Low  28.50  27.21  29.61  27.10

(1) Represents revenues less cost of revenues.

(2) See Note 4 for reversal of restructuring charge and Note 8 for impairment of investment in affiliate.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS  
WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND  
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management has established and maintains a system 
of disclosure controls and procedures to provide reasonable 
assurances that information required to be disclosed by us in 
the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is 
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time 
periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. As of Decem-
ber 31, 2004, our management, including our principal execu-
tive officer and principal financial officer, conducted an 
evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures. Based on 
this evaluation, our principal executive officer and our principal 
financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and 
procedures as of December 31, 2004 are effective in ensuring 
that the information required to be disclosed by us in reports 
filed under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summa-
rized and reported within the time periods specified in the 
rules and forms of the SEC.

Design and Evaluation of Internal  
Control Over Financial Reporting

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002, our management included a report of their assessment 
of the design and effectiveness of our internal controls as part 
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2004. Our management’s assessment of the 
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2004 has been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, 
an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in 
their report which is included herein. Management’s report and 
the independent registered public accounting firm’s attestation 
report are included in Item 8 under the captions entitled “Man-
agement’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting” 
and “Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting 
Firm” and are incorporated herein by reference.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There has been no change in our internal control over 

financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 
2004 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE  
OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Information concerning our directors is set forth in the  
sections entitled “Proposal No. 1, Election of Directors,”  
“Information Concerning Directors Not Standing for Election” 
and “Corporate Governance – Committees of the Board – 
Audit/Ethics Committee” in our Proxy Statement for the 
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held April 28, 2005 
(“Proxy Statement”), which sections are incorporated herein 
by reference. For information regarding our executive officers, 
see “Item 1. Business – Executive Officers” in this annual 
report on Form 10-K. Additional information regarding  
compliance by directors and executive officers with Section 
16(a) of the Exchange Act is set forth under the section  
entitled “Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934” in our Proxy Statement, which section 
is incorporated herein by reference. For information concern-
ing our code of ethics, see “Item 1. Business” in this annual 
report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Information for this item is set forth in the sections entitled 

“Executive Compensation – Summary Compensation Table,” 
“Corporate Governance – Board of Directors,” “Stock Options 
Granted During 2004,” “Aggregated Option Exercises During 
2004 and Option Values at December 31, 2004,” “Long-Term 
Incentive Plan Awards During 2004,” “Pension Plan Table,” 
“Employment, Change in Control, Severance and Indemni-
fication Agreements,” “Compensation Committee Report,” 
“Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participa-
tion,” and “Corporate Performance Graph” in our Proxy State-
ment, which sections are incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL 
OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

Information concerning security ownership of certain ben-
eficial owners and our management is set forth in the sections 
entitled “Voting Securities” and “Security Ownership of Man-
agement” in our Proxy Statement, which sections are incorpo-
rated herein by reference.

Our Board of Directors has approved procedures for use 
under our Securities Trading and Disclosure Policy to permit 
our employees, officers and directors to enter into written 
trading plans complying with Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange 
Act. Rule 10b5-1 provides criteria under which such an individ-
ual may establish a prearranged plan to buy or sell a specified 
number of shares of a company’s stock over a set period of 
time. Any such plan must be entered into in good faith at a 
time when the individual is not in possession of material, non-
public information. If an individual establishes a plan satisfying 
the requirements of Rule 10b5-1, such individual’s subsequent 
receipt of material, nonpublic information will not prevent 
transactions under the plan from being executed.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information
The information in the following table is presented as of December 31, 2004 with respect to shares of our Common Stock that 

may be issued under our existing equity compensation plans, including the Baker Hughes Incorporated 1993 Stock Option Plan, the 
Baker Hughes Incorporated Long-Term Incentive Plan and the Baker Hughes Incorporated 2002 Directors & Officers Long-Term 
Incentive Plan, all of which have been approved by our stockholders.

  (In millions of shares) 

   Number of Securities  

 Number of Securities to be Issued Weighted-Average Remaining Available for Future  

  Upon Exercise of Outstanding Exercise Price of Outstanding  Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans  

Equity Compensation Plan Category Options, Warrants and Rights Options, Warrants and Rights (excluding securities reflected in the first column)

Stockholder-approved plans  
 (excluding Employee Stock Purchase Plan) 4.4(2) $ 36.95 4.8 
Nonstockholder-approved plans(1) 5.8  36.63 7.8

Subtotal (except for weighted average exercise price) 10.2  36.76 12.6
Employee Stock Purchase Plan – (3) 4.1

Total 10.2(4)   16.7

(1) The table includes the nonstockholder-approved plans: the 1998 Employee Stock Option Plan, the 1998 Special Employee Stock Option Plan, the 2002 Employee Long-
Term Incentive Plan and the Director Compensation Deferral Plan. A description of each of these plans is set forth below.

(2) The table includes approximately 0.9 million shares of our Common Stock that would be issuable upon the exercise of the outstanding options under our 1993 Stock 
Option Plan, which expired in 2003. No additional options may be granted under the 1993 Stock Option Plan.

(3) In the Baker Hughes Incorporated Employee Stock Purchase Plan, the purchase price is determined in accordance with Section 423 of the Code, as amended, as 85% 
of the lower of the fair market value on the date of grant or the date of purchase. 

(4) The table does not include shares subject to outstanding options we assumed in connection with certain mergers and acquisitions of entities which originally granted 
those options. When we acquired the stock of Western Atlas Inc. in a transaction completed in August 1998, we assumed the options granted under the Western 
Atlas Director Stock Option Plan and the Western Atlas 1993 Stock Incentive Plan. As of December 31, 2004, 68,171 shares and 3,836 shares of our Common Stock 
would be issuable upon the exercise of outstanding options previously granted under the Western Atlas Director Stock Option Plan and the Western Atlas 1993 Stock 
Incentive Plan, with a weighted average exercise price per share of $22.54 and $26.07, respectively.

Our nonstockholder-approved plans are described below:

1998 Employee Stock Option Plan
The Baker Hughes Incorporated 1998 Employee Stock 

Option Plan (the “1998 ESOP”) was adopted effective as of 
October 1, 1998. The number of shares authorized for issu-
ance under the 1998 ESOP is 3.5 million shares. Nonqualified 
stock options may be granted under the 1998 ESOP to our 
employees. The exercise price of the options will be equal to 
the fair market value per share of our Common Stock on the 
date of grant, and option terms may be up to ten years. Under 
the terms and conditions of the option award agreements for 
options issued under the 1998 ESOP, options generally vest 
and become exercisable in installments over the optionee’s 
period of service, and the options vest on an accelerated basis 
in the event of a change in control. As of December 31, 2004, 
options covering approximately 1.5 million shares of our Com-
mon Stock were outstanding under the 1998 ESOP, options 
covering approximately 1.4 million shares were exercised dur-
ing fiscal year 2004 and approximately 0.3 million shares 
remained available for future options.

1998 Special Employee Stock Option Plan
The Baker Hughes Incorporated 1998 Special Employee 

Stock Option Plan (the “1998 SESOP”) was adopted effective 
as of October 22, 1997. The number of shares authorized for 
issuance upon the exercise of options granted under the 1998 
SESOP is 2.5 million shares. Under the 1998 SESOP, the Com-
pensation Committee of our Board of Directors has the 
authority to grant nonqualified stock options to purchase 
shares of our Common Stock to a broad-based group of 
employees. The exercise price of the options will be equal to 
the fair market value per share of our Common Stock at the 
time of the grant, and option terms may be up to ten years. 
Stock option grants of 100 shares, with an exercise price of 
$47.813 per share, were issued to all of our U.S. employees 
in October 1997 and to our international employees in May 
1998. As of December 31, 2004, options covering approxi-
mately 1.2 million shares of our Common Stock were out-
standing under the 1998 SESOP, no options were exercised 
during fiscal year 2004 and approximately 1.2 million shares 
remained available for future options.
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2002 Employee Long-Term Incentive Plan
The Baker Hughes Incorporated 2002 Employee Long-Term 

Incentive Plan (the “2002 Employee LTIP”) was adopted effec-
tive as of March 6, 2002. The 2002 Employee LTIP permits the 
grant of awards as nonqualified stock options, stock apprecia-
tion rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance 
shares, performance units, stock awards and cash-based 
awards to our corporate officers and key employees. The num-
ber of shares authorized for issuance under the 2002 Employee 
LTIP is 9.5 million, with no more than 3.0 million available for 
grant as awards other than options (the number of shares is 
subject to adjustment for changes in our Common Stock).

The 2002 Employee LTIP is the companion plan to the 
Baker Hughes Incorporated 2002 Director & Officer Long-
Term Incentive Plan, which was approved by our stockholders 
in 2002. The rationale for the two companion plans was to 
discontinue the use of the remaining older option plans and 
to have only two plans from which we would issue compen-
sation awards.

Options. The exercise price of the options will not be less 
than the fair market value of the shares of our Common Stock 
on the date of grant, and options terms may be up to ten 
years. The maximum number of shares of our Common Stock 
that may be subject to options granted under the 2002 
Employee LTIP to any one employee during any one fiscal year 
will not exceed 3.0 million, subject to adjustment under the 
antidilution provisions of the 2002 Employee LTIP. Under the 
terms and conditions of the stock option awards for options 
issued under the 2002 Employee LTIP, options generally vest 
and become exercisable in installments over the optionee’s 
period of service, and the options vest on an accelerated 
basis in the event of a change in control or certain termina-
tions of employment. As of December 31, 2004, options cov-
ering approximately 3.1 million shares of our Common Stock 
were outstanding under the 2002 Employee LTIP, options cov-
ering 0.5 million shares were exercised during fiscal year 2004 
and approximately 5.8 million shares remained available for 
future options.

Performance Shares and Units; Cash-Based Awards. Perfor-
mance shares may be granted to employees in the amounts 
and upon the terms determined by the Compensation Com-
mittee of our Board of Directors, but must be limited to no 
more than 1.0 million shares to any one employee in any one 
fiscal year. Performance shares will have an initial value equal 
to the fair market value of our Common Stock at the date of 
the award. Performance units and cash-based awards may be 
granted to employees in amounts and upon the terms deter-
mined by the Compensation Committee, but must be limited 
to no more than $10.0 million for any one employee in any 
one fiscal year. The performance measures that may be used 
to determine the extent of the actual performance payout or 
vesting include, but are not limited to, net earnings; earnings 
per share; return measures; cash flow return on investments 
(net cash flows divided by owner’s equity); earnings before or 
after taxes, interest, depreciation and/or amortization; share 
price (including growth measures and total shareholder return) 

and Baker Value Added (our metric that measures operating 
profit after tax less the cost of capital employed).

Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units. With respect 
to awards of restricted stock and restricted stock units, the 
Compensation Committee will determine the conditions or 
restrictions on the awards, including whether the holders of 
the restricted stock or restricted stock units will exercise full 
voting rights or receive dividends and other distributions dur-
ing the restriction period. At the time the award is made, the 
Compensation Committee will determine the right to receive 
unvested restricted stock or restricted units after termination 
of service. Awards of restricted stock are limited to 1.0 million 
shares in any one year to any one individual.

Stock Appreciation Rights. Stock appreciation rights may 
be granted under the 2002 Employee LTIP on the terms and 
conditions determined by the Compensation Committee. The 
grant price of a freestanding stock appreciation right will not 
be less than the fair market value of our Common Stock on 
the date of grant. The maximum number of shares of our 
Common Stock that may be utilized for purposes of determin-
ing an employee’s compensation under stock appreciation rights 
granted under the 2002 Employee LTIP during any one fiscal 
year will not exceed 3.0 million shares, subject to adjustment 
under the antidilution provisions of the 2002 Employee LTIP.

Administration; Amendment and Termination. The Com-
pensation Committee shall administer the 2002 Employee LTIP, 
and in the absence of the Compensation Committee, the 
Board will administer the Plan. The Compensation Committee 
will have full and exclusive power to interpret the provisions 
of the 2002 Employee LTIP as the Committee may deem nec-
essary or proper, with the powers exercised in the best inter-
ests of the Company and in keeping with the objectives of 
the Plan. The Board may alter, amend, modify, suspend or ter-
minate the 2002 Employee LTIP, except that no amendment, 
modification, suspension or termination that would adversely 
affect in any material way the rights of a participant under 
any award previously granted under the Plan may be made 
without the written consent of the participant or to the extent 
stockholder approval is otherwise required by applicable 
legal requirements.

Director Compensation Deferral Plan
The Baker Hughes Incorporated Director Compensation 

Deferral Plan, as amended and restated effective July 24, 2002 
(the “Deferral Plan”), is intended to provide a means for  
members of our Board of Directors to defer compensation  
otherwise payable and provide flexibility with respect to our 
compensation policies. Under the provisions of the Deferral 
Plan, directors may elect to defer income with respect to each 
calendar year. The compensation deferrals may be stock 
option-related deferrals or cash-based deferrals. The stock 
option-related deferrals may be either market-priced stock 
options or discounted stock options. The number of shares to 
be issued for the market-priced stock option deferral is calcu-
lated on a quarterly basis by multiplying the deferred compen-
sation by 4.4 and then dividing by the fair market value of our 
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) List of Documents filed as part of this Report

(1) Financial Statements 
All financial statements of the Registrant as set forth under Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(2) Financial Statement Schedules 
Schedule II – Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

(3) Exhibits 
Each exhibit identified below is filed as a part of this report. Exhibits designated with an “*” are filed as an exhibit to this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K. Exhibits designated with a “+” are identified as management contracts or compensatory 
plans or arrangements. Exhibits previously filed as indicated below are incorporated by reference.
3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Quarterly Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on 

Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002).
3.2 Bylaws of Baker Hughes Incorporated restated as of October 22, 2003 (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Quarterly Report of 

Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003).
4.1 Rights of Holders of the Company’s Long-Term Debt. The Company has no long-term debt instrument with regard 

to which the securities authorized thereunder equal or exceed 10% of the total assets of the Company and its 
subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. The Company agrees to furnish a copy of its long-term debt instruments to 
the SEC upon request.

4.2 Restated Certificate of Incorporation (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Quarterly Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on 
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002).

4.3 Bylaws of Baker Hughes Incorporated restated as of October 31, 2003 (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Quarterly Report of 
Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003).

4.4* Indenture dated as of May 15, 1994 between Western Atlas Inc. and The Bank of New York, Trustee, providing for 
the issuance of securities in series. 

10.1+ Employment Agreement by and between Baker Hughes Incorporated and Chad C. Deaton dated as of October 25, 
2004 (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Current Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 8-K filed October 7, 2004).

10.2+ Change in Control Agreement between Baker Hughes Incorporated and Chad C. Deaton dated as of October 25, 2004 
(filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Current Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 8-K filed October 7, 2004).

10.3+ Indemnification Agreement dated as of October 25, 2004 between Baker Hughes Incorporated and Chad C. Dea-
ton (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Current Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 8-K filed on October 7, 2004).

10.4+ Stock Option Agreement issued to Chad C. Deaton on October 25, 2004 in the amount of 75,000 shares of Com-
pany Common Stock (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Quarterly Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-Q for the 
quarter ended September 30, 2004).

10.5+ Agreement regarding restricted stock award issued to Chad C. Deaton on October 25, 2004 in the amount of 
80,000 shares of Company Common Stock (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Quarterly Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated 
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004).

10.6+ Agreement regarding restricted stock award issued to James R. Clark on October 27, 2004 in the amount of 
40,000 shares of Baker Hughes Incorporated Common Stock (filed as Exhibit 10.7 to Quarterly Report of Baker 
Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004).

Common Stock on the last day of the quarter. The number of 
shares to be issued for the discounted stock option deferral is 
calculated on a quarterly basis by dividing the deferred com-
pensation by the discounted price of our Common Stock on 
the last day of the quarter. The discounted price is 50% of 
the fair market value of our Common Stock on the valuation 
date. Stock options granted under the Deferral Plan vest on 
the first anniversary of the date of grant and must be exer-
cised within 10 years of the date of grant. If a director’s direc-
torship terminates for any reason, any options outstanding 
will expire 3 years after the termination of the directorship. 
The maximum aggregate number of shares of our Common 
Stock that may be issued under the Deferral Plan is 0.5 mil-
lion. As of December 31, 2004, options covering 7,071 shares 

of our Common Stock were outstanding under the Defer-
ral Plan, no options were exercised during fiscal 2004 and 
approximately 0.5 million shares remained available for 
future options.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND  
RELATED TRANSACTIONS

None.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
Information concerning principal accounting fees and ser-

vices is set forth in the section entitled “Fees Paid to Deloitte & 
Touche LLP” in our Proxy Statement, which section is incorpo-
rated herein by reference.
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10.7+ Second Amended and Restated Stock Matching Agreement by and between Baker Hughes Incorporated and 
James R. Clark dated as of October 25, 2004 (filed as Exhibit 10.6 to Quarterly Report of Baker Hughes Incorpo-
rated on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004).

10.8+ Form of Severance Agreement, dated as of March 1, 2001, by and between Baker Hughes Incorporated and  
certain executives, executed by James R. Clark (dated March 1, 2001) and William P. Faubel (dated May 29, 2001) 
(filed as Exhibit 10.42 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended  
December 31, 2001).

10.9+ Severance Agreement between Baker Hughes Incorporated and G. Stephen Finley dated as of July 23, 1997  
(filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended  
December 31, 2002).

10.10+ Form of Amendment 1 to Severance Agreement between Baker Hughes Incorporated and G. Stephen Finley  
effective November 11, 1998 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Quarterly Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on  
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2003).

10.11+ Severance Agreement between Baker Hughes Incorporated and Alan R. Crain, Jr. dated as of October 25, 2000 
(filed as Exhibit 10.6 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended  
December 31, 2000).

10.12+ Severance Agreement between Baker Hughes Incorporated and Greg Nakanishi dated as of November 1, 2000 
(filed as Exhibit 10.7 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended  
December 31, 2000).

10.13+ Severance Agreement, dated as of July 23, 1997, by and between Baker Hughes Incorporated and Edwin C. Howell, 
as amended by Amendment 1 to Severance Agreement, effective November 11, 1998 (filed as Exhibit 10.39 to 
Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001).

10.14+ Severance Agreement, dated as of December 3, 1997, by and between Baker Hughes Incorporated and  
Douglas J. Wall, as amended by Amendment 1 to Severance Agreement, effective November 11, 1998  
(filed as Exhibit 10.40 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended  
December 31, 2001).

10.15+ Form of Change in Control Severance Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.8 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated 
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003).

10.16+ Form of Change in Control Severance Agreement between Baker Hughes Incorporated and Ray A. Ballantyne, 
David H. Barr and John A. O’Donnell effective as of July 28, 2004, and with James R. Clark, Alan R. Crain, Jr.,  
William P. Faubel, G. Stephen Finley, Edwin C. Howell, Greg Nakanishi and Douglas J. Wall to be effective as of 
January 1, 2006 and with Chris P. Beaver, Paul S. Butero and Martin S. Craighead effective as of February 28, 2005 
(filed as Exhibit 10.8 to Quarterly Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Sep-
tember 30, 2004).

10.17+ Form of Indemnification Agreement between Baker Hughes Incorporated and each of the directors and executive 
officers (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2003).

10.18+ Baker Hughes Incorporated Director Retirement Policy for Certain Members of the Board of Directors  
(filed as Exhibit 10.10 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended  
December 31, 2003).

10.19+ Baker Hughes Incorporated Director Compensation Deferral Plan, as amended and restated effective as of  
July 24, 2002 (filed as Exhibit 10.16 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2002).

10.20+ Baker Hughes Incorporated Executive Severance Plan (effective November 1, 2002) (filed as Exhibit 10.13 to 
Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002).

10.21 1995 Employee Annual Incentive Compensation Plan, as amended by Amendment No. 1997-1 to the 1995 
Employee Annual Incentive Compensation Plan and as amended by Amendment No. 1999-1 to the 1995 
Employee Annual Incentive Compensation Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.17 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorpo-
rated on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002).

10.22+ Baker Hughes Incorporated Supplemental Retirement Plan, as amended and restated effective as of January 1, 
2003 (filed as Exhibit 10.12 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2002).

10.23+ First Amendment to Baker Hughes Incorporated Supplemental Retirement Plan, effective July 23, 2003  
(filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Quarterly Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-Q filed for the quarter  
ended September 30, 2003).

10.24 Long Term Incentive Plan, as amended by Amendment No. 1999-1 to Long Term Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 
10.18 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002).
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10.25 Baker Hughes Incorporated 1998 Employee Stock Option Plan, as amended by Amendment No. 1999-1 to 1998 
Employee Stock Option Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Quarterly Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on  
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2003).

10.26 Baker Hughes Incorporated 2002 Employee Long-Term Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 4.4 to Registration Statement 
No. 333-87372 on Form S-8 filed May 1, 2002).

10.27+ Baker Hughes Incorporated 2002 Director & Officer Long-Term Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Quarterly 
Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003).

10.28 Baker Hughes Incorporated Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended and restated, effective as of March 3, 2003 
(filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Quarterly Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
March 31, 2003).

10.29 Baker Hughes Incorporated Pension Plan effective as of January 1, 2002, as amended by First Amendment, effec-
tive January 1, 2002 (filed as Exhibit 10.51 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the 
year ended December 31, 2002).

10.30 Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for employees effective October 25, 1995 (filed as Exhibit 10.27 to 
Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001).

10.31 Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement for employees effective October 25, 1995 (filed as Exhibit 10.28 to 
Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001).

10.32+ Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for directors effective October 25, 1995 (filed as Exhibit 10.26 to 
Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001).

10.33+ Form of Stock Option Agreement for executive officers effective October 1, 1998 (filed as Exhibit 10.37 to Annual 
Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000).

10.34 Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for employees effective October 1, 1998 (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to 
Quarterly Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2003).

10.35+ Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for directors effective October 25, 1998 (filed as Exhibit 10.39 to 
Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000).

10.36+ Form of Stock Option Agreement for executives effective January 26, 2000 (filed as Exhibit 10.36 to Annual 
Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000).

10.37+ Form of Baker Hughes Incorporated Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for executive officers, dated January 
24, 2001 (filed as Exhibit 10.41 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2001).

10.38 Form of Baker Hughes Incorporated Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for employees, dated January 30, 2002 
(filed as Exhibit 10.43 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2001).

10.39 Form of Baker Hughes Incorporated Incentive Stock Option Agreement for employees, dated January 30, 2002 
(filed as Exhibit 10.44 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2001).

10.40+ Form of Baker Hughes Incorporated Stock Option Award Agreements, dated July 24, 2002, with Terms and  
Conditions for employees and for directors and officers (filed as Exhibit 10.46 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes 
Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002).

10.41+ Form of Baker Hughes Incorporated Stock Option Award Agreements, dated January 29, 2003, with Terms and 
Conditions for employees and for directors and officers (filed as Exhibit 10.47 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes 
Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002).

10.42+ Form of Baker Hughes Incorporated Stock Option Award Agreement, dated July 22, 2003, for employees and for 
directors and officers (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2003).

10.43+ Form of Baker Hughes Incorporated Stock Option Award Agreements, dated January 28, 2004, with Terms and 
Conditions for employees and for directors and officers.

10.44+* Form of Baker Hughes Incorporated Stock Option Award Agreements, dated July 28, 2004, with Terms and  
Conditions for employees and for directors and officers.

10.45+ Form of Baker Hughes Incorporated Performance Award Agreement, including Terms and Conditions for certain 
executive officers, dated as of January 1, 2004 (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Quarterly Report of Baker Hughes Incorpo-
rated on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2004).

10.46+ Form of Restricted Stock Award Resolution, including Terms and Conditions dated March 2, 2004 (filed as Exhibit 
10.3 to Quarterly Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2004).

10.47+ Form of Restricted Stock Award Resolution, including Terms and Conditions, dated April 28, 2004 (filed as Exhibit 
10.5 to Quarterly Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2004).
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10.48+* Form of Baker Hughes Incorporated Stock Option Award Agreements, dated January 26, 2005, with Terms and 
Conditions for employees and for directors and officers.

10.49+* Form of Baker Hughes Incorporated Restricted Stock Award Agreement.
10.50+* Form of Baker Hughes Incorporated Restricted Stock Award Terms and Conditions.
10.51* Form of Baker Hughes Incorporated Restricted Stock Unit Agreement.
10.52* Form of Baker Hughes Incorporated Restricted Stock Unit Terms and Conditions.
10.53+* Compensation Table for Named Executive Officers and Directors.
10.54 Form of Credit Agreement, dated as of July 7, 2003, among Baker Hughes Incorporated and thirteen banks 

for $500,000,000, in the aggregate for all banks (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Quarterly Report of Baker Hughes  
Incorporated on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003).

10.55* Interest Rate Swap Confirmation, dated as of April 7, 2004, and Schedule to the Master Agreement  
(Multicurrency-Cross Border), dated March 6, 2000.

10.56 Agreement and Plan of Merger among Baker Hughes Incorporated, Baker Hughes Delaware I, Inc. and Western 
Atlas Inc. dated as of May 10, 1998 (filed as Exhibit 10.30 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on 
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003).

10.57 Tax Sharing Agreement dated October 31, 1997, between Western Atlas Inc. and UNOVA Inc. (filed as Exhibit 
10.31 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003).

10.58 Employee Benefits Agreement dated October 31, 1997, between Western Atlas Inc. and UNOVA Inc. (filed as 
Exhibit 10.32 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003).

10.59 Master Formation Agreement by and among the Company, Schlumberger Limited and certain wholly owned  
subsidiaries of Schlumberger Limited dated as of September 6, 2000 (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to Current Report of 
Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 8-K dated September 7, 2000).

10.60 Shareholders’ Agreement by and among Schlumberger Limited, Baker Hughes Incorporated and other parties 
listed on the signature pages thereto dated November 30, 2000 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Current Report of  
Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 8-K dated November 30, 2000).

21.1* Subsidiaries of Registrant.
23.1* Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.
31.1* Certification of Chad C. Deaton, Chief Executive Officer, dated February 25, 2005, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of 

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
31.2* Certification of G. Stephen Finley, Chief Financial Officer, dated February 25, 2005, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of 

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
32* Statement of Chad C. Deaton, Chief Executive Officer, and G. Stephen Finley, Chief Financial Officer, dated  

February 25, 2005, furnished pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
99.1 Administrative Proceeding, File No. 3-10572, dated September 12, 2001, as issued by the Securities and Exchange 

Commission (filed as Exhibit 99.1 to Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 19, 2001).
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly 

caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

  BAKER HUGHES INCORPORATED 

Date: February 28, 2005  /s/CHAD C. DEATON 
 Chad C. Deaton
 Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

KNOWN ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints  
Chad. C. Deaton and G. Stephen Finley, each of whom may act without joinder of the other, as their true and lawful attorneys-in-
fact and agents, each with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for such person and in his or her name, place and stead, 
in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits 
thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-
in-fact and agents full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in 
and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all 
that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or their substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been signed below by the  
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature  Title Date

/s/CHAD C. DEATON  Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer February 28, 2005
(Chad C. Deaton)  (principal executive officer)  

/s/G. STEPHEN FINLEY Senior Vice President – Finance and Administration February 28, 2005
(G. Stephen Finley)  and Chief Financial Officer (principal financial officer)  

/s/ALAN J. KEIFER  Vice President and Controller February 28, 2005
(Alan J. Keifer)  (principal accounting officer)  

/s/LARRY D. BRADY  Director February 28, 2005
(Larry D. Brady)    

/s/CLARENCE P. CAZALOT, JR. Director February 28, 2005
(Clarence P. Cazalot, Jr.)    

/s/EDWARD P. DJEREJIAN Director February 28, 2005
(Edward P. Djerejian)     

/s/ANTHONY G. FERNANDES Director February 28, 2005
(Anthony G. Fernandes)    

/s/CLAIRE W. GARGALLI Director February 28, 2005
(Claire W. Gargalli)    

/s/JAMES A. LASH  Director February 28, 2005
(James A. Lash)    

/s/JAMES F. MCCALL  Director February 28, 2005
(James F. McCall)    

/s/J. LARRY NICHOLS  Director February 28, 2005
(J. Larry Nichols)    

/s/H. JOHN RILEY, JR.  Director February 28, 2005
(H. John Riley, Jr.)    

/s/CHARLES L. WATSON Director February 28, 2005
(Charles L. Watson)    
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  SCHEDULE II – VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

 Deductions

 Balance at Additions Charged Reversal  Charged to Balance at 

 Beginning to Cost and of Prior  Other End of 

(In millions) of Period Expenses Deductions(1) Write-offs(2) Accounts(3) Period

Year ended December 31, 2004: 
 Reserve for doubtful accounts receivable $ 61.8 $ 21.2 $ (19.3) $ (14.4) $ 1.2 $ 50.5
 Reserve for inventories  232.5  39.0  –  (59.4)  9.0  221.1
            
Year ended December 31, 2003:             
 Reserve for doubtful accounts receivable  66.4  18.2  (9.8)  (13.5)  0.5  61.8
 Reserve for inventories  234.5  23.2  –  (36.2)  11.0  232.5
            
Year ended December 31, 2002:            
 Reserve for doubtful accounts receivable  65.8  22.9  (3.4)  (19.5)  0.6  66.4
 Reserve for inventories  220.1  39.4  –  (27.5)  2.5  234.5

(1) Represents the reversals of prior accruals as receivables collected. 
(2) Represents the elimination of accounts receivable and inventory deemed uncollectible or worthless. 
(3) Represents reclasses, currency translation adjustments and divestitures.
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GOVERNANCE AT BAKER HUGHES

Baker Hughes Corporate Governance Guidelines – 
Our board’s Corporate Governance Guidelines regulate its 

relationship with stockholders, the conduct of the company’s 
affairs and its relationship with our senior executive manage-
ment. The guidelines recognize that the board has a separate 
and unique role as the link in the chain of authority between 
the stockholders and senior executive management. The Cor-
porate Governance Guidelines can be accessed electronically at 
www.bakerhughes.com in the “About Baker Hughes” section.

The Baker Hughes board consists of 11 directors, including 
10 independent non-employee directors. The company’s bylaws 
allow the board to have between 9 and 12 members. Expan-
sion above 12 members requires an affirmative vote of 75% of 
the members of the board. The sole inside director is Chad C. 
Deaton, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Baker 
Hughes. Director H. John Riley serves as the Lead Director.

The board currently has three classes of directors serving 
three-year staggered terms. At the 2005 Annual Meeting of 
Stockholders, the board is proposing to amend the company’s 
charter and bylaws to eliminate the classification of the board 
and provide for the annual selection of all directors. Non-
employee directors must resign as a director following certain 
events, including their 72nd birthday, the third anniversary of 
the director’s retirement from their principal occupation, the 
first anniversary of a job change other than a promotion or a 
lateral move within the same organization or if attendance at 
board and committee meetings falls below 66%. The board 
may waive these requirements if it believes retention of the 
board member is in the best interest of our company.

Baker Hughes Directors At A Glance
• All 10 non-employee independent directors serve on no 

more than three other public boards.
• The average age of the directors is 61. The average tenure 

on the board is approximately four and one-half years.
• The diversity of principal occupations represented on our 

board includes Diplomacy (Djerejian), Diversified Industrial 
and Manufacturing (Fernandes and Riley), Energy (Cazalot, 
Nichols and Watson), Executive Search (Gargalli), Finance 
(McCall), High Technology (Lash), Industrial Technologies 
(Brady) and Oilfield Services (Deaton).

• Beginning in 2005, the board has regularly scheduled 
meetings five times per year. 

• In 2004, the board held nine meetings and all directors 
attended at least 75% of all committee and board meet-
ings except for Messrs. Cazalot and Nichols who attended 
70% of all meetings.

• All five members of the Audit/Ethics Committee meet the 
SEC requirements of an “audit committee financial expert.” 
The board has named Anthony G. Fernandes as its finan-
cial expert. 

• The Audit/Ethics, Compensation, Finance and Governance 
Committees are all comprised solely of non-employee inde-
pendent directors.

• The board conducts continuing director education and 
director orientation.

Committees of the Board – The board has five standing 
committees – Audit/Ethics, Compensation, Finance, Gover-
nance and Executive. The Audit/Ethics, Compensation and 
Governance Committees are comprised solely of independent 
directors in accordance with NYSE corporate governance listing 
standards. The Finance Committee is also comprised of inde-
pendent directors. Additionally, the board has adopted revised 
charters for the Audit/Ethics, Compensation and Governance 
Committees that comply with the requirements of the NYSE 
standards, applicable provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002 (“SOX”) and SEC rules. Each of the charters has been 
posted and is available for public viewing in the “About Baker 
Hughes” section of our website at www.bakerhughes.com. The 
Audit/Ethics Committee meets at least 10 times per year. The 
Compensation Committee meets at least four times per year. 
The Finance and Governance Committees meet at least two 
times per year. The Executive Committee meets as required. 
Non-employee independent directors meet without the CEO 
on a regular basis.

The Audit/Ethics Committee is comprised of five non-
employee independent directors and is responsible for assisting 
the board with the oversight of the integrity of our financial 
statements, our compliance with legal and regulatory require-
ments, the qualification and independence of our independent 
auditor and the performance of our internal audit function. 

The Committee:
• selects the independent auditor used by the company  

and reviews their performance;
• reviews financial reporting and disclosure issues with  

management and the internal auditors;
• establishes guidelines with respect to earnings news releases 

and the financial information and earnings guidance pro-
vided to analysts;

• meets periodically with management, the internal auditors 
and the independent auditor to review the work of each. 
The independent auditor and internal auditors have full 
and free access to the Audit/Ethics Committee, without 
management present, to discuss auditing and financial 
reporting matters;

• reviews and pre-approves audit and non-audit fees;
• provides assistance to the board in overseeing matters 

related to risk analysis and risk management;
• annually reviews compliance with our Business Code of 

Conduct and Foreign Corrupt Practices Act policies. The 
Baker Hughes Business Code of Conduct and Code of  
Ethical Conduct Certification are available on our website;

• annually reviews compliance with our environmental policy. 
The Baker Hughes Environmental Policy is available on 
our website;

• prepares an annual report to stockholders which is pub-
lished in our proxy statement (contained herein) and made 
available on our website.

74     Baker Hughes Incorporated



The Compensation Committee is comprised of five non-
employee independent directors and is responsible for seeing 
that the senior executives of our company are compensated 
effectively in a manner that is consistent with our compensation 
strategy, internal equity considerations and competitive practice.

The Committee:
• reviews our compensation strategy to ensure that manage-

ment is rewarded appropriately for its contributions to 
growth and profitability, and that executive compensation 
supports both company and stockholder interests;

• reviews our long term equity incentive plans (and makes 
grants thereunder), employee retirement income plans, the 
employee thrift plan and the employee stock purchase plan; 

• annually approves revisions to our annual salary increase 
guidelines and sets bonus goals;

• approves salary and bonus awards to key executives;
• recommends incentive compensation and stock award 

plans for approval by stockholders;
• periodically reviews management succession plans; 
• annually reviews levels of stock ownership by officers in 

accordance with our stock ownership guidelines;
• prepares an annual report to stockholders which is pub-

lished in our proxy statement (contained herein) and is 
available on our website.

The Finance Committee is comprised of five non-
employee independent directors and is responsible for review-
ing and monitoring the financial planning and actions taken 
that are related to the financial structure of our company. 

The Committee:
• reviews and approves for recommendation to the board 

any public equity offerings, public debt offerings or other 
debt arrangements, issuances of warrants, options or  

convertible or exchangeable securities, loans to third  
parties and dividend policy changes;

• periodically reviews our activities with credit rating  
agencies and monitors key financial ratios;

• annually reviews our policies regarding approval levels  
for capital expenditures;

• periodically reviews our policy and controls with regard  
to derivatives and foreign exchange exposure;

• annually reviews our insurance programs.

The Governance Committee is comprised of five non-
employee independent directors and is responsible for all  
governance related matters overseen by the board, including 
recruiting and recommending candidates for election to the 
board, reviewing the criteria for board membership against 
the current needs of the board, recommending directors’ 
fees and monitoring compliance with the Corporate Gover-
nance Guidelines. 

The Committee:
• annually reviews the structure of the board and the skills and 

experiences of its members, to assure that the proper skills 
and diversity of experience are represented on the board;

• assesses the board contributions of the directors whose 
terms expire at the next annual meeting and recommends 
to the board if the director should be re-nominated;

• annually reviews board compensation and compen-
sation methods;

• reviews outside directorships in other companies by  
Baker Hughes’ senior officers;

• reviews and recommends directors’ fees.

 Committee*

Directors Age Executive Audit/Ethics Governance Finance Compensation Employee Independent Director Since Class**

Chad C. Deaton  52  C      X   2004  III

Larry D. Brady 62    M M  X 2004 II

Clarence P. Cazalot, Jr.  54  M  M  C    X  2002  II

Edward P. Djerejian  65    M   M   X  2001  I

Anthony G. Fernandes  59   M   C    X  2001  II

Claire W. Gargalli  62     M  M   X  1998  III

James A. Lash  60   M   M    X  2002  III

James F. McCall  70   C  M     X  1996  III

J. Larry Nichols  62   M   M    X  2001  II

H. John Riley, Jr.  64 M   M   C    X  1997  I

Charles L. Watson  54 M   M   M   X  1998 I

* M=Member; C=Chairman

** Subject to proposed charter and bylaw amendments described in our proxy statement (contained herein).
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Ownership Structure
  Shares % of 

Investors Source (millions) Total

Fidelity Management  (12/04, 13F)   32.4  9.6%
Barclays  (12/04, 13F)   30.3  9.0%
Capital Research  (12/04, 13F)   26.6  7.9%
Dodge & Cox  (12/04, 13F)   19.7  5.9%
T. Rowe Price  (12/04, 13F)   14.9  4.4%
Lord Abbett  (12/04, 13F)   13.6  4.1%
Alliance Capital  (12/04, 13F)   12.8  3.8%
State Street  (12/04, 13F)   11.3  3.4%
Capital Guardian  (12/04, 13F)   7.6  2.3%
Vanguard Group  (12/04, 13F)   7.4  2.2%

Top 10 investors    176.6  52.6%
Other institutional investors    142.3  42.4%
Other holders    16.8  5.0%

Important Stockholder Dates
Q105 Earnings News Release* 4/27/05
2005 Annual Meeting 4/28/05
Q205 Earnings News Release* 7/29/05
Q305 Earnings News Release* 10/28/05
*Dates subject to change without notice

Independent Auditor
In 2004 we paid our independent auditor, Deloitte &  

Touche LLP, the member firms of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, 
and their respective affiliates, audit fees of $10.6 million; 
audit related fees of $0.2 million; and tax fees of $1.1 million 
primarily for the preparation of income, payroll, value added 
and other tax returns.

Resources on www.bakerhughes.com
Corporate Governance Guidelines . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . www.bakerhughes.com/investor/about/bod/guidelines.htm
Governance Committee   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . www.bakerhughes.com/investor/about/bod/charters/governance.htm
Audit/Ethics Committee Charter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . www.bakerhughes.com/investor/about/bod/charters/audit.htm
Audit/Ethics Committee Annual Report . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . www.bakerhughes.com/investor/bod/auditethics/2003report.htm
Finance Committee Charter   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .www.bakerhughes.com/investor/about/bod/charters/finance.htm
Compensation Committee Charter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . www.bakerhughes.com/investor/about/bod/charters/compensation.htm
Compensation Committee Annual Report   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . www.bakerhughes.com/investor/bod/compensation/2003report.htm
Executive Committee Charter  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . www.bakerhughes.com/investor/about/bod/charters/executive.htm
Business Code of Conduct   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . www.bakerhughes.com/investor/about/code_of_conduct.htm
Code of Ethical Conduct Certification . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . www.bakerhughes.com/investor/about/code_certification.htm
Stockholder Rights Plan Policy Statement. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . www.bakerhughes.com/investor/about/rights_statement.htm
Environmental Policy . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . www.bakerhughes.com/HSE/plan_policy.htm
Biographies of Board Members . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . www.bakerhughes.com/investor/about/bod.htm
Biographies of Executive Officers   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . www.bakerhughes.com/investor/about/management.htm
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Latin America

In Brazil, Baker Atlas 

introduced the MREXSM logging 

service and enhancements to 

its RCISM sampling service, and 

Hughes Christensen designed 

Genesis® XT bits specifically 

for the Albacore Leste field. In 

Venezuela, Centrilift provided 

abrasion-resistant ESP systems 

to increase production from 

deep, hot wells. 

Gulf of Mexico

Baker Hughes Drilling Fluids 

launched PERFORMAX™  

water-based mud and new 

GEO-TEQ™ synthetic fluids. 

Baker Oil Tools provided 

completion systems on 

several important deep-

water projects. And Hughes 

Christensen accumulated 

one million feet of hole with 

its Ream-While-Drilling™ tools.

 

Africa
Hughes Christensen applied 
HedgeHog™ bit technology to 
improve drilling performance 
in Algeria. In Angola, Baker 
Petrolite established a chemical 
lab and mixing plant as part 
of a new venture, and INTEQ 
ran its first commercial “Penta-
Combo” LWD string as part of 
an AutoTrak® G3 assembly. 

Asia Pacific
On Australia’s Northwest Shelf, 
Baker Petrolite provided chemi-
cal programs for two major 
projects, and Centrilift installed 
dual ESP systems for two sub-
sea fields. In China’s Bohai Bay, 
Baker Hughes bits, drilling and 
evaluation systems, perforating 
services, completions, and  
ESP systems contributed to  
successful projects.

North Sea
INTEQ drilled Best-in-Class 

horizontal wells using AutoTrak® 
X-treme® systems and the 
TesTrak™ formation tester. 

Baker Atlas utilized high-end 
wireline services and WellLink™ 

data communications. Baker 
Oil Tools installed Intelligent 

Well Systems™ in Norway and 
Denmark. Centrilift ESP systems 
marked 10 years of continuous 

operation in a UK field.

Russia/CIS
In Western Siberia, Centrilift 
established an ESP repair 
center. INTEQ and Baker Oil 
Tools continued re-entry  
sidetrack services in Siberia  
and also provided drilling, 
evaluation, liner hanger  
and fishing services on  
projects at Sakhalin Isand  
and in the Caspian Sea. Middle East

Baker Oil Tools completed  
the world’s deepest  
multilateral gas well  
in Saudi Arabia, and  
the world’s first under- 
balanced coiled tubing  
casing exit in Sharjah.  
Centrilift established an  
ESP repair center in Dubai  
and expanded its PCP  
business in Oman. 

Best In ClassBaker Hughes

Baker Atlas 

Baker Atlas provides wireline-conveyed 

well logging, data analysis and perforat-

ing services for formation evaluation, 

production and reservoir management. 

Recent technology innovations include 

the Magnetic Resonance ExplorerSM  

service for acquiring quality nuclear  

magnetic resonance data in less time 

than earlier systems; the Earth ImagerSM 

service for acquiring borehole images in 

oil-based drilling fluids; and the Predator 

XPSM perforating system to maximize 

connectivity with the reservoir.

Baker Hughes Incorporated

Baker Hughes Incorporated serves the 

worldwide oil and gas industry through 

seven Best-in-Class divisions. At the 

enterprise level, Baker Hughes provides 

strategic direction, maintains capital 

discipline, and sponsors long-term 

R&D, while directing shared, back-

office services for administrative, IT, 

Legal, Compliance, HS&E, and Human 

Resources activities. Baker Hughes enter-

prise groups also direct the global sales 

effort, manage integrated projects and 

facilitate strategic entry into new geo-

graphic markets.

 

Baker Oil Tools 

Baker Oil Tools provides completion, 

workover and fishing technology to 

assure safe and efficient hydrocarbon 

production. Packers, screens and gravel 

packing systems enable selective, sand-

free production from oil and natural gas 

zones. Flow control equipment – includ-

ing Intelligent Well Systems® – and safety 

valves enable efficient flow while mini-

mizing risk. Workover and fishing ser-

vices provide cost-effective solutions for 

well remediation and re-entry sidetracks. 

Baker Hughes Drilling Fluids 

Baker Hughes Drilling Fluids provides  

fluids systems and services that help  

optimize the drilling and completion  

processes to maximize hydrocarbon  

production, even in demanding  

deep-water, high temperature and  

hostile environments. The division  

helps clients comply with environ- 

mental regulations with products  

like the SYN-TEQ® CF synthetic  

emulsion system and PERFORMAXTM  

high performance water-based system, 

and with services that efficiently  

handle and dispose of drilling waste.  

INTEQ 

INTEQ provides directional drilling, 

measurement-while-drilling (MWD), 

logging-while drilling (LWD) and well-

site information services. Its leading 

AutoTrak® G3 rotary steerable system 

integrates with advanced LWD systems 

to drill efficiently, obtain formation  

measurements, and guide the well  

within the reservoir. Recent innovations 

include the Acoustic Properties eXplorerSM 

system, the Testrak™ formation pres-

sure tester, and the AutoTrak® X-treme® 

rotary steerable system that is powered 

by a downhole motor.

Centrilift 

Centrilift provides electric submersible 

pump (ESP) and progressing cavity  

pump systems, applications engineering, 

project management and well monitor-

ing services. Centrilift recently introduced 

the GCS Electrospeed® II variable speed 

control system and new MVP™ pump 

systems for wells with high gas content. 

Centrilift’s highly reliable ESP systems also 

can enhance production in subsea appli-

cations and replace gas lift completions  

in deepwater wells.

Baker Petrolite 

Baker Petrolite provides chemical tech-

nology solutions for hydrocarbon pro-

duction, transportation and processing. 

During oil and natural gas production, 

the division delivers laboratory services 

and chemicals to control corrosion 

and deposition and to treat produced 

water. Flow enhancers increase pipeline 

throughput, and inspection services 

help assure pipeline system integrity. 

Engineered chemical programs also 

create value for refineries by improving 

productivity, treating water, and resolv-

ing environmental issues. 

Hughes Christensen 

Hughes Christensen provides Tricone® 

and PDC drill bits, ream-while-drilling 

tools and drilling optimization services. 

Its comprehensive Tricone bit line 

includes UltraMax® metal-sealed bearing 

bits, Mini-MX™ bits for slimhole wells, 

and HydraBoss® bits for efficient drilling 

through shale. Genesis® XT PDC drill  

bits, with advanced cutter and bit  

stability technology, are specifi-

cally designed for each application. 

HedgeHog™ impregnated diamond 

bits increase penetration rates through 

harder formations.
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Corporate Officers
Chad C. Deaton
Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

James R. Clark
President and
Chief Operating Officer

David H. Barr
Vice President and Group 
President, Baker Hughes 
Drilling and Evaluation

Ray A. Ballantyne
Vice President and
President, INTEQ

Paul S. Butero
Vice President and
President, Hughes 
Christensen

Martin S. Craighead
Vice President and
President, Baker Atlas

John A. O’Donnell
Vice President and
President, Baker Hughes 
Drilling Fluids

Douglas J. Wall
Vice President and Group
President, Baker Hughes 
Completions and Production

Chris P. Beaver
Vice President and
President, Baker Oil Tools

William P. Faubel
Vice President and
President, Centrilift

Edwin C. Howell
Vice President and
President, Baker Petrolite

 
 
 

G. Stephen Finley
Senior Vice President –
Finance and Administration
and Chief Financial Officer

Douglas C. Doty
Vice President and 
Treasurer

David E. Emerson
Vice President, Strategy 
and Business Development

Alan J. Keifer
Vice President and 
Controller

John H. Lohman, Jr.
Vice President, Tax

Alan R. Crain, Jr.
Vice President and
General Counsel

Sandra E. Alford
Corporate Secretary

Jay G. Martin
Vice President, Chief
Compliance Officer
and Senior Deputy  
General Counsel 

Greg Nakanishi
Vice President,
Human Resources

Board of Directors
Larry D. Brady
Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer,
UNOVA Inc.

Chad C. Deaton
Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer,
Baker Hughes Incorporated

Clarence P. Cazalot, Jr.
President and Chief
Executive Officer,
Marathon Oil Corporation

Edward P. Djerejian
Director, James A. Baker III
Institute for Public Policy,
Rice University

Anthony G. Fernandes
Former Chairman, President
and Chief Executive Officer,
Phillip Services Corporation

Claire W. Gargalli
Former Vice Chairman,
Diversified Search and
Diversified Health  
Search Companies

James A. Lash
First Selectman, Greenwich,
Connecticut and Chairman,
Manchester Principal LLC

James F. McCall
Lt. General, U.S. Army
(Retired), Executive Director
of the American Society of
Military Comptrollers

J. Larry Nichols
Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer, Devon
Energy Corporation

H. John Riley, Jr.
Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer,
Cooper Industries, Ltd.

Charles L. Watson
Chairman, Eagle
Energy Partners
and Wincrest Ventures

Stockholder Information
Transfer Agent and
Registrar
Mellon Investor  
Services, LLC
85 Challenger Road
Ridgefield Park, NJ 07660
(888) 216-8057

Stock Exchange Listings
Ticker Symbol “BHI”
New York Stock
Exchange, Inc.
Pacific Exchange, Inc.
SWX Swiss Exchange

Investor Relations Office
Gary R. Flaharty
Director, Investor Relations
Baker Hughes Incorporated
P.O. Box 4740
Houston, Texas 77210-4740
ir@bakerhughes.com

Form 10-K
Additional copies of the
company’s Annual Report to
the Securities and Exchange
Commission (Form 10-K) are
available by writing to Baker
Hughes Investor Relations.

Annual Meeting
The company’s Annual
Meeting of Stockholders will
be held at 9:00 a.m. Central
Time on April 28, 2005 at 
the offices of the company:
3900 Essex Lane, Suite 210
Houston, Texas.

Corporate Office Location
and Mailing Address
3900 Essex Lane
Houston, Texas 77027-5177
Telephone: (713) 439-8600
P.O. Box 4740
Houston, Texas 77210-4740

Website
www.bakerhughes.com
Baker Hughes
Information Systems
(888) 408-4244

As a Baker Hughes stockholder, you are invited to take advantage of our convenient stockholder services or request more  
information about Baker Hughes. 

Mellon Investor Services, our transfer agent, maintains the records for our registered stockholders and can help you with  
a variety of stockholder related services at no charge including:

 • Change of name or address • Additional administrative services • Dividend reinvestment enrollment 
 • Duplicate mailings • Consolidation of accounts • Transfer of stock to another person 
 • Lost stock certificates 

Access your investor statements online 24 hours a day, 7 days a week with MLinkSM. For more information, go to  
www.melloninvestor.com/ISD.

Our Core Values

Integrity – We believe integrity is the foundation of our individual and corporate actions. We are accountable for 
our actions, successes and failures. 

Teamwork – We believe teamwork leverages our individual strengths. We willingly share our resources as we work 
toward common goals.

Performance – We believe performance excellence will differentiate us from our competitors. We work hard,  
celebrate our successes and learn from our failures.

Learning – We believe a learning environment is the way to achieve the full potential of each individual and  
the company.

Keys to Success

• People contributing to their  
full potential.

• Delivering unmatched value to 
our customers.

• Being cost-efficient in everything 
we do.

• Employing our resources  
effectively.



Baker Hughes Incorporated

3900 Essex Lane 
Houston, TX 77027

P.O. Box 4740 
Houston, TX 77210-4740

(713) 439-8600

www.bakerhughes.com
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Core Value  As a Core Value, Teamwork defines an open  

culture in which employees share ideas, information and 

resources to serve our customers, solve problems and achieve 

common performance objectives. 

Enterprise Teamwork  Fostered by cross-divisional manage-

ment councils and shared support services, enterprise-wide 

teamwork enables Baker Hughes and its seven divisions to 

leverage the capabilities of the entire company.

Division Teamwork  At each Baker Hughes division, success 

depends on Teamwork between technology, administrative and 

global operations groups. Our strong divisional brand cultures 

encourage loyalty and cooperation within each business unit.

Regional Teamwork  Through Teamwork, experts from our 

seven divisions collaborate in the world’s major oilfield regions 

to operate more efficiently, deliver customer solutions, and 

identify new business opportunities for Baker Hughes.

Teamwork with Customers  Teamwork enables us to deliver 

unsurpassed value to our clients. Baker Hughes employees 

work closely with customers to provide technology solutions 

that cut costs, reduce risk, and increase productivity.
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